MEETING
PLANNING COMMITTEE
DATE AND TIME
MONDAY 22ND JUNE, 2020
AT 6.00 PM
VENUE
VIRTUAL MEETING
To access the live stream of the meeting please use the following link: https://bit.ly/2B134YI
TO:

MEMBERS OF PLANNING COMMITTEE (Quorum 3)

Chairman:
Vice Chairman:

Councillor Shimon Ryde
Councillor Melvin Cohen

Councillors
Brian GordonMelvin Cohen
Jess Brayne
Claire Farrier
Eva Greenspan

Nagus Narenthira
Tim Roberts
Mark Shooter
Stephen Sowerby

Julian Teare
Laurie Williams

You are requested to attend the above meeting for which an agenda is attached.
Andrew Charlwood – Head of Governance
Governance Services contact: mainplanning.committee@barnet.gov.uk
Media Relations Contact: Tristan Garrick 020 8359 2454
ASSURANCE GROUP
Please consider the environment before printing. The average Print Cost for this Committee has
reduced by £92.99 per meeting, due to paperlight working.
Committee Agendas are available here: barnet.moderngov.co.uk/uuCoverPage.aspx?bcr=1
Please note that the below agenda may not reflect the order in which items will be heard at the
meeting.

ORDER OF BUSINESS
Item No

Title of Report

Pages

1.

Minutes of the last meeting

3-6

2.

Absence of Members

3.

Declarations of Members' disclosable pecuniary interests and nonpecuniary interests

4.

Report of the Monitoring Officer (if any)

5.

Addendum (if applicable)

6.

Application Under the Localism Act for the Designation of a
Neighbourhood Forum and Area in Mill Hill

7 - 80

7.

Pavilion Study Centre - 20/1304/FUL

81 - 132

8.

Frith Grange Camp Site and Adjacent, Frith Lane, Mill Hill, London
NW7 1PT

133 - 144

9.

Beaufort Park

145 - 230

10.

Land At Victoria Park

231 - 242

11.

Colindale Gardens (Former Peel Centre)

243 - 310

12.

Any item(s) that the Chairman decides are urgent

Decisions of the Planning Committee
13 May 2020
Members Present:-

AGENDA ITEM 1

Councillor Shimon Ryde (Chairman)
Councillor Melvin Cohen (Vice-Chairman)
Councillor Jess Brayne
Councillor Claire Farrier
Councillor Eva Greenspan
Councillor Brian Gordon
Councillor Nagus Narenthira

Councillor Tim Roberts
Councillor Mark Shooter
Councillor Stephen Sowerby
Councillor Julian Teare
Councillor Laurie Williams

CHAIRMAN’S INTRODUCTION
The Chairman welcomed everyone to the meeting. He outlined the proceedings that
would be applied to the virtual meeting and provided the running order. He then
undertook a verbal roll call to confirm that all Members were present.

1.

MINUTES OF THE LAST MEETING
RESOLVED that the minutes of the meeting held on 2 March 2020, be agreed as a
correct record.

2.

ABSENCE OF MEMBERS
None.

3.

DECLARATIONS OF MEMBERS' DISCLOSABLE PECUNIARY INTERESTS AND
NON-PECUNIARY INTERESTS
The Chairman declared a non-pecuniary interest on behalf of all Members of the
committee in relation to Agenda item 8 in that former councillor Brian Salinger, who is
known to Members, would be speaking on the application.

4.

REPORT OF THE MONITORING OFFICER (IF ANY)
None.

5.

ADDENDUM (IF APPLICABLE)
Items contained within the addendum were referred to during the Officer’s introduction
under individual agenda items.

6.

BRENT CROSS CRICKLEWOOD REGENERATION AREA

BRENT CROSS CRICKLEWOOD REGENERATION AREA
The report was introduced and slides presented by the Brent Cross Planning and Transport
Manager, who highlighted the addendum to the report.
1

3

Verbal representations were heard from Gill Close, Chair of the Dollis Hill Resident’s
Association, who had electronically circulated a map to Members of the Committee before
the meeting. Members then had an opportunity to question the speaker and officers and
discussed the application which was recommended for approval.
Having considered the report, the Chairman moved to VOTE on the Officer’s
recommendations. The vote was recorded as follows:
For
12
Against
0
Abstention 0
It was therefore RESOLVED to;
Approve application 19/6256/rma subject to the recommended conditions listed in Appendix
1 of the report and addendum.
And the Committee grants delegated authority to the Service Director – Planning and
Building Control or Head of Strategic Planning to make any minor alterations, additions or
deletions to the recommended conditions as set out in Appendix 1 to the report and any
addendum provided this authority shall be exercised after consultation with the Chairman (or
in his absence the Vice-Chairman) of the Committee (who may request that such
alterations, additions or deletions be first approved by the Committee).

7.

PUPIL REFERRAL UNIT SCHOOL, PAVILION STUDY CENTRE
Agenda Items 7 and 8 were introduced together and slides were presented by the
Planning Manager, who highlighted the addendum to the report. Agenda Item 7 refers to
the application for a permanent school building and Agenda Item 8 refers to the
application for a temporary building and enabling works.
Verbal representations were heard from Joanne Kelly in support of the application and
John O’Neill in objection to the application, who asked Members to look at the plan he
had circulated to the Committee electronically before the meeting. The Planning
Committee also heard a representation from Ward Member Councillor Sachin Rajput and
the Applicant’s Agent who spoke on both applications.
Members then had an opportunity to question the speakers and officers and discussed
the application which was recommended for approval, including the fact that those
Members who had tried to visit the site had been unable to due to the fact that the
access road was inaccessible.
Councillor Sowerby MOVED to DEFER the application for the permanent school building
in order to allow Members to undertake a site visit when the site is accessible. This was
seconded by Cllr Eva Greenspan. The vote was recorded as follows:
For
12
Against
0
Abstention 0

2

4

It was therefore RESOLVED that the application 20/1304/FUL be DEFERRED to allow
Members to undertake a site visit. The Chairman confirmed this would be undertaken as
soon as reasonably possible considering the current restrictions in place concerning the
coronavirus pandemic.
8.

PUPIL REFERRAL UNIT SCHOOL ADVANCED INFRASTRUCTURE, PAVILION
STUDY CENTRE
Agenda Items 7 and 8 were introduced together and slides were presented by the
Planning Manager, who highlighted the addendum to the report. Agenda Item 7 refers to
the application for a permanent school building and Agenda Item 8 refers to the
application for a temporary building and enabling works.
Verbal representations were heard from Brian Salinger in support of the application and
Gurminder Dhillon in objection to the application. The Planning Committee also heard a
representation from Ward Member Councillor Sachin Rajput and the applicant’s agent
who spoke on both applications, as highlighted above.
Members then had an opportunity to question the speakers and officers and discussed
the application which was recommended for approval.
Having considered the report, the Chairman moved to VOTE on the Officer’s
recommendations. The vote was recorded as follows:
For
12
Against
0
Abstention 0
It was therefore RESOLVED to;
Approve the application 19/5427/FUL subject to conditions and;

1) That this resolution is subject to no representation in objection being received
from the owner of Springdene Nursing Home at 55 Oakleigh Park North within 21
days of this Committee Resolution.
2) The application, being currently subject to a holding objection from Sport England,
a statutory consultee which means, in the event that the holding objection is not
subsequently withdrawn, the application must be referred to the Secretary of
State. As such, any resolution by the committee will potentially be subject to any
direction being received from the Secretary of State.
3) In the event that resolutions 1 & 2 are satisfied, that the authority is granted to the
Service Director Planning & Building Control to approve the planning application
reference 19/5427/FUL under delegated powers, subject to the following
conditions.
The Committee also grants delegated authority to the Service Director Planning &
Building Control to make any minor alterations, additions or deletions to the
recommended conditions/obligations or reasons for refusal as set out in this report and
addendum provided this authority shall be exercised after consultation with the Chairman
3

5

(or in his absence the Vice-Chairman) of the Committee (who may request that such
alterations, additions or deletions be first approved by the Committee).
9.

ANY ITEM(S) THAT THE CHAIRMAN DECIDES ARE URGENT
The Vice-Chairman congratulated the Chairman for conducting the Council’s first virtual
Planning Committee meeting, and the Chairman and Members echoed their thanks to
Officers for their support.

The meeting finished at 9.15pm

4

6

AGENDA ITEM 6

Planning Committee
22nd June 2020

Title

Mill Hill Neighbourhood Plan Area and
Forum Application

Report of Deputy Chief Executive
Wards Mill Hill and Hale
Status Public
Urgent No
Key Yes
Appendix 1: Application for MHNP Area
Appendix 2: Application for MHNP Forum
Enclosures
Appendix 3: Mill Hill Neighbourhood Forum Constitution
Appendix 4: Responses and Representations Report

Officer Contact Details

Nick Lynch – Planning Policy Manager
Nick.Lynch@barnet.gov.uk 0208 359 4211

Summary
The legal remit (under the Localism Act 2011) of a Neighbourhood Forum is to produce a
Neighbourhood Development Plan. An application for designation of a Neighbourhood Area
and Neighbourhood Forum has been submitted to the Council for an area comprising Mill
Hill ward and parts of Hale ward. This consists of 3 documents – Neighbourhood Area
Application, Neighbourhood Forum Application and Forum’s Constitution. This report seeks
a decision on the designation of the Mill Hill Neighbourhood Plan Area and Forum.

7

This is a new application following the Council’s decision in July 2019 to refuse the redesignation of the Mill Hill Neighbourhood Plan Area and the Mill Hill Neighbourhood Plan
Forum established in 2014.
The Localism Act 2011 sets out the requirements that must be satisfied in order for the
Council to formally designate a Neighbourhood Area and Forum. This includes ensuring
that it is established for the express purpose of promoting or improving the social,
economic and environmental well-being of an area.
In making a decision on designation, the Council must have regard to the efforts made in
securing membership from people living or working in the area as well as those who are
elected members of the Council that represent the proposed neighbourhood area. The
Council must also ensure that membership is drawn from different places in the
neighbourhood area concerned and from different sections of the community in that area,
and that the purpose of the organisation or body reflects (in general terms) the character of
that area.
The application for designation has been subject to an 8 week period of publicity. This has
generated a largely negative response (46 objections, 8 supports and 4 neutral). Objectors
have highlighted concerns about the proposed constitution and the Forum not being truly
representative of the area.
Given that a Neighbourhood Development Plan cannot be adopted until it has been
confirmed through a local referendum it is imperative that any Forum enjoys support from
the community it represents.

Recommendations
1. That the Committee:
a. Note the responses (as set out in Appendix 4) to the application for the
designation of the Mill Hill Neighbourhood Area and Forum;
b. Note the content of the Mill Hill Neighbourhood Forum Constitution (as
set out in Appendix 3) and;
2. That the Committee:
a. Refuse the designation of the Mill Hill Neighbourhood Plan Area as
shown edged black in Appendix 1 for the reason set out in this report;
b. Refuse the designation of the Mill Hill Neighbourhood Plan Forum as set
out in Appendix 2 for the reason set out in this report

1.

WHY THIS REPORT IS NEEDED

1.1

The Localism Act 2011 introduced a new right for communities in England to
undertake Neighbourhood Planning. The 2011 Act places duties on local
planning authorities to support the preparation of Neighbourhood Development
Plans.
8

1.2

Neighbourhood Development Plans are statutory planning documents which
are prepared by a Parish Council, a community group or an organisation or
body known as a “Neighbourhood Forum”. To be designated a neighbourhood
forum, the organisation or body should be inclusive and must be made up of a
minimum of 21 people who live or work in the area or are elected local authority
councillors in the area.

1.3

Neighbourhood Development Plans can establish general planning policies for
the development and use of land in a neighbourhood, setting a vision for the
future of the area and addressing issues such as the type, design, location and
mix of new development. Plans can be detailed, or general, depending on what
local people want; and, if appropriate, they can focus on a single planning issue.

1.4

Neighbourhood Development Plans must support growth and should not be
used to block development. They must be in general conformity with the
strategic policies in the existing development plan (in Barnet this consists of the
Local Plan 2012 and the London Plan 2016). They must also comply with other
relevant legislation, including EU directives and the Human Rights Act 1998.

1.5

Legislation on Neighbourhood Planning has mainly focused on established
frameworks such as town and parish councils and has not considered Forums
in metropolitan areas wanting to do more than producing a Neighbourhood
Plan. The legal remit of a Forum is to produce a Neighbourhood Plan within 5
years. Involvement in regeneration or town centre improvements is outside this
legal remit. A Forum does not have any function after a Neighbourhood Plan
has been adopted as part of the local planning framework. The Forum ceases
to formally exist at adoption.

1.6

As part of the Neighbourhood Plan the priorities for the Neighbourhood Portion
of Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) spending in the area should be set out.
The amount of the Neighbourhood Portion varies depending on whether there
is an adopted Neighbourhood Development Plan (NDP). In areas where this
has happened 25% of CIL collected from development within the
Neighbourhood area is available. Otherwise the Neighbourhood Portion is
15%. In areas without parish or town councils, the Neighbourhood Portion is
retained by the local authority and should be spent locally, following
consultation with the community. If a Neighbourhood Plan is in place and it has
set out priorities for CIL expenditure the Council should spend this money in
accordance with the Neighbourhood Plan’s priorities. Several objections have
referred to the Forum managing substantial amounts of public money. The
Forum does not have any access to CIL money arising from development in the
Neighbourhood Area nor has it claimed that it would have such access.

1.7

The Forum will be an unincorporated body. Several objections have referred to
the Forum having more transparent financial management. Clarification on the
remit of an unincorporated body and an incorporated one is set out below.

9

1.8

In order for a community group to produce a Neighbourhood Development Plan,
they must submit an application to the Council defining their boundary and
details of who is involved within the Forum. It is for the community to define the
area to be covered by their Neighbourhood Plan and the people who are to be
involved in the Forum, although the Council has a role in ensuring that the
Forum is engaging with the local community and local stakeholders.

1.9

The previous Forum in Mill Hill was designated in 2014. Forums are expected
to focus on producing a Plan and to do so within 5 years. The Forum did not
produce a Plan in that time and applied in 2019 for re-designation. The publicity
for the re-designation unleashed a wave of antagonism towards the Forum.
Objections highlighted issues around the slow progress of producing a
Neighbourhood Plan, the Forum’s governance and lack of transparency plus an
issue of safeguarding. Ward members withdrew their support and membership
dropped below the required 21 members of the Forum Steering Committee.
This formed the basis for a recommendation of refusal at Planning Committee
in July 2019.

1.10 A summary of the process of Neighbourhood Forum designation and
Neighbourhood Development Plan preparation is included in Table 1. It is
generally expected on current country wide experience that the adoption of a
Neighbourhood Development Plan should be completed within the initial five
year designation period. As highlighted in Table 1 one of the last stages of
Neighbourhood Plan production is a referendum of residents and businesses.
It is therefore imperative that a Forum has secured support from local residents
and businesses.

10

Table 1: Summary of the Neighbourhood Development Plan preparation process

Community group (at least 21 individuals representing an area, with a written constitution) applies to
the Council for designation as a ‘Neighbourhood Forum’ and to define the Neighbourhood Area.

Council publicises and assesses the application and (if conditions are met) designates the
Neighbourhood Forum and Neighbourhood Area.

Neighbourhood Forum prepares the Plan with Council support and advice. This includes community
engagement and consultation.

Council checks draft Neighbourhood Plan for legal compliance

Neighbourhood Forum and Council publish the final draft plan for consultation for 6 weeks – written
representations can be made

Independent Examination resulting in Examiner’s recommendations

Council considers the Examiner’s recommendations and decides what to do

Referendum(s) of residents and / or businesses

Neighbourhood Plan adopted by the Council as part of its Local Plan

11

2.

REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS

2.1

In accordance with requirements of the Neighbourhood Planning (General)
Regulations 2012 and Sections 61F and 61Gof the Town and Country Planning
Act 1990 as amended by the Localism Act 2011, the emerging Mill Hill
Neighbourhood Forum has submitted their applications for Neighbourhood
Area and Forum designation.
Mill Hill Neighbourhood Applications

2.2

In March 2020, a group submitted an application to become a Neighbourhood
Forum and designate an area to become a Neighbourhood Area.

2.3

The proposed MHNP Area (Appendix 1) includes all of Mill Hill Ward and those
parts of Hale Ward within the NW7 postal district. The Area map also includes
the Mill Hill Area Action Plan (AAP) and the Mill Hill Conservation Area. These
planning designations will not be affected by the emerging Neighbourhood
Development Plan proposals. The group believe this is the appropriate area for
their allocated neighbourhood because it is one widely regarded as “Mill Hill” by
those who live and work in the area. The proposed Area is the same as the
previously designated Mill Hill Neighbourhood Area which expired in
September 2019.

2.4

In accordance with conditions contained in section 61F(5)(c) of the 1990 Act,
membership of the Forum must include a minimum of 21 individuals each of
whom
(i) Lives in the neighbourhood area concerned
(ii) Works there (whether for a business carried on there or otherwise),
or
(iii) Is an elected member of a London borough whose area falls within
the neighbourhood area concerned

2.5

The proposed MHNP Forum Committee currently comprises 24
representatives of local businesses and residents across the 2 wards in the
proposed Neighbourhood Area (see Appendix 2). No elected members of Mill
Hill or Hale are currently members of the Committee.
Publicity on the MHNP applications for Area and Forum designation

2.6

Regulation 9 of the Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulations 2012
requires applications to be published on the Council’s website and in other such
manner likely to bring the application to the attention of people living, working
or carrying out business in the area.

2.7

The Council published the applications for the Area and Forum on its website
initially for a period of six weeks from 11th March 2020. The consultation period
was extended for two weeks to take into consideration Covid-19, taking the
closing date to 6th May 2020.

12

2.8

2.9

In response to the publicity, several statutory agencies and regional bodies
(Historic England, Environment Agency, Natural England and Highways
England) submitted comments clarifying their roles and responsibilities and
highlighted areas of importance for developing a local evidence base. Other
feedback consisted of 58 representations of which 4 were neutral, 8
supported the designation and 46 objected.
Support came from local residents and a local business. Supportive comments
related to the previous MHNF, highlighting the Forum’s achievements and
support for the new application.

2.10 Objections came from Mill Hill / Hale residents as well as Councillors. Appendix
4 sets out representations received and the Council’s responses to the issues
raised. A summary of the objections includes:
 Claiming to be a new Forum but is guided by leaders of the previous one
 Not reached out to the wider community with no public meetings and no
consultation with local residents and businesses
 Not considered a true representation of Mill Hill residents – claims that
Forum lack’s inclusivity
 Voluntary bodies have no representation
 Concerns about ensuring good governance and transparency
 Data protection issues raised in using data from the previous Forum
 Particular concerns raised about the proposed Constitution :
o Members of the Forum are not allowed to call an EGM
o Committee has control on a number of decisions and not the Forum
members
o Assurances needed that minutes are published and that there is
regular reporting
o Quorum considered to be too small
o Restrictions - can only become a forum member by email
o Interests should be made public not as a private document
2.11 It is considered that the applications do not satisfactorily meet all of the statutory
requirements. This has been amplified by the nature of the response to the
publicity on the application. Prior to the publicity of the application the Council
provide feedback to the applicant emphasising that this application has to reflect
a new start for Mill Hill. It highlighted a number of areas where the application
could be improved and not duplicate what was in the original application in
2014. The Council cautioned about highlighting the work done by the previous
Forum, including the statement about inward investment. Concerns were
expressed about the Forum demonstrating evidence of public support for the
new application. The Council repeated the message that it expects Forums to
be managed in a way that promotes good governance and transparency
enabling the local community to be engaged and able to contribute to the
production of the Neighbourhood Plan. Timely publication of minutes is good
practice, 6 weeks is too long.

13

2.12 Although the proposed Forum has secured membership from at least 21
individuals who live and work in the Area it has not secured representation by
any of the 6 Councillors representing Mill Hill or Hale. This is a significant
problem as it means that the Council has no representation on a Forum that is
producing a planning framework for an area of the Borough.
2.13 The Council found no evidence that the proposed Forum has reached out to
the wider community prior to the submission of the application in March 2020.
This has generated objections that the application represents a continuation of
the previous Forum. There are concerns that well-established groups such as
the Mill Hill Residents Association, Mill Hill Preservation Society, NW7HUB and
Copthall Strategy Group are not represented. Such groups can reach out to
their own members in publicising the Forum and engaging on the
Neighbourhood Plan. The Council expects Forums to be managed in a way that
promotes good governance and transparency enabling the local community to
be engaged and able to contribute to the production of the Neighbourhood Plan.
There is no need to be secretive. There are also concerns about the Forum not
being spatially representative of the proposed Neighbourhood Area, one of the
largest in London.
2.14 The applicant has been informed of the recommendation to refuse the
designation and the availability of third party support from Locality, a charity
which the Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local Government (MHCLG)
funds with regard to neighbourhood planning. The applicant has been strongly
encouraged by the Council to apply for this support package in order to make
a renewed application for designation. The applicant was also advised that in
order to take stock of this support there would be merits in withdrawing this
application.
2.15 Representations have also highlighted that another group is preparing an
application to designate a Neighbourhood Area and Forum. The Council has no
details of this other application and can only consider the application that has
been submitted. However the Council has also highlighted to this other group
the availability of support from Locality and strongly encouraged them to access
it. Part of the support from Locality will involve mediation between the two
groups and getting them to work together for the benefit of Mill Hill.
3.

ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED AND NOT RECOMMENDED

3.1

The alternative option is to designate the Neighbourhood Area and Forum for
Mill Hill. The Council can withdraw the forum’s designation (with reasons) at

14

any time if it is considered that it is no longer meeting the conditions of
designation.
4.

POST DECISION IMPLEMENTATION

4.1

Proceeding to designate the Forum presents a compliance risk. The proposed
Forum and Neighbourhood Area do not appear to have the support of the local
community and elected members for Mill Hill and Hale.

4.2

If the designation of Mill Hill Area and Forum is refused there will be an
opportunity to bring in third party support to advise any future Forum on what is
required to be a successful body that contributes to the social, economic and
environmental well-being of the proposed Neighbourhood Area.

5.

IMPLICATIONS OF DECISION

5.1

Corporate Priorities and Performance

5.1.1 The Council’s Corporate Plan 2019 - 2024 sets out three main outcomes
and eighteen priorities for the Council, these are:
 A pleasant, well maintained borough that we protect and invest in
 Our residents live happy, healthy, independent lives with the most
vulnerable protected
 Safe and strong communities where people get along well
5.1.2 The designation of a Neighbourhood Forum and Area is the first step in
producing a Neighbourhood Development Plan. Through Council support on
the drafting and adoption of appropriate planning policies for the area these
outcomes and priorities can be delivered.
A basic condition for a
Neighbourhood Forum is that it promotes or improves well-being via adoption
of the Neighbourhood Development Plan which can be achieved by giving local
people more influence over the future of their area.
5.2

Resources (Finance & Value for Money, Procurement, Staffing, IT,
Property, Sustainability)

5.2.1 To date the primary cost to the Council associated with the MHNP application
has been officer support time. This has been absorbed by Re and thus
contained within existing budgets. No specific allocation of Council resources
has been approved to support expenditure relating to production of
Neighbourhood Development Plans.
5.2.2 Financial support for local planning authorities in areas where Neighbourhood
Development Plans are emerging is currently available from MHCLG. At
present this amounts to £30,000 for non-parished areas such as London
Boroughs and is payable in instalments as the Neighbourhood Development
Plan progresses to adoption. The first payment of £5,000 each will be made
following Neighbourhood Area and Forum designations including redesignation. The second payment of £5,000 will be made following submission
of the Neighbourhood Development Plan for examination. The third payment of
15

£20,000 will be made on successful completion of the examination. This is to
support funding of a referendum. Claims are made retrospectively and there is
no guarantee that this funding will continue.
5.2.3 Local planning authorities are not required to financially support production of
Neighbourhood Plans. According to MHCLG estimates in 2011 the cost to a
Forum of producing a Neighbourhood Development Plan is between £17,000
and £63,000.
5.2.4 Neighbourhood Development Plans may also impact on decisions relating to
the allocation of CIL. With benefit of an adopted Neighbourhood Development
Plan an area can access 25% of CIL generated by development within the
boundaries of the Neighbourhood Plan Area. This money will be retained by the
Council but must be spent in accordance with local infrastructure priorities as
highlighted in the Neighbourhood Development Plan.
5.3

Social Value

5.3.1 The Public Services (Social Value) Act 2012 requires people who commission
public services to think about how they can also secure wider social, economic
and environmental benefits. Neighbourhood Development Plans can help
secure such benefits.
5.3.2 Social benefits will also be secured by the Neighbourhood Development Plan
providing a local dimension to the housing and infrastructure requirements of
Local Plan policy.
5.3.3 Economic benefits will be delivered through the Neighbourhood Development
Plan’s focus on the local economy including Mill Hill Broadway town centre as
well as shopping parades and employment spaces within Mill Hill.
5.3.4 Environmental benefits will be delivered by a Neighbourhood Development
Plan’s response to resolving to local issues as regards biodiversity, climate
change mitigation and adaptation, sustainable travel, flood risk management
and improved air and water quality.
5.4

Legal and Constitutional References

5.4.1 The Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulations 2012 set out the
procedures for designating an organisation or body as a Neighbourhood Forum.
These include specifying:
 the content of an application (Reg. 8)
 what the local planning authority must do to publicise both the application
and any designation of a Neighbourhood Forum (Regs 9 and 10)
 Same Regulation applies for the Re-designation of the Forum and
Renewal of the Area applications
5.4.2 The Council can designate an organisation or body as a Neighbourhood Forum
if it meets the following Basic Conditions (61F(5), Town and Country Planning

16

Act 1990 as amended):
(i) it is established for the express purpose of promoting or improving the
social, economic and environmental well-being of an area that consists
of or includes the Neighbourhood Area concerned;
(ii) membership is open to individuals living, or working, in the
Neighbourhood Area concerned and Councillors representing that area;
(iii) there are at least 21 members each of whom:
 lives in the neighbourhood concerned;
 works there; or
 is an elected member of the Council representing that area.
(iv) there is a written constitution; and
(v) meets any other prescribed conditions.
5.4.3 Only one Forum can be designated for a Neighbourhood Area. It is open to a
Forum to voluntarily withdraw its designation. Otherwise the designation
expires after five years. The Council may withdraw this designation earlier if it
considers that the Forum is no longer meeting:
 the conditions by which it was designated.
 any other criteria that the Council were required to have regard to when
making the designation.
5.4.4 In accordance with section 61G and Schedule 4C of the 1990 Act, the Council should
aim to designate the area applied for. It is able to refuse a designation if it
considers that a specified area was not an appropriate area to be designated
as a neighbourhood area and must set out reasons for doing so. If the Council
refuses an application for designation of a neighbourhood area, then section
61G (5) of the 1990 Act requires that it must exercise its power of designation
so as to secure that some or all of the specified area forms part of one or more
designated neighbourhood areas. Same applies for Renewal or Re-designation
applications.
5.4.5 The Council’s Constitution details the terms of reference of the Planning
Committee Responsibility for Functions and sets out the terms of reference of
the Planning Committee which includes responsibility for considering the
approval/refusal of ‘Designating neighbourhood areas and neighbourhood
forums for the purposes of neighbourhood planning’.
5.4.6 National Guidance on Neighbourhood Planning States that “When exercising
its responsibilities in relation to relevant parts of the neighbourhood planning
process, a local planning authority should make every effort to conclude each
stage promptly. Timely decision taking is important particularly at the start and
at the end of the process. Certain decisions must be taken within prescribed
time periods (13 weeks in case of designating Area and Forum applications).
These are set out in the Neighbourhood Planning (General) (Amendment)
Regulations 2015, the Neighbourhood Planning (General) and Development
Management Procedure (Amendment) Regulations 2016, and the
Neighbourhood Planning (General) and Development Management Procedure
(Amendment) Regulations 2017 which amend the Neighbourhood Planning
(General) Regulations 2012.” (Planning Practice Guidance, paragraph 81).
17

5.5

Risk Management

5.5.1 Neighbourhood Planning raises a number of potential risks for the Council to
consider. This includes:

capacity of communities to maintain momentum on Neighbourhood
Development Plan production;

demands on Council resources to support Neighbourhood Planning
and fulfil legal duties;

the risk that Neighbourhood Development Plans could fail at final
referendum stage, resulting in community disillusionment with the
process;

the risk that MHCLG do not fund a third party support package for Mill
Hill through Locality and

risks to community cohesion caused by inability to make communities
work together on a Neighbourhood Plan for Mill Hill.
5.5.2 Neighbourhood Development Plans may require a Strategic Environmental
Assessment during preparation, depending on their focus and content. This will
need to be assessed on a case by case basis.
5.6

Equalities and Diversity

5.6.1 The Council has encouraged the emerging Mill Hill Forum to ensure
membership reflects the character and diversity of the local population.
5.6.2 The requirement for equalities impact assessment needs to be considered on
a case by case basis as further proposals for Neighbourhood Development
Plans come forward.
5.6.3 Under section 149(1) of the Equality Act 2010, the Council, in the exercise of
its functions, must have due regard to the need to: eliminate discrimination,
harassment, victimisation and any other conduct that is prohibited by or under
the 2010 Act; advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a
relevant protected characteristic and persons who do not share it; and foster
good relations between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic
and persons who do not share it.
5.6.4 The relevant protected characteristics are: age; disability; gender
reassignment; pregnancy and maternity; race; religion or belief; sex; and
sexual orientation.
5.6.5 The Council has had due regard to its public sector equality duty in making
the recommendations as set out in this report.
5.7

Corporate Parenting

5.7.1 None in the context of this report.

18

5.8

Consultation and Engagement

5.8.1 The Council has a duty to publicise applications for designation as well as
consult on the emerging Neighbourhood Development Plan and inform public
accordingly. A summary of responses to the publicity is set out within Appendix
4.
5.9

Insight

5.9.1 None in the context of this report.
6.

BACKGROUND PAPERS
6.1

6.2

6.3

6.4

6.5

Planning Committee, 24th July 2019 (Decision item 10) refused Redesignation of Mill Hill Neighbourhood Plan Area and Forum
https://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=703&MId=989
6&Ver=4
Planning Committee, 17th September 2014 (Decision item 13) approved
Designation of Mill Hill Neighbourhood Area and Forum applications for
adoption
https://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=703&MId=791
4
Council, 11th September 2012 (Decision item 4.1) approved the Local Plan
Core Strategy and Development Management Policies for adoption
http://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=162&MId=6671
&Ver=4
Barnet’s Statement of Community Involvement (2018)
http://www.barnet.gov.uk/sites/default/files/local_development_scheme_20
20.pdf
Barnet’s Authorities Monitoring Report 2018/19
http://www.barnet.gov.uk/sites/default/files/amr_2018-19.pdf

19

This page is intentionally left blank

Mill Hill Neighbourhood Forum

Document 1
Application for Neighbourhood Area designation
Introduction
This new application for Neighbourhood Area designation, is submitted to the London Borough of Barnet
under the Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulations 2012. In the accompanying Document 2 there is
an application for Neighbourhood Forum designation for the Mill Hill Neighbourhood Forum
Mill Hill Neighbourhood Forum submits for consideration a new application for the designation of a
Neighbourhood Area. The Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulations 2012 state that where a
relevant body submits an application for designation of a Neighbourhood Area to the local planning
authority it must include:

1) a map which identifies the area to which the area application relates;
2) a statement explaining why this area is considered appropriate to be designated as a
Neighbourhood Area; and
3) a statement that the organisation or body making the area application is a relevant body for the
purposes of section 61G of the 1990 Act.
This application addresses these requirements as follows:
Application
Addressing points 1) and 2) above, the map below shows the proposed Mill Hill Neighbourhood
Area as covering the whole of Mill Hill Ward and the NW7 Postal codes within Hale Ward.
A statement is included that explains why it is important to seek a new designation of this area as
a Neighbourhood Area.
It is worth noting that we considered a smaller area based simply around Mill Hill Broadway, but this was
rejected as it became obvious that the principal users of Mill Hill Broadway live throughout Mill Hill, and
there needs to be an integrated plan for the whole of NW7 to take the area forward. Many residents want
such a plan (NDP) to be holistic. The committee (see Neighbourhood Forum application -Document 2) has
been selected from people living across NW7. In our deliberations we found that NW7 actually is present
in eight different wards and for this reason, the very fringes of NW7, where it extends into Underhill,
Colindale, Burnt Oak, West Finchley, Totteridge and Finchley Church End, have not been included in our
Area for Designation. Further, the proposed area is able to be described with ease and provides local
recognition/understanding. The previous Neighbourhood Forum has worked over the previous five years
in order to deliver the Neighbourhood Development plan within this designated area, and we see no reason
to amend the area, in this new application. There will be further work to incorporate the new London Plan
(when published) and the emerging Barnet Local Plan, in order to finalise the draft plan and then to deliver
the NDP through examination and referendum until it is ‘made’. We expect then to follow-through to deliver
critical elements of the plan, such as the redevelopment of Mill Hill Broadway Station.
Hence, this new Neighbourhood Area application covers the wards of Mill Hill and the NW7 post codes
within Hale ward, as previously. It is understood, through consultation, that the residents and businesses
within the HA post codes in Hale Ward, consider themselves part of Edgware, rather than Mill Hill.

Document 1: Application for AREA designation

211
Page

Mill Hill Neighbourhood Forum

Map of proposed Mill Hill Neighbourhood Forum Area

Many residents actually see Mill Hill as being divided currently into four areas; namely, Mill Hill Broadway,
Mill Hill East, Mill Hill Village and the NW7 post codes within Hale Ward. Through this initiative we hope to
bring these four parts together wherever possible, in order to encourage community cohesion, and
economic development. The development of an integrated plan is critical if we are to achieve this.
The proposed area for the Neighbourhood Area includes Mill Hill Broadway (‘the Town Centre’), Hale Lane,
Flower Lane, Daws Lane, and Pentavia Retail Park off the Watford Way. The area is characterised by a

Document 1: Application for AREA designation

222
Page

Mill Hill Neighbourhood Forum

mix of residential, commercial and retail, and includes the Granard Business Centre and the Mill Hill
Industrial Estate / Bunns Lane Works in Bunns Lane. The Midland Main Line railway, the M1 motorway
and the A1/A41 trunk routes dissect the area. The proposed Neighbourhood Area enjoys the benefit from
many open spaces, Green Belt land, and a Conservation Area.
Mill Hill Broadway is the main hub of the proposed Neighbourhood Area, with a wide shopping offer and a
strong historic identity. This is a suburban district, which developed from the 1890s onwards, and especially
in the early part of the 20th century, after the arrival of the Midland Railway station in 1868. The Broadway
itself is now an important local retail area (‘District’) with numerous shops and cafes and transport links.
Central London can be reached within 20 minutes.
Changing Landscape
The majority of Barnet’s growth is focused to the west of the borough and includes 2100 new dwellings in
the Mill Hill East Area Action Plan (MHEAAP). We do not wish to change or amend the MHEAAP. We do
however intend to include the new residents as they occupy the Millbrook Park site, in our consultation
exercises, in an attempt to provide, where possible, access to the amenities that they need in order to help
them to enjoy their lives within the wider community across Mill Hill and Hale (NW7).
We will see huge developments in Colindale and Cricklewood and a major expansion of the Brent Cross
area. Additionally, Edgware, Wembley (LB Brent, but close-by), North Finchley and Chipping Barnet
shopping centres are being upgraded extensively. With much happening in neighbouring areas all around
Mill Hill, we need through the Neighbourhood Plan to attract investment into our area, without relying on
others to do it for us. The arrival of Saracens RFC was considered a mixed blessing initially but they are
now seen as a positive asset in Mill Hill ward, and their contribution to the wider community is being seen
across Barnet. This is an example of how the right investment can benefit all. It is also fully understood
now that with incessant pressure to reduce car journeys and ownership, more amenities must be provided
locally for local residents.
The National Institute for Medical Research (a 40-acre site), now ‘Ridgeway Views’ and Watchtower House
have previously been seen as major development sites in the Green Belt where exceptional, limited infilling
or redevelopment will take place. The previous Mill Hill Neighbourhood Forum worked to ensure that any
such developments were sympathetic to the special character of Mill Hill, and reflected the interests of the
local community. We will continue to do so.
There will be many other development proposals to consider and the Neighbourhood Plan will provide a
local planning framework which will guide local development. In writing the Mill Hill Neighbourhood Plan
(NDP). We will work with developers to help them to build new facilities which will improve the character of
this leafy North London suburb, and which will provide the appropriate infrastructure to support their full
integration into the area.
It is clear that Mill Hill’s Town Centre, classified as a ‘District’ centre, is not a specific priority for attention
within the London Borough of Barnet’s emerging Draft Local Plan (Reg18) or the Mayor’s London Plan.
While this may be understandable in some aspects, it is the objective of this Forum to supplement these
plans with the specific requirements of the residents of Mill Hill and Hale (NW7), and to ensure that the
area has the ability to compete commercially and to flourish as an attractive destination in future years.
We recognise the need to harmonise with the NPPF, The Mayor’s London Plan and Barnet’s emerging
draft Local and the requirement to clarify the needs of local people in an integrated Neighbourhood
Development Plan (NDP).

Document 1: Application for AREA designation

233
Page

Mill Hill Neighbourhood Forum

Summary
These existing characteristics and the pressures for change need to be considered across Mill Hill ward
and the NW7 postcodes of Hale ward, in order to create a strategy to manage future growth in a way which
enhances the role of the town centre, while maintaining the special character of the area, and continuing
to bring benefits for local residents and businesses, into the future. Mill Hill is a relatively affluent area and
our Neighbourhood Development Plan, needs to serve the requirements of the residents across Mill Hill
and Hale (NW7) for retail, leisure, employment, housing, transportation (including parking) health,
education, recreation, visual amenity and other elements of community infrastructure. We also wish to
encourage events for all to enjoy. The Neighbourhood Area needs to attract investment to deliver the
necessary developments to meet these objectives. We want this future growth to be supported by
appropriate infrastructure which will, in the future, be attractive to all residents, right across the designated
area and we hope to make it easy for all to enjoy their multi-cultural community to the full.
Our Neighbourhood Forum will strive to address the issues highlighted above (and in other reports/opinions
published recently regarding the future of Suburban Town Centres,) such that in consultation with the
residents and businesses of Mill Hill and Hale (NW7) and Barnet Council, we will together build a better
and sustainable place for all to enjoy.
Relevant Body
Addressing point 3 in the introduction above, this application is submitted on behalf of the proposed Mill
Hill Neighbourhood Forum, a relevant body for the purposes of section 61G of the 1990 Town and Country
Planning Act. Six meetings of the new committee have been held since September 2019 and copies of
minutes are available on request. A public meeting will be scheduled following ‘designation’. The proposed
Mill Hill Neighbourhood Forum is a body established for the express purpose of promoting and improving
the social, economic and environmental well-being of the proposed Neighbourhood Area.
The Neighbourhood Forum, while being independent will work closely with other local organisations and
bodies on matters covering the interests of residents and businesses across Mill Hill and Hale (NW7). The
idea of the Mill Hill Neighbourhood Forum has been discussed with members of many organisations in
public meetings and our brochure (see Appendix A) has been distributed to their members. Consistently
the feedback received, has been very positive and all have agreed in the need to produce an integrated
and holistic plan for NW7.
The Forum Committee
As a consequence, individuals, who have a passion for developing Mill Hill for the benefit of the community,
have come together to form the Forum Committee. Additionally, we have the support of Saracens RFC
(based in Mill Hill ward).
The Forum Committee currently includes representatives of local businesses, residents across the two
wards in the proposed neighbourhood area. This committee is representative of the community at large
since it includes, young, middle and older age groups, of both genders, from different ethnic backgrounds
and faiths, all with differing economic means.
Forum Membership
Further we currently have more than 3000
“followers” on Social Media (see
www.facebook.com/millhillforum) and a database of 680 people who have requested regular updates on
our progress. Membership of the Neighbourhood Forum is open to all residents and to businesses
operating in Mill Hill and Hale (NW7) together with other interested bodies to be determined.

Document 1: Application for AREA designation

244
Page

Mill Hill Neighbourhood Forum

Recent activities
We are able to incorporate all of the efforts of the previously designated Neighbourhood Forum which held
an initial round of meetings and leaflet distribution (see Brochure at Appendix A below) around the
designated area, to explain the purpose of the Neighbourhood Forum. They held regular Committee
meetings and bi-annual public meetings. In addition, they established markets in our Town Centre in order
to engage with local people. A report was commissioned from Masters Students in Urban Planning at the
London School of Economics, and their excellent 78-page report (dated July 2015) has informed the draft
NDP that we inherit from the former Forum, as has the report that was commissioned from AECOM on
Master-planning for our Town Centre and its surrounds (dated January 2016).
A major strength of this new Forum it that it is not starting from scratch; it is fortunate to be able to build on
the good work of the previous Forum which reviewed most planning applications in the area since its
original designation to inform the (NDP) plan, and commented on many where they were seen not to
conform with our emerging thinking. The major developments, such as the NIMR site, Pentavia, IBSA,
Saracens-West-Stand and some smaller ones such as St. Vincent’s School landfill project have taken huge
amounts of volunteer time to review, assess and comment upon, thus diverting energy from creating the
NDP.
The previous Forum undertook a number of intervention projects which were deemed important and time
critical in the short term, to enable delivery of the plan. Notable examples are as follows:
•

It gained funding from the Mayor or London, local residents, businesses and Barnet Council to
regenerate the shopping precinct at Salcombe Gardens

•

It gained funding from Tesco & Barnet Council to create a Town Square at the end of Brockenhurst
Gardens as it meets the Broadway in our Town Centre to provide a central meeting place for all.

•

It recognised that the Town Centre was dirty and therefore unattractive to potential investors, and
accordingly worked with Council officers to get rid of the bins and use timed bag collections as an
alternative waste management solution. This is recognized as being highly successful and is being
rolled-out across other shopping areas.

•

It recognised that the Broadway Station was not fit for purpose and brought together, with help from
Cllr Val Duschinsky, the various Public Sector bodies involved (Network Rail, Barnet Council,
Govia-Thameslink, TfL & Highways England) together for project meetings, chaired by Dr Matthew
Offord MP. A budget of £65,000 was agreed for a feasibility study into how best to achieve “Step
Free-Access” (SFA) at the station and subsequently an application for SFA funding under the
“Access for All” scheme was submitted to the Department for Transport. Funding (£8.5m) was
secured from the Department for Transport in April 2019 for the 2020-2023 funding period.

•

It engaged with local developers who have prepared a feasibility study for establishing, a 150-bed
Hotel, Conference Centre and Multi-Storey Car Park on the current Council owned car Park at Mill
Hill Broadway Station. This would form a key part with SFA of the regeneration of the station and
would result in a huge economic boost for our Town Centre.

•

It campaigned with others including Andrew Dismore (GLA Member) to get Step-Free-access at
Mill Hill East station, and this is now being installed.

•

It responded to numerous Barnet Council & GLA consultations, including Barnet Leisure, Parks &
Open Spaces, Housing, Parking, Transport Policy, the London Plan and the NPPF.

Document 1: Application for AREA designation

255
Page

Mill Hill Neighbourhood Forum

•

It obtained funding from the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (MHCLG) to
pay for 2/3rds of the Architects’ fees in respect of the proposed Community Centre in Daws Lane
on the basis of the ‘Community Right to Build’ programme,

In financial terms the Forum has brought, to date, £274,000 of additional investment, into the Area, through
the extensive efforts of the previous Committee,
While the new Forum will concentrate on delivering the Neighbourhood Development Plan, it is worth noting
the above achievements which demonstrate strong engagement with local people.
Recent correspondence exists regarding the new Forum with Dr Matthew Offord MP for Hendon
Constituency (which includes NW7) and with Andrew Dismore GLA Member for Camden and Barnet.
Our Facebook Page www.facebook.com/millhillforum provides regular updates on our activities and
information for the Community at large. We have a website at www.millhillforum.org.uk which will set out
our progress as we create the Neighbourhood Development Plan. This includes minutes (where not
sensitive) of Forum meetings, while “designated”, scheme appraisals, consultation efforts, presentations
etc.
Benefit to London Borough of Barnet
Finally, we believe the previous MHNF Committee and members served as a very useful independent
“Focus Group” available to Council Officers and Developers for consultation on their thinking and the new
Forum will continue to do so.
This Neighbourhood Area application is accompanied by an application for Neighbourhood Forum status
at Document 2 and our Constitution is provided as Document 3 in this application.
Signed on behalf of Mill Hill Neighbourhood Forum:

Name & Position

Stuart Kershaw, Chairman

3 March 2020

Document 1: Application for AREA designation

266
Page

Mill Hill Neighbourhood Forum

APPENDIX A
Brochure, that was circulated to explain the concept and purpose of the
Mill Hill Neighbourhood Forum.

Document 1: Application for AREA designation

277
Page

Mill Hill Neighbourhood Forum

Document 1: Application for AREA designation

288
Page

29

30

31

32

Constitution of the new Mill Hill Neighbourhood Forum

CONSTITUTION (Document 3)
By this Constitution there shall be established an unincorporated association to be
known as the "Mill Hill Neighbourhood Forum".
1

Purpose and Objects

1.1 The Mill Hill Neighbourhood Forum ('MHNF') is a neighbourhood forum as defined in the

Town & Country Planning Act 1990 as amended by the Localism Act 2011 ('the Act').
1.2 The purpose of MHNF is to further the social, economic and environmental well-being of

the Mill Hill Neighbourhood Area as defined in section 2 below ('the Area') by acting for the
Area under the provisions of the Act.
1.3 MHNF membership will be open to residents living in the Area, individuals working or

carrying on business in the Area, local representative groups and London Borough of Barnet
Councillors representing all or part of the Area. MHNF will aim for as wide a representation
of communities in the area as possible. Membership and organisation of MHNF are set out
in section 3 below.
1.4 MHNF will monitor the implementation of policies in the London Plan and the Barnet Local

Plan in the Area and will produce and maintain a Neighbourhood Development Plan (NDP)
as defined in section 4 below.
1.5 MHNF may initiate Neighbourhood Development Orders or Community Right to Build

Orders, identify Assets of Community Value, or carry out any other permitted actions.
1.6 MHNF will act in accordance with General Policies and Principles set out in section 5 below.
1.7 While the primary purpose of the Forum is the development of the Plan (NDP), the Forum

may also consider and comment on any planning applications that are submitted during its
designation.
2

The Mill Hill Neighbourhood Area ('the Area')

2.1 The Area shall be the area shown in the map in Appendix 1. The Forum Committee can

change the boundaries of the Area subject to determination on designation by the Council.
2.2 The Area covers the Ward of Mill Hill and the postal codes of NW7 within Hale Ward. It is

noted that the NW4 post codes immediately around Copthall Playing Fields including the
Saracens Rugby Football grounds are contained in Mill Hill Ward. Should the Boundaries
Commission change the areas covered by Ward Boundaries during the period of
designation, the intention is to continue to include the area defined by the Area map (as
Appendix 1) and contained within the NW7 post code.
Membership and Organisation
Membership

3

3.1 Membership of MHNF is open to:
•

residents living in the Area, either as individual members or via representative
bodies such as those outlined below;
• local businesses and public sector bodies based in the Area.
• individuals who work in the Area;
• Mill Hill and Hale Ward Councillors within the London Borough of Barnet.
Members must register on our Website to show their interest in our activities in order to gain
voting rights and to receive our regular bulletins. All correspondence within the Forum shall
Page 1

33

Constitution of the new Mill Hill Neighbourhood Forum
primarily be by email. For those who cannot register on our Website, they or a representative
can send an email to millhill_nf@btinternet.com to include their instructions requesting that
we add them to our register of people interested in the work of the Forum. This email must
include a valid return email address which will be used for all correspondence. Their full name
and postal code must be included (to verify they are a resident or business owner in the Area)
together with a contact telephone number.
3.2 Affiliate membership (non-voting) is open to:
•

•

representative Residents' Associations, friends' groups, and amenity societies and
associations, collectively described herein as 'Organisations'. Affiliated
organisations are listed in Appendix 2. This list will be updated from time to time as
necessary;
the Conservation Area Advisory Committee (CAAC).

Forum Committee
3.3 A Committee (or Steering Group) comprising at least 21 members will be elected at each
AGM to carry out the day-to-day work of the Forum. A quorum for the Committee will
be 7 members.
3.4 The Committee will elect the following officers of the Forum from its number: Chair, Vice
Chair, Secretary and Treasurer. Officers will serve for one year and be subject to reelection, and there will be no limit to the number of terms an officer may serve. The
Chair (or the Vice Chair when acting as Chair) will have a casting vote at any Committee
or General Meeting.
3.5 The Committee will direct and oversee the work of the Forum and will meet at least
quarterly for this purpose. The Committee will always have ultimate responsibility for
running the Forum.
3.6 Subcommittees or working parties (to be known as "Topic Groups") may be appointed by
the Committee to carry out specific tasks, to consider policies and to advise the
Committee. Such bodies may be appointed from within or without the membership of
the Forum but will be responsible to the Committee, which will regularly review their
work and make all necessary decisions.
3.7 The Committee may co-opt additional members to the Committee in any year. Co-opted
members will have the same voting rights as other Committee members. A co-opted
member may be elected as an officer.
3.8 One or more Councillors representing each of the two Wards in NW7 will be invited to
all Committee meetings and will have the same voting rights as other Committee
members.
3.9 Minutes of General and Committee Meetings will be made available to the members
of the Forum for approval at the next meeting, and once approved they will be made
public via our Website. It must be noted that the content of Committee Meetings, can
by its nature, be confidential and may only be released more widely, once its
confidential status has been removed. Committee members may not release, discuss,
review the content of a Committee Meeting, other than with other Committee
members, until such time as they are released without their confidential rating. Then
and only then, Committee members are encouraged to review, such information that
is so released with other individuals and contact groups within our Area. Local
organisations which are affiliated to MHNF, will be encouraged to communicate such
information to their membership.
3.10 Should a Committee member fail to attend three meetings in succession without an
appropriate reason, then the Secretary will attempt to confirm whether the member does

Page 2

34

Constitution of the new Mill Hill Neighbourhood Forum
or does not wish to remain on the Committee. If no adequate response is provided within
30 days of this request then the Committee member will be deemed to have resigned.
Meetings
3.11 An Annual General Meeting (AGM) will be held within 12 months of designation, or as
close to such date as practicable and annually thereafter. An Extraordinary General
Meeting may be called by decision of the Committee on a majority vote. For all General
Meetings, a notice of the meeting and details of any resolutions to be put to it will be
sent to all Forum members (who have registered on our website with their E-mail
addresses see 3.1) at least 21 days before the meeting.
3.12 At any General Meeting each member present will have one vote. Decisions of
General Meetings will be by simple majority except in the cases set out in section
6 below. The quorum for a General Meeting shall be 30 members.
Notices
3.13 Notices to members will be deemed delivered if sent to the member's last notified email
address,

Finance
3.14 The Forum will have the power to raise funds as necessary for its activities, by grant,
donation or any other appropriate means.
3.15 The Committee will open one or more bank accounts as necessary in the name of the
Forum. All funds raised for the Forum will be held in such accounts. The Committee
will nominate bank signatories.
3.16 The Committee will, where necessary, insure any assets it holds, and by insurance or
otherwise indemnify its officers against liabilities arising from their work for the Forum.
3.17 Subject to funding, the Committee may commission advisory services, surveys or
any other activity in support of the Objects. Such advisers will attend committee
meetings if required by the Committee but will not have voting rights.
3.18 The Treasurer will maintain accounts for the Forum even though this is not a statutory
requirement and present them in summary form at the AGM.

Register of Committee Members' Interests
3.19 The Secretary will keep a Register of Committee Members' Interests detailing any
financial interests in the Area or any other interest which could be deemed to have an
influence on decisions likely to come before the Committee. Members will abstain from
voting on any matter in which they have a financial interest or any other potential or
real 'conflict of interest'. The Register of Interests will be held by the Secretary and
updated as necessary as a private document. It may be shared with the Council if
requested with appropriate rationale.
Exclusion from the Forum Committee and the Topic Groups
3.20 Members may be excluded from continuing their membership of the Forum or from acting
on the Forum Committee or Topic Groups for conduct and behaviour that is disruptive
and/or which does not promote the purpose and objectives of the group or otherwise
might bring the Forum into disrepute.
Exclusion of members will be at the discretion of the Committee, by a majority vote at a
quorate Forum Committee meeting.
Affiliations, Interests and Contributions
3.21 The Forum Committee shall not be affiliated to any political party, but will welcome the
involvement of Ward councillors and other elected representatives as community
representative(s).
Page 3

35

Constitution of the new Mill Hill Neighbourhood Forum
Committee Members will be expected to show that their comments and actions at
Committee Meetings and outside, are in line with decisions taken and supported by
the Committee.
3.22 Notwithstanding the Register held as in 3.19 above, all members of the Forum Committee
must declare any personal interest that may be perceived as being relevant to a decision
of the group. This may include membership of an organisation, ownership of land or a
business, or any other matter that may be considered to be relevant.
3.23 Organisations and businesses may assist in the production of the Neighbourhood Plan and
may contribute to the cost of producing it. Details of any donations or assistance must be
made publicly available and must be seen not to alter the direction of the plan.

4 Neighbourhood Development Plan
4.1 The Mill Hill Neighbourhood Development Plan (NDP) will set out policies for the

development and use of land within the Area. As provided for in the Act, it will be subject
to extensive consultation and independent examination, followed by a referendum within
the Area which will be conducted by Council Officers.
4.2 The NDP will include, where appropriate, specific policies for identified parts of the Area,

for instance conservation policies. In a Conservation Area, conservation policies will be
agreed with the relevant CAAC.
4.3 The Neighbourhood Plan (NDP) will be focused on the needs of the neighbourhood and

will allow the local community to specify in more detail what they expect from
development. For example, it could contain more detail on issues such as urban design,
affordable housing, and preferred sites/locations for housing and other development.
This is about guiding and shaping development, not undermining the delivery of
development in the Area. The NDP could also guide the provision of infrastructure, for
example, setting out priorities for new development such as improving pedestrian links,
upgrading paths and open spaces. This would inform subsequent negotiations between
local authorities and developers.
The NDP may provide some overarching principles which will:
complement the Local Plan and Conservation Area Appraisals as produced by London
Borough of Barnet to ensure that all development is sympathetic to the character of the
Area identify locations for potential development that could, within the Local Plan,
include affordable housing, retail, business and community use, or any other development
express aspirations for the future development of traffic and transport serving or passing
through the Area provide for the preservation and improvement of private and public
open space nominate Assets of Community Value for listing by London Borough of Barnet
set a framework for the retail and business improvement of the Area guide and advise
the Planning and Highway Authorities towards improvements in the public realm pay due
attention to sustainability and carbon reduction pay due attention to the surface and
underground water environment, flood and pollution risks and soil stability recommend
the best and most appropriate use of new technologies, notably including Information
Technology & renewable energy sources, for the benefit of the community.
4.3 The NDP will include aspirations aimed at generating employment in the Area and
promoting business activity, including retail, and leisure. It will attempt to promote a
suitable range of shops and restaurants in the community with particular emphasis on
encouraging smaller enterprises.

5 General Policies and Principles
5.1 MHNF will take the distinctive character and heritage of Mill Hill into account in all its

actions, and will aim to ensure that all development in the Area preserves or enhances
this character.

Page 4

36

Constitution of the new Mill Hill Neighbourhood Forum
5.2 MHNF will seek to consult as widely as possible with all residents across NW7 and with

business owners in the Area to determine their views and will attempt to reach consensus
in our Neighbourhood Development Plan.
5.3 MHNF will aim for improvements in the local environment including those directed

towards carbon reduction.
5.4 MHNF will respect all differences including age, disability, gender reassignment, marriage

or civil partnership, pregnancy or maternity, race, religion or belief, sex, and sexual
orientation
5.5 MHNF will encourage all interested residents and all representative groupings of

residents or businesses in the Area to become members of MHNF and to work alongside
MHNF to further their joint objectives.
5.6 Committee members would not normally be expected to be reimbursed for expenses
incurred solely on behalf of the Forum, unless prior agreement is received from the
Committee for a specific activity being performed on behalf of the Committee. e.g.
attendance at a related conference.

6 Amendments and Dissolution
6.1 Amendments to the body of this Constitution will be by a majority decision of the

Committee
6.2 MHNF may be dissolved by decision of a General Meeting specifically called for this

purpose and carried out in accordance with 3.11 and 3.12 above, with the exception that
such a vote will be carried only if supported by three quarters (75%) of those present at
the meeting.
6.3 In the event of dissolution, any remaining funds held by MHNF will:

subject to the agreement of the Committee, be allocated to one or more nominated
organisations set up to continue the work of MHNF, or, in the absence of any such
organisation and subject to any statutory regulations, distributed to a local charity or
charities nominated and agreed by the Committee. Any assets will be sold and the
monies received from the sale handled as above.
6.4 The Mill Hill Neighbourhood Forum will be in existence for 5 years from the date it is

designated by the London Borough of Barnet unless dissolved as in 6.2 above or extended
by the decision of a General Meeting and with the Council's approval.
6.5 In accordance with the Act, a formal review of the functions and achievements of MHNF

will be carried out four and a half years (or earlier if appropriate) after its formation.
Following such review, and consultation with its members, MHNF will decide to continue,
amend or dissolve itself as considered appropriate.

Date of Document: 04/03/2020

Page 5

37

Constitution of the new Mill Hill Neighbourhood Forum

APPENDIX 1
Map of proposed Mill Hill Neighbourhood Forum Area

The Area is shown with a black line as representing London NW7 (Mill Hill Ward and the NW7
postcodes within Hale Ward.)

Page 6

38

Constitution of the new Mill Hill Neighbourhood Forum

APPENDIX 2

Mill Hill Neighbourhood Forum - affiliated organisations
(with interests in Planning Matters)-updated February 2020

Mill Hill Preservation Society
Mill Hill Residents Association
Copthall Consultation Group
Copthall Sports Group
Friends of Mill Hill Park
Hale Association
Mill Hill Historical Society
London Wildlife Trust
Mill Hill Conservation Area Advisory Committee
University of London Observatory
Barnet Homes
Community Barnet
Langley Park Residents Association
The High Street Residents Association
Millbrook Park Residents Association
Burtonhole Lane Residents Association

Page 7

39

This page is intentionally left blank

Consultee

Comments

Council's Response

Natural
England

Natural England does not wish to make comment on the suitability of the proposed plan area or the
proposed neighbourhood planning body.

Noted

Environment
Agency

We have no comments to make at this stage, however, depending on the environmental risks or
opportunities within this area, we may comment at the later stages of the neighbourhood plan. We
will focus our detailed engagement on those areas where the environmental risks are greatest.

Noted

Councillor
Golnar
Bokaei

I am not only a councillor in Mill Hill ward but also was a member of the above Forum.
I object to the application currently submitted on the grounds that there is still a lot of outstanding
issues with this organisation and no one that the Forum felt they had to answer to. I am concerned
that during the last five years of forum's existence and certainly since I joined a couple of years ago
the following concerns were raised with no proper replies due to the autocratic way decisions were
made. My concerns as it stands are:
1- timely account submission.
2- non compliance with policies and Procedures in Place in particular lack of safeguarding
measures.
3- failure to follow decision making procedures.
I am not satisfied that once the new application is approved the forum will operate differently. As
the council is providing financial package to the forum before the application is approved measures
should be put in place to permit the council to perhaps have a more hands approach with regard to
how the forum functions. I am available to discuss this further however is it stands I object to the
application.

The Council expect Forums to be managed in a way
that promotes good governance and transparency
enabling the local community to be engaged and able
to contribute to the production of a Neighbourhood
Plan. This includes clarifications about finance.

Mill Hill ward

Local
Resident 1

I have read the proposal for designation of "Mill Hill Neighbourhood Forum" on the Engage Barnet
website, and I would like to register my concerns about the proposal, in its current format. I am
supportive of the creation of a neighbourhood forum for the NW7 and served as a committee
member on the previous forum and was until February 2020, when I was summarily ejected from
the committee by the new chair, a Mr Stuart Kershaw, a person I do not recall ever meeting. The
explanation Mr Kershaw gave was that he had engaged the former chair John Gillett as a
consultant to the committee and Mr Kershaw felt that I could not be involved in the organisation if
Mr Gillett was to participate, as I had previously criticised Mr Gillett's tenure as chair. It is clear to
me that there are many issues with the newly formulated organisation under Mr Kershaw's tenure.
1) Security of data. Mr Kershaw, who was acting as chair, forwarded an exchange of emails,
marked private and confidential, to a third party without my authorisation. The content of these was
a private exchange, Mr Kershaw had confirmed that he was treating this as private. It was leaked
deliberately to damage my credibility. Private discussions concerning committee business should
never be released to third parties in this manner or for these purposes. This demonstrates a
complete lack of understanding of principles of data protection. I have reported this breach to the
ICO.
2) The committee is not sufficiently representative. It appears that six of the members are married
couples. During my tenure on the committee, I sought to seek representation on the committee
from as many of the organisations in Mill Hill with wide memberships as possible, such as The

The Council does not provide financial support for the
Forum. Support for Neighbourhood Plan production is
available via MHCLG.
The remit of the Forum is to produce a Neighbourhood
Plan. As an unincorporated body there are limits on its
handling of grant funding.

1)

Data held by the Forum should follow the data
protection principles set out in the Data
Protection Act 2018

2)

The Forum Committee has not sufficiently
demonstrated that it has reached out to residents
and other bodies that are active in Mill Hill. It is
disappointing that in one of the largest
Neighbourhood Areas in London some
households have two representatives on the
Forum Committee.

3)

We expect Forums to be managed in a way that
promotes good governance and transparency.
This includes clarifications about finance. The
remit of the Forum is to produce a
Neighbourhood Plan. As an unincorporated body
there are limits on its handling of grant funding.

1

41

Residents Association, The Mill Hill Services Club, the Mill Hill Synagogue, the Sacred Heart
Church, The Good Neighbour scheme. I also suggested that these organisations be invited to a
public meeting when the relaunch of the forum was proposed. There have been no open meetings
and no attempt to widen the base of the committee beyond the previous committee and the circle
of friends of the current and former chair. As far as I am concerned, this means that the issues and
problems that plagued the previous committee have not been resolved.
3) I have grave concerns about how the finances of the Mill Hill Neighbourhood forum are
managed. Despite asking on numerous occasions, I have never seen accounts for the forum. As a
committee member for five years, I regard it a matter of due diligence to review these. I believe that
my continued requests for accounts is another reason why I was asked to leave the committee. My
specific concern was brought about following a Freedom of Information request (ref 6059088). In
the response, it stated that £3,500 of a large grant obtained from Barnet Council was to be paid to
an organisation called "Comida Festival" to help stage a Summer festival. I have reason to believe
that this money was not paid to this organisation, as I provided the staging for the said festival and
did not receive a payment of this amount. Whilst I have no reason to believe that the money was
misused, in the absence of proper accounts and documentation, I feel that I have not been able to
discharge my duty as a committee member and undertake proper due diligence. This lack of
transparency in the business of the neighbourhood forum has been a constant issue throughout
my tenure as a committee member.
4) I have sincere and grave doubts about the constitution, especially in light of the formation of the
committee. There are several major structural weaknesses.
4.1 Quorum - The constitution states "3.3 A Committee (or Steering Group) comprising at least 21
members will be elected at each AGM to carry out the day-to-day work of the Forum. A quorum for
the Committee will be 7 members. " There has been no AGM for a significant period of time. The
committee as currently formulated with several married couples could theoretically see a majority
for a meeting comprised of Mr Kershaw and his wife, along with one other couple. This is most
unprepresentative.
4.2 Officers - The constitution states "3.4 The Committee will elect the following officers of the
Forum from its number: Chair, Vice Chair, Secretary and Treasurer. Officers will serve for one year
and be subject to reelection, and there will be no limit to the number of terms an officer may serve.
The Chair (or the Vice Chair when acting as Chair) will have a casting vote at any Committee or
General Meeting." The objections to this are as for 4.1
4.3 Accounts - As the forum will be obtaining public funds, the accounts should be published and
freely available for inspection. This is not adequately dealt with and there is no transparency "3.18
The Treasurer will maintain accounts for the Forum even though this is not a statutory requirement
and present them in summary form at the AGM."
4.4 Amendments to the constitution - A publicly funded body, where two married couples can
amend the constitution is clearly very flawed "6.1 Amendments to the body of this Constitution will
be by a majority decision of the Committee"
4.5 Dissolution - This states that a majority of 75% of attendees of an AGM must vote for
dissolution for it to be carried. This seems to be a very high thresshold. Surely if 60% of the
membership are unhappy, this should be sufficient "6.2 MHNF may be dissolved by decision of a
General Meeting specifically called for this purpose and carried out in accordance with 3.11 and

4)

The Council recognises the concerns on the
proposed Constitution and has advised the
applicant to seek third party help from Locality.
Support is available for making a successful
application for designation of Neighbourhood
Areas and Forums.

5)

Planning Committee noted the issues of
safeguarding when considering the application
for re-designation July 2019. The issue of
safeguarding has been highlighted as an element
of the request for support from Locality.

6)

See response at item 3. The Forum will not be
handling substantial amounts of public money.
Any CIL generated by development in the
Neighbourhood Area will be managed by the
Council. An adopted Neighbourhood Plan can
set out priorities for how this should be spent.
The legal remit of the Forum ceases once the
Neighbourhood Plan is adopted.

2

42

Local
Resident 2

3.12 above, with the exception that such a vote will be carried only if supported by three quarters
(75%) of those present at the meeting."
5) The Previous MHNF foundered on serious safeguarding issues. There appears to be no attempt
to have rectified these deficiencies, beyond a change of chair. In my discussions with Mr Kershaw,
I have not been convinced that he has recognised these issues or put anything in place to resolve
the structural problems that caused the failure of the previous forum.
6) It is clear that the the purpose of the Neighbourhood plan is to ensure that the Mill Hill
Neighbourhood Forum has access to the substancial amounts of cash that such an organisation
are required to manage. Whilst I 100% support the concept of this money being used in Mill Hill,
there is no clear statement which demonstrates that this committee will be able to manage these
finances in a manner beneficial to the well being of Mill Hill Residents. An organisation that has
failed to hold AGM's or produce accounts clearly cannot claim to have the infrastructure in place to
do this effectively. This should be clearly and transparently demonstrated. In summary, I do not
believe that this proposal is right for Mill Hill in its current format. A wider based committee is
required, with solid support from existing Mill Hill institutions is necessary. The constitution should
not allow partners to serve on the committee. There should be proper financial and safeguarding
controls in place and a public meeting held, with all local institutions invited, to discuss the
submission, prior to submission to the council. I strongly urge the council too ask Mr Kershaw to
put together a plan with a degree of credibility. or preferably find a new chair who can deliver what
is needed.
In my previous response to Forward Planning last year regarding the re-designation of the Mill Hill
Neighbourhood Forum I said at the time that the proposed forum needed to have a complete
change of officers and committee and should be run on a completely transparent basis. On the
basis of the application submitted to re-designate the Mill Hill Neighbourhood Forum I can see no
evidence of either transparency or even an attempt to run the proposed forum as a partner of the
existing voluntary bodies and associations in Mill Hill. There have been no public meetings of this
proposed body. Under the proposed constitution, the committee can choose not to publish minutes
citing commercial confidentiality. Members can only join the forum using the website and only
committee members may call general meetings. This is not at all acceptable as it allows the
committee to be unaccountable to the wider public. I note the new constitution has been written to
give all decision making powers to the committee alone. Under the constitution, the committee can
meet with a quorum of seven members. If two of the married couples who are members of the
proposed committee attend such committee meeting held under this constitution, they alone can
control all decision making. I note that several voluntary bodies in Mill Hill are not only excluded
from the proposed committee, under the proposed constitution of the Mill Hill Neighbourhood
Forum the committee controls the decisions made by the proposed forum and not the voluntary
bodies. It is surprising that bodies like the Mill Hill Residents Association and other groups such as
the Mill Hill United Services Club and the several churches and Synagogue have no representation
under the proposed constitution. I would urge the Council to reject the above application as it does
not give the many voluntary groups in Mill Hill a say in the proposed Neighbourhood Plan and the
proposed Neighbourhood Forum would be run effectively as an unaccountable private club rather
than being open, transparent and accountable to the whole community.

As highlighted above the Council expects Forums to
be managed in a way that promotes good governance
and transparency enabling the local community to be
engaged and able to contribute to the production of a
Neighbourhood Plan. A Forum has to be inclusive in
order to succeed.
The Council recognises the concerns on the proposed
Constitution and has advised the applicant to seek
third party help from Locality. Support is available for
making a successful application for designation of
Neighbourhood Areas and Forums.

3

43

Local
Resident 3

Historic
England

I write regarding the application to create a local neighbourhood forum under the Localism Act
2011, by a group known as the Mill Hill Neighbourhood Forum. I note that this is the same group
who previously were designated and had an application refused. I would like to register an
objection to the application, and provide background as to why. Since the previous application I
have had numerous conversations with Mr Stewart Kershaw who now claims to be the Chair of the
Mill Hill Neighbourhood Forum. These conversations have occurred, both in person (one with the
claimed ex-Chair Mr John Gillet) and via email. During these conversations I became exceptionally
concerned about the data protection provisions of the group. In January 2020 I requested a copy of
all data stored on me by the Forum. Mr Kershaw replied just within the deadline with a package of
information. In that package, Mr Kershaw revealed personal data on two members of the Mill Hill
Neighbourhood Forum, and also that the group has published my personal information (along with
others) on the group’s website. Mr Kershaw also refused to acknowledge whether this was a
complete set of data. Indeed his tone became quite inappropriate for a Chair of an organisation
representing the general public.
On further discussions, I noted that the original legal basis for collecting my data was consent. I
questioned where they got this consent from to which Mr Kershaw could not provide a satisfactory
response. Mr Kershaw then changed the legal basis to legitimate interest, but has not provided
information as to how this is justified. This whole response has left me so concerned about the
attitude the group takes towards data protection that I have reported the group to the Information
Commissioner’s Office. I am awaiting their response. I do not feel it is appropriate that a group
under review by a supervisory authority be designated at this time. Even should the ICO feel their
actions are within the guidelines, the attitude of Mr Kershaw to data protection raises serious
concerns about how the details of the members will be held and secured. There should even be a
question as to whether they are legally required to have a Data Protection Officer. Consequently I
object to the designation of this group, and feel that should the council go ahead, they put the
personal data of the citizens of Mill Hill at risk.
In the event of agreement to the designate the proposed boundary and Neighbourhood Forum, we
would be happy to comment further on the developing plan. We would urge the Forum and local
authorities to consider how they can work together to update the heritage evidence base for the
area and how heritage can help underpin the wider aspirations for the neighbourhood.

Data held by the Forum should follow the data
protection principles set out in the Data Protection Act
2018

Noted.

4

44

Local
Resident 4

While I am very much in favour of the idea of having a Neighbourhood Plan I am extremely worried
that the Mill Hill Neighbourhood Forum is trying to get the mandate to take responsibility for this
Plan and the legal mandate that will let them manage the large amounts of public funds (our
money) in our name. There are three main areas of concern regarding the designation of the
Forum for this role:
1. The Forum does not seem to represent and speak for the residents of Mill Hill
2. The Forum does not seem to be a fully democratic organisation
3. The Forum does not seem to operate in an open and transparent manner.
4. Other General Issues
As a precursor, I wanted to state that the reason why these points are so important to me is that
any organisation that wishes to develop and manage the Neighbourhood Plan (which will have
such an impact on the day to day lives of Mill Hill residents), and any organisation that is looking to
manage large amounts of public monies (the CIL) for the benefit of the residents of Mill Hill has to
demonstrate, more than any other associations or groupings in Mill Hill, three primary
characteristics:
1. That its committee is truly representative of the people of Mill Hill.
2. That the organisation is run in a democratic manner. This means that the residents of Mill Hill
are fully sovereign in all matters relating to the NP and the CIL, and that the Committee is and
remains at all times fully subservient and accountable to the residents of Mill Hill. If the
organisation claims to speak for all the residents of Mill Hill and, more importantly, if the
organisation controls funds for and on behalf of all the residents of Mill Hill, then it is vital that this
organisation is set up with a constitution that is democratic and that ensures that the committee
represents and serves the residents and is always accountable to the residents.
3. That its discussions, its decisions, its management of finances and all its procedures are fully
open and transparent to all the residents of Mill Hill at all times.
Let me address each one in turn.
1. The Forum does not seem to represent and speak for the residents of Mill Hill
Currently there is a list of committee members, most of whom are individuals who don’t speak for
any of the residents of Mill Hill. I know a number of them and can vouch for their credentials.
However, as a committee, it seems as if they are a group of individuals who, as well intentioned as
they might be, have no constituency of their own. Expept for possibly one or two, most of them do
not represent a local membership, most of them are not involved in leading or in coordinating
activities or communities here in Mill Hill, most of them do not claim to represent any other
residents other than their own personal point of view, etc. As a result, I find it difficult to
understand how the committee can claim to speak for the residents of Mill Hill and make decisions
on their behalf. At the very heart of our democratic system lies the principle of representation and
I feel that this committee lacks that very important ingredient.
I feel that before any organisation comes forward to speak for the residents of Mill Hill, it should
first invest more time and effort to ensure that it is much more fully representative in the makeup of
its committee. So, for example the Chair of the Preservation Society should be officially on the
committee, the Chairs of the Residents Association and of the Friends of Mill Hill Park are not on

1)

The Council also has concerns about the Forum
Committee and the absence of groups
representing Mill Hill residents. The Forum is
expected to be representative of the community.
A Forum has to be inclusive in order to succeed.

2)

The Council recognises the concerns on the
proposed Constitution and has advised the
applicant to seek third party help from Locality.
Support is available for making a successful
application for designation of Neighbourhood
Areas and Forums

3)

The remit of the Forum is to produce a
Neighbourhood Plan. As an unincorporated body
there are limits on its handling of any grant
funding. The Forum will not be handling
substantial amounts of public money. Any CIL
generated by development in the Neighbourhood
Area will be managed by the Council. An adopted
Neighbourhood Plan can set out priorities for how
this should be spent. The legal remit of the Forum
ceases once the Neighbourhood Plan is adopted.

4)

Planning Committee noted the issues of
safeguarding when considering the application for
re-designation July 2019. The issue of
safeguarding has been highlighted as an element
of the request for support from Locality. The
message on focusing on Plan production and
staying within the limit of what a Forum can do
was clearly expressed in the refusal to redesignate the 2014 Forum. Neighbourhood
Forums should not be diverted from producing
Neighbourhood Plans. Other groups in Mill Hill
should be capable of organising events such as
markets or festivals and commenting on planning
applications. The Council have sought clarification
on what the applicant has done to reach out to the
wider community of Mill Hill and Hale. Data held
by the Forum should follow the data protection
principles set out in the Data Protection Act 2018

5

45

the committee, the Chair or Heads of the Services Club and of Rotary, The Copthall Strategy
Group, the leaders of the various faith groups, more governors and heads of our local schools, the
Chair of the NW7Hub, etc. There are so many groupings that have legitimate membership of their
own and can legitimately speak for their members who are blatantly absent from this committee
that it is hard to understand how the current group of individuals on the committee can claim to
speak for the residents of Mill Hill and create a plan in their name and manage public funds in their
name without the participating of the heads and leaders of these groups on the committee.
From my discussions with a number of heads of local groups in Mill Hill, most of them have not
been approached by the current Forum with an invite to join the committee. I think more work
needs to be done here before this group of individuals can legitimately claim to speak for the
people of Mill Hill.
2. The Forum does not seem to be a fully democratic organisation. In Clause 3.11 it states that
“An Extraordinary General Meeting may be called by decision of the Committee on a majority
vote.” Why are only committee members entitled to call an EGM? Why not a reasonable number
of members? To me this is a very fundamental issue of democracy. The membership of any
organisation must remain sovereign and its committee is, and must always be, fully accountable to
its members. I understand that there was an issue about a year ago where members demanded to
call an EGM to hold the Forum’s committee to account and, from what I understand, the committee
ignored this constitutional right of its members. Could this be why this clause was amended to
make it impossible for members to have control over their own committee if they feel that they have
legitimate concerns? However, this strikes at the very heart of a democratically run organisation
and is a very worrying attempt to block a very basic democratic right. On a related matter, in
Clause 6.1 it states that “Amendments to the body of this Constitution will be by a majority decision
of the Committee”. Here again, why only committee members? Are the Forum members not able
to change the constitution of their own organisation? Again, the constitution of a body that claims
to speak for and act on behalf of the residents of Mill Hill needs to enshrine the principle that the
members are always sovereign, not the committee. On another matter, in Clause 3.21, it states
that “Committee Members will be expected to show that their comments and actions at Committee
Meetings and outside, are in line with decisions taken and supported by the Committee” I find it
extremely worrying that a committee member is not allowed to disagree with decisions made by
the committee? Our MPs in parliament are expected to argue their case passionately and we
expect them to disagree if they feel strongly about matters. This is what we call Democracy. So
why should the Forum’s committee members not be allowed to disagree at Committee Meetings
(which is exactly the place where open and free discussions should be taking place before any
decisions are made). Further to that, why should any committee member not be able to report back
to his or her constituency or to the Mill Hill public at large to voice concerns about any decisions
made by the committee if they feel strongly about any matters. This kind of gagging order of
committee members is simply not democratic in nature and I don’t understand why the Forum is
trying so hard to muzzle its committee members. What is it trying to hide? In Clause 3.20, it states
that “Members may be excluded from continuing their membership of the Forum or from acting on
the Forum Committee or Topic Groups for conduct and behaviour... which does not promote the
purpose and objectives of the group ... Exclusion of members will be at the discretion of the
Committee, by a majority vote at a quorate Forum Committee meeting.” Here again, one must be

6

46

very careful that someone who passionately disagrees and stands his or her ground does not fall
foul of this Clause. It is too easy to demonise dissenters and carry out a witch hunt. To protect
dissenters from becoming victims to this Clause, I suggest enabling an external appeal process (or
appeal to the members at an EGM, that can be called by the members) to provide a reasonable
procedure of checks and balances on this matter. Also, the exclusion period should be limited to a
reasonable period of time (1 year?), not indefinitely. On other matter relating to being
democratically run, the constitution mentions the concept of an AGM but does not specifically state
that an AGM must be held every 12 months. I think this is a very important omission that needs to
be rectified.
3. The Forum does not seem to operate in an open and transparent manner. There are a number
of issues that I noticed in the constitution that are of concern to me. Money Matters:
The first relates to money matters. As the management of the CIL is a matter of managing public
monies that will affect all the residents of Mill Hill, it is extremely important that financial
accountability and financial transparency be impeccable. I understand that, despite numerous
requests from various sources and also after the committee explicitly decided to complete and
publish its finances (see its own Minutes), it still has failed to publish its financial report. With this in
mind and noting that they have the same Treasurer in place for the new Forum, I fail to understand
how we can trust the Forum to manage such large amounts of our public money properly. I think
simply stating that they will do so is not enough reassurance as they have claimed this in the past
but failed (or refused) to provide such accounting of their finances to date. In Clause 3.18, the
states: “The Treasurer will maintain accounts for the Forum even though this is not a statutory
requirement and present them in summary form at the AGM.”
Specifically because of the Forum’s terrible record of being financially accountable in the past and
because they have kept the same Treasurer who clearly was not able (or refused) to provide full
and robust financial control and reporting in the past, I think it is crucial for financial matters to be
much more transparent and that full details be kept in the public domain at all times, not just a
summary once a year. This way we can all see what is happening at all times to “our money”. I
don’t see any reason to hide this information from the residents of Mill Hill.
Further, in clause 3.19, the constitution states that; “The Secretary will keep a Register of
Committee Members' Interests detailing any financial interests in the Area or any other interest
which could be deemed to have an influence on decisions likely to come before the Committee.
The Register of Interests will be held by the Secretary and updated as necessary as a private
document. It may be shared with the Council if requested with appropriate rationale.” Here again,
why a private document and why such secrecy? There is no reason for secrecy when it comes to
anything to do with managing public funds. If any committee member has “secret” interests that
might affect the decision making process, then maybe they should not be on the committee that
represents such public interest in the first place. Here again it feels that they are trying to hide
something and this is very worrying and does not inspire trust.
Confidentiality- The next issue of concern is that of confidentiality. In Clause 3.9 it states that
“…the content of Committee Meetings, can by its nature, be confidential and may only be released
more widely, once its confidential status has been removed. Committee members may not release,
discuss, review the content of a Committee Meeting, other than with other Committee members,
until such time as they are released without their confidential rating”

7

47

Again, why the secrecy? Surely nothing relating to the managing of our Neighbourhood Plan and
nothing relating to the way the CIL is managed on behalf of the residents should be kept in secret
for any reason? Here again, this does not inspire trust in the Forum or its management of our local
affairs and finances. On the contrary, as the entire point is to manage the plan and manage the CIL
on behalf of the residents and for the residents, it then follows that open and free discussion and
publication of any committee discussions should be actively and freely promoted and encouraged
at all times, so that residents and members can have the opportunity to be fully aware of, and
participate in the decision making process. Here again, we must remember the notion that the
membership is sovereign and the committee merely serves it membership. So, why the insistence
of secrecy?
4. Other General Matters of Concern - Safeguarding Issues - I understand that one of the
reasons why the Councillors were told to distance themselves from the old Forum in the past and
one of the arguments cited by the Council when it refused to redesignate the old Forum last year
was that there were serious safeguarding concerns relating the John Gillet, the past Chair. I note
that, while the past Chair is now not on officially on the committee, he is still very much involved as
a consultant. He is still extremely close to the decision making process and I note that his wife is
on the committee. While this might be technically a different leadership, this kind of technical
manipulation and trickery does not inspire trust form the people. We all know what is going on
and this is not really a new Forum with a new leadership. It feels more like a veneer to cover up the
old guard who are still controlling the Forum. Also, there are still a number of committee members
from the last Forum. We must remember that the previous committee members should be held
responsible for the safeguarding issues too. In the old Forum, the did not do anything to resolve
the concerns of the residents on this matter. However, a number of them are still on the new
committee. Why have they not resigned?
Again, trust is a huge factor and, for the Neighbourhood Plan to be accepted by the people in the
referendum, it is important to ensure that the new committee is seen to be new and not tainted by
past safeguarding issues and other concerns.
Focus on the Plan - Another of the comments raised by the Council when it decided not to redesignate the old Forum last year was that the Forum seems to lose focus on its primary objective
of creating the Neighbourhood Plan. Looking at the last published Minutes of the Forum (which I
believe was after the decision by the Council last year) I note that they are still thinking of getting
involved in other matters such as the French Market, etc. I really don’t understand why they
continue to insist on getting involved with other community matters? Surely that is what the Mill Hill
Residents Association is there for? The Forum’s only reason for being set up in the first place was
to create and manage the Neighbourhood Plan – and nothing else. It seems that they are not
listening and I am not convinced that they will fall foul once again of trying to be everything to
everyone, when this is not the reason for their existence.
Representations from the Public. - In the current set of documentation submitted by the “new”
Forum, it claims to have canvassed the opinions of all the residents to understand what they want.
If this is indeed a “new” Forum, as they claim, then I think it is a gross misrepresentation and very
misleading to claim in their new application that they have reached out to the residents. This was
many years ago and part of the old Forum - not the new Forum. This gives a false impression that
they represent the current wishes of the people as part of the current application process.

8

48

Membership - In their application they also state that they have 3000 Facebook followers and 650
subscribers. However, again, this is for the old Forum and if they are claiming to be a new
organisation with a new legal status, then it would be a serious breach of GDPR to claim this data
for the new Forum and claim it is the property of the new Forum. These kind of manipulative
claims again point to an intent to mislead and misinform and, importantly, break GDPR laws. Is
this the kind of organisation that should be in control of so much public money?
CONCLUSION: While I am very supportive of the Neighbourhood Plan and of an organisation
that will move this forwards for the residents of Mill Hill, I personally feel that this new Forum in its
current form and with its current committee, its current lack of representation of the residents it
claims to want to serve, and it’s current constitution is simply not yet ready to take on such an
important task and has not demonstrated that it has the capability to be the voice of the residents
of Mill Hill or the ability to manage the Plan or public monies in a way that represents the
community, builds trust and unites our community here in Mill Hill.
I feel that the Forum should withdraw its current application and start a real discussion with
resident groups and properly address the issues above it is wishes to be designated to carry out
such an important role in our community.] Failing that, I urge the Council to reject its application for
designation.
Councillor
Val
Duschinsky
Mill Hill ward

I would like to register some of my concerns about the re-designation application for the Mill Hill
Neighbourhood Forum. After the resignation of a number of the committee members (including
myself) it is clear that six of the original members have now been joined on the committee by their
partners so there are now six married couples including the partners of Stuart Kershaw and John
Gillett. It is very concerning that the committee has not reached out to the wider community to
include representatives from the various Residents’ committees and faith organisations who have
many members committed to working for the improvement of Mill Hill. Another concern is to do with
the lack of transparency as far as the finances of the forum are concerned. This is a particular
worry where, if there were to be designation and referendum approval, the Forum would be
entitled to have access to a percentage of the community infrastructure levy (CIL) funds and to
determine how these were spent.
A further concern is to do with safeguarding where the then chairman showed poor judgement in
not taking potential safeguarding issues seriously which led to the Mill Hill and Hale councillors
resigning from the committee following advice from Governance. Although he has nominally
stepped back it is understood that the former chairman continues to lead the Forum committee.

The Forum Committee has not sufficiently
demonstrated that it has reached out to residents and
other bodies that are active in Mill Hill. It is
disappointing that in one of the largest Neighbourhood
Areas in London some households have two
representatives on the Forum Committee.
The Forum will not be handling substantial amounts of
public money. Any CIL generated by development in
the Neighbourhood Area will be managed by the
Council. An adopted Neighbourhood Plan can set out
priorities for how this should be spent. The legal remit
of the Forum ceases once the Neighbourhood Plan is
adopted.

Planning Committee noted the issues of safeguarding
when considering the application for re-designation
July 2019. The issue of safeguarding has been
highlighted as an element of the request for support
from Locality.

9

49

Mill Hill
Preservation
Society

As a stakeholder with an interest in the Mill Hill and Hale area, we have been aware of the work of
the Mill Hill Neighbourhood Forum since its inception in 2014. The Society has been involved in all
the consultation processes in the development of the Area Action Plan (AAP) and we considered
this process worthwhile. Indeed the Society was saddened when the initial request for redesignation was refused, but we did understand and appreciate the reasons given following due
consideration by the Council. We were also aware that at that time the draft plan, 80% complete,
had been submitted to the LBB for comment. Our Planning Group does agree in principle that
MHPS should support this new application, so that all the good work put in by the previous forum is
not wasted. In the spirit of this opinion we have examined the three documents submitted with this
new application for designation and we wish to register some concerns. The first MHNF did
become side-tracked, by local planning issues rather than concentrating on the production of the
actual plan and if granted designation this time they must stay absolutely focussed to produce the
Local Plan. We note that in the documentation the map of the MHNF area includes Mill Hill East
and Hale Ward lying within NW7. We presume when the proposed boundary changes come into
effect in 2022 the proposed map will be changed and from the documents we are not sure whether
these changes will become relevant. The Society does not know what powers the Council has to
suggest changes to the documents, especially the Constitution, but we wish to add a few
comments on this aspect. Clause 3.9 covers the issue of minutes, and it implies that if there is a
confidential item discussed then the minutes should not be made public. Surely, the confidential
element could be redacted, or included in an separate addendum, so the remainder could be
published. Previously an EGM could be called by 30 members of the Forum; this has now changed
and can only be called by the committee itself, which limits its accountability to its membership.
With this in mind, a public meeting needs to be held shortly after designation to authorize and elect
committee members rather than waiting up to 12 months for an AGM. Similarly we wish to
emphasise the following items:
· The Forum should prioritise the development of the draft Neighbourhood Plan above all other
activities
· The Forum should publish a programme for preparing the draft Neighbourhood Plan and provide
an annual review of progress
· The Forum should publish proposals for actively consulting with the community including regular
public meetings to discuss the draft Neighbourhood Plan
· Meeting minutes and annual accounts should be published on the forum website within one
month of a meeting (see our comment above concerning ‘confidentiality’)
· For transparency annual accounts should note all sources of income and payments to advisors,
consultants and so forth
With all these points in mind, the Society does feel that a Neighbourhood Forum that actually
produces the Neighbourhood Plan for Mill Hill would be an attribute to the locality and as such
MHPS supports the designation of the Neighbourhood Forum in this new guise. However, the
points we have made above are serious and we do not know whether the Council has the power to
make the designation ‘conditional’.

The Council notes the support of MHPS for the Forum
but would expect MHPS to be part of the Forum
Committee and to have had a more active role in the
preparation of this application including the
Constitution and the production of the Neighbourhood
Plan. It is disappointing that this opportunity has been
missed.
The geographic area of the proposed Neighbourhood
Area has been set with reference to current ward
boundaries. If there is a future application for a Forum
it could have regard to the ward boundary changes in
2022.
The express purpose of the Forum is to produce a
Neighbourhood Plan and engage with the local
community to contribute to the production of a Plan.
Commenting on planning applications is a role that
can be performed by other groups in Mill Hill
The Council expects Forums to be managed in a way
that promotes good governance and transparency. It
recognises the concerns on the proposed Constitution
and has advised the applicant to seek third party help
from Locality. Support is available for making a
successful application for designation of
Neighbourhood Areas and Forums

10

50

Local
Resident 5

I am extremely worried by the lack of due diligence done in selecting the new forum. I feel that
before a forum is selected, clear investigations as to who the forum is and how they operate should
be looked into. This has not been done. As a resident of Mill Hill, the monies given over to the
forum are for the good of Mill Hill and residents' views should be represented. Therefore a broad
spectrum of members should be on the forum to air different points. I am worried that the forum
does not have a true representation of Mill Hill residents. Before any decision is made, Barnet
Council must take action to protect the people who live in Mill Hill from a forum that does not
represent the residents of Mill Hill; a single parent might have a different view from a retired couple.
I hope that the council look into this matter with urgency and understand the importance of having
a forum that has fair representation.

The Forum Committee has not sufficiently
demonstrated that it has reached out to residents and
other bodies that are active in Mill Hill. It is
disappointing that in one of the largest Neighbourhood
Areas in London some households have two
representatives on the Forum Committee.
The Forum will not be handling substantial amounts of
public money. Any CIL generated by development in
the Neighbourhood Area will be managed by the
Council. An adopted Neighbourhood Plan can set out
priorities for how this should be spent. The legal remit
of the Forum ceases once the Neighbourhood Plan is
adopted.
Neighbourhood Plans need to support community
cohesion. Concerns about threats on social media
should be reported to the Metropolitan Police.

Local
Resident 6 –
NW7 4BY

I have written to you earlier to propose that the Mill Hill Neighbourhood Forum application for redesignation should be rejected. I have been made aware today that several residents have been
sent messages by the so-called Mill Hill Traders group operating on Twitter in which they are being
threatened with police action unless they withdraw their objections to the re designation of the Mill
Hill Neighbourhood Forum. I myself have been targeted by one the associated twitter accounts, as
attached. These attacks on well regarded members of the community are not acceptable and I
urge you therefore to reject the re-designation of the Mill Hill Neighbourhood Forum.

Local
Resident 7 –
NW7 2LR

I have been made aware that having been disbanded for incompetence, the Mill Hill
Neighbourhood Forum is about to be re-commissioned. And that it is those same incompetents
(including a convicted paedophile) who are set to reconvene. They do not speak for the majority of
residents of Mill Hill. They silence all dissenters. They can not be allowed, to put it politely, to fail
the people of Mill Hill again. They were supposed to draw a plan for redevelopments. They did
not. And now this once beautiful, green suburb has been raped by developers. And no-one has
stopped them.
The old one should never have been closed down as was a phenomenal non political group that
achieved remarkable things for the good of everyone in this area. Please ensure the new one is
formed as soon as possible

The Council refers to our previous responses on the
application for the new Forum

Local
Resident 9
Local
Resident 10

Yes to the new mhnf

The Council notes your concise expression of
support.
The Council notes your support.

Local
Resident 11

I would l would like to declare my interest in MHNF being able to continue. I am a mill hill resident

Local
Resident 8

I have been made aware of a new campaign to re-establish the Mill Hill Neighbourhood Forum.
I fully support this as I live in Mill Hill and want us residents to have a platform to enable the
network of local people to voice their opinions and concerns.

The Council notes your support. The reasons for why
the previous Forum was not re-designated were set
out in the report to Planning Committee in July 2019.

The Council notes your support.

11

51

Local
Resident 12
– NW7 3LY
Local
Resident and
business
owner 13

As a resident of Mill Hill, I support the establishment of the Mill Hill Neighbourhood Forum.

The Council notes your support.

I support the excellent application for a Mill Hill Neighbourhood Forum as being fully representative
of our community in which I've lived/worked since 1987. It is essential for the democratic process
that they are allowed to present the residents with a Neighbourhood Plan on which we can have a
democratic vote. I have full confidence in the extremely talented committee which includes senior
figures from our NW7hub and largest organisation Saracens. Please make this happen for
residents. Thank you.

The Council notes your support.

Local
Resident 14
– NW7 4LE

The old one should never have been closed down as it was a phenomenal non political group that
achieved remarkable things for the good of everyone in this area. Please ensure the new one is
formed as soon as possible.

The Council notes your support. The reasons for why
the previous Forum was not re-designated were set
out in the report to Planning Committee in July 2019.

Local
Resident 15

I am a resident of Mill Hill and it has been brought to my attention that a NEW forum has been
established which will has a lot of say as to where monies are spent in Mill Hill. I am very
uncomfortable about the NEW Forum as I believe that this Forum has basically taken over from the
old forum, using the old Forum’s data, and not establishing anything new. Opinions, views, ideas
that the new forum claim they have researched and canvassed seem to be untruthful. The
information that they are using is from the old Forum and this is worrying.
The information is out of date and probably not as relevant to the situation today.
The current views are out of date and it my eyes the new Forum is not working for Mill Hill as they
have not put effort into compelling new information that would help the community.
I cannot trust a forum that is doesn’t display update, relevant information, in a clear and
transparent manner. Please can you look into this immediately as I do not want them to represent
Mill Hill.

The Council refers to our previous responses on the
application for the new Forum

Highways
England

Having examined the Mill Hill Neighbourhood Plan Area and Forum Designation Application
documents, we are satisfied that its policies will not materially affect the safety, reliability and / or
operation of the SRN (the tests set out in DfT C2/13 para’s 9 & 10 and MHCLG NPPF para 109).
Accordingly, Highways England does not offer any comments on the consultation at this time.

Noted

12

52

Local
Resident 16
– NW7 2RL

Local
Resident 17

Local
Resident 18

I am writing you to express my concern regarding the appointed "Mill Hill Forum Committee" to
manage part of the funds coming from planning applications. This money should be spent in
transparency and in open discussion with the people of Mill Hill. This doesn't seem to be the case
and I'd like to explain you why. In Clause 3.9 it states that committee members can't speak about
the matters discussed in a meeting until they are made public. I wonder why meeting notes aren't
made public immediately? This is government's money, we as residents have the right to know
why and how it is spent without further ado. In clause 3.21 it says that committee members are
expected to act in line with the decisions made by the committee. It's worrying that they can't
disagree and express their free will isn't it? The new Forum, as it was set up as new legal entity by
the Council last year, says it has reached out to the people of Mill Hill to understand what they
want. I live in Mill Hill for 7 years and I can't recall any attempted contact by the Forum. I do recall
an attempt 5 years ago but that was the old Forum. Why are they lying? So I'd like to conclude that
although I'm in big favour of a committee that is responsible for Mill Hill's neighbourhood plan, I am
very worried about the secretive nature of the "new" Forum and I'd like to object against it's power
to use "our" government money without us having a proper say.

The Council refers to our previous responses on the
application for the new Forum with regard to public
money and the Constitution.

I heard from a neighbour that the Mill Hill Neighbourhood Forum is planning to spend our
government monies without full transparency and I don't agree with that. They seem to be almost
like a Freemason organisation that isn't allowed to talk about what happened in their meetings...
full of secrecy! And they have private documents about their finances that are not necessarily
published. Not good! And so I read up on them and I read that Barnet Council decided to set up a
new Forum last year, so it's a new legal entity, but the old chairman Mr Gillet is still attending all
committee meetings and very close to the decision making. Him having such fingers in the pie just
doesn't reflect a new entity at all. There are loads of other points I could make, these are a few
highlights, but I just want to bring this to your attention... it really worries me and I'd like to object to
this "new" (old?) Forum and how this organisation works. It doesn't represent me and us as people
of Mill Hill.
I simply can’t believe that this group of people on the Forum have the nerve to try to pull the wool
over our eyes so blatantly. What is even more unbelievable that you guys at LBB actually seem to
be taking the Forum’s application seriously. Are you really so terribly naive, am I the only one that
sees what is really going on and sees the misleading information they are giving us and the way
they are twisting the truth and the blatant attempt to keep us all quiet. Have you seen their
disgraceful constitution that keeps everything hidden and secret and gags committee members
from talking to anyone outside the committee and refuses to let members have any real control of
their own organisation.? Also no matter what they say, this John Gillette fellow is clearly still in
control of what goes on. Why is he still there? We are still very worried for our children and can’t
understand why you are allowing him to continue to attend Forum meetings and run the Forum.
Why is he allowed to have any status at all, let alone still have so much control and sway over the
Forum Special Consultant???? You have got to be kidding!!!!! Can’t you guys see this? Please
don’t let this happen. I trust that you won’t be fulled by these people and allow it through. In case
this is not clear, I very much object.

The Council refers to our previous responses on the
application for the new Forum with regard to public
money and the Constitution.

The Forum is not a legal entity until the Council
decides to designate it.

The Forum is not a legal entity until the Council
decides to designate it.

The Council refers to our previous responses on the
application for the new Forum

13

53

Local
Resident 19
– NW7 1LJ

I am a life-long resident of Mill Hill and I am aware that the organisation "Mill Hill Neighbourhood
Forum" is applying for a legal mandate to formally take responsibility for The Mill Hill
Neighbourhood Plan and management of significant public funds. I share with other residents
various concerns about the Forum and the way it is organised. The concerns I have are relating to
constitution and management of the organisation - it appears to be an opaque and closed-off,
autocratic organisation which does not fit in with the democratic values which should be used to
govern public funds and long-term planning matters. Secondly I am concerned about the way that
the Forum engages with the wider community and other important community organisations. The
forum has not engaged well with other groups such as the Mill Hill Residents Association (of which
I am a member), Mill Hill Preservation Society or any of the local faith groups. In fact I have heard
of the Forum actively stifling debate and discussion on local matters. As a tax payer and local
resident I feel strongly that if local funds are given by the Council to any other organisation for
appropriation, then that organisation must be properly managed in a transparent and accountable
fashion. If no such organisation exists then the council should retain all spending powers.
Therefore I urge you to reject the application for designation from this organisation.

The Council refers to our previous responses on the
application for the new Forum with regard to public
money and the Constitution.

Local
Resident 20

I’d like to submit my objection to the designation of the applicants as the new Mill Hill
Neighbourhood Forum. It was with great sadness that I watched the previous Forum collapse in
ignominy and bitter recriminations. I was excited to hear that a new group was forming to take up
the challenge, but my pleasure quickly turned to fear when I read the proposed constitution and
also when I realised that this group was really the old group all over again, not really a new one at
all. Instead of taking the opportunity to learn from their past mistakes, this document indicates that
the new committee wants to make sure that they cannot possibly be held accountable by the
people they claim to represent. They have written a confidentiality clause into their constitution that
makes all committee matters confidential by default. Such an overt rejection of the principle of
transparency is guaranteed to set the tone and style for yet another Forum that will eventually fail
again like the last one. Also, they have clauses that hide their financial matters and only allow a
summary to be published once a year at AGM. Here too a rejection of the principle of
transparency. Do they forget that this is not private membership money but public money and
much more transparency is called for. I strongly urge the Council not to set us up for another failed
Neighbourhood Forum. Last time this failure caused a rupture in our community and I fear that the
same is about to happen again.

The Council refers to our previous responses on the
application for the new Forum with regard to public
money and the Constitution..

14

54

Local
Resident 21

I felt compelled to comment on the designation of the forum to say how dismayed I feel with the
form of the proposed new Neighbourhood Forum in Mill Hill will take if successful..
I run the social media group called Inside Mill Hill, we have nearly 9000 members, we like honest
and constructive debates which may not always be what we feel but it is a social media Forum,
and unless people have been rude and or abusive they remain free to join discussions. , the "new "
forum is basically the same as the old forum in terms of the censorship applied to anyone who
does not agree with their view. We have seen what they are like with a post from the new Chair.
and responses from "The Author" this weekend just past, they attacked anyone who disagreed
with their views, not just generically but personally attacked a school governor, business owner
and resident, as she dared to question them. This is not what I would expect from a body that is
supposed to represent the people of Mill Hill, I feel that there is no one on the committee that
represents disabled people, no representation from unemployed, although the law does not permit
anyone to ask ones sexual preference they actually have stated that their representation is from
"both gender", how can this be a fair organisation without a balanced range of residents, this is a
direct contradiction of the due regard that needs to be paid to those identified in the Equality Act
2010. If the officer or members are in any doubt about this being a fair comment , consider this,
either the committee had the draft Constitution circulated and did not comment of this status or the
agreed constitution was written and submitted by the Chair and or the consultant. Either way this
is a poor example of Neighbourhood representation or an assurance that they even understand
the demographics of the area upon which they propose to write a plan to mould the future of the
area. Despite evidence to say that in July 2019, that the Mill Hill Neighbourhood Forum chair had
severed all ties with regards to concerns to safeguarding, many still remain. For example, only
today the official MHNF page was engaging with the same person who was the centre of concern
yet gagged voices who are as entitled to engage as the next.

Neighbourhood Plans need to support community
cohesion. Concerns about threats on social media
should be reported to the Metropolitan Police.

Local
Resident 22

I am writing to you as a long-time, passionate and caring resident of Mill Hill, NW7, and am writing
to formally object to the current actions and the current membership of the Mill Hill Neighbourhood
Forum as they attempt to re-apply for designation to Barnet Council. I note letters of objection
need to be submitted by 6th May, so was keen to put ''pen to paper'' before this deadline passes.
Calling themselves a ‘’new ‘’ Forum is misleading, with only 50% of its current 24 members being
‘’new’’, but this only scratches the surface of my objection. I believe that this Group are attempting
to take responsibility for the Neighbourhood Plan, on what I regard are immoral and unlawful
grounds. There is much harm that can result from this, but above all the opportunity for this Group
to irresponsibly manage large amounts of public funds- in our name. I will try and keep my
objections brief and concise. Firstly, I do not believe this Forum speaks on behalf of the wider Mill
Hill Community. Surely any ‘’local committee’’ needs to be representative of its local populous?
Surely, any ‘’local committee’’ must formally report in an accountable, democratic manner. From a
financial and moral perspective, any organisation must not only be formed democratically but must
also be accountable to its local residents. Transparency of all operational procedures and
transparency of any decision making are both key-this is not something I see with the proposed
make-up of the Forum.
Most of the current constituent committee members are individuals who don’t speak for the
residents of Mill Hill - they do not represent a local membership-this may not be intentional of
course but many of the Group do not coordinate local activities. Most are on the Forum Committee

The Council refers to our previous responses on the
application for the new Forum with regard to public
money, inclusivity and the Constitution.

15

55

Local
Resident 23

as individuals in their own right, and not correctly appointed to speak for the people of Mill Hill.
Without wishing to over labour the above, a group of individuals is a group of individuals and I think
this needs to be appraised further before this Forum can legitimately claim to speak for the
residents of Mill Hill. Having looked through their constitution there is much that concerns me.
Public monies are managed through the Forum, but as touched on above, it appears there is little
or no financial transparency. Having spoken to other local NW7 residents, I am told by many that
no financial reports have ever been published. This is local public money we are talking about;
money coming from our own resident's pockets. Accounting of any finances in any organisation is
paramount-it’s the same in any local neighbourhood forum. While I am all pro the Neighbourhood
Plan and will always support a local organisation that will move matters forward on behalf of Mill
Hill residents, I believe that this ‘’new’’ Forum in its current set up is not fit for purpose. I do not
believe they echo the voice of Mill Hillians, nor can seemingly manage our money in a fair and
representative way.
I am writing to you to therefore urge Barnet Council to reject the formal application for designation
from this particular group of individuals.
I am writing with regard to the Mill Hill Neighbourhood Area Forum Designation Applications
consultation and the application made by the ‘New Mill Hill Neighbourhood Area Forum’ and wish
to object to the acceptance of their proposals. The application has been made largely by the
existing committee members that were previously authorised by the Council to be responsible for
the Mill Hill Neighbourhood Development Plans and that had that duty rescinded by the council
planning committee in 2019 namely the original Mill Hill Neighbourhood Forum. As a local resident
I have become aware of this application and having read their proposed constitution I was quite
surprised as until recently I was unaware that they existed and for the past 18 years I was unaware
that this committee represented me and other local residents and businesses to the Council.
Reading through their constitution I would comment on the sections as follows :1.1 Membership of MHNF is open to:
• residents living in the Area, either as individual members or via representative bodies such as
those outlined below;
• local businesses and public sector bodies based in the Area.
• individuals who work in the Area;
• Mill Hill and Hale Ward Councillors within the London Borough of Barnet.
Members must register on our Website to show their interest in our activities in order to gain voting
rights and to receive our regular bulletins. All correspondence within the Forum shall primarily be
by email. For those who cannot register on our Website, they or a representative can send an
email to millhill_nf@btinternet.com to include their instructions requesting that
we add them to our register of people interested in the work of the Forum. This email must include
a valid return email address which will be used for all correspondence. Their full name and postal
code must be included (to verify they are a resident or business owner in the Area) together with a
contact telephone number. There is no mechanism in place to advise of the existence of and the
activities in place or planned by the Forum, therefore many local residents and businesses are
unaware of their existence and have no input to the Forum and its projects. The projects that the
Forum are and have been involved in are those that are chosen by and voted upon by committee
members . Clearly any benefit to local residents and businesses are decided by the committee and

The Council refers to our previous responses on the
application for the new Forum with regard to inclusivity
and the Constitution.

16

56

shows that the forum is not run in a democratic manner. 5.2 MHNF will seek to consult as widely
as possible with all residents across NW7 and with business owners in the Area to determine their
views and will attempt to reach consensus in our Neighbourhood Development Plan.
There is no evidence to show that this has taken place over the past 5 years + of the current
committee and no apparent plan or mechanism to believe this lack of consultation with local
residents and businesses will change under the new forum
5.5MHNF will encourage all interested residents and all representative groupings of residents or
businesses in the Area to become members of MHNF and to work alongside MHNF to further their
joint objectives.
As with the previous point there has been a total lack of consultation by the existing committee
locally and no mechanism in place to gain consultation, therefore the forum not only doesn’t speak
for local businesses and residents but I also note that the affiliate groups/societies listed have no
inclusion and no vote. Having looked at the history of the forum and its application for the ‘New
forum’, there are many grey areas as to how this committee has been run in the past that cause
me concern not least of which is the Council raising safeguarding issues and the loss of focus on
its primary objective of creating the neighbourhood plan both of which question the make up of the
new committee , a large percentage of who were on the old committee and did not deal with these
issues. In addition, there is little inclusion and consultation with local residents and businesses by
this organisation who are charged with representing them, there has been no financial reporting
and the minutes of meetings have been sparse and late being prepared. There is nothing to
demonstrate that the applicants will run the forum any differently. My view is that this application
should be refused and that a committee should be elected of new members with a clear plan to
consult and engage with local residents and businesses, create a clear neighbourhood plan that is
shared and includes local residents and businesses views and will be open about their plans and
actions at all times.

17

57

Barnet
Cycling
Campaign

Local
Resident 24
– NW7 2LE

I am writing on behalf of the Barnet Cycling Campaign (BCC), affiliated to the London Cycling
Campaign (LCC), regarding the application to designate the Mill Hill Neighbourhood Forum
(MHNF) a local Neighbourhood Forum. BCC does not believe that the MHNF should be
designated, and consequently object to the application. To put the objection in context, please note
the following:
1. The MHNF website states that: "While principally addressing planning matters, we will consider
these within the context of demands for...transportation (including parking)...paying attention to
reducing our carbon footprint, notably around Mill Hill Broadway Town Centre."
(http://millhillforum.org.uk/nw7/)
2. The MHNF states on their website that the Neighbourhood Development Plan is 90% complete
(http://millhillforum.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/04/Pres-for-SK.v5.2.pdf)
3. The MHNF constitution states that the Neighbourhood Development Plan will "express
aspirations for the future development of traffic and transport serving or passing through the Area"
BCC believes that these statements are directly contradictory and unachievable. The links
between traffic development and pollution are well proven, and any organisation "aspiring" to
develop traffic will not succeed in reducing the carbon footprint. BCC has seen first hand the
approach that the MHNF takes to active travel and low carbon transport. The response to the
Pentavia Park planning application made on behalf of the MHNF clearly stated that the
organisation thought there were not enough car parking spaces. In public meetings, evidenced by
the minutes and presentations on the organisation’s website, the idea that residents of the site
would want to cycle were constantly mocked. The MHNF claims to be "not another talking shop",
however they are not open to new ideas and would risk entrenching one of the largest post code
areas of London in a transport strategy that is outdated and not fit for purpose.
For these reasons, the Mill Hill Neighbourhood Forum cannot be allowed to be designated.
As a resident of Mill Hill, I wish to convey my objection to the designation of the Forum. I am
concerned about the undemocratic manner in which decisions are being made within the Forum.
Notably, this committee has no constituency or membership in the community of its own, yet wants
to control a significant amount of public funds. Also of note is that they still have not published any
accounts regarding past spending, which is crucial for establishing trust between residents and the
Forum. Furthermore, in its current form, I feel that the Forum is not able to represent Mill Hill
residents like me to have a say in matters relating to the NP and the CIL especially since existing
local groups have not been invited to be part of the proceedings and are not allowed to have any
vote in any decisions. I don’t see how the Forum can represent us, residents, without ongoing
consultation and constructive cooperation with any of the other Mill Hill groups. Also, I note that
Forum members are not allowed to summon an EGM or even amend the constitution. If we wish to
have a body that speaks in our name, then we must begin a broader inclusive conversation with
residents to form a constitutional framework that is open and that conducts itself in a fully
democratic way and with transparency to all the residents of Mill Hill at all times.

The express purpose of the Forum is to produce a
Neighbourhood Plan and engage with the local
community to contribute to the production of a Plan.
Involvement in non-planning matters is a role that can
be performed by other groups in Mill Hill

The Council refers to our previous responses on the
application for the new Forum with regard to public
money, inclusivity and the Constitution.

18

58

Local
Resident 25

I am a resident and active member of the Millbrook Park community and have begun establishing
the Millbrook Park Resident's Association. It has been brought to my attention that the application
for a new Mill Hill Neighbourhood Area and Forum designation was requested by John Gillett and
others. The main concern for myself and community is the actual safeguarding issues in the
former forum which were ill handled and ultimately led to the need to reform itself as is seen now.
Millbrook Park is a large and growing community within Mill Hill that has many new families and
safeguarding should always be at the forefront of all forums with appropriate protocol in handling
and never tolerated. It is my understanding from the below response that occurred that the
safeguarding issues were not handled appropriately and have only led to a new version of the old
forum. The chair of the old forum continues to obviously represent the forum and therefore I can
have little trust that the safeguarding issues will not repeat itself. As a father of three young boys,
this is of utmost concern and should cause concern from the council to allow time for others to
apply or make sure that these safeguarding policies are appropriately in place. Next, having a
quick read of the constitution, it does not seem to truly represent the community of Mill Hill as the
voice of Mill Hill is ultimately silenced by lack of voting rights. This is important in order for any
forum to use any public monies according to what the whole of Mill Hill deems a priority since
previous spending did not seem to act in the greater interest of Mill Hill. Thanks for allowing our
objections and hope you take them seriously

The Council would expect the new community of
Millbrook Park to be represented in the Forum

Local
Resident 26

I object to the designation of the new Forum. Mainly because it convened this time without
reaching out to residents to find out what it is they want from a neighbourhood plan and not
conducting themselves with transparency. I feel that anybody seeking to speak in the residents’
name, and especially to manage funds on their behalf, should be open for scrutiny. As this is not
the case with the current Forum I am unsure how wise it will be to continue supporting the new
Forum in its current assembly.

The Council refers to our previous responses on the
application for the new Forum with regard to public
money, inclusivity and the Constitution.

Local
Resident 27
– NW7 2RA

Please find below my response to the Mill Hill Area Forum Designation Applications consultation in
my capacity as a Mill Hill resident.
Representing the broad Mill Hill Community
The Mill Hill Neighbourhood Forum Constitution states at paragraph 1.3 that it will aim for “as wide
a representation of communities in the area as possible”. I do not know most of the Committee
members and it is not clear from the documents submitted which, if any, Mill Hill communities are
represented by most of them. Various affiliated bodies that do represent Mill Hill communities are
listed in Appendix 2 but the Committee members do not seem to be associated with these affiliated
bodies and the affiliated bodies have no voice as they have no vote. If Mill Hill residents are to be
represented broadly in the way envisaged by the Constitution, it seems to me that representatives
of the affiliated bodies, and other community organisations in Mill Hill, should be Committee
members or it should be made clear what parts of the community the Committee members listed
represent. I note from the postcodes of the Committee members that a large number, 9, I think,
seem to live close to each other on and around The Ridgeway. To be properly representative of
Mill Hill, membership of the Committee needs to be more widely spread around Mill Hill.
The Constitution
In my view there are some weaknesses in the Constitution. The Constitution provides for the
Committee to be voted in at the AGM, with one vote for “each member present”, which I assume is

The Council would welcome participation from
Copthall School in a Neighbourhood Forum for Mill Hill

Planning Committee noted the issues of safeguarding
when considering the application for re-designation
July 2019. The issue of safeguarding has been
highlighted as an element of the request for support
from Locality.
The Council refers to our previous responses on the
application for the new Forum with regard to inclusivity
and the Constitution.

The Council refers to our previous responses on the
application for the new Forum with regard to public
money, inclusivity and the Constitution.

19

59

each Forum member present (although this is not explicit in the document). Given that any
resident of Mill Hill can be a Forum member, it is good, and appropriate, that Forum members vote
for the Committee members so they can vote for those people they believe best represent their
interests. However, I was surprised to read that the Constitution allows for the Committee to coopt an uncapped number of additional voting members to the Committee without approval of the
Forum members (paragraph 3.7) and that there appears to be no mechanism for Forum members
to remove Committee members. This could result in Committee decisions being made by people
not voted for by Forum members. I was surprised to read that the quorum for Committee meetings
is only seven - one third of the minimum number of Committee members. The Constitution does
not state what decisions can be made by a quorum of just seven, what decisions have to be
decided by the whole Committee and what decisions have to be put to the Forum members. In my
view, this is an omission and, again, could result in important decisions being in the hands of
people who are not, or have not been voted for by, Forum members. The way the Constitution is
currently drafted means that a group of seven people, co-opted by the initial committee and so not
voted for by the Forum members, could be making all the Mill Hill Neighbourhood Forum decisions
on behalf of Mill Hill residents and be responsible for a large sum of money. Given that some of
the committee members live at the same address as each other, the control of the Neighbourhood
Forum could, in fact, rest in the hands of even fewer households. This would clearly not be
representative of the whole of the Mill Hill community. An omission from the Constitution is an
obligation for the Committee to report regularly to Forum members. I note the Committee says it
has had a number of meetings since September 2019 but I could not find the minutes on their
website. I note also that Forum members cannot call an EGM. If the Mill Hill Neighbourhood
Forum is to be accountable to the residents of Mill Hill then regular (more than once a year)
reporting must take place with opportunities for Forum members to question, challenge and hold to
account Committee members, and Forum members need the right to call EGMs. I was confused by
paragraph 3.21. I understand that Committee members must abide by democratic decisions taken
by the Committee but this paragraph seems to imply that Committee members cannot say if they
have disagreed with any decision or action by the Committee. Disagreement is important and
necessary for the democratic process so hopefully the intent of this paragraph was not to silence
dissenting members! I suggest that this clause is re-worded.
Contact with Mill Hill Residents
The Mill Hill Neighbourhood Forum says it has sent out a structured questionnaire and leaflets to
residents. I could, of course, have missed these but I don’t recall seeing a questionnaire or leaflet
or notice of meeting. Neither do I recall seeing a request for new committee members. Given that
I am a Chair of Governors of a local school, and so represent an important part of the community, it
would have been nice to at least be asked if I, or another representative of the school, would like to
join the new Committee. In conclusion, I am concerned that the current committee does not
properly represent the interests of a broad spectrum of the Mill Hill community, that weaknesses in
the Constitution mean that too much power can end up with too few people and that there is a lack
of accountability. I urge the Council to reject the application until the rectifications I have identified
have been made.

20

60

Local
Resident 28

In the Councils own comments Appendix 4 – Responses and representations Report when you
refused to redesignate the Forum last time, the Council stated a number of times: “We expect
Forums to be managed in a way that promotes good governance and transparency enabling the
local community to be engaged and able to contribute to the production of a Neighbourhood Plan.
Such plans can only succeed as the products of joint working and co-operation.” The new Forum
constitution shows that the issues of good governance have not been dealt with in any way. On
the contrary, based on the new constitution, it is now actually less democratic and less open and
less transparent than it was before. Also, the new Forum has also still not addressed the issue of
no real engagement from the other main community bodies in Mill Hill. The Forum has no official
representation from the broad range of residents groups in the community and actually bans any of
them from having a vote in the making of the plan.
Also, not only did they refuse giving other local groups a real voice but a few days ago I saw how
the Neighbourhood Forum publicly attacked Wendy Kravetz on their Facebook page for
disagreeing that the Forum should be given the designation. This is her right but they were very
offensive to her in public and threatened her. Amongst other points, Stuart Kershaw himself said
that her arguments reminded him of the conspiracy theory link between 5G and the Corona virus.
This was a very disrespectful comment. They then allowed Mark Richards (is he not the
“safeguarding issue?) and other “supporters of the Forum” to make more attacks on her on the
Forum’s Facebook page. They not only attacked and threatened her but also other residents but,
from what Wendy said, they blocked her from defending herself in public. It felt as if the Forum
does not like or support free speech and open conversations. I see that the post has now been
deleted but there has been no public apology to Wendy or to the residents that they claim to
represent, and no public comment from the Forum about allowing its own members to attack the
democratic fabric of our society on the Forum’s own Facebook page. Not only does his kind of
vicious behaviour strike fear in me but if you look at the secrecy clauses in their constitution and
look at how members are not allowed to change their constitution and how members are not
allowed to demand an EGM and how other organisations in Mill Hill are not allowed a vote and how
everything about handling money is also kept secret and you put all of that together, you get an
organisation that should strike fear in all of us. I understood that one of the important objectives of
neighbourhood planning is to bring community together by working together on the plans. From
what I am seeing, this new Forum is not set up to bring the groups together. On the contrary, it is
banning them from having a vote, keeping all matters secret from the residents and then openly
threatening them when they dare to disagree.
My last point is about protecting our children. I see in the document above mention of the
safeguarding issues and how, as a result, “the 5 Cllrs listed as members of the Committee will not
participate within the Forum until this issue of safeguarding is resolved”. I see that 50% of the
committee that should be responsible for any and all safeguarding issues are still on the new
Forum committee. I see that the previous Chair (John Gillett), who must also take responsibility for
not properly addressing safeguarding issues is still very involved in the new Forum as a consultant.
All these people from the last Forum should not be allowed anywhere near the new Forum. They
did not make any real stand to protect our children last time and so should not be allowed to take a
position of public responsibility this time. The safeguarding issue is still around and we need a
committee who will put our children’s safety above anything else and am very worried that the

The Council refers to our previous responses on the
application for the new Forum with regard to public
money, inclusivity and the Constitution.
It is disappointing that the Forum has not absorbed the
Council’s message on good governance and
transparency.
Neighbourhood Plans need to support community
cohesion. Concerns about threats on social media
should be reported to the Metropolitan Police.
Planning Committee noted the issues of safeguarding
when considering the application for re-designation
July 2019. The issue of safeguarding has been
highlighted as an element of the request for support
from Locality.

21

61

Councillor
Gabriel
Rozenberg
Garden
Suburb ward

Local
Resident 29

Council will allow these same people with the same bad safeguarding record to have such a public
role in our community again. God forbid anything should happen to any of our children in the
future, I don’t want the Council to say that they did not know or did not have suspicions. The
Council must not allow this risk in our community.
I absolutely object to this kind of group being given any mandate at all in the name of the residents
of Mill Hill. Instead of bring this community together, they will strike fear in it and tear it apart and
not protect our children.
I write in connection with the need to set up a Neighbourhood Forum for Mill Hill that would draw
up a neighbourhood plan. One of our activists, Richard Logue, who lives in Mill Hill, has raised with
me a range of significant concerns that he has with both the constitutional structure of the
proposed 'Mill Hill Neighbourhood Forum', as set out by Stuart Kershaw and John Gillett, and the
behaviour of certain individuals closely linked to that group. Richard's comments (see below) speak
for themselves. There is a lack of transparency and a lack of inclusivity. Furthermore there is a
pattern of harassment which it appears the leaders of the proposed Forum have failed to properly
distance themselves from. Can I ask therefore, on behalf of the Liberal Democrats Group, that you
reject the application by Mr Kershaw and Mr Gillett. You will see that Richard is working with other
likeminded residents to try to set up an alternative forum which would operate on the basis of
openness and inclusivity. While this group should of course also be considered on its merits, I
hope that you could be in contact with Richard directly (he is cc'd) to help him submit an
acceptable alternative bid for the designation.
I was wondering if any of you noticed what happened on the weekend before last in April.
One of our residents, Wendy Kravetz, put her thoughts about the Forum on the Inside Mil Hill
Facebook group and the Forums’ own Facebook page then started to attack her in a very mean. It
was really frightening so see a group like this, that tells us that they want to speak for all of us and
make this plan for the residents, make such a horrible attack on a concerned resident who was just
exercising her right to speak her mind. I understand that she was really intimidated and that she
took down her objections from Facebook because of this bullying. ? How dare they act like this and
cause such fear! What next? This is really worrying. I do not want these people to represent me in
any way. I am Disabled and have learning Difficulties. I signed to stop them from ruining the area
because they dont care about people like me.

The Council refers to our previous responses on the
application for the new Forum with regard to public
money, inclusivity and the Constitution. These have
addressed the issues raised by Mr Logue.
Planning Committee can only determine the
application in front of it.

Neighbourhood Plans need to support community
cohesion. Concerns about threats on social media
should be reported to the Metropolitan Police.

22

62

Local
Resident 30

Local
Resident 31

Local
Business
Pond Life at
Finchley
Nurseries

There are several reasons why I object to the designation of the above group as the Mill Hill
Neighbourhood Forum, but the one that I wish to focus on is one that raises the highest level of
concern, not just for Mill Hill but sets a similar dangerous precedent for other such designations
across Barnet. The constitution submitted with this application contains a number of elements that
are very undemocratic and worrying to see enshrined in writing. This Forum wants to make
decisions for the public and, with this public role it makes me extremely concerned to see so much
stress on confidentiality at the expense of the spirit of transparency that one should expect from
our public representatives. The clauses relating to confidentiality in this constitution create
opportunities for exploitation. Any wrongdoing or inappropriate acts can be hidden with this broad
brush approach to confidentiality. Whilst I do not suggest that the current applicants have any
intentions of abusing their positions, they have created a constitution that leaves a wide door open
for any committee (current or future) to hide inappropriate behaviour and generally hide things from
us, the public. I ask the Council not to agree to a group that promotes secrecy above transparency.
To endorse this group is to undermine the commitment of the Council itself to the democratic spirit.
Thank you for your email. The documentation reassures me that the proposed new Committee
will be focussed and diligent. I support the designation of the MHNF if it meets the following :
1. It focusses on its key objective, that is to create a plan which is a true reflection of the views of
the residents in the NW7 postcode. Consultation is very important .
2. It is transparent in terms of minutes and financial accounting (including any restricted grants),
publishing meeting agendas ,minutes and end of year accounts.
3. Equipment which has been purchased by the MHNF or donated to the MHNF is listed in an
inventory for public scrutiny.
4. If the committee uses its position to comment on planning applications, it is the agreed
decision of the committee. Decisions are recorded.
5. Projects which do not deliver the MHNF plan are not a priority.
6. Policies and procedures ( eg Child Protection, GDPR, Risk Assessments) ensure the
committee operates in a safe and responsible manner.
7. Appointment /dismissal/ resignation of members of the committee are carried out in
accordance with MHNF constitution.
The MHNF is very much about the future, other local organisations deal with the current and
preserving the past. It is vital that the Forum works hard to ensure this is its primary focus.
With regards to the proposal for re designation of the Mill Hill Neighbourhood forum to draw up a
Mill Hill Neighbourhood plan. I wish to object in the strongest possible terms to this proposal.
Does the previous Chairman remain “hands on”? The minutes from their last meeting make it clear
that there were serious issues regarding CRB checks . Their Facebook site states that 50% are the
same members as it's previous incarnation. Have all of these matters been addressed? Could the
constitution allow four married couples on the committee to form a quorum and force through
decisions concerning thousands of people in Mill Hill?
I don’t believe the “new” Forum to be representative of Mill Hill. As a business owner, Pond Life at
Finchley Nurseries on Burtonhole Lane, we are suffering major negative impacts from Barratts
arrival in Mill Hill, including unannounced explosions, traffic congestion, dust migration and run off
from the recent toxic NIMR/Ridgeway Views development. I am thus especially concerned by any
potential relationship between any committee members and local developers, particularly Barratts

The Council expects Forums to be managed in a way
that promotes good governance and transparency
enabling the local community to be engaged and able
to contribute to the production of a Neighbourhood
Plan.

This support is noted

The Council expect Forums to be managed in a way
that promotes good governance and transparency
enabling the local community to be engaged and able
to contribute to the production of a Neighbourhood
Plan. This includes clarifications about finance.
Planning Committee noted the issues of safeguarding
when considering the application for re-designation
July 2019. The issue of safeguarding has been
highlighted as an element of the request for support
from Locality.

23

63

Local
Resident 32
– NW7 2DW

London. There could be a conflict of interest. Was the Forum or “unofficially” associated
publications paid in any by Barratts and for what services? I have been told that this is not the
case, however, they claim on their Facebook page to have brought £274K of investment into the
area. Are there accounts? I asked the question regarding any Barratts funding on their Facebook
page only to be “trolled” by a third party, something about “fake news” and conspiracy theories.
Check their Facebook site for the full transcript.
If the organisation has been sponsored by Saracens in the past, should any of the new committee
members work for them? They have submitted several planning applications affecting Green Belt
and sites of importance. Again a possible conflict of interest with Mill Hill’s residents already acting
as generally unwitting bankers for this multi-million pound organisation recently relegated for twice
wage-cap “cheating”. I had never heard of many of these proposed committee members. On what
grounds have are they claiming legitimacy to represent people? The former chair and deputy chair
of the Forum was elected at a public meeting of Mill Hill residents. It seems this requirement has
been dispensed with. They certainly do not speak on behalf of myself nor my family. Please reject
this proposal..
I am writing to object to the designation of the proposed Mill Hill Neighbourhood Forum as it
currently stands.
The Past Forum Wasn't Effective When I first heard about the MHNF a few years ago I was
excited, an NDP sounded like a great idea. I joined up and started attending the monthly meetings.
I soon realised there was no governance and no direction, just a small group of people pushing
their own goals. While the old forum was effective in some ways and some good came of it (the
pocket park, Salcombe gardens, the Markets) it absolutely missed it's mark (the NDP) and - most
worryingly - was neither transparent, honest nor democratic. I eventually left to join other Mill Hill
organisations when I realised even my meagre opinions weren't welcomed.
This forum is not new I do support a Neighbourhood Forum but I cannot support this one. They're
claiming to be "new" yet they're 50% the same people and still guided by the same leaders. I have
no reason to believe this incarnation will be any different from the last.
However the one currently proposed does not have the support of the neighbourhood, does not
have a good past track record or - even if we believe their claims to be "new" - do not have a good
first impression. Their aggression and cult-like tactics of a handful of friends on social media are a
scary view into how they intend to work in future. Their Quorum is too small I am concerned that
the forum constitution says only 7 members are needed for a quorum, combined with the lack of
transparency the forum is showing this is open to abuse. This forum will divide, not unite, Mill Hill
Accepting this designation will lead to division and tension within the area it is proposing to unify.
This forum cannot accomplish their goals simply because they're not interested in hearing other
points of view. They've inherited and created too much bad blood to be effective. I want a Forum,
just not this one. I would urge you please to reject this designation, as much as I want to have a
Neighbourhood Forum this is not the right group. This designation needs to be rejected to give us
residents time to sort this mess out and come back to you with a more united organisation. To give
the MHNF a chance to properly regenerate, truly open up to the community, take criticism on
board, advertise to get new members involved and hold open nominations for key positions. Or to
let a new group do the same. Either way, the next MHNF must have the support of its residents to
be able to succeed where the current one has failed.

Neighbourhood Plans need to support community
cohesion. Concerns about threats on social media
should be reported to the Metropolitan Police.

The Council refers to our previous responses on the
application for the new Forum with regard to public
money, inclusivity and the Constitution.
The express purpose of the Forum is to produce a
Neighbourhood Plan and engage with the local
community to contribute to the production of a Plan.
Involvement in non-planning matters is a role that can
be performed by other groups in Mill Hill

24

64

Local
Resident 33
– NW7 2LR

I am a resident of Mill Hill and have read the MHNF’s application, and its supporting
documentation, to be designated by the Council as our local neighbourhood forum.
General Views: The “old” MHNF has done much valuable work demonstrating the hard work of a
number of volunteers, which is to be commended. However, having studied the application
documents, I consider the “new” Forum needs to make some significant changes before it is ready
to be designated as the neighbourhood forum for Mill Hill under the relevant statutory powers. I
have the following reservations:
• the new body needs to demonstrate that it has a solid membership comprised of local people.
Their rules for becoming a member need to be less restrictive and the voting rights of members
need to be enhanced as part of a wider initiative to recruit significantly more members.
• it also needs to be seen to engage far more with local community organisations (including
charities working locally) who could help the Forum to obtain views from those in our local
community who are disadvantaged for whatever reason, or are simply hard to reach. Again such
organisations are unlikely to engage unless they are given a realistic opportunity to influence
matters. Affiliate organisations should not be confined to those with a direct interest/expertise in
development planning, housing provision etc. but extend to the community leaders who are in
touch with significant sections of our local population and are able to represent their views directly
to the Forum.
Apart from these general comments about the application, my strongest concerns relate to the
“new constitution” attached as part of the application. There are a number of drafting issues
relating to the constitution, not all of which I include in my comments below. My view is that the
application should be put on hold while the Council’s lawyers look at the constitution, if this has not
already been done. But if the new MHFM is unable or unwilling to amend its constitution in key
respects then the application should regretfully not be approved.
Comments on the new constitution:
Clause 3.1: This clause limits membership applications to applications made on the MHNF’s
website or to applications made by email by the individual or someone acting on her or his behalf.
The process would be a good deal more accessible for many people who are not “wired up” if
applications could be made by post or delivered to a specific address in the locality.
Clause 3.2 and Appendix 2: I understand that the listed affiliate organisations can be added to by
the Committee but there are many more community organisations within our area who are capable
of giving a wider range of views of sections of the population who do not engage with any of those
selected organisations. It is provided too that affiliate organisations are members but are not able
to vote. For many organisations, this would might well deter them from engaging with MHNF if
they had no prospect of influencing decisions.
Clause 3.3: It is provided that the AGM should elect “at least 21 Committee members”. It would
surely be wiser to amend this to “up to 21 Committee Members”? On present drafting, if the AGM
fails to elect 21 Committee members presumably the organisation is unable to have a functioning
committee. And if it can elect any number greater than 21 members, this would seem to be open
to abuse. There is after all provision to co-opt members too.
Clause 3.9: This is a drafting point only but I do wonder if the word “Committee” has been omitted
where it should appear immediately after the word “Forum”.
Clause 3.11: The constitution only enables the Committee to call an AGM. This seems undesirably

The Council refers to our previous responses on the
application for the new Forum with regard to public
money, inclusivity and the Constitution.

25

65

Local
Business

autocratic. It would be more normal in a membership organisation to provide that a specified
minimum number of members can call an EGM. There would then be an added notice process to
enable this to happen.
Clause 3.13: Notices should be sent to the member’s last known postal address if no email has
been registered.
Clause 3.18: It would be useful precaution for an independent person to certify the final accounts
as prepared by the Treasurer.
Clauses 3.19 and 3.23: How personal and business interests are dealt with is critical. There should
be a requirement on members to declare an interest at the start of any meeting and for that
member to absent themselves from the meeting for the relevant item. I see no reason why the
register should not be public.
Clause 3.21:The provision that committee members are required not to make comments etc at
Committee meetings or outside unless they are in line with decisions taken and supported by the
Committee, is both draconian and unworkable. This should be deleted.
Clause 6.1: It is unusual and unacceptable in the case of a membership organisation for a
committee alone to be able to amend the constitution. Such amendments should need to be
authorised at a general meeting at which they are approved by two thirds of the members present
and voting.
Conclusion: For the above reasons I object to this application if appropriate amendments to the
constitution prove note to be possible.
I am objecting to this Neighbourhood Forum not because I dislike their ideas but because I do not
believe that the people in the Forum are representative of Mill Hill. Although I appreciate that this is
a new forum, 50% of the members are still the same and the old chairman is an advisor.I live and
work in Mill Hill and have made an effort to be a part of the community including joining the Forum
for a while. While I was a part of the Forum, most of our time was spent fighting planning
applications rather than working on the Neighbourhood Development plan and so I decided to use
my time for more productive community-focused initiatives and so left the forum. As part of my
work and social life I have had a lot of dealings with the Mill Hill Neighbourhood Forum and
unfortunately I have to object to this new Forum as I can already see the warning signs of the new
Forum being the same. The way the Forum is run is purely from entitlement. They expect
everyone, residents and businesses alike, to do and want everything the Forum wants with no
discussion and no explanation. They assume they have support, rather than earning it by building
relationships. From what I have seen of the new Forum, they have not learnt from the previous
Forum and are repeating the same mistakes by not keeping residents informed or giving them the
opportunity to take part. I have been in countless situations with certain members of the old Forum
which have left me feeling angry at the way it is being run again, nothing seems to have changed
with the new Forum as I am still witnessing threatening and excluding comments being made to
residents then deleted so no one else can witness this. This includes the following interactions:
• Being shouted at on the Broadway for not having bought an advert in the Mill Hill Guide (even
though we had, in fact bought one!) Again, the new Forum is misleading the public into saying the
Guide was printed last October when in fact it wasn’t printed, it was only published online and
won’t be printed until June this year. Something that local traders were not made aware of when
paying for their advert in the Guide.

The Council refers to our previous responses on the
application for the new Forum with regard to public
money, inclusivity and the Constitution.
The express purpose of the Forum is to produce a
Neighbourhood Plan and engage with the local
community to contribute to the production of a Plan.
Involvement in non-planning matters such as
producing the Neighbourhood Guide is a role that can
be performed by other groups in Mill Hill
The Council would expect representation of the
NW7Hub in a Neighbourhood Forum for Mill Hill

26

66

• Offering the Forum a discounted rate for our services and then not being paid as they thought it’s
something we should do for free and on another occasion being told that we should not expect
them to pay a deposit. This highlights their sense of entitlement and assumed support.
• As a local trader, I went to their Traders Association meeting and was the only one to attend who
was an actual trader. The day following this unsuccessful meeting the neighbourhood was telling
locals that money raised from the Neighbourhood Guide would go to the Traders Association which
at the time was non-existent and has never progressed.
• I have also seen the Neighbourhood Forum deny that certain members of the public are working
with them on certain projects despite that person being sent to represent the forum when doing
business with me. I have only once mentioned this when I saw it online and my comment was
immediately deleted by the new Forum.
• The Neighbourhood Forum used to be very involved with our local NW7hub charity, the chairman
of the Forum was closely linked to the two, however since they had a falling out, the Forum has
done it’s utmost not to support the NW7hub without any explanation to the public. It’s OK for
people to have differences of opinion and to part ways, but it’s not acceptable to act like children
about it while claiming to have Mill Hill’s best interests at heart.
Before writing this objection, I appealed to the Neighbourhood Forum’s Facebook page explaining
my previous issues and asking them to acknowledge what had changed with the new forum by
way of trying to see the good they would bring to Mill Hill. Instead of replying to my comment, they
instead chose to persecute a separate local accusing and threatening them and their business as
well as lying to protect the previous forum. I then saw all their comments and the local resident’s
comments deleted in real time. This shows that the new Forum is still only representative of the
people it has selected as its members rather than representative of all Mill Hill residents. I’m sorry
but our old and new Forum is tainted, there was and still is no accountability for their
actions/decisions, it does not represent the majority of Mill Hill despite their supposed changes and
most importantly – while it’s heart may be in the right place it’s head is not open to other opinions.
I’m not denying that the Forum achieved certain positive things for Mill Hill but the way this was
done was not in the professional way I would expect.
I appreciate that this objection may come across as overly personal but to me it is. I love Mill Hill
and a Forum could be an amazing thing for us but the way that it is and has been run is not in sync
with what a Forum should be achieving. I appreciate that this does not apply to the majority of
committee members but there is a small force that has and still is overpowering those that do have
Mill Hill’s best intentions.
To conclude my main issues with this Forum are:
• Lack of transparency with Mill Hill residents as to who is involved and how decisions are made
• Failing to get the opinion of the locals when making decisions
• Misleading locals by not allowing those who disagree with them to have a voice.

27

67

Local
Resident 34

In response to the Consultation regarding the current application for designation as the Mill Hill
Neighbourhood Forum, I would like to submit a formal objection. .The previous Forum was marred
by practices that were divisive, intimidating and contrary to the spirit of an inclusive community
organisation. Based on the details of the constitution for the proposed replacement group and
based on the behaviour of the new leadership, it seems that sadly this Forum will proceed in the
same manner as its predecessor. The previous Forum stifled any dissent or disagreement with the
leadership in an aggressive and undemocratic manner. This proposed group has demonstrated
that they intend to perpetuate this approach. Only a couple of weeks ago a Mill Hill resident
published her objections to the proposed constitution. She was maligned publicly in a way that can
only be described as hysterical, personal and malicious. These tactics ultimately succeeded in
pressuring her to retract her objection. This bullying was not addressed by the Forum applicants
who allowed the conversation to happen in their official Facebook page. When they finally and
belatedly removed the thread, no apology was offered nor was any comment made to demonstrate
that such behaviour was not endorsed by them.
A leadership with such poor judgement and lack of sensitivity towards the members of the
community that it claims to represent is not what we need or deserve in Mill Hill. My worry is that
these applicants are taking the same approach to disagreement and debate as their predecessors
– only this time they are institutionalising it in their constitution. It states that members cannot call
an EGM; that any dissenting members can be dismissed from the committee without right of
appeal; and that all committee discussions must be kept secret….
I note that half the applicants on this proposed committee were members of the previous
committee. In light of this I would expect to see a proposal that reflects an attempt to address the
issues that led to the former Forum’s demise. Consequently I would expect to see measures
enshrined in their constitution to guarantee transparency in all matters, to protect the community,
and to provide the community members with a safe space for discussion and difference of opinion.
Instead I see a constitution that seeks, above all, to make sure that the leadership cannot be
challenged by anyone or by any organisation. Without doubt the applicants have learned from their
mistakes: it’s just that they’ve learned the wrong lessons. Rather than providing a Forum that will
reflect the wide range of opinions and interests in Mill Hill, they are proposing a Forum that will
protect their own committee leadership from any dissent – internal or external – and from any
public scrutiny. I implore the Council to proceed with great caution before endorsing this
application. It bears all the hallmarks of a Forum that will be as ineffective and damaging as the
previous one. Mill Hill residents do not need or deserve to be represented in this way.

The Council refers to our previous responses on the
application for the new Forum with regard to public
money, inclusivity and the Constitution.
Neighbourhood Plans need to support community
cohesion. Concerns about threats on social media
should be reported to the Metropolitan Police.

28

68

Local
Resident 35

Local
Resident 36

I am writing to you regarding the plan to implement the new Mill Hill Neighbourhood Forum. The
current group of people proposed to take this position are, as far as I am concerned, not a good
representation of the views of the community in Mill Hill. I have lived her my whole life (over 30
years) and have yet to speak to one local person who is in support of this group. They have used
bullying and intimidation tactics towards anyone that has remotely disagreed with their own
opinions and have even gone as far to slander local business' and individual local people. As well
as this they have unduly censored the free speech of those who have spoken against them,
deleting posts on social media of those whose views who do not match their own, and then taken
what can only be described as revenge by posting public messages about these individual and
their business'. If they cannot listen and respect different opinions of those in the local community
now, I can not see how they could possibly be given the power and responsibility to do this on a
wider scale. I know these views are unfortunately not just mine, and many others locally feel the
same. Please consider these thoroughly and seriously when making the final decision.

The Council refers to our previous responses on the
application for the new Forum with regard to public
money, inclusivity and the Constitution.

I wish to object to the application for a new Forum, I think the Council should refuse the current
application for designation of the MHNF. There are a lot of reasons including lots of problems in
their really bad constitution. One question that is high on my mind is that it does not look like any
of the other groups in Mill Hill are part of this thing at all and in my reading of the paperwork, I
reckon that the Forum is trying not to have them involved in any way? Am I right? I don’t see any
of them on the committee and actually in the constitution it says that none of the other groups can
have any vote. This seems wrong as this is meant to be a group community thing, no? they then
said that they had people on the committee that were on other committee . That doesn't mean they
speak for them officially, no official endorsement.
I wonder if these groups were not really invited to join or if they refused to join. It does not matter
which because if they are not part and parcel of this plan then I can’t really see how this plan will
be the product of the voices of our community, so it misses the whole point of the plan. Also, I was
a signature for the stuff related to the past Chair and the past committee. There was some child
protection problems, as well as other poor management. I see that 50% of them are still there. I
also see that the past Chair is still running things? I don’t’ think that is right. The Council is meant
to be protecting our kids, not letting the same people cause the same problems and put our kids in
danger again. It seems that the only person than is allowed free reign to comment on their
Facebook page is an account known to be a "former" associate of the Forum and was paid to do
some work . This cannot be right.

The Council refers to our previous responses on the
application for the new Forum with regard to public
money, inclusivity, safeguarding and the Constitution.

Neighbourhood Plans need to support community
cohesion. Concerns about threats on social media
should be reported to the Metropolitan Police.

29

69

Local
Resident 37
– NW7 4DY

I would like to express my concern about the Mill Hill Neighbourhood Forum application, which I
believe is being taken in to consideration by Barnet Council in the near future. I am a resident of
Mill Hill and my husband has a dental business on Daws Lane NW7. A neighbourhood forum
would be most welcome by us and we would support a new committee.
However, looking at the history of this committee and it’s recent application, it inspires me with little
or no confidence. The main body of people involved has not changed from the last committee,
which was withdrawn by the Council at the time. At that time the forum did not manage to do what
it was set up to do - they did not come up with a Neighbourhood plan. I would be concerned that
the same thing will happen this time. I don’t know how this current group was set up or who voted
for the committee - there appears to be a clear lack of transparency in this group and the minutes
of their meetings. The committee doesn’t not appear to have a wide range of subgroup
involvement. I see nobody representing the different schools and only one person representing one
faith group. Mill Hill has numerous state and independent schools within the borough and
encompasses many different faith groups which should all be clearly represented. I have never
received any communication from the MHNF - not as a resident nor as a local business owner. All
the information I have has been from my own research and the discussions on social media, where
there appears to be a ‘war’ between the proposed MHNF and anyone who doesn’t necessarily
agree with them. I get the distinct impression that the new forum is not happy with anyone who
doesn’t agree with them. They are naming and shaming people who dare to question them and
their motives. I have been observing this from a quiet distance and find it very disturbing to say the
least. To think that these people would be in charge of ’community relations’ and of distributing
local funds would be quite a scary thought. I would be hopeful that the council will do more
research in to the background and motives and make up of this group of people who pretend to
have the best interest of us local Mill Hillians at heart.

The Council refers to our previous responses on the
application for the new Forum with regard to public
money, inclusivity and the Constitution.
Neighbourhood Plans need to support community
cohesion. Concerns about threats on social media
should be reported to the Metropolitan Police.

30

70

Local
Resident 38
– NW7 2RE

Having carefully researched and discussed with active members of the local community, the
current role and activities of the above named group, I would like to raise my objections to them
being given another five years in this role.
The reasons for the objections are:
• This group did not meet its objective of creating a neighbourhood development plan during the
five years it was give to do this.
• The group has failed to meet other objectives it has outlined such as establishing a Traders
Association.
• The ‘new’ group consists of 50% of the old group, and is still strongly influenced and led by the
old groups previous chairman.
• The group lacks transparency about its membership, decision making processes and use of
public and private money.
• Many objections have been raised locally about the conduct of members and associates of this
group and their conduct in public and on social media.
• The group has a limited public profile in Mill Hill in terms of activity contributing to the
neighbourhood or support for organisations acting on behalf of the neighbourhood. For instance
throughout the current pandemic and lockdown, NW7 Hub and its associates have been active in
the neighbourhood, whereas MHNF have had no visible profile.
• The group is not representative of the population of Mill Hill, and does little or nothing to ensure
they are engaging with the whole community in order to appropriately represent them.
• I do not believe this group has maintained an adequate level of accountability, a proven record of
meeting its objectives or an acceptable level of public engagement and support locally to justify
giving it the authority to represent the neighbourhood and be trusted with decision making about
the future of the area or the use of public money.

The Council refers to our previous responses on the
application for the new Forum with regard to public
money, inclusivity and the Constitution.

Local
Resident 39
– NW7 3TG

I right in to disagree to the people who will be running mill hill.I have had personal abuse made
about me and my business made public on a blog run by these people absolutely disgusting
They are taking money for non existent adds on the mill hill guide. John Gillett passed me on to
them and now deny all knowledge of knowing them even though I have emails.
They work with 0 accountability and immunity. Have multiple account on social media’s to troll
locals and business and now find out they also have a convicted pedophile on the board. I protest
vigoursly in allowing these people to have any power of any thing to do with mill hill.
I am writing to you as I need to object to this designation. As a long-time resident and member of
the Mil Hill Residents’ Association (although I speak as an individual in this email) I’ve been aware
for some time now of the existence of the MHNF. From what I understand, 5 years ago the Forum
was given local government or taxpayers money to produce the neighbourhood plan for all the
residents. As they have been working on this for a long time already, you would therefor expect
after 5 years that such a body would by now include a fair section of society, include a large
number of local associations on its committee and as part of its DNA by now. However, I don’t see
evidence of this either in the old Forum or the new Forum – even though a huge number of old
committee members are still on the new committee. I find none of the Associations (MHRA, MHPS,
Friend of the Park, Good Neighbourhood Scheme, the NW7Hub and more) properly participating
on the committee or have any official representatives sitting on the committee. As far as I know

The Council refers to our previous responses on the
application for the new Forum with regard to public
money, inclusivity and the Constitution.
Neighbourhood Plans need to support community
cohesion. Concerns about threats on social media
should be reported to the Metropolitan Police.

Local
Resident 40

The Council would expect representation of the
MHRA, MHPS and NW7Hub amongst others in a
Neighbourhood Forum for Mill Hill.
The Council refers to our previous responses on the
application for the new Forum with regard to public
money, inclusivity and the Constitution.

31

71

Sury Khatri

they have not even approached any of these associations. So, for example, I have attended the
MHRA meetings for over 9 months already and they have not received any official approach from
the new Forum to join them or even to be part of them in any manner or even to endorse the new
Forum in any way. Total silence from the Forum. Why have they never officially approached us? I
suspect the same is the case for most if not all of the other local associations.
Why has this kind of unity and inclusiveness NOT BEEN ACHIEVED YET AFTER 5 YEARS?
If these people on the committee could not bring the community properly together by now, WHY
ARE THE SAME FAILED COMMITTEE MEMBERS STILL SO INVOLVED WITH THE NEW
FORUM? Who actually selects committee members who have voting rights? Who decides if they
actually speak for the community? Is the Forum merely a PRIVATE CLUB with the autocratic
power to make decisions for us and dispense with our money just as they wish and with no
reporting and no scrutiny from outside local sources? I can’t believe the Council will agree to
something like this. I really feel that these and more questions need to be PROPERLY answered
and addressed before the new Forum or any other body is deemed to be credible. From what I
understand, there is no legal requirement for a neighbourhood plan right now so best to wait until a
better group puts itself forwards – one that demonstrates that it can deliver on even the most basic
governance, basic transparency and has the ability (or even makes the effort) to bring different
parts of our community together.
In the short and medium term, the planning and financial interests of our community can carry on
quite well with LBB and our local Councillors representing the ward in the meantime. So no rush. It
went wrong last time so this time, let’s get it right this time.
I am writing to inform you that I strongly Object to this application for (re-)Designation of this
neighbourhood Group which should be refused.Hopefully You will have received submissions from
residents / groups etc so I will keep my submission brief. As the then Mill Hill Ward Councillor I was
one of the two original sponsors of the Mill Hill Neighbourhood some 7 - 8 years ago. I was then
and still am very much I favour of having a Neighbourhood Plan for Mill Hill. In light of all the
numerous developments that were springing up in Mill Hill, I truly then believed in the aim to have a
code of guidelines for development for Mill Hill (similar to the Millbrook Code for the development
of Mill Hill Barracks site). But regretfully because the manner in which the Chairman conducted
himself and proceedings and subsequent actions, having lost its primary focus which should have
been solely on preparing a Neighbourhood Plan instead of wasting time on focussing on other
community matters, I reluctantly had to resign some 5 years or so ago. This was borne out clearly
and succinctly in the report to the Planning Committee for its meeting in July 2019 wherein the
Committee unanimously supported the Planning Officers recommendation (and with which I wholeheartedly agreed with) to refuse the re-designation of the Mill Hill Neighbourhood Forum. As the redesignation was refused and is legally not existent, why are Officers allowing this group to still be
called ‘Mill Hill Neighbourhood Forum? What is surprising that Planning Officers so soon after this
are now entertaining another application from the same group which has been discredited in its
operations spanning over 5 years. Because of the manner and conduct of the Chair the group lost
its direction and let governance issues go out of the window. Moreover, the same people in the
group allowed the issues to continue without any challenge of the Chair. How will this now
change? The new application clearly is continuation of the same. They also have lost all credibility
with the residents of Mill Hill in whose Name the group supposedly operates.

The Council refers to our previous responses on the
application for the new Forum with regard to public
money, inclusivity and the Constitution.
The absence of elected representatives for Mill Hill
and Hale from the Forum is a significant concern for
the Council

32

72

What you have been presented with is simply window dressing / a front man with a group largely
made of the same members bar a few unrepresentative additions to the list (just to make up the
numbers). The previous chair is now a ‘consultant’ but he is still leading and pulling all the strings
behind the scenes - monkey and organ grinder comes to mind. So, with all the issues of the past,
how is this meant to show the group in a new light. Does this inspire trust? There is no evidence
to suggest that this will change.
Isn’t it telling that none of the Ward Councillors are included? I understand that they are not
supportive of this application. Should not that in itself carry weight?
In Appendix 4 to the July 2019 Committee paper it clearly set out the negative comments of how
the group conducted itself over some 5 years - I from personal experience as well as the former
Ward Councillor and resident wholly endorsed these and would strongly urge you to give much
weight to these in your current deliberations on this application as the current application fails on all
these issues.
The application fails as follows:The Group does not represent and speak for residents of Mill Hill.
There has been no attempt made to be inclusive of voluntary bodies / groups and association and,
simply put, there needs to be wholesale changes in Committee membership so as to be more
representatives of Mill Hill residents. The application and supporting documentation and
constitution show that the group is a ‘closed shop’, not a fully democratic organisation nor will
operate in an open and transparent manner, e.g. in the constitution it states that the local groups
that truly represent Mill Hill residents can only be affiliate members and would not have a vote on
any matters. Why? Is this democracy? It already lacked previously and will now be even less so.
Instead of learning and building on the issues (e.g. good governance etc.) raised at the Planning
Committee meeting, the application from the group and as constituted has gone in the reverse
direction - making it wholly unrepresentative of Mill Hill residents. It has put the shutters down on
any representations or say from any other groups who are truly representative of Mill Hill residents.
The object of a Neighbourhood Plan is to bring the Community together and be inclusive but
instead its constitution as set out deliberately to exclude the community representatives and will
not broach any input nor involvement of any truly representative groups. Isn’t it telling why none of
these groups have been approached nor invited to participate? The new forum states that it has
reached out to groups but this a patent / blatant lie – no such thing has happened. Members of the
proposed group are individuals (largely as before and unrepresentative) and have no credibility
and as far as I am aware none of them reflect views of the Mill Hill residents. Moreover, to the
contrary it is now going to be actually less democratic, less open and less transparent. When the
group was formed some 7 years ago, this was only as a result of the endorsement of the group
and election of Officers at a public meeting of Mill Hill residents; who are and will always remain
sovereign. Any such group is and should remain at all times and fully subservient and accountable
to the Mill Hill residents which it purports to represent. As time went by this fell by the wayside and
deliberately side-stepped and became more of a personal fiefdom. There has been no such public
meeting of the ‘new group’ – it has no legitimacy with the Mill Hill residents. As now proposed to
be constituted such decisions will be carried out by the ‘Committee’.! While I am very supportive of
the Neighbourhood Plan and of an organisation that will move this forwards for the residents of Mill
Hill, I personally feel that this ‘new group’ in its current form and with its current committee, its
current lack of representation of the residents it claims to want to serve, and its current constitution

33

73

Local
Resident 41

is simply not yet ready to take on such an important task and has not demonstrated that it has the
capability to be the voice of the residents of Mill Hill or the ability to manage the Plan or public
monies in a way that represents the community, builds trust and unites our community here in Mill
Hill.
It is not clear what is the rush to proceed with this. It is not a life and death matter if it is delayed.
As I have pointed out to Planning Officers after the July meeting that I have been working with
another group to resuscitate the forum, devoid of involvement of the existing persons, and submit
our application to take on the work of preparing a Neighbourhood Plan and moreover which will be
representative of the many residents groups who speak on behalf of Mill Hill resaidents and be
accountable to them.
The Officers should not allow this application to proceed and reject this application. This group
does not deserve to be given a mandate again having already failed so dismally. It does not give
nor lends to give any say to many voluntary groups and associations any say in the proposed
Neighbourhood Plan. Instead, Planning Officers should encourage and allow and assist in a new
competitive application to be submitted by an alternative group.
I wish the following comments be taken in to consideration.
Diversity within the Committee I challenge the Committee’s claim that they represent the
community at large: "The Committee is independent and representative of the Community at
large, since it includes, young, middle & older age groups, of both genders, from different ethnic
backgrounds and faiths." This extract is possibly the biggest indicator that the Committee has no
claim that they represent the people who live, work, visit, worship or invest in Mill Hill. It would
have been helpful if the age range was submitted in clear terms. However, the number of retired
members may be able to assist in either the "of an age" group, or those fortunate enough to be
able to live independently on a salary index-linked pension. This does not represent the graduates
from schools, university or further education college; in other words the over 18's who would want
to possibly work, access training , rent or buy in the area. I doubt that any of the people listed are
on zero hours contracts. At least one is retired, yet to all intents reads as currently working in the
retail sector. They are not the future. It is not enough to counter this by adding that some members
have adult children living at home or that both he and his wife are blue badge holders. It is the
following voices that need to be heard:
Those who moved to London to pursue their career and are wanting to remain in the area
where they have established themselves in the community.
Those who have lived at home for longer than the average in order to save up to join the
housing market, yet cannot quite afford to stay in the area where their parents are.
Those who are chasing the limited number of shared ownership and affordable homes,
then finding themselves in a situation where it is uneconomical to return to work as childcare isn't
affordable on top of their mortgages; and they don't live close enough to be practical for parents to
assist with childcare.
These are just a few of the voices in the younger age category which Mill Hill needs. The world
has changed even before the pandemic and the Committee needs to reflect the future home
makers and contributors to the economy.

The Council refers to our previous responses on the
application for the new Forum with regard to public
money, inclusivity, safeguarding and the Constitution.
The requirement for equalities impact assessment
needs to be considered on a case by case basis as
further proposals for Neighbourhood Development
Plans come forward.
Neighbourhood Plans need to support community
cohesion. Concerns about threats on social media
should be reported to the Metropolitan Police.
The express purpose of the Forum is to produce a
Neighbourhood Plan and engage with the local
community to contribute to the production of a Plan.
Involvement in non-planning matters such as
organising festivals and markets is a role that can be
performed by other groups in Mill Hill

"both genders"

34

74

This constitution was circulated to all members for approval, I assume.
To submit a document in 2020 that does not even mention sexual orientation preferences or
gender identification (LGBT), let alone consider it, must be grounds for the Planning Officer to
recommend refusal.
It is outrageous and breaches the Equality Act 2010, especially but not limited to, Section 149,
and fostering good relations. This replicates the Discrimination Act 2005.
As there are no "elderly residents" represented, can this be a safe forum to understand the
difficulties which the elderly and indeed isolated residents may have? In fact this single matter
triggers the Birmingham City Judgement whereby any decision made by a Local Authority which
may impact on the Elderly or Disabled has to take priority, and that priority is high. In the case of
the application, it is noted that disability doesn't even feature in the documents submitted for
consideration. I cannot even begin to tell you, as a full time carer of an Adult with Learning
difficulties, how worrying this is.
Nobody from the unemployed sector. And so on.
New or Original: Which is it? In 2013/14 the MHNF held statutory public meetings in and around
an area which the then un-elected committee proposed to cover. These were held at golf clubs, in
halls and other locations. Setting aside the current COVID-19, no such consultation has taken
place prior to the pandemic, even though committee meetings have been taking place over the
summer/autumn of 2019. So, in reality, relying on a five year old consultation as a remit is
demonstration that the New Forum application is, in fact, a re-designation application of one that
has already failed. You cannot claim you have consulted when you have not. Same name, same
accounts , same email. Again, rather than address this issue using their own platform, the Forum
chose to advertise this (Engage Barnet) consultation just one day before the original closing date.
This shows that they were not exactly looking for people to engage, and demonstrating that they
are open to comments. They have chosen to do the minimum required to promote the Engage
Barnet process. How strange, when the whole idea of a forum is to ask the community what they
would like to happen to improve day-to-day life in Mill Hill. Fortunately, Barnet had extended the
deadline. A key indicator of how the current application and Forum committee is influenced by the
former Forum of that same name is this: 30 residents signed a letter formally requesting an
Emergency General Meeting, and calling into question the credibility of the then Chair: in other
words a vote of no confidence. At least 50% of the current committee failed to respond to the
request, which was an important part of the accountability. That same 50%, one would assume,
have agreed a new constitution which has eliminated any kind of accountability. Had the EGM
been called and the matter resolved, the outcome of the re-designation application might have
been very different. In any event they decided to await the outcome of the (Planning Application
re-designation) hearing, if post failure minutes are to be believed. Barnet Planning would never
accept a report for a planning application that was five years out of date, nor should they now . If
this is a new application then the statuary public meetings should have been held. Why weren't
they?
Finance It is a matter of record that the former Chair, now consultant, claimed at a licensing
hearing, that the MHNF published accounts. This was in reply to a question asked by a member

35

75

of the licensing panel. This is absolutely not the case. To date, no such accounts have ever been
published . It is a worry that applications for grants and public money will be made with a proposed
constitution that actually makes sure that they have no obligation for accountability. Utterly
disgraceful. Who knows what claims could be made? £274k is a lot of money to claim, without
any clue as to from what sources it has arrived. The Constitution needs to be able to reassure the
public that funding accrued has been applied for via a democratic process.
Governance and accountability The new proposed constitution enables a quorum to add in or
remove members as they wish, especially on the 3 in a row attendance rule. What worries me
about this, is that they state that they will comment on planning applications. Yet, in as early as
February this year, they already commented on at least one such application, without any official
remit. They may only meet 4 times a year. Effectively, the committee will not be given the
opportunity to discuss, agree, or vote on proposed planning applications or give considered
comments, because many applications will fall between the quarterly meetings . This has been
cause for concern in the past. The “missing three (meetings) in a row” rule means that actually a
member of the committee may only attend once a year; and even then removal is discretionary.
The quorum can actually be made up from 4 households as there are 3 married members and one
married to the consultant. I am not assuming that spouses have the same view, but in a hurry to
get a quorum, the wider committee is obviously at risk of being surplus at times. Another point
about which I am unclear is the status of the consultant. It does not appear to be clear within the
Constitution, if this consultant is attending meetings (let alone directing them), as there seems to
be no allowance for an ex officio to attend. In any event, the privacy clause is only expected from
the committee, and a consultant is not a member. Certainly attending and running the meetings
does not appear to facilitate this; and minutes posted on the website express the need for the
consultant position to have a limited time, yet neglect to discuss how long that term should be .
The forum claims to hold a database that comprises circa 600 people . How is this? The former
Forum wrongly sent out an "opt out" email during the GDPR window . Even that was incorrect, as
they never held a database which they personally gathered; and/or held records of members who
had signed up for email updates. In any event once the Forum closed, the database held should
have been destroyed in accordance with the General Database Protection Regulations . Some of
the addresses on the database were obtained by copying an accidentally open cc'd email from
another group prior to GDPR.
Licensing, events safeguarding With the planning report, it was raised that hanging baskets,
markets and bins are all very well, but that wasn't what the job of the forum was. I attended both
the licensing meeting and the re-designation planning hearing. What I walked away with from
both meetings is how little support in reality this forum has, as it stands. For such a momentous an
event as a re-designation to have not one member of the then committee, and just one spouse
and one member of public attend, with the Chair, was a true reflection of the actual support the
Forum had. Is this any different? This weekend saw an abhorrent retort to a post from a
concerned resident. It wasn't by way of reply. It was posted on a censored page, and allowed
known fake ID accounts to comment, whilst the person they were attacking was muted along with
anyone else who dared to argue for a fair debate. Even if the current chair has no plans to run

36

76

markets and festivals, that doesn't mean that the Forum wont take it upon themselves to register
the town square and bid to run it . In this event, the use and lease of the square would be at the
mercy of the forum and not the discretion of the Local Authority. It also does not stop the MHNF
from getting a third party to run them either. Plays on words can often lead to misleading
comments . For instance: nowhere within the bundle, is there an official endorsement from any
other established organisation; one that holds a constitution. The misleading post on Facebook
would have you believe that cross-overs of committees and members of societies mean that they
are speaking for or representing that organisation . That is not something that sits comfortably with
me and may, at times have the reverse effect of a conflict of interest .
Below are comments from the public including my personal post.
25 April ·
I am posting this on Inside Mill Hill as I am one of many people who are unable to comment on the
official Mill Hill Neighbourhood Forum page. A fellow Mill Hillian posted her objection to the MHNF
and felt so passionately that due to COVID 19 many people may have missed the Engage Barnet
notice in the local paper inviting us to review and comment on the MHNF application. I too have
been looking at this and have very grave concerns that the application, if successful, will have a
fundamental influence on everything to do with plans and how the future is shaped in Mill Hill.
Wendy Kravetz has had her comments removed and is unable to reply , however the Chair of the
proposed Forum has taken it upon himself to respond. With this kind of censorship and lack of right
to reply would you honestly want these people deciding on what is best for our area? His right of
reply is at the planning meeting to convince the members of the Planning committee that he can
lead a fair and open forum. He hasn't exactly publicised the consultation save 1 post . Maybe he
doesn't want our opinion. He may argue that at the end of the process everyone can vote to adopt
the plan. You will not be able to alter or amend so what they write is what is on offer. The trouble is
what Mill Hill needs is a team who will listen. Historically this has not been the case . I have no idea
who Tracy is but she made a fair point . My views are my views and no threat from the chair or the
traders association who will stop me. We have freedom of speech . If Wendy asks me to take the
post down I will . Life is tough enough these days. Of course if you are retired on a pension are you
likely to understand the pressures on the rest of the community? Remember you are commenting
on the plan submitted not on promises or offers .

37

77

Local
Resident 42

Local
Resident 43

Local
Resident 44

I write to express my concerns at the application from Mill Hill Neighbourhood Forum for
designation. .My concerns are largely around the negative social media presence of the Forum
which calls into question its integrity, professionalism and ability to represent a diverse and
deserving community, such is Mill Hill. The disturbing way the Forum is publicised and supported
by what appears to be a person (or persons) who is threatening and abusive towards anyone who
may have an opposing view, or who may ask for clarification around the Forum’s intentions is
breathtaking.I was recently, unwittingly, drawn into a nasty social media dispute when I questioned
the unprofessional and slanderous nature of a Facebook post by the Forum, where local residents
were publicly named and slandered (with such naming and threats being allowed to continue in the
post’s comments). What concerned me just as much as the actual Facebook post (which was
eventually removed after numerous complaints) was the total failure of the Forum to distance itself
from such egregious behaviour. In their silence they have condoned the behaviour and I do not
believe such a group of people should be given any responsibility for representing the interests of
the people of Mill Hill. I have not engaged with the Forum since my unpleasant experience, but I
have seen that they continue to be publicised in this unpleasant way, and threats continue to be
made publicly. I would be desperately disappointed if the Council felt it could trust such a group to
do such an important job and sincerely hope that the council does extensive research to convince
themselves of the Forum’s worthiness before granting designation.
I write to state my objection to the Mill Hill Neighbourhood Area Forum Designation for a number of
reasons, listed below.
1)
Lack of transparency The Forum have not been open about their intention to go again for
designation. There have been no open offers for people of interest to join. In fact, they only
publicised the fact they were going for designation the day that the original consultation should
have closed. The core group of committee members appears to be similar to the previous forum.
This does not fill me with confidence bearing in mind the much documented problems associated
with the previous forum.
2)
Lack of financial controls/ management The treasurer of the new forum is the same as the
previous forum. Despite numerous requests, the previous forum refused to produce any financial
records. Records only appeared once they were going for the renewal of designation last time.
Bearing in mind the potential sums of money that may be available to the forum, should it be
designated, this is a serious issue for the Mill Hill community.
3)
Lack of representation The forum certainly does not represent the wider community. At the
core sits the old guard from the previous forum, bolstered by their partners and wives. This also
seems to be a clear lack of democracy in play here.
I am a Mill Hill resident and I object to this application.

Neighbourhood Plans need to support community
cohesion. Concerns about threats on social media
should be reported to the Metropolitan Police over
social media is a matter for the police.

Please note I am writing to advise my objection to the current application of the Mill Hill
Neighbourhood Area Forum Designation for the following reasons:
Committee Members There appears to be a group of people from the last forum who form the
epicentre of the new proposed forum. However their partners are now also committee members.
This appears very odd to say the least. I have to ask why. If the key players are the same as
previous then I have to question why Barnet Council would grant a designation for a further five
years after the group failed to produce a neighbourhood plan in the previous five years. If it takes
8-10 years to produce a neighbourhood plan then I have serious reservations about the

The Council refers to our previous responses on the
application for the new Forum with regard to public
money, inclusivity, safeguarding and the Constitution.

The Council refers to our previous responses on the
application for the new Forum with regard to public
money, inclusivity, safeguarding and the Constitution.

38

78

Local
Resident 45

competence of the entire proposed forum.
Financial Responsibility I understand that should the neighbourhood plan actually be passed
then huge sums of money will be paid into the forum. The key players including the treasurer
remain the same as previous and it is a matter of public record that the previous forum displayed a
clear lack of financial competence. The recipe for misuse of public funds exists and I have grave
concerns that this will be the case again.
Openness, Transparency and Democracy There has been no open call for local people of
interest to join the forum. There has been no promotion of the potential re-designation of the forum.
It has all been underhand and is not the proper way a committee claiming to represent the local
community would act.
The fact that the key committee members are all committee members of the previous forum and
are now supported on the committee by their partners/ wives/ husbands etc. This effectively means
that a small group of of friends hold the balance of votes in any vote that takes place within the
forum. This is absolutely UNDEMOCRATIC. No-one has been elected by the local population yet
they potentially have the opportunity to manage hundreds of thousands of pounds of public funds.
Frankly it’s frightening.
Representation For the reasons listed above I certainly don’t believe this forum is representative
of the people within the Mill Hill Community. I confirm that I am writing to advise my objection to the
current application of the Mill Hill Neighbourhood Area Forum Designation.
I am writing to oppose the application made by the Neighbourhood forum in Mill Hill. If the past five
years is a representation of their work then I certainly don’t want a repeat of this as life has become
unbearable recently. I have lived in Mill Hill for 20 years and have never seen so much change in a
short period of time. The forum don’t speak for me and quite frankly can’t as they seem to be
mainly men as well with financial motivation. I am opposing this application.

Development that has come forward in Mill Hill has
been approved by the Council on the basis of Barnet’s
Local Plan. The application for a Neighbourhood
Forum and Area is the first step in producing a
Neighbourhood Plan for Mill Hill

39

79

This page is intentionally left blank

LOCATION:

WARD:

Pavilion Study Centre, 58B Chandos Avenue, London,
AGENDA ITEM 7
N20 9DX
20/1304/FUL
Received: 10 March 2020
Accepted: 11 March 2020
Oakleigh
Expiry: 9 June 2020

APPLICANT:

London Borough of Barnet

PROPOSAL:

Full planning application for the demolition of the existing
pavilion and main school building and the erection of a
new 1941 sqm two storey main school building, a 220
sqm single storey pavilion building, associated
playground with MUGA facilities and car park

REFERENCE:

APPLICATION SUMMARY
Agenda Item 7 (Pavilion Study Centre) of the Planning Committee meeting of the
13th May 2020 was deferred by members in order to allow Members to undertake a
site visit when the site is accessible.
Subsequent to this deferral, the applicant confirmed that the works to the access
road were completed and also marked on the field the position of the proposed
school building and MUGA. All Planning Committee members were emailed on 29th
May informing them of this and to make their own arrangements for visiting the site.
A set of plans was also emailed to members to refer to on site.
Conclusion
It is considered that the reason for deferral has now been satisfied and that members
now have sufficient information to make a decision on this application. The Officer
Recommendation is unchanged, namely that the application is Approved subject to
the Resolutions and Conditions as recommended in the original Committee Report
included as Appendix A as amended by the Addendum included as Appendix B.

81

This page is intentionally left blank

APPENDIX A
LOCATION:

WARD:

Pavilion Study Centre, 58B Chandos Avenue, London,
N20 9DX
20/1304/FUL
Received: 10 March 2020
Accepted: 11 March 2020
Oakleigh
Expiry: 9 June 2020

APPLICANT:

London Borough of Barnet

PROPOSAL:

Full planning application for the demolition of the
existing pavilion and main school building and the
erection of a new 1941 sqm two storey main school
building, a 220 sqm single storey pavilion building,
associated playground with MUGA facilities and car
park

REFERENCE:

Recommendation: Approve subject to conditions
The Committee also grants delegated authority to the Service Director Planning &
Building Control or Head of Strategic Planning to make any minor alterations,
additions or deletions to the recommended conditions/obligations or reasons for
refusal as set out in this report and addendum provided this authority shall be
exercised after consultation with the Chairman (or in his absence the ViceChairman) of the Committee (who may request that such alterations, additions or
deletions be first approved by the Committee).
Conditions
1.
This development must be begun within three years from the date of this
permission.
Reason: To comply with Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act
2004.
2.
The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with
the following approved plans:
Site Location Plan PRU-CLTH-03-ZZ-DR-A-1006-LocationPlan-A
Existing Site Layout PRU-CLTH-03-ZZ-DR-A-1001-ExistingSitePlan-C
Proposed Site Layout PRU-CLTH-03-ZZ-DR-A-1000-ProposedSitePlan-Q
Block Plan PRU-CLTH-03-00-DR-A-1004-SitePlanMasterplan-D
Existing and Proposed ElevationsPRU-CLTH-03-ZZ-DR-A4200_ExistingBuildingsElevations
Existing and Proposed Elevations PRU-CLTH-03-ZZ-DR-A4201_ExistingBuildingsElevations
Existing and Proposed Elevations PRU-CLTH-01-ZZ-DR-A-4020_ProposedSchoolElevations-E
Existing and Proposed Elevations PRU-CLTH-01-ZZ-DR-A-4021_ProposedSchoolElevations-E
Existing and Proposed Floor Plans PRU CP 00 000 DFP AR 100 010-P01-522.3School Layout PlanExisting

83

Existing and Proposed Floor Plans PRU-CLTH-01-00-DR-A-2000GFGeneralArrangement-V
Existing and Proposed Floor Plans PRU-CLTH-01-01-DR-A-2001FFGeneralArrangement-S
Existing and Proposed Sections, Finished Floor Levels/Site Levels PRU-CLTH-01ZZ-DR-A-5000-SchoolSections-L
Existing and Proposed Sections, Finished Floor Levels/Site Levels PRU-CLTH-01ZZ-DR-A-5001-SchoolSections-I
Existing and Proposed Sections, Finished Floor Levels/Site Levels PRU-CLTH-03ZZ-DR-A-5200-SiteSections-G
Existing and Proposed Roof Plans PRU-CLTH-01-02-DR-A-2002-RoofPlan-L
Existing and Proposed Roof Plans PRU-CLTH-03-ZZ-DR-A2200_ExistingBuildingsRoofPlan
Phasing Plan MF16 Pavilion PRU_Site Logistics_rev L
Biodiversity/Ecology Assessment (Phase 1 only) 3145 - Dame Alice Owen PRU
Preliminary Ecological Appraisal - 1910-28rc.docx
Biodiversity/Ecology Assessment (Phase 1 only) 3955 - Dame Alice Owen PRU Bat
Survey - 1906-26rc
Out of Hours Drawings PRU-CLTH-01-00-DR-A-2030-GFOutofHours-H
Out of Hours Drawings PRU-CLTH-01-00-DR-A-2030-GFOutofHours-H
Daylight and Sunlight Assessment 08-19-79169 DLSL 4
Flood Risk Assessment C323 FRA rev B
Land Contamination Assessment (Phase 1 and 2 only) Geotechnical and
Environmental Interpretative Report (CS/072947/FT/02) Part 1 & 2
Land Contamination Assessment Phase 1 Desktop Study (CS/072847/GT01) Part
1-7
Landscaping details PRU-UBU-XX-XX-DR-L-0100-P19- General Arrangement Plan
Landscaping details PRU-UBU-XX-XX-DR-L-0500-P1- BB104
Landscaping details PRU-UBU-XX-XX-DR-L-0300-P10- Planting Plan
Lighting Assessment 2020-03-06 External lighting Calculation
Lighting Assessment PRU-WYG-01-EX-DR-E-9001
Lighting Assessment PRU-WYG-01-EX-DR-E-9002
Noise Assessment 19_10895NR02B (Pavilion PRU Barnet Noise Impact
Assessment)
Sustainability Statement A114576 PRU Barnet Sustainability Statement Report Rev
E 05.03.20
Planning Statement
Design & Access Statement PRU-CLTH_DesignAndAccessStatement-RevD200305
SUDS Design/ Drainage Details/ Foul Sewerage and Utilities Assessment 21 PRUDID-01-XX-RP-C-0001-P06 SUDs and Drainage Strategy 200428 Pavilion Study
Centre Drainage Memo
SUDS Design/ Drainage Details/ Foul Sewerage and Utilities Assessment
Tree Survey/Arboricultural Implications 4180-Dame Alice Owen PRU-Main WorksAIA-2002-17gg
Tree Survey/Arboricultural Implications 4180-DameAliceOwenPRU-DraftTPP-A12002-17gg
Transport Statement R01-EC-DF-Transport Statement (191106)
Travel Plan R02-SK-School Travel Plan (191106)

84

Demolition and Construction Management Plan MF16 Pavilion PRU_Traffic
Management Plan v6 09042020_Appx B Binder
BREEAM Pre Assessment 191028 - PPRU - BREEAM Pre-Assessment Planning
Report
Energy Statement A114576 PRU Barnet Energy Statement Report. Rev F 05.03.20
Capita FAQ Document 200219.PRU Planning FAQs Final
Boundary Risk Assessment LSUK.20-0154_Pavilion Study Centre
Whetstone_Cricket Boundary Assessment
Pavilion GF and Roof Plan A2100 L
Pavilion elevations A2100 G
Pavilion Section 1 & 2 A2100 E
Proposed General Layout J004040 002
Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning and so
as to ensure that the development is carried out fully in accordance with the
application as assessed in accordance with policies CS1, CS4, CS5, DM01 and
DM02 of the Barnet Local Plan and policy 1.1 of the London Plan.
3.
Notwithstanding the details shown on the plans, prior to the works thereby
affected:
(a) details and appropriate samples of the materials to be used for the external
surfaces of the buildings and hard surfaced areas shall have been submitted to and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority; and
(b) where appropriate, a sample brick panel shall be constructed on site or a
location to be agreed, inspected and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority. The Development shall thereafter be implemented in accordance with
such details as so approved before the dwellings approved are occupied.
Reason: To safeguard the character and visual amenities of the site and wider area
and to ensure that the building is constructed in accordance with policies CS5 and
DM01 of the Barnet Local Plan and policies 1.1, 7.4, 7.5 and 7.6 of the London
Plan.
4.
Prior to the first occupation of the development, details of the size, design
and siting of all photovoltaic panels to be installed as part of the development shall
be submitted and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The
development shall be carried out and constructed in accordance with the approved
details.
Reason: To safeguard the character and visual amenities of the site and wider area
and to ensure that the building is constructed in accordance with policies CS5 and
DM01 of the Barnet Local Plan and policies 1.1, 7.4, 7.5 and 7.6 of the London
Plan.
5.
No works on the public highway including the proposed vehicular access
from Maryrose Way as a result of the proposed development shall be carried out
until detailed design drawings have been submitted and approved by the Highway
Authority and works shall only be carried out in accordance with the approved
plans. The applicant will be expected to enter into an agreement with the Highways
Authority under Section 278/184 of the Highways Act, for these works any and

85

reinstatement of any consequential damage to public highway as a result of the
proposed development.
Reason: To ensure that the works on the public highway are carried out to the
satisfaction of the highway authority in the interest of highway safety in accordance
with London Borough of Barnet’s Local Plan Policy CS9 of Core Strategy (Adopted)
September 2012 and Policy DM17 of Development Management Policies (Adopted)
September 2012
6.
Prior to the first occupation of the development, parking spaces shall be
provided in accordance with the approved drawings. Thereafter, the parking spaces
shall be used only as agreed and not be used for any purpose other than the
parking and turning of vehicles in connection with approved development.
Reason: To ensure that adequate and satisfactory provision is made for the parking
of vehicles in the interests of pedestrian and highway safety and the free flow of
traffic in accordance with London Borough of Barnet’s Local Plan Policy CS9 of
Core Strategy (Adopted) September 2012 and Policy DM17 of Development
Management Policies (Adopted) September 2012.
7.
Prior to the first occupation of the development a Car Parking Management
Scheme shall be submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: To ensure that parking is provided and managed in line with the council's
standards in the interests of highway and pedestrian safety in accordance with
London Borough of Barnet’s Local Plan Policy CS9 of Core Strategy (Adopted)
September 2012 and Policy DM17 of Development Management Policies (Adopted)
September 2012.
8.
Details of cycle parking including the type of stands, gaps between stands,
location of cycle parking and type of store proposed shall be submitted to and
approved in writing by the Local Authority. Thereafter, before the development
hereby permitted is occupied, 14 long stay cycle parking spaces (13 long-stay &1
short stay) in accordance with the London Plan Cycle Parking Standards and
London Cycle Design Standards shall be provided and shall not be used for any
purpose other than the parking of vehicles in connection with the approved
development.
Reason: To ensure that adequate and satisfactory provision is made for the parking
of vehicles in the interests of pedestrian and highway safety and the free flow of
traffic in accordance with London Borough of Barnet’s Local Plan Policy CS9 of
Core Strategy (Adopted) September 2012 and Policy DM17 of Development
Management Policies (Adopted) September 2012.
9.
No development or site works shall take place on site until a 'Demolition and
Construction Management and Logistics Plan' has been submitted to and approved in
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The Demolition and Construction Management
and Logistics Plan submitted shall include, but not be limited to, the following:

86

i. details of the routing of construction vehicles to the site, hours of access, access
and egress arrangements within the site and security procedures;
ii. site preparation and construction stages of the development;
iii. details of provisions for recycling of materials, the provision on site of a
storage/delivery area for all plant, site huts, site facilities and materials;
iv. details showing how all vehicles associated with the construction works are
properly washed and cleaned to prevent the passage to mud and dirt onto the
adjoining highway;
v. the methods to be used and the measures to be undertaken to control the emission
of dust, noise and vibration arising from construction works;
vi. a suitable and efficient means of suppressing dust, including the adequate
containment of stored or accumulated material so as to prevent it becoming airborne
at any time and giving rise to nuisance;
vii. noise mitigation measures for all plant and processors;
viii. details of contractors compound and car parking arrangements;
ix. details of interim car parking management arrangements for the duration of
construction;
x. details of a community liaison contact for the duration of all works associated with
the development.
For major sites, the Statement shall be informed by the findings of the assessment of
the air quality impacts of construction and demolition phases of the development.
b) The development shall thereafter be implemented in accordance with the measures
detailed within the statement.
Reason: In the interests of highway safety, noise and good air quality in accordance
with Policies DM04 and DM17 of the Development Management Policies DPD
(adopted September 2012), the Sustainable Design and Construction SPD (adopted
October 2016) and Policies 5.21, 5.3, 5.18, 7.14 and 7.15 of the London Plan (2016).
10.
Prior to occupation of the development full details of the 6 electric vehicle
charging points to be installed in the development shall have been submitted to and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. These details shall include
provision for not less than 20% of the approved residential parking spaces to be
provided with active electric vehicle charging facilities and 20% passive electrical
charging facility. The development shall be implemented in full accordance with the
approved details prior to first occupation and thereafter be maintained as such.
Reason: To ensure that the development makes adequate provision for electric
vehicle charging points to encourage the use of electric vehicles in accordance with
policy 6.13 of the London Plan
11.
Before the development is occupied a School Travel Plan shall be submitted
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority that meets the criteria in
the Transport for London’s guidance booklet “What a School Travel Plan should
contain” and should include the appointment of a Travel Plan Champion. The Travel
Plan should be reviewed annually in accordance with the target set out in the Travel
Plan. The key headlines and obligations of the school travel plan are to be set out in
a s106 agreement.

87

Reason: To encourage the use of sustainable forms of transport to the site in
accordance with London Borough of Barnet’s Local Plan Policy CS9 of Core
Strategy (Adopted) September 2012 and Policy DM17 of Development
Management Policies (Adopted) September 2012.
12. Prior to the first occupation of the new school buildings a full Delivery Service
Plan (DSP) shall be submitted to and agreed by the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: In the interest of highway safety in accordance with London Borough of
Barnet's Local Plan Policy CS9 of Core Strategy (Adopted) September 2012 and
Policy DM17 of Development Management Policies (Adopted) September 2012.
13.
In the event that unexpected contamination is found at any time when
carrying out the approved development, it must be reported in writing immediately to
the Local Planning Authority. An investigation and risk assessment must be
undertaken and where remediation is necessary a remediation scheme must be
prepared, which is subject to the approval in writing of the Local Planning Authority.
Following completion of measures identified in the approved remediation scheme a
verification report must be prepared, which is subject to the approval in writing of
the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: To ensure the development can be implemented and occupied with
adequate regard for environmental and public safety in accordance with Policy CS
NPPF of the Local Plan Core Strategy DPD (adopted September 2012), DM04 of
the Development Management Policies DPD (adopted September 2012), the
Sustainable Design and Construction SPD (adopted October 2016) and 5.21 of the
London Plan 2016.
14.
All Non-Road Mobile Machinery (NRMM) of net power of 37kW and up to
and including 560kW used during the course of the demolition, site preparation and
construction phases shall comply with the emission standards set out in chapter 7 of
the GLA's supplementary planning guidance "Control of Dust and Emissions During
Construction and Demolition" dated July 2014 (SPG), or subsequent guidance.
Unless it complies with the standards set out in the SPG, no NRMM shall be on site,
at any time, whether in use or not, without the prior written consent of the local
planning authority.
The developer shall keep an up to date list of all NRMM used during the demolition,
site preparation and construction phases of the development on the online register
at https://nrmm.london/
Reasons: In the interest of good air quality in accordance with London Plan policies
5.3 and 7.14.
15.
The level of noise emitted from the of the school plant including all the
ventilation/extraction plant and sprinkler plant hereby approved shall be at least
5dB(A) below the background level, as measured from any point 1 metre outside
the window of any room of a neighbouring residential property.

88

If the noise emitted has a distinguishable, discrete continuous note (whine, hiss,
screech, hum) and/or distinct impulse (bangs, clicks, clatters, thumps), then it shall
be at least 10dB(A) below the background level, as measured from any point 1
metre outside the window of any room of a neighbouring residential property.
Reason: To ensure that the proposed development does not prejudice the
amenities of occupiers of neighbouring properties in accordance with Policies DM04
of the Development Management Policies DPD (adopted September 2012) and
7.15 of the London Plan 2016.
16.
a) Notwithstanding the details shown on the plans submitted and otherwise
hereby approved, the development hereby approved shall not be first occupied or
brought into use until details of all acoustic walls, fencing and other acoustic barriers
to be erected on the site have been submitted to the Local Planning Authority and
approved in writing.
b) The details approved by this condition shall be implemented in their entirety prior
to the commencement of the use or first occupation of the development and
retained as such thereafter.
Reason: To ensure that the proposed development does not prejudice the
enjoyment of the occupiers of their homes in accordance with Policy DM04 of the
Development Management Policies DPD (adopted September 2012) and Policy
7.15 of the London Plan 2016.

17. Prior to works thereby affected the following information will be submitted to and
approved in writing by London Borough of Barnet planning authority.
1. SuDS detailed design drawings;
2. SuDS construction phasing for permanent works
Reason: To ensure that the development provides appropriate drainage
infrastructure and to comply with Policy CS13 of the Local Plan Core Strategy
(adopted September 2012), the Sustainable Design and Construction SPD (adopted
October 2016) and Policies 5.13 and 5.14 of the London Plan 2016.
18.
Notwithstanding the details shown on the plans submitted and otherwise
hereby approved, the development shall not be occupied until details are submitted
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority which specify the details
of boundary treatments to be installed within the development. These details shall
include materials, type and siting of all boundary treatments. The development shall
be implemented in full accordance with the approved details prior to the first
occupation of the development and shall be permanently retained as such
thereafter.

89

Reason: To safeguard the privacy and amenities of the future occupiers of the
proposed residential dwellings and in the interests of the appearance of the
development, in accordance with polices DM01 and DM02 of the Barnet Local Plan.
19.
All hard and soft landscaping shall be carried out in accordance with the
approved landscaping scheme and shall be completed within the first planting and
seeding seasons following the completion of each phase of the development or the
occupation of the buildings, whichever is the earlier period.
The new planting and landscape operations should comply with the requirements
specified in BS 3936 (1992) ‘Nursery Stock, Part 1, Specification for Trees and
Shrubs’ and in BS 4428 (1989) ‘Code of Practice for General Landscape Operations
(Excluding Hard Surfaces)’. Thereafter, the areas of hard and soft landscaping shall
be permanently retained.
Any tree, shrub or area of turfing or seeding shown on the approved landscaping
scheme which, within a period of 5 years from the completion of the development,
dies, is removed or in the opinion of the Local Planning Authority becomes seriously
damaged or diseased, shall be replaced in the same place in the next planting
season with another such tree, shrub or area of turfing or seeding of similar size
and species unless the Local Planning Authority first gives written consent to, any
variation.
Reason: To ensure that the landscaped areas are laid out and retained in
accordance with the approved plans in order to preserve and enhance the visual
amenities of the locality in compliance with Policies CS7 of the Core Strategy (2012)
and DM16 of the Development Management Policies (2012).
20.
The development shall be carried out in strict accordance with the provisions
and tree protection methods outlined in the submitted Arboricultural Implication
Assessment by Writtle Forest Consultancy Statement dated September 2019 and
as illustrated on Draft Tree Protection Plan 180617 Rev A.
Reason: To safeguard the health of existing trees which represent an important
amenity feature in accordance with policies CS5 and CS7 of The Core Strategy
(2012) and DM01 of the Development Management Policies (2012).
21.
Notwithstanding the content of plans hereby approved, prior to the first
occupation of the new school buildings, details comprising a scheme of measures to
enhance and promote biodiversity within the development shall be submitted the
Local Planning Authority and approved in writing. The approved scheme of
measures shall be implemented in full in accordance with the approved details
before the development is first used.
Reason: To ensure that the development represent high quality design and meets
the objectives of development plan policy as it relates to biodiversity in accordance
with policies DM01 and DM16 of the Barnet Local Plan and policies 5.11 and 7.19
of the London Plan 2015.

90

22.
No construction work resulting from the planning permission shall be carried
out on the premises at any time on Sundays, Bank or Public Holidays, before 8.00
am or after 1.00 pm on Saturdays, or before 8.00 am or after 6.00pm on other days
unless previously approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: To ensure that the proposed development does not prejudice the
amenities of occupiers of adjoining residential properties.
23.
Notwithstanding the provisions of Part 32, Class A to schedule 2 of the Town
and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) Order 1995 (or any Order
revoking or re-enacting that order) no extensions to the school hereby permitted
shall be erected without express planning permission first being obtained.
Reason: To enable the local planning authority to retain control over these matters
in the interests of controlling the intensity of use.
24.
Within 9 months of first occupation of the new school buildings, certification
demonstrating compliance with Secured by Design standards (or any superseding
accreditation) shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority.
Reason: In the interest of community safety in accordance with London Plan Policy
7.3, London Borough of Barnet’s Local Plan Policy CS12 of Core Strategy
(September 2012) and Policy DM02 Development Management Policies
(September 2012).
25.
Use of the development for community use shall not commence until a
Community Use Agreement prepared in consultation with Sport England has been
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, and a copy of
the completed approved agreement has been provided to the Local Planning
Authority. The agreement shall apply to the sports hall and Multi-Use Games Area
and include details of pricing policy, hours of use, access by non-educational
establishment users, management responsibilities and a mechanism for review.
The development shall not be used otherwise than in strict compliance with the
approved agreement.
Reason: To secure well managed safe community access to the sports
facility/facilities, to ensure sufficient benefit to the development of sport and to
accord with Development Plan Policy .
26.
At no time shall the total number of pupils in the school hereby approved
exceed 73.
Reason: To ensure that the proposed development does not exceed the parameters
assessed under this application or prejudice the amenities of occupiers of adjoining
residential properties and in the interests of highway and pedestrian safety in
accordance with policies in the Barnet Local Plan and London Plan.
27.
The development hereby permitted shall not be occupied by pupils outside the
hours of 08:00 hours and 17:00 hours Monday to Friday.

91

Reason: To protect the amenities of occupiers of neighbouring residential properties in
accordance with policies DM01 and DM04 of the Barnet's Local Plan 2012.
28.
The proposed school shall achieve a minimum of BREEAM Very Good. Within
three months of first occupation of the building, a copy of the summary score sheet
and BREEAM Post Construction Certificate shall be submitted to the Local Planning
Authority to demonstrate that this has been achieved.
Reason: To ensure that the development is sustainable and in accordance with
policies DM01 and DM02 of the Barnet Local Plan and policies 5.2 and 5.3 of the
London Plan 2016.
INFORMATIVE(S):
1.
The Highway Authority will require the applicant to give an undertaking to
pay additional costs of repair or maintenance of the public highway in the vicinity of
the site should the highway be damaged as a result of the construction traffic. The
construction traffic will be deemed “extraordinary traffic” for the purposes of Section
59 of the Highways Act 1980. Under this section, the Highway Authority can recover
the cost of excess expenses for maintenance of the highway resulting from
excessive weight or extraordinary traffic passing along the highway. It is to be
understood that any remedial works for such damage will be included in the
estimate for highway works.
2.
The applicant is required to submit a Street Works Licence application to the
Development and Regulatory Services, 2 Bristol Avenue, Colindale NW9 4EW, 4-6
weeks before the start of any works on the public highway.
In the case where a highway tree is present in the vicinity of the proposed access
road or a crossover for the development the final approval would be subject to the
detailed assessment carried out by the Highways Crossover Team in conjunction
with the highway tree section as part of the crossover application. The outcome of
this assessment cannot be prejudged.
The applicant is advised that the permitted maximum width for a residential
crossover is 4.2 metres. Information on application for a crossover could be
obtained from London Borough of Barnet, Crossover Team, Development and
Regulatory Services, 2 Bristol Avenue, Colindale NW9 4EW.
Works on public highway shall be carried out by the Council’s contractors. An
estimate for this work could be obtained from London Borough of Barnet,
Development and Regulatory Services, 2 Bristol Avenue, Colindale NW9 4EW.
3.
As a result of development and construction activities is a major cause of
concern to the Council. Construction traffic is deemed to be “extraordinary traffic” for
the purposes of Section 59 of the Highways Act 1980. During the course of the
development, a far greater volume of construction traffic will be traversing the public
highway and this considerably shortens the lifespan of the affected highway.

92

To minimise risks and damage to public highway, it is now a requirement as part of
any new development to undertake a Highway Condition Survey of the surrounding
public highway to the development to record the state of the highway prior to
commencement of any development works. The condition of the public highway
shall be recorded including a photographic survey prior to commencement of any
works within the development. During the course of the development construction,
the applicant will be held responsible for any consequential damage to the public
highway due to site operations and these photographs will assist in establishing the
basis of damage to the public highway. A bond will be sought to cover potential
damage resulting from the development which will be equivalent to the cost of
highway works fronting the development. To arrange a joint highway condition
survey, please contact the Highways Development Control / Network Management
Team on 020 8359 3555 or by e-mail highways.development@barnet.gov.uk or
nrswa@barnet.gov.uk at least 10 days prior to commencement of the development
works.
Please note existing public highways shall not be used as sites for stock piling and
storing plant, vehicles, materials or equipment without an appropriate licence. Any
damage to the paved surfaces, verges, surface water drains or street furniture shall
be made good as directed by the Authority. The Applicant shall be liable for the cost
of reinstatement if damage has been caused to highways. On completion of the
works, the highway shall be cleared of all surplus materials, washed and left in a
clean and tidy condition.
4.
surface of the highway and any gullies or drains nearby must be protected
with plastic sheeting. Residue must never be washed into nearby gullies or drains.
During the development works, any gullies or drains adjacent to the building site
must be maintained to the satisfaction of the Local Highways Authority. If any gully
is damaged or blocked, the applicant will be liable for all costs incurred. The
Applicant shall ensure that all watercourses, drains, ditches, etc. are kept clear of
any spoil, mud, slurry or other material likely to impede the free flow of water
therein.
5.
The submitted Construction Method Statement shall include as a minimum
details of:
Site hoarding
Wheel washing
Dust suppression methods and kit to be used
Site plan identifying location of site entrance, exit, wheel washing, hoarding, dust
suppression, location of water supplies and location of nearest neighbouring
receptors. Explain reasoning if not applicable.
Confirmation whether a mobile crusher will be used on site and if so, a copy of the
permit and indented dates of operation.
Confirmation of the following: log book on site for complaints, work in accordance
with British Standards BS 5228-1:2009+A1:2014 and best practicable means are
employed; clear contact details on hoarding. Standard construction site hours are
8am-6pm Monday - Friday, 8am-1pm Saturday and not at all on Sundays and
Bank Holidays. Bonfires are not permitted on site.
For major developments only: provide a copy of an asbestos survey; For smaller
developments -confirmation that an asbestos survey has been carried out.

93

For major developments only: confirmation that all Non Road Mobile Machinery
(NRMM) comply with the Non Road Mobile Machinery (Emission of Gaseous and
Particulate Pollutants) Regulations 1999.
The statement shall have regard to the most relevant and up to date guidance
including: Guidance on the assessment of dust from demolition and construction,
Institute of Air Quality Management, January 2014.
6. The submitted Construction Method Statement shall include as a minimum
details of:
 Site hoarding
 Wheel washing
 Dust suppression methods and kit to be used
 Site plan identifying location of site entrance, exit, wheel washing, hoarding,
dust suppression, location of water supplies and location of nearest
neighbouring receptors. Explain reasoning if not applicable.
 Confirmation whether a mobile crusher will be used on site and if so, a copy of
the permit and indented dates of operation.
 Confirmation of the following: log book on site for complaints, work in
accordance with British Standards BS 5228-1:2009+A1:2014 and best
practicable means are employed; clear contact details on hoarding. Standard
construction site hours are 8am-6pm Monday – Friday, 8am-1pm Saturday and
not at all on Sundays and Bank Holidays. Bonfires are not permitted on site.
 For major developments only: provide a copy of an asbestos survey; For
smaller developments -confirmation that an asbestos survey has been carried
out.
 For major developments only: confirmation that all Non Road Mobile Machinery
(NRMM) comply with the Non Road Mobile Machinery (Emission of Gaseous
and Particulate Pollutants) Regulations 1999.
7.
In complying with the contaminated land condition parts 1 and 2, reference
should be made at all stages to appropriate current guidance and codes of practice.
This would include:
1) The Environment Agency CLR & SR Guidance documents (including CLR11
‘Model Procedures for the Management of Land Contamination’);
2) National Planning Policy Framework (2012) / National Planning Practice
Guidance (2014);
3) BS10175:2011 - Investigation of potentially contaminated sites - Code of
Practice;
4) Guidance for the safe development of housing on land affected by contamination,
(2008) by NHBC, the EA and CIEH;
5) CIRIA report C665 - Assessing risks posed by hazardous ground gases to
buildings;
6) CIRIA report C733 - Asbestos in soil and made ground: a guide to understanding
and managing risks.
Please note that in addition to the above, consultants should refer to the most
relevant and up to date guidance and codes of practice if not already listed in the
above list.

94

8.
The applicant is advised to engage a qualified acoustic consultant to advise
on the scheme, including the specifications of any materials, construction, fittings
and equipment necessary to achieve satisfactory internal noise levels in this
location.
In addition to the noise control measures and details, the scheme needs to clearly
set out the target noise levels for the habitable rooms, including for bedrooms at
night, and the levels that the sound insulation scheme would achieve.
The Council's Sustainable Design and Construction Supplementary Planning
Document requires that dwellings are designed and built to insulate against external
noise so that the internal noise level in rooms does not exceed 30dB(A) expressed
as an Leq between the hours of 11.00pm and 7.00am, nor 35dB(A) expressed as
an Leq between the hours of 7.00am and 11.00pm (Guidelines for Community
Noise, WHO). This needs to be considered in the context of room ventilation
requirements.
The details of acoustic consultants can be obtained from the following contacts: a)
Institute of Acoustics and b) Association of Noise Consultants.
The assessment and report on the noise impacts of a development should use
methods of measurement, calculation, prediction and assessment of noise levels
and impacts that comply with the following standards, where appropriate:
1) BS 7445(2003) Pt 1, BS7445 (1991) Pts 2 & 3 - Description and measurement of
environmental noise;
2) BS 4142:2014 - Method for rating industrial noise affecting mixed residential and
industrial areas;
3) BS 8223: 2014 – Guidance on sound insulation and noise reduction for buildings:
code of practice;
4) Department of Transport: Calculation of road traffic noise (1988);
5) Department of Transport: Calculation of railway noise (1995);
6) National Planning Policy Framework (2012)/ National Planning Policy Guidance
(2014).
Please note that in addition to the above, consultants should refer to the most
relevant and up to date guidance and codes of practice if not already listed in the
above list.
9.
Drain down time for proposed underground cellular storage volume is greater
than recommended 24hrs (i.e. 28hrs) for the design event of the 100-year plus
climate change. The required volume is calculated to be 180m3, however, 190m3 of
storage volume has been designed. We would recommend the attenuation storage
volume to be increased further to allow the drain down time to be kept within 24
hours and provide enough volume for a subsequent rainfall event of a lower return
period.
Reference: Association of SuDS Authorities, (ASA), Formerly known as Local
Authority SuDS Officer Organisation (LASOO), paragraph 3.39

95

10.
In accordance with paragraphs 38-57 of the NPPF, the Local
Planning Authority (LPA) takes a positive and proactive approach to development
proposals, focused on solutions. The LPA has produced planning policies and
written guidance to assist applicants when submitting applications. These are all
available on the Council's website. A pre-application advice service is also offered
and the Applicant engaged with this prior to the submissions of this application.
The LPA has negotiated with the applicant/agent where necessary during the
application process to ensure that the proposed development is in accordance
with the Development Plan.
1.
1.1

MATERIAL CONSIDERATIONS
Key Relevant Planning Policy

Introduction
Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act (2004) requires that
development proposals shall be determined in accordance with the development
plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. In this case the development
plan is The London Plan and the development plan documents in the Barnet Local
Plan. These statutory development plans are the main policy basis for the
consideration of this planning application.
A number of other planning documents, including national planning guidance and
supplementary planning guidance and documents are also material to the
determination of this application.
National Planning Policy Framework
The revised National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) was published on 19 th
February 2019. This is a key part of the Governments reforms to make the planning
system less complex and more accessible, and to promote sustainable growth.
This is a key part of the Governments reforms to make the planning system less
complex and more accessible, and to promote sustainable growth.
The NPPF states that 'good design is a key aspect of sustainable development,
creates better places in which to live and work and helps make development
acceptable to communities…. being clear about design expectations, and how
these will be tested, is essential for achieving this”. The NPPF retains a
presumption in favour of sustainable development. This applies unless any adverse
impacts of a development would 'significantly and demonstrably' outweigh the
benefits.
The Mayor's London Plan 2016 (Jan 2017 fix)
The London Plan is the development plan in terms of strategic planning policy for
the purposes of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act (2004). In March 2016,
the Mayor published (i.e. adopted) the London Plan 2011 consolidated with: the
further alterations to the London Plan published in March 2015, the Housing
Standards Minor Alterations to the London Plan published in March 2016 and the
Parking Standards Minor Alterations to the London Plan published in March 2016.

96

The London Plan policies (arranged by chapter) most relevant to the determination
of this application are as follows:
Context and Strategy:
1.1 (Delivering the Strategic Vision and Objectives for London)
London’s Places:
2.2 (London and the Wider Metropolitan Area)
2.7 (Outer London Economy)
2.8 (Outer London Transport)
2.13 (Opportunity Areas and Intensification Areas)
2.18 (Green Infrastructure: The Multi-Functional Network of Green and Open
Spaces)
London’s People:
Policy 3.1 (Ensuring equal life chances for all)
Policy 3.6 (Children and young people’s play and informal recreation facilities)
Policy 3.16 (Protection and Enhancement of social Infrastructure)
3.18 (Education facilities)
Policy 3.19 (Sports facilities)
London’s Response to Climate Change:
5.1 (Climate Change Mitigation)
5.2 (Minimising Carbon Dioxide Emissions)
5.7 (Renewable Energy)
5.10 (Urban Greening)
5.11 (Green Roofs and Development Site Environs)
5.12 (Flood Risk Management)
5.13 (Sustainable Drainage)
5.21 (Contaminated Land)
London’s Transport:
6.1 (Strategic Approach)
6.2 (Promoting Public Transport Capacity and Safeguarding Land for Transport)
6.3 (Assessing Effects of Development on Transport Capacity)
6.4 (Enhancing London’s Transport Connectivity)
6.5 (Funding Crossrail and Other Strategically Important Transport Infrastructure)
6.7 (Better Streets and Surface Transport)
6.9 (Cycling)
6.10 (Walking)
6.11 (Smoothing Traffic Flow and Tackling Congestion)
6.12 (Road Network Capacity)
6.13 (Parking)
London’s Living Places and Spaces:
7.4 (Local Character)
7.6 (Architecture)
7.8 (Heritage assets and archaeology
7.14 (Improving Air Quality)
7.15 (Reducing and Managing Noise)
7.18 (Protecting Open Space and addressing deficiency)

97

7.19 (Biodiversity and Access to Nature)
7.21 (Trees and Woodlands)
Draft Replacement London Plan 2017
The Draft London Plan (DLP) published November 2017 sets out the Mayor’s
overarching strategic planning framework from 2019 up to 2041. When adopted this
will replace the London Plan 2016.
Whilst capable of being a material consideration, at this early stage very limited
weight should be attached to the Draft London Plan. Although this weight will
increase as the Draft London Plan progresses to examination stage and beyond,
applications should continue to be determined in accordance with the 2016 London
Plan.
Draft Replacement London Plan 2017
The Draft London Plan (DLP) published November 2017 sets out the Mayor’s
overarching strategic planning framework from 2019 up to 2041. When adopted this
will replace the London Plan 2016.
The Inspector Panel Report following the Examination in Public was published in
October 2019. The Inspector Panel was broadly supportive of the majority of the
DLP, subject to several changes being made. The Mayor subsequently declared in
December 2019 it’s ‘intention to publish’, accepting some but not all of the
Inspector’s recommendations. As not all of the Inspector’s recommendations have
been accepted. It is for the Secretary of State to decide whether the DLP can
proceed to adoption.
The Secretary of State wrote to the Mayor on the 13th March advising that the
London Plan can not be adopted in its current form without further changes being
made as outlined in the Secretary of State’s letter.
Due to the advanced nature of the DLP increasing weight should be attached to
those policies which the Inspector’s report considered sound and those policies
which the Secretary of State did not raise objections to. Nevertheless the London
Plan 2016 remains the statutory development plan until such stage as the
replacement plan is adopted and as such applications should continue to be
determined in accordance with the 2016 London Plan, while noting that account
needs to be taken of emerging policies.
Mayoral Supplementary Guidance
Sustainable Design and Construction (April 2014)
The Sustainable Design and Construction (SPG) seeks to design and construct new
development in ways that contribute to sustainable development.
The Mayor’s Climate Change Mitigation and Energy Strategy (October 2011)
The strategy seeks to provide cleaner air for London. This strategy focuses on
reducing carbon dioxide emissions to mitigate climate change, securing a low

98

carbon energy supply for London and moving London to a thriving low carbon
capital.
Accessible London: Achieving an Inclusive Environment (October 2014)
The strategy sets out to provide detailed advice and guidance on the policies in the
London Plan in relation to achieving an inclusive environment.
Planning for Equality and Diversity in London (October 2007)
This guidance sets out sets out some of the overarching principles that should guide
planning for equality in the London context.
All London Green Grid (March 2012)
This strategy provides guidance for designing and managing green and open
spaces to bring about previously unrealised benefits. In doing so, we aim to
encourage boroughs, developers, and communities to collectively increase the
delivery of green infrastructure for London.
The control of dust and emissions during construction and demolition (July
2014)
The aim of this supplementary planning guidance (SPG) is to reduce emissions of
dust, PM10 and PM2.5 from construction and demolition activities in London.
Relevant Local Plan (2012) Policies
Barnet’s Local Plan is made up of a suite of documents including the Core Strategy
and Development Management Policies Development Plan Documents (DPD which
were both adopted on 11 September 2012. The Local Plan development plan
policies of most relevant to the determination of this application are:
CS NPPF (National Planning Policy Framework – Presumption in favour of
sustainable development)
CS1 (Barnet’s Place Shaping Strategy – Protection, enhancement and consolidated
growth – The three strands approach)
CS5 (Protecting and enhancing Barnet’s character to create high quality places)
CS7 (Enhancing and Protecting Barnet’s Open Spaces)
CS8 (Promoting a strong and prosperous Barnet)
CS9 (Providing safe, effective and efficient travel)
CS10 (Enabling inclusive integrated community facilities and uses)
CS11 (Improving health and wellbeing in Barnet)
CS13 (Ensuring the efficient use of natural resources)
CS15 (Delivering the Core Strategy)
Development Management Policies (Adopted 2012):
DM01 (Protecting Barnet’s character and amenity)
DM04 (Environmental considerations for development)
DM13 (Community and education uses)
DM15 (Green Belt and open spaces)
DM16 (Biodiversity)
DM17 (Travel impact and parking standards)
Supplementary Planning Documents and Guidance

99

The Council has a number of adopted Supplementary Planning Documents (SPDs)
which provide detailed guidance that supplements policies in the adopted Local
Plan, and sets out how sustainable development will be delivered in Barnet
including generic environmental requirements to ensure that new development
within Barnet meets sufficiently high environmental and design standards. They are
material considerations for the determination of planning applications:
Local Supplementary Planning Documents and Guidance:
Sustainable Design and Construction SPD (October 2016)
Barnet’s Local Plan (Reg 18) 2020
Barnet’s Local Plan Reg 18 Preferred Approach was approved for consultation on
6th January 2020. The Reg 18 document sets out the Council’s preferred policy
approach together with draft development proposals for 67 sites. It is Barnet’s
emerging Local Plan.
The Local Plan 2012 remains the statutory development plan for Barnet until such
stage as the replacement plan is adopted and as such applications should continue
to be determined in accordance with the 2012 Local Plan, while noting that account
needs to be taken of emerging policies and draft site proposals.
1.2

Key Relevant Planning History

19/5427/FUL- Demolition of the existing caretakers house and the erection of a new
415.8sqm single storey temporary school building, two ancillary storage units,
associated playground and car park and the construction of a temporary vehicular
access off Maryrose Way- Pending Consideration
B/00350/12- Installation of external fire escape on the west elevation including new
access door at first floor- Approved 29/03/2012
N00995C/03- Change of use from residential to educational (D1 Use)- Approved
25/02/2004
N00995B- Erection of 2m and 4m fencing around play area- Approved 05/12/1995
N00995A- Widening of an existing footpath to form an access road, construction of
parking area to provide facilities for 32 cars- Approved 04/04/1979
N00995- Erection of equipment store- Approved 15/03/1967
1.3 Pre-application Consultation by the Applicant
The applicant engaged in pre application discussions with the London Borough of
Barnet and also carried out pre planning public engagement in the form of a drop in
consultation event held on Wednesday 16th October 2019 along with fliers and
other written communication.
1.4 Public Consultations by the Council and Views Expressed

100

Public Consultation
242 local residents were consulted on the planning application by letter on 11th
March 2020. The application was advertised in the local press on 19 March 2020
and site notices were put up on site on 19 March 2020.The consultation process
carried out for this application is considered to be appropriate for a development of
this nature. The extent of consultation exceeded the requirements of national
planning legislation and the Council’s own adopted policy.

Public Representations
As a result of the consultation, a total of 37 responses have been received. One
supporting, one objection and one representation neither supporting or objecting to
the proposal.
The comments in objection concern the following grounds:
Location of proposed school at the rear of properties on Oakleigh Park North.
Comments suggest that proposed school should either be located on a different site
(Brook Farm Open Space), on the site of the existing school or further away from
the boundaries of residential properties;
Excessive importance given to meeting sports England requirements to reduce take
on open space instead of moving building away from residential properties;
Restrictive covenant reasons for not moving school not relevant as restrictive
covenants can be changed;
Size of proposed building excessive and will be detrimental to visual amenities of
the area, amenities of surrounding properties and character of open space;
Building should be reduced in scale;
Design of proposed school with central courtyard increases massing of school
buildings;
Previous residential refusals in area due to design and proposed buildings similar or
exceeding this in terms of impact;
Loss of daylight/ privacy to neighbouring properties;
Proposal would be overbearing to neighbouring properties;
Lack of overshadowing assessment and need to cover all times of the year;
Size of proposed school excessive given pupil numbers not increasing would allow
future increase in numbers by stealth;
Planning Statement and supporting documents misleading in reporting of public
comments at pre application;
Proposed buildings excessively close to eastern boundary of Oakleigh Park North
resident’s properties;
Increased commercial use in predominately residential area;
Advanced Infrastructure application amd main application should be considered as
one application;
Increase in traffic and congestion both from construction and use, resulting strain on
road network and risk of accidents;
Existing access not fit for purpose and can not handle increase in cars or pupil
numbers;

101

Bad behaviour from existing pupils including crime in locality, should be split into
smaller sites;
Impact on future crime and anti social behaviour from any increase in pupil
numbers;
Damage and loss of part of Dame Alice Owens Open Space which is well used by
the community particularly at the current time;
Loss of any public open space is irreplaceable;
Loss of trees and do not consider tree drawings account for all trees to be felled;
Impact on 383 Bus route as a result of traffic and construction;
Proposal should be paused until Covid 19 resolved;
Noise survey has not been correctly carried out during school hours;
Acoustics fence will be unsightly;
Additional landscaping on boundary should be provided;
Gardens of Oakleigh Road North have not been visited when drawing up designs;
Inaccuracies on planning documents in relation to applicant;
Lack of drawings of pavilion building;
Failure to meet energy targets;
UXO risk from development;
Issues relating to construction route through Maryrose way, would cut through
current waiting line restrictions and therefore will be detrimental to properties on this
road;
Maryrose Way is a quiet cul de sac which is unsuitable for construction movements;
Disturbance from out of hours use of the MUGA;
Consideration should be given to refurbishing sports pavilion rather than it being
demolished and rebuilt;
Inclusion of floodlighting on the MUGA resulting in light disturbance;
Impact on flooding as a result of the development;
Construction hours should exclude Saturday mornings.
The comment neither objecting or supporting, queried whether numbers at the
school would increase as a result of the development.
Officer Comment
The above comments have been taken into account in the determination of this
planning application. The principle of a school on the Dame Alice Playing fields site
is established by the existing school. Details of design, neighbouring amenity,
highways and environmental considerations have also been assessed and
considered acceptable.
Elected Representatives.
No comments received.
Consultation responses from neighbouring associations other non-statutory
bodies.
No comments received from these bodies.
Consultation Responses from Statutory Consultees

102

Sport England
Formal Comments will be reported in the addendum. Informal verbal comments
have indicated that they are likely to raise an objection following the receipt of
detailed plans of the proposed replacement pavilion sports building and the
agrimony report of the proposed cricket square.
Thames Water (TW)
Waste Comments
We would expect the developer to demonstrate what measures will be undertaken
to minimise groundwater discharges into the public sewer. Groundwater discharges
typically result from construction site dewatering, deep excavations, basement
infiltration, borehole installation, testing and site remediation.
Any discharge made without a permit is deemed illegal and may result in
prosecution under the provisions of the Water Industry Act 1991. Should the Local
Planning Authority be minded to approve the planning application, Thames Water
would like the following informative attached to the planning permission: “A
Groundwater Risk Management Permit from Thames Water will be required for
discharging groundwater into a public sewer. Any discharge made without a permit
is deemed illegal and may result in prosecution under the provisions of the Water
Industry Act 1991. We would expect the developer to demonstrate what measures
he will undertake to minimise groundwater discharges into the public sewer. Permit
enquiries should be directed to Thames Water’s Risk Management Team by
telephoning 020 3577 9483 or by emailing trade.effluent@thameswater.co.uk .
Application forms should be completed on line via www.thameswater.co.uk. Please
refer to the Wholsesale; Business customers; Groundwater discharges section.
With regard to SURFACE WATER drainage, Thames Water would advise that if the
developer follows the sequential approach to the disposal of surface water we
would have no objection. Where the developer proposes to discharge to a public
sewer, prior approval from Thames Water Developer Services will be required.
Should you require further information please refer to our website.
https://developers.thameswater.co.uk/Developing-a-large-site/Apply-and-pay-forservices/Wastewaterservices
Thames Water would advise that with regard to WASTE WATER NETWORK and
SEWAGE TREATMENT WORKS infrastructure capacity, we would not have any
objection to the above planning application, based on the information provided.
Water Comments
With regard to water supply, this comes within the area covered by the Affinity
Water Company. For your information the address to write to is - Affinity Water
Company The Hub, Tamblin Way, Hatfield, Herts, AL10 9EZ - Tel - 0845 782 3333.
Metropolitan Police
Pavilion Study Centre, 58b Chandos Avenue, Barnet, N20 9DXI have reviewed the
crime rates in the local area of the proposed application on Police.uk and I have
noted that the highest recorded issues impacting the local ward of Oakleigh are
anti-social behaviour, vehicle crime, violence & sexual offences and burglary.

103

The London Borough of Barnet as an entirety has a higher than average rate of
burglary. Please see appendix for crime statistics.
I am aware of this development having met with the architects on 18/06/2019 to
discuss the project, whereby they wished to engage with a DOCO for advice on the
development. I have also commented upon their ‘Phase 1’ plans regarding the
temporary installation of buildings, rights of way and so on.
Due to the architect’s early engagement with ourselves, many of the
recommendations have been incorporated within their design. This includes the
planned incorporation of security rated products, appropriate height and perimeter
treatment types and mitigation between securing the school and allowing a partial
opening of the facility for ‘out of hours’ use (MUGA).
Other recommendations have also been incorporated such as pitching the roof of
the proposed new sports pavilion in an attempt to deter climbing and introducing
vehicle mitigation measures to help to protect the park from illegitimate vehicle use.
The overhang as part of the sports pavilion, was originally highlighted as an area
that could attract anti-social behaviour such as loitering, drinking or vagrancy and
this area appears to remain as part of the design.
It is vital that the physical security of the site incorporates police preferred, tested
and certificated, security rated products (as recommended by Secured by Design)
due to crime rates within the ward, especially burglary and the unrestricted access
that is possible both into and out of the park on a 24/7 basis.
I do not object to this proposal but due to the above and crime rates within the ward
and its isolated location within an easily accessible park, I would respectfully
request that a planning condition is attached to any approval, whereby the building
must achieve Secured By Design accreditation, prior to occupation.
I remain happy to be contacted by the agent or any respective party throughout the
process.
Internal Consultation responses
Urban Design
No objections raised detailed comments incorporated in officer report below.
Transport and Regeneration
No objections subject to appropriate conditions and travel plan. Detailed comments
incorporated into officer report below.
Environmental Health
No Objections raised subject to the attachment of appropriate conditions regarding
construction method extraction, noise mitigation and contamination.
Drainage

104

No objections following the receipt of additional details and amended plans subject
to appropriate conditions and informatives.
Ecology
Application satisfactory addresses issues concerning
Landscaping and lighting should be secured by condition.
2.
2.1

protected

species.

DESCRIPTION OF THE SITE, SURROUNDINGS AND PROPOSAL
Site Description and Surroundings

The application site currently comprises the main school building block, the pavilion,
the care takers building and Dame Alice Owen’s playing fields. Located off Chandos
Avenue in Whetstone, the application site itself covers an area of approximately 3.6
hectares.
The Pavilion School at Whetstone is a pupil referral unit with an allotted maximum
capacity of 73 no. pupils. Due to the nature of the school, the student population
can fluctuate over different terms There are currently 43 no. pupils aged 11-16 and
20 no. (FTE) staff members.. The existing school currently operates from three
interconnected blocks.
The existing Pavilion Clubhouse is a facility for local sports teams, primarily used on
the weekend, and occasionally during the week outside of school hours.
The former caretaker’s building, located on the application site, comprises a single
2-storey building and is located to the north of the site. The building is currently
used for archiving for the school, however the Council and School are currently in
the process of removing these items to an alternative off site location. The
caretakers building currently has a canopy where pupils have external gardening
and construction lessons.
Vehicular and pedestrian access to the site is gained via Chandos Avenue to the
north of the site, which leads to a car park providing 20 no. unmarked car parking
spaces. All accesses to the school are gated. There is no existing cycle parking.
The site is bounded to the north by residential dwellings off Chandos Avenue; to the
east by residential dwellings of Oakleigh Park North and Maryrose Way; to the
south by playing fields; and to the west by residential dwellings off Oakleigh
Gardens. The wider surrounding area is predominately residential in character.
The site is not currently designated within the London Borough of Barnet Proposals
Map (2006).
However, the site forms part of the Dame Alice Owen’s Playing Fields.
The site is located within Flood Zone 1; therefore, land and property have a low
probability of flooding.

105

No part of the site lies within the Green Belt or within a Conservation Area and there
are no listed buildings on the site.
The school operates between 09:30 and 15:00. Pupils can enter the site before
09:30 for Breakfast Club which begins at 08:45. Gates close for the day at 17:00.
2.2

Description of the Proposed Development

The proposed description of development is:
“Full planning application for the demolition of the existing pavilion and main school
building and the erection of a new 1941 sqm two storey main school building, a 220
sqm single storey pavilion building, associated playground with MUGA facilities and
car park”
The proposed works would in conjunction with the advanced infrastructure
application (reference 19/5427/FUL) involve the demolition of the existing three
interconnected school blocks and Sports Pavilion and the construction of a new
two-storey school building positioned partially on the existing car park and playing
field to the north east of the site and the construction of a new single storey sports
pavilion to the south west of the existing access road off Chandos Avenue.
Phase 1 of the development, comes under the remit of planning application
19/5427/FUL involves the demolition of the existing caretakers house, and the
erection of a temporary school building, two ancillary storage units, associated
playground and car park and the construction of a temporary vehicular access via
Maryrose Way.
Phase 2 of the development involves the construction of the main replacement
school building and sports pavilion under this application.
On completion of the main works, the temporary classrooms, storage containers,
associated hard landscaping and temporary access from Maryrose Way will be
removed and the land will be reinstated to playing fields.
Amount
The existing single storey interconnected school blocks and sports pavilion will be
demolished (a total of 654.5sqm GIFA). The new two storey main school building
will cover an increased footprint of 1941sqm GIFA split over two floors. The new
single storey sports pavilion will cover a footprint of 220sqm GIFA over one floor as
shown on the following table:

106

The new school site and sports pavilion will be accessed via the existing vehicle
access of Chandos Avenue. The existing road will be retained as existing. This will
lead to the proposed new car park which serves the school as well as the sports
pavilion.
In additional to the school building, the proposal involves the replacement of an
existing sports pavilion building to the south of properties in Chandos Avenue in
order to provide improved sporting facilities to compensate for a marginal reduction
in playing field area. This building would measure up to 220 sq.m in floor area and
is single storey with a pitched roof and useable roof storage space.
3.

PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS

3.1

Principle of Development

The application proposes the demolition of the existing sports pavilion and main
school building and erection of a new main school building and sports pavilion, with
associated MUGA facilities and car parking.
Section 14 of the Education Act 1996 (the 1996 Act) places a general duty on local
authorities to secure sufficient schools for providing primary and secondary
education for their area. Schools available will be sufficient is they are sufficient in
number, character and equipment to provide all pupils with appropriate education.
Subsection (3A) requires a local authority to exercise its functions under this section
with a view to securing diversity in the provision of schools and increasing
opportunities for parental choice.

107

In relation to planning law Paragraph 94 of the NPPF advises that:
‘It is important that a sufficient choice of school places is available to meet the
needs of existing and new communities. Local planning authorities should take a
proactive, positive and collaborative approach to meeting this requirement, and to
development that will widen choice in education. They should:
a) give great weight to the need to create, expand or alter schools through the
preparation of plans and decisions on applications; and
b) work with schools promoters, delivery partners and statutory bodies to identify
and resolve key planning issues before applications are submitted.’
In terms of regional guidance London Plan 2016 Policy 3.18 advises that:
‘Policy
A The Mayor will support provision of childcare, primary and secondary school, and
further and higher education facilities adequate to meet the demands of a growing
and changing population and to enable greater educational choice, including in
parts of London with poor educational performance.
B The Mayor strongly supports the establishment of new schools, including free
schools and opportunities to enable local people and communities to do this.
Planning decisions
C Development proposals which enhance education and skills provision will be
supported, including new build, expansion of existing or change of use to
educational purposes. Those which address the current and projected shortage of
primary school places and the projected shortage of secondary school places will
be particularly encouraged. Proposals which result in the net loss of education
facilities should be resisted, unless it can be demonstrated that there is no ongoing
or future demand
D In particular, proposals for new schools, including free schools should be given
positive consideration and should only be refused where there are demonstrable
negative local impacts which substantially outweigh the desirability of establishing a
new school and which cannot be addressed through the appropriate use of planning
conditions or obligations.
E Development proposals which maximise the extended or multiple use of
educational facilities for community or recreational use should be encouraged.
F Development proposals that encourage co-location of services between schools
and colleges and other provision should be encouraged in order to maximise land
use, reduce costs and develop the extended school or college’s offer. On-site or offsite sharing of services between schools and colleges should be supported.
G Development proposals that co-locate schools with housing should be
encouraged in order to maximise land use and reduce costs.’
In terms of local Policy. Policy DM13 advises in relation to new community or
educational uses that:
‘New community or educational uses should be located where they are accessible
by public transport, walking and cycling, preferably in town centres or local centres.
New community or educational uses should ensure that there is no significant
108

impact on the free flow of traffic and road safety. New community or educational
uses will be expected to protect the amenity of residential properties.’
In terms of the current proposal, the Pavilion is a Pupil Referral Unit (PRU) that
offers a range of educational programmes and services for young people unable to
attend mainstream schools for a variety of reasons including social, emotional,
behavioural and medical difficulties. The Pavilion is the London Borough of Barnet's
main PRU, i.e. an establishment maintained by a local authority which is specifically
organised to provide education for children who are excluded, sick, or otherwise
unable to attend a mainstream or special maintained school.
As such the school provides an important role over and above the number of
children accommodated at the school in enabling the London Borough of Barnet to
comply with the requirements of the Education Act to provide an education to all
school aged children and also provides an important role in providing improved
educational and life chances for children taught at the school. Along with following a
mainstream education, the school provides additional vocational training and also
provides medical and mental health support and behaviour improvement
programmes. The school also acts as a centre providing support for mainstream
schools and provides educational support to children at Barnet general hospital.
Given the bespoke nature of the educational facilities provided and given that the
proposal effectively involves the replacement of an existing use (albeit in a different
portion of the site), there is no in principle objection to the proposal subject to the
assessment below in relation to issues such as design, relationship to neighbouring
properties, impact on sports provision and traffic and highway considerations.
The replacement sports pavilion is also supported in policy providing a replacement
sporting facility to enable the use of the adjoining open space.
3.2

Loss of Playing Field

The application proposals involve locating the new school building partially on the
existing car park and playing field to the north east of the site. The proposal involves
the permanent loss of a small area of playing field space, which equates to 1.1% of
playing field space. As such an assessment of the proposal against planning policy
in regards to safeguarding playing fields needs to be carried out.
NPPF
Paragraph 97 states that “existing open space, sports and recreational buildings
and land, including playing fields, should not be built on unless:
An assessment has been undertaken which has clearly shown the open space,
buildings or land to be surplus to requirements; or
The loss resulting from the proposed development would be replaced by equivalent
or better provision in terms of quantity and quality in a suitable location; or
The development is for alternative sports and recreational provision, the benefits of
which clearly outweigh the loss of the current or former use.”

109

London Plan
7.35 Policy 7.18 states the loss of protected open spaces must be resisted unless
equivalent or better quality provision is made within the local catchment area.
Replacement of one type of open space with another is unacceptable unless an up
to date needs assessment shows that this would be appropriate
Barnet Core Strategy
7.36 Policy CS7 states that the Council will create a greener Barnet by protecting
open spaces, including Green Belt and Metropolitan Open Land.
Barnet Development Management Policies
Policy DM15 states that open space will be protected from development. In
exceptional circumstances loss of open space will be permitted where the following
can be satisfied:
a. The development proposal is a small scale ancillary use which supports the use
of the open space or
b. Equivalent or better quality open space can be made.
Any exception will need to ensure that it does not create further public open space
deficiency and has no significant impact on biodiversity.
In areas which are identified as deficient in public open space, where the
development site is appropriate or the opportunity arises the council will expect on
site provision in line with the standards set out in the supporting text of Policy CS7.
Sport England’s Playing Field’s Policy (March 2018) states that Sport England will
oppose the granting of planning permission for any development which would lead
to the loss of, or would prejudice the use of all or nay part of a playing field, or land
which has been used as a playing field and remains undeveloped, or land allocated
for use as a playing field, unless, in the judgement of Sport England, the
development as a whole meets with one or more of five specific exceptions.
The specific circumstances are:
Exception 1: A robust and up-to-date assessment has demonstrated, to the
satisfaction of
Sport England, that there is an excess of playing field provision in the catchment,
which will remain the case should the development be permitted, and the site has
no special significance to the interests of sport.
Exception 2: The proposed development is for ancillary facilities supporting the
principal use of the site as a playing field and does not affect the quantity or quality
of playing pitches or otherwise adversely affect their use.
Exception 3: The proposed development affects only land incapable of forming part
of a playing pitch and does not: reduce the size of any playing pitch; result in the
inability to use any playing pitch (including the maintenance of adequate safety
margins and run-off areas); reduce the sporting capacity of the playing field to
accommodate playing pitches or the capability to rotate or reposition playing pitches
to maintain their quality; result in the loss of other sporting provision or ancillary

110

facilities on the site; or prejudice the use of any remaining areas of playing field on
the site.
Exception 4: The area of playing field to be lost as a result of the proposed
development will be replaced, prior to the commencement of development, by a
new area of playing field: of equivalent or better quality, and of equivalent or greater
quantity, and in a suitable location, and subject to equivalent or better accessibility
and management arrangements.
Exception 5: The proposed development is for an indoor or outdoor facility for port,
the provision of which would be of sufficient benefit to the development of sport as
to outweigh the detriment caused by the loss, or prejudice to the use, of the area of
playing field.
In the case of the application proposals there have been extensive discussions with
Sport England both during the development of the proposals and post submission of
the planning application. The applicant has provided a new pitch layout which
shows the provision of a single cricket square along with two 7 aside football
pitches. Historically the site contained two cricket squares although it is clear that
two cricket games cannot take place simultaneously. This has been acknowledged
by LBB Greenspaces, Sport England, ECB and the club users. It is also not
possible to provide two squares without the need for additional high boundary
netting due to the danger of cricket balls being hit into adjoining gardens. It was
therefore agreed that the provision of a single improved cricket square may be the
correct way forward. However this is still to be agreed. Sport England also
requested that the proposed pavilion building was altered to meet full ECB design
standards, the plans have been amended to reflect this. An agrimony report
outlining the improvements which will take place to the pitches has also been
commissioned.
Sport England have indicated that these changes will allow them to support the
scheme as the proposals would significant enhance the usability of the playing
fields and would more than compensate for the marginal reduction in site area.
Planning Officers would concur with this conclusion and consider that with the
compensatory measures proposed, the proposal would be in accordance with the
above policies representing an improvement in the sporting facilities in this locality.
3.3

Design

The National Planning Policy Framework (revised, 2019) makes it clear that good
design is indivisible from good planning and a key element in achieving sustainable
development. This document states that permission should be refused for
development which is of poor design that fails to take the opportunities available for
improving the character and quality of an area and the way it functions. It identifies
that good design involves integrating development into the natural, built and historic
environment and also points out that although visual appearance and the
architecture of buildings are important factors; securing high quality design goes
beyond aesthetic considerations.

111

The London Plan 2016 also contains a number of relevant policies on character,
design and landscaping. Policy 7.1 of the London Plan further emphasises the need
for a good quality environment, with the design of new buildings supporting
character and legibility of a neighbourhood. Policy 7.4 of the London Plan states
that buildings, streets and open spaces should provide a high quality design
response that has regard to the pattern and grain of the existing spaces and streets
in orientation, scale, proportion and mass; contributes to a positive relationship
between the urban structure and natural landscape features, including the
underlying landform and topography of an area; is human in scale, ensuring
buildings create a positive relationship with street level activity and people feel
comfortable with their surroundings; allows existing buildings and structures that
make a positive contribution to the character of a place to influence the future
character of the area; and is informed by the surrounding historic environment.
Architectural design criteria are set out at policy 7.6.
Draft Replacement London Plan (DRLP) policy D1B requires development to
respond to the existing character of a place by identifying the special and valued
features and characteristics that are unique to the locality and be of high quality,
with architecture that pays attention to detail, and gives consideration to the use of
use of attractive, robust materials which weather and mature well. Policy D2
(Delivering good design) requires masterplans and design codes to help bring
forward development and ensure it delivers high quality design.
Policy CS5 of Barnet Council’s policy framework seeks to ensure that all
development in Barnet respects local context and distinctive local character,
creating places and buildings of high quality design. In this regard policy CS5 is
clear in mandating that new development should improve the quality of buildings,
landscaping and the street environment and in turn enhance the experience of
Barnet for residents, workers and visitors alike. Policy DM01 also requires that all
developments should seek to ensure a high standard of urban and architectural
design for all new development and high quality design, demonstrating high levels
of environmental awareness of their location by way of character, scale, mass,
height and pattern of surrounding buildings, spaces and streets. Proposals should
preserve or enhance local character and respect the appearance. Policy DM03
seeks to create a positive and inclusive environment that also encourages high
quality distinctive developments. The above policies form the basis for the
assessment on design.
Layout, Height, bulk, scale and massing
Access to the site will be via the existing single lane accessway from Chandos
Avenue. This accessway leads to a new resurfaced 30 space car park with 2
disabled spaces, with capacity to increase in number to 3 spaces if required in the
future in accordance with London Plan policy.
To the west of the car park a new sports pavilion is proposed. The proposed
pavilion building is single storey in height with pitched roof. The design of this
building is simple and traditional in appearance

112

The proposed school building is to be constructed to the east of the car park, with
the main entrance to the north of the building, along with secondary access along
the western edge to the sports hall and MUGA. The school building is two storeys in
height and predominately rectangular shaped. The building has been designed
around a central internal courtyard, providing a compact layout with an outdoor
playground and grass recreation area being located to the east of the building and a
MUGA to the south of the school building. A double height sports hall attaches to
the school on the western side. The building layout has been designed to allow for
the most efficient use of the land available whilst ensuring the loss of playing field
land is kept to a minimum.
The proposed scale and massing of the buildings as proposed are considered
proportionate to prevailing pattern of development in the locality and would be in
keeping with the character and appearance of the surrounding area.
Materials
The school building is brick faced utilising a mixture of a darker brick on the sports
hall with a lighter brick being used on the remainder of the school building. brick
clad. The material palette is designed to be in keeping with surrounding properties
in Avenue and Oakleigh Park North. The roof will comprise coloured pressed metal.
The windows and doors will be PPC aluminium windows and doors.
The proposed pavilion building is proposed to be finished in a light coloured brick
with tilled roof, along with rainscreen cladding on the south cricket pavilion entrance
elevation.
It is considered that the proposed material finishes on both the school and the
pavilion provides a simple ascetic which would be in keeping with the character and
appearance of the surrounding area.
Conclusion
The proposed layout and detailed design of the proposed school and pavilion
buildings are considered acceptable, resulting in a legible layout and design which
would provide for a robust design, providing an appropriate presence for the school
while reflecting the vernacular of the surrounding area.
3.5

Amenities of Neighbouring and Future Residents

Part of the ‘Sustainable development’ imperative of the NPPF 2012 is pursuing
improvements to amenity through the design of the built environment (para 9).
Amenity is a consideration of London Plan 2016 policy 2.6 ‘Outer London: Vision
and Strategy’ and is implicit in Chapter 7 ‘London’s Living Places and Spaces’. In
addition Barnet Development Management Policies DPD (2012) DM01 as well as
the Sustainable Design and Construction SPD provide further requirements and
guidance.
Privacy, overlooking and outlook

113

The Barnet Residential Design Guidance SPD states there should be a minimum
distance of about 21 metres between properties with facing windows to habitable
rooms to avoid overlooking, and 10.5 metres to a neighbouring garden. Shorter
distances may be acceptable between new build properties where there are
material justifications.
The proposed school complies with these dimensions, with the closest points
measuring more than 21metres and 10.5m respectively. It is noted that in the
majority of cases the proposal achieves the distance separation by a significant
level i.e. around 20m to adjoining gardens and nearly 50m to the rear building lines
of some of the properties in Oakleigh Park North.
Daylight and Sunlight
The application proposals are accompanied by a daylight sunlight assessment
which assess the proposal in relation to the two closest properties namely 5
Maryrose Way to the north of the proposed development & 51 Oakleigh Park North
to the east of the proposed development. The submitted report demonstrates that
the proposal would not result in any demonstrable impact on daylight/ sunlight
levels to adjoining residential properties in accordance with the criteria contained
within the Building Research Establishment (BRE) Daylight/ Sunlight Guidelines.
Noise and general disturbance
It is anticipated that a level of noise would be generated from the development
during the hours of use of the school. However the principle of a school on this site
has already been established by the existing school buildings, no increase in
capacity is proposed under this application and the number of pupils at the school is
a lot smaller than a traditional school. It is also noted that as the proposal involves a
new school, levels of insulation will be higher than the old school buildings which
would further reduce noise breakout from the school.
A noise report was also submitted with the planning application concerning noise
from the MUGA and playground. The report recommends a variety of measures to
mitigate noise including the use of acoustic fencing which is secured by condition.
Conditions are attached requiring the attachment of conditions covering operating
hours, construction management, servicing and noise from plant in order to
minimise disturbance to neighbouring residential properties.
In this instance it is therefore not considered that noise disturbance to neighbouring
residents would not be significantly detrimental to the amenities of surrounding
occupiers and users and would not justify a refusal of planning permission.
Air quality
In respect of air pollution, the Council’s Environmental Health officer has advised
that there are no concerns of poor air quality due to the distance of the site form
neighbouring roads. The EH officer has also confirmed that due to the school being
of improved design, improved energy efficiency and higher quality build but catering
for the same number of students there is no need for an air quality neutrality report.

114

However, in line with all new builds additional tree planting, electric points for car
parking spaces and spaces for bicycles and other green transport measures are
encouraged. It is noted that all theses measures are proposed as part of the
scheme and or are secured by condition.
3.6

Transport, highways and parking

Policy CS9 of the Barnet Core Strategy (Providing safe, effective and efficient
travel) identifies that the Council will seek to ensure more efficient use of the local
road network and more environmentally friendly transport networks, require that
development is matched to capacity and promote the delivery of appropriate
transport infrastructure. Policy DM17 (Travel impact and parking standards) of the
Barnet Development Management Plan document sets out the parking standards
that the Council will apply when assessing new developments. Other sections of
Policies DM17 and CS9 seek that proposals ensure the safety of all road users and
make travel safer, reduce congestion, minimise increases in road traffic, provide
suitable and safe access for all users of developments, ensure roads within the
borough are used appropriately, require acceptable facilities for pedestrians
and cyclists and reduce the need to travel.
The road fronting the site is Chandos Avenue. Chandos Avenue is a local
residential road fronted by large detached houses with large front gardens with
space to accommodate at least 4 cars. Several of the properties in the vicinity of the
site have white lines marked in front of their crossovers to deter obstructive parking.
The site is not in a CPZ and there are no yellow lines/parking restrictions are in
place in Chandos Avenue, however there are some existing yellow lines on
Maryrose Way and Oakleigh Park including in the position of the temporary access
road. The proposal comprises demolition of the existing pavilion and main school
building and the erection of a new 1941 sqm two storey main school building, a 220
sqm single storey pavilion building, associated playground with MUGA facilities and
car park.
The school (Pupil Referral Unit) will accommodate a maximum of 73 pupils and 30
staff, which is the same as the existing building is licenced for. The new pavilion
building will be a like for like replacement of the existing club house.
The layout of the proposed car parking layout is acceptable in principle, however
Council highway officers have recommended a reduction in the size of the car park
to the same number of spaces as the existing car park in order to encourage the
use of sustainable transport modes.
The applicant has advised that their preference would be to not reduce the number
of spaces as this was informed by parking survey of existing staff usage and a
reduction in spaces may lead to overspill car parking on adjoining roads. It is also
noted that in addition to the school usage during the day the car park is used at
weekends by users of the sports field including the new improved cricket square
and football pitches.

115

It is noted that while the existing number of car parking spaces on the site is 20, it
was clear from previous officer site visits that there was additional ad hoc parking
around the school building on the verges suggesting that the level of car parking
demand was greater than the number of spaces available. It is also noted that due
to the special nature of the school, additional specialist support staff would need to
attend the school from time to time, and also the school would not have a traditional
catchment area due to its nature as a support school for the London Borough of
Barnet. As such on balance the quantity of car parking is considered acceptable by
planning officers and is recommended on this basis.
The provision of 2 disabled bays accords with London Plan policy in providing 5%
disabled parking up front with capacity to increase to 10% at a future date. The
proposed disabled spaces are located close to the main school entrance which is
supported.
Cycle parking provision is in accordance with London Plan standards and the
provision of 14 spaces (9 spaces for pupils and 4 for staff and 1 visitor) is
considered acceptable. Cycle parking for staff and pupils should be provided in
separate compartments. All long stay cycle parking should be provided in a secure,
covered, sheltered, lockable and enclosed compound. Details of cycle parking are
therefore requested by way of a condition.
Electric vehicle charging points are to be provided in accordance with minimum
London Plan standards. The proposed provision of 3 double point units providing 6
charging points is acceptable. The type of charging units proposed as well as
product spec, and supporting information is secured by condition.
Existing servicing and refuse collection arrangements will continue and this is
acceptable.
The existing access road to the site from Chandos Avenue is 2.5 metres wide and
thus can only accommodate cars and vans. Both vehicles and pedestrian will use
this access. Given that the access will be shared by pedestrians and vehicles, it is
recommended that staff supervision is provided during school “drop off” and “pick
up” times which is understand to take place with the existing school. The Council’s
highways team had suggested that consideration be given for the introduction of a
traffic light system, however given the limited number of movements and to avoid
any potential disturbance to neighbouring residents from the operation of such
signage it is not considered that this is necessary in this instance.
In relation to emergency vehicles, the width of the site would be too narrow for a fire
tender to pass through. As part of the proposals an external dry riser inlet point will
be provided adjacent to the entrance gates to the site on Chandos Avenue. The dry
riser inlet point will be located within ~20m from an existing hydrant outlet located
on Chandos Avenue. The dry riser inlet located on Chandos Avenue will connect to
pipework which will run underneath the roadway/car park/landscaped areas of the
site and will be provided with two external dry riser outlet points in close proximity to
the school in which fire service personnel can connect hoses in the event of a fire.
This is considered satisfactory. It is also noted that the school buildings themselves
are fitted with a pump and sprinkler system.

116

A draft travel plan has been submitted by the applicant and the provision and
implementation and continued monitoring of the travel plan is secured by condition.
The anticipated trip generation by the site is unlikely to have significant network
impact as the proposals will generate 17 (7 staff & 10 pupil) additional vehicle
movements during the peak hours if the school is fully occupied. The one MUGA
and pitch proposed can accommodate between 5-10 people and as such unlikely to
have a significant impact on the scheme
Conditions concerning construction and site traffic management along with a
delivery and serving management plan are secured by condition which should
ensure that the proposal does not adversely impact upon highway safety or capacity
in the vicinity of the site.
3.7

Waste and Recycling

Although the NPPF does not contain specific waste policies, it does state that part
of the environmental dimension to ‘sustainable development’ is waste minimisation
(para 7). As part of London Plan 2016 Chapter 5 ‘London’s Response to Climate
Change’ policy 5.17 seeks suitable waste and recycling storage provision in new
developments as does the Barnet Core Strategy DPD 2012 policy CS14 which also
promotes waste prevention, reuse, recycling, composting and resource efficiency
over landfill.
A delivery and servicing management plan condition is attached to this approval,
which would include details of proposed waste collection and recycling.
3.8

Energy, Sustainability, and Resources

London Plan Policy 5.2 requires development proposals to make the fullest
contribution to minimising carbon dioxide emissions in accordance with the following
energy hierarchy:
-

Be lean: use less energy
Be clean: supply energy efficiently
Be green: use renewable energy

London Plan Policy 5.2 ‘Minimising Carbon Dioxide Emissions’ requires all
residential developments to achieve zero carbon on new residential developments
post 2016. Policy 5.3 of the London Plan goes on to set out the sustainable design
and construction measures required in developments. Proposals should achieve the
highest standards of sustainable design and construction and demonstrate that
sustainable design standards are integral to the proposal, including its construction
and operation. The Further London Plan Chapter 5 policies detail specific measures
to be considered when designing schemes including decentralised energy
generation (Policies 5.5 and 5.6), renewable energy (Policy 5.7), overheating and
cooling (Policy 5.9), urban greening (Policy 5.10), flood risk management and
sustainable drainage (Policies 5.13 and 5.15).
Local Plan policy DM01 states that all development should demonstrate high levels
117

of environmental awareness and contribute to climate change mitigation and
adaptation. Policy DM04 requires all major developments to provide a statement
which demonstrate compliance with the Mayors targets for reductions in carbon
dioxide emissions, within the framework of the Mayor’s energy hierarchy. Proposals
are also expected to comply with the guidance set out in the council’s
Supplementary Planning Documents (SPD) in respect of the requirements of the
Code for Sustainable Homes.
An sustainability statement has been support of the application. The sustainability
statement advises that the proposal would aim to meet the mayor’s energy
requirements through the following measures.
For the purposes of the proposed new buildings a combined target has been
identified to achieve the 15% carbon dioxide reduction over a compliant baseline
Part L2A model by passive and energy efficiency measures (Be Lean). This has
been demonstrated by considering a combination of energy efficient design
measures and passive measures to the building envelop.
In regard to the ‘Be Clean’ part of the energy hierarchy there are no district heat
networks in the vicinity, no improvements by importing heat or energy have been
included. However, a Small Micro- CHP unit is incorporated into the design of the
School building to serve the base heating and electricity loads.
In addition to the ‘Be Lean’ target, the overall target of a 35% carbon dioxide
reduction over a compliant baseline Part L2A model has been set. Unfortunately,
however the scheme has only be able to achieve a 21/% through the use of CHP
and PV panels. The sustainability statement advises that the 35% target could not
be met due to the constraint on providing PV to the roof area of the building as well
as the financial constraints of adding more improvements making the project
unviable.
Normally in such instances a carbon off set payment would be sought in order to
make up for any shortfall, however as this is a Council scheme it would not be
possible for the Council to enter a S106 with itself and it is also not possible to
require payment of monies by means of condition.
On balance the proposed energy measures are considered acceptable in this
instance. In reaching this conclusion account has been taken of the benefits of
replacing the existing school building and pavilion which due to their age would
have significantly worse energy efficiency than the proposed building. The
application has also provided a BREEAM pre-assessment in support of the
application which advises that the development can achieve BREEAM ‘Very Good’
which is welcomed.
3.9

Landscaping, Trees and biodiversity

The ‘sustainable development’ imperative of NPPF 2012 includes enhancing the
natural environment and improving biodiversity (para 7). London Plan 2016 policy
7.19 states that development proposals, where possible, should make a positive
contribution to the protection, enhancement, creation and management of

118

biodiversity. Barnet Local Plan policy DM16 states that when it is considering
development proposals the council will seek the retention, enhancement or creation
of biodiversity.
Trees and Landscaping
The application is accompanied by an arboricultaral assessment in support of the
application. The report identified 31 individual trees, 19 groups of trees and 1
hedgerow. The redevelopment proposals will lead to the loss of 1 no. category C
tree, however this is in addition to the 5 no. trees/ groups and section of one further
group that would be lost as a result of the enabling works proposal, however all pf
these trees are also categorised as either Category C or U and no higher value
category A or B trees are proposed to be removed either under this application or
the advanced infrastructure works proposals. Tree protection measures are also
proposed to safeguard retained trees including protective barriers and the use of 3d
cellular confinement systems.
In order to mitigate the loss of trees, the landscaping strategy proposes the planting
of 18 new replacement trees to be planted along the edges of the plot, adjoining the
car park and framing the new school entrance. In addition to this lower level shrub
and hedgerow planting is proposed to the rear of the new sports pavilion building
and to the rear of the car parking backing onto the rear of properties on Chandos
Avenue.
In terms of boundary treatments, a 2.4m high weld mesh fence is proposed be
installed around the west of the new main school building and a 2.4m high acoustic
close boarded fence will be installed around the east of the new main school
building to provide a secure line boundary to the school site. In addition, the MUGA
will be enclosed by a 3m high weldmesh fence. It is noted that the 2.4m acoustic
fence will be set against the existing planted boundary with the properties on
Oakleigh Park North so it is not considered that this fence would be unduly
obtrusive when viewed from these properties. It is also noted that 2.4m is standard
school height for fencing.
Suitable conditions are attached in relation to tree protection and landscaping.
Ecology and Biodiversity Enhancement Measures
A Phase 1 habitat survey and protected species assessment have been submitted
in support of the application. A bat survey has also been carried out.
The surveys conclude that the site holds moderate ecological value, with habitats
that could support protected species such as the buildings, mature trees, scrub and
introduced planting present. There is one statutory site within 1km of the site and
the closet non-statutory site is 425m each of the site.
Given the small scale of the works occurring on the site, the report considers it
unlikely that any statutory or non-statutory site sites will be adversely affected by the
development works. The report proposes a number of ecological enhancements
including lighting in line with BCT guidelines, installation of bat and bird boxes, and

119

use of native planting or planting which is beneficial to wildlife.
The bat survey concluded that no bats were seen to emerge from the building on
the site, there was however a considerable amount of activity on and around the
site. The bats used the tree lines as commuting features and also foraged over the
playing field. The report recommends the adaptation of the above ecological
enhancement measures and also careful design of any lighting.
The Council’s ecology adviser has advised that the submitted documents are
satisfactory and that the proposal should not affect protected species. Suitable
conditions are attached requiring the provision of a suitable external lighting design
backed up by a qualified ecologist, landscaping implementation and the
incorporation of biodiversity enhancement measures.
Flood risk, Water Resources, Drainage and SUDs

In respect of flood risk, the site is within Flood Zone 1 which is classified as being of
low risk of flooding. The proposed development is acceptable in this zone and there
is no requirement for exception and sequential testing of the acceptability of the
scheme.
A separate drainage strategy has been prepared in compliance with current national
and local Polices and guidance. This strategy will incorporate SuDS features in
accordance with policy. Proposed discharge rates off site into the public sewer
network will be as agreed with Thames Water and the London Borough of Barnet.
The Council’s drainage officer has examined the proposals and advised following
discussions that they wish to raise no objections to the proposal subject to the
attachment of appropriate conditions.
3.10

Other matters

Utilities
Thames Water have provided comments confirming no objections to the proposal
and as such it is not considered that the proposal would affect utility infrastructure in
the vicinity of the site.
Ground conditions and Contamination
In regards to potential contamination, the applicant has submitted a contaminated
land report. The contents of this have been examined by the Council’s Scientific
Services Team who raise no objections subject to the attachment of appropriate
conditions.
UXO Risk
In relation to UXO risk, a UXO risk assessment was submitted in support of the
application although the risk of UXO’s is no worse than other areas of Barnet which
were heavily bombed in WW2. In the case of any UXO’s being discovered during

120

construction the usual actions would be taken to minimise risk to neighbouring
properties.
4.

EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY ISSUES

Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010, which came into force on 5th April 2011,
imposes important duties on public authorities in the exercise of their functions,
including a duty to have regard to the need to:
“(a)
(b)
(c)

eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other conduct
that is prohibited by or under this Act;
advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant
protected characteristic and persons who do not share it;
foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected
characteristic and persons who do not share it.”

For the purposes of this obligation the term “protected characteristic” includes:
- age;
- disability;
- gender reassignment;
- pregnancy and maternity;
- race;
- religion or belief;
- sex; and
- sexual orientation.
Officers have in considering this application and preparing this report had regard to
the requirements of this section and have concluded that a decision to grant
planning permission for this proposed development will comply with the Council’s
statutory duty under this important legislation.
The site is accessible by various modes of transport, including by foot, bicycle,
public transport and private car, thus providing a range of transport choices for all
users of the site.
The development includes level, step-free pedestrian approaches to the main
entrances to the school building to ensure that all occupiers and visitors of the
development can move freely in and around the public and private communal
spaces. The proposed school also caters for a marginal sector of society and as
such would make a positive contribution towards improved equalities provision.
Dedicated parking spaces for people with a disability are also provided in
accordance with Policy.
7.

CONCLUSION

In conclusion, the scheme is considered acceptable on balance having regard to
relevant national, regional and local planning policies and guidance. The principle of
the provision of the school is considered acceptable providing much needed
additional school places and accords with national, regional and local plan policy
guidance

121

The proposed detailed design is considered to be high quality with appropriate
levels of informal and formal play facilities.
The amenities of neighbouring residential occupiers are not considered to be
unduly impacted by the proposals.
The potential transport impacts of the scheme have been considered and
appropriate mitigation proposed in the form of a detailed travel plan as well as
improvements in such matters as electrical charging points and cycle parking
facilities.
A suitable approach is taken to landscaping and biodiversity with retention of trees
where possible as well as enhancement of the biodiversity values within the site
with appropriate replacement planting,
Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires the
Council to determine any application in accordance with the statutory development
plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. All relevant policies
contained within the development plan, as well as other relevant guidance and
material considerations, have been carefully considered and taken into account by
the Local Planning Authority. It is concluded that the proposed development
generally and taken overall accords with the relevant development plan policies. It is
therefore considered that there are material planning considerations which justify
the grant of planning permission. Accordingly APPROVAL is recommended subject
to conditions as set out above.

122

SITE LOCATION PLAN: Pavilion Study Centre, 58B Chandos Avenue,
London, N20 9DX
REFERENCE:

20/1304/FUL

123

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix B
Excerpt of PLANNING COMMITTEE Addendum 13th May 2020
ADDENDUM TO SERVICE DIRECTOR OF DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT AND
BUILDING CONTROL’S REPORT
20/1304/FUL– Pavilion Study Centre, 58B Chandos Avenue, London, N20 9DX
Pages 103 – 143
Page 103, alter Recommendation to:
1) The application, being currently subject to a holding objection from Sport
England, a statutory consultee which means, in the event that the holding
objection is not subsequently withdrawn, the application must be referred to the
Secretary of State. As such, any resolution by the committee will potentially be
subject to any direction being received from the Secretary of State.
2) In the event that the holding objection is withdrawn or if the Secretary of State
confirms that the London Borough of Barnet can determine the application, that
the authority is granted to the Service Director Planning & Building Control to
approve the planning application reference 20/1304/FUL under delegated
powers, subject to the following conditions.
The Committee also grants delegated authority to the Service Director Planning
& Building Control to make any minor alterations, additions or deletions to the
recommended conditions/obligations or reasons for refusal as set out in this
report and addendum provided this authority shall be exercised after
consultation with the Chairman (or in his absence the Vice-Chairman) of the
Committee (who may request that such alterations, additions or deletions be
first approved by the Committee).
Additional Correspondence
Sport England
Formal Comment
I have been made aware that the application will be determined by the
Planning Committee next week on 13th May. For the avoidance of any doubt I
would like to confirm that Sport England’s current position on the application is
to submit a holding objection until the matters raised in our recent telephone
conference have been addressed to Sport England’s satisfaction.
I appreciate that Nadir has recently forwarded the fine turf consultant’s report
and I intend to comment on that shortly once I have engaged thoroughly with
the ECB.

125

Should the local planning authority be minded to grant planning permission for
the proposal, contrary to Sport England's holding objection, then in
accordance with The Town and Country Planning (Consultation) (England)
Direction 2009, the application should be referred to the Secretary of State,
via the National Planning Casework Unit.
Explanatory Email from Sport England dated 12th May 2020
“Sport England’s position on the application is a holding objection as it is not
in a position to be able fundamentally comment on the proposal at this stage
due to when the documents from STRI was submitted. Once Sport England
have assessed this documentation, in consultation with the ECB, it will have a
clearer understanding of the proposed implications on the playing field, in
particular the impact on cricket, and would therefore be able to fully comment
on the proposal in light of its Playing Field Policy and National Planning Policy
Framework.
In relation to the application relating to the temporary facilities, again Sport
England submitted a holding objection to this application. The first part of this
objection, pitch layouts, potentially could be addressed by the STRI
documentation received however the second element has been addressed as
the applicant has now indicated where the cricket clubs that were using the
site would be relocated during the period when the temporary facilities are in
situ at the site.
As previously noted, as the applications prejudice the use of a playing field, as
defined in The Town and Country Planning (Development Management
Procedure) (England) Order 2015 (Statutory Instrument 2015 No. 595), and
there are outstanding objections to both applications, should the Local
Planning Authority be minded to grant planning permission to either, contrary
to Sport England's holding objection, then in accordance with The Town and
Country Planning (Consultation) (England) Direction 2009, the application
should be referred to the Secretary of State, via the National Planning
Casework Unit.”
Officer Comment
It is clear that the holding objection from Sports England effectively
safeguards Sports England position pending the consideration of the
additional information submitted in relation to the sports pavilion and the fine
turf report and as such is not an objection in principle to the proposals. The
officer recommendation has been updated to reflect the statutory need to
consult the Secretary of State in the event that this direction is not withdrawn.
Capita Drainage -Lead Local Flood Authority
According to the plot of volume against time, the maximum storage volume
required is about 180m3 at critical duration of 720 minutes during the 100-year
rainfall plus climate change with limited discharge of 2.8 l/sec. However, a
storage volume of 210m3 will be provided (about 200m3 with 95% void ratio)

126

due to the manufacturer’s available sizes for the proposed underground
storage device.
Hence, we recommend the following condition is also imposed:
Development shall not begin until half drain time for the underground
attenuation storage for the development based on the following criteria has
been submitted to and approved in writing by London Borough of Barnet
planning authority


The calculated half drain time of 25.3 hrs and associated half drain
volume can cope with a subsequent rainfall event of 1 in 30 year
without increasing the above limited rate of discharge.

Reason: This would be in accordance with the new guidance: ‘Design and
Construction Guidance for foul and surface water sewers offered for adoption
under the Code for adoption agreements for water and sewerage companies
operating wholly or mainly in England ("the Code")’. Approved version, 2.0, 10
March 2020’. Part ‘C’, section ‘C6’, Hydraulic Design, General, paragraph ‘6’:
(Where a component is designed to convey or store flows in excess of the 1 in
30 year return period event, the designer should demonstrate that the
upstream system (including any inlets such as gullies or pervious paving) has
the capacity to allow the flows to reach the component)
This is in addition to the following conditions imposed on the planning
application, see review dated 29/04/2020 Rev03
SuDS detailed design drawings;
SuDS construction phasing for permeant works
Correspondence from Cllr Rajput
I am grateful for the opportunity made available to me to address the planning
committee in relation to agenda items 19/5427/FUL and 20/1304/FUL as
relate to the PRU on Chandos Avenue in Oakleigh Ward.
My concerns can be summarised neatly herein. I will elaborate upon the
same at the committee meeting as appropriate.
The size and bulk of the proposed development is of concern given the
intended location of the school on the field. In particular, it is of concern given
the proximity to the gardens of properties to the east of the field which will be
most affected.
There is perhaps, on the face of it, opportunity on the land itself to move the
current proposed location of the school away from the eastern boundary of the
site somewhat so as not to be so close in proximity to the same. This would
arguably still permit the ‘football and cricket markings’ to remain on the site
albeit with some potential minor movement of the same required without

127

detriment to the sporting activity concerned where possible and this would
alleviate some of the concerns raised by my constituents.
I am concerned that by allowing any temporary access from Maryrose Way
that a further attempt may be made in future to then allow such temporary
access to become permanent. Should planning applications be approved, I
would want assurances or an undertaking if and where lawful to seek the
same, that no permanent access to the site from Maryrose Way will be sought
in relation to this development.
Officer Comment
The comments are noted, and it is confirmed that the access from Maryrose
Way is temporary over third part land and will be removed following the
completion of the works.
Additional Public Comments post publication of the agenda. It is noted that
these comments also relate to Planning Application 19/5427/FUL
Additional correspondence has been received from four neighbouring property
plus an objection from a planning consultation on behalf of one of these
objectors.
In summary the comments concern the following issues:
Failure to take account of impact on the character of 51 Oakleigh Park Road
as ‘a non designated heritage asset’;
Loss of light, outlook and privacy to 51 Oakleigh Park Road;
Proposed MUGA in direct line of sight of 51 Oakleigh Park Road and will
result in noise disturbance particularly during evening activities (allowed for
under community use agreement);
Uncertainty over whether the MUGA includes floodlighting
Building has been moved 8m further south (from original pre application
drawings) should be moved back and position of MUGA changed so they are
both away from 51 Oakleigh Park North;
The publication of additional plans of the sports pavilion building which have
not been subject to public consultation;
Incorrect address stated should refer to Dame Alice Playing Fields;
Incorrect certificate of ownership served as notice should be served on the
owner of 51 Oakleigh Park North (Members to note that this was verbally
corrected to 55 Oakleigh Park North at the Planning Committee meeting
of the 13th May) where the access is being constructed;
Sport England comments should be published before the meeting;
Uninspiring design not in keeping with surrounding area;
Proposal will damage character of surrounding area including the playing
fields;
Neighbours prejudiced by applications being separated, consider that
temporary school application should be withdrawn from agenda in the event of
a refusal of the main application

128

Officer Comment
Number 51 Oakleigh Park North is not either statutory or locally listed. The
property was put forward for inclusion in Barnet’s local list which was last
revised in 2019, however the property was not considered to meet the
selection criteria and as such was not included in the adopted list.
The design and appearance of the building and the impact upon neighbouring
properties have already been considered in the officer report.
The address of the proposal is considered satisfactory for the purposes of
identifying the site.
There is no external lighting for the MUGA
In relation to the Certificate of Ownership, this was correctly completed in
relation to planning application 20/1304/FUL as the red line boundary of the
application site does not include 51 Oakleigh Park North, however in relation
to the temporary works procedure 19/5427/FUL it has been identified that the
wrong certificate has been completed. The owner of this property is aware of
the proposal and has signed a commercial lease of the land with the applicant
and as such is not prejudiced by this error, however in the interests of
following correct legal procedure, the applicant has submitted an amended
certificate, and has confirmed that formal notice has been served on the
owner of this property. The amended resolution above ensures that no
decision can be taken until 21 days following the serving of this notice and
that in the event that the owner of this property objects the application will
need to be re-reported to Committee.
In relation to the additional plans on the pavilion building
Re-consultation is not automatically carried out in relation all amendments. In
relation to this the relevant test is outlined in the ‘Wheatcroft principle’ namely
whether the changes are substantial and results in a development that is not
in substance the development is the same as that originally applied for. In this
instance the plans as originally submitted marked the size and position of the
proposed sports pavilion and noted that this is a single storey building, which
the amended drawings expand upon rather than replace. They have however
been published on our website for transparency purposes.
Alterations to Conditions
Condition 5 – Amend Condition to read as follows:
No works on the public highway including the proposed vehicular access from
Maryrose Way as a result of the proposed development shall be carried out
until detailed design drawings have been submitted and approved by the
Highway Authority and works shall only be carried out in accordance with the
approved plans. The applicant will be required to obtain a licence from the
Council under s184 of the Highways Act 1980 to introduce the temporary
crossover and for the reinstatement of any consequential damage to public
highway as a result of the proposed development.
Reason: To ensure that the works on the public highway are carried out to the
satisfaction of the highway authority in the interest of highway safety in
accordance with London Borough of Barnet’s Local Plan Policy CS9 of Core

129

Strategy (Adopted) September 2012 and Policy DM17 of Development
Management Policies (Adopted) September 2012.
Condition 11 – Amend Condition to read as follows:
Before the development is occupied a School Travel Plan shall be submitted to
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority that meets the criteria
in the Transport for London’s guidance booklet “What a School Travel Plan
should contain” and should include the appointment of a Travel Plan Champion.
The Travel Plan should be reviewed annually in accordance with the target set
out in the Travel Plan.
Reason: To encourage the use of sustainable forms of transport to the site in
accordance with London Borough of Barnet’s Local Plan Policy CS9 of Core
Strategy (Adopted) September 2012 and Policy DM17 of Development
Management Policies (Adopted) September 2012.
Condition 13 – Amend Condition to read as follows:
Part 1
The development shall not be occupied until such stage as:
a) A desktop study (Preliminary Risk Assessment) shall be carried out which
shall include the identification of previous uses, potential contaminants that
might be expected, given those uses, and other relevant information. Using
this information, a diagrammatical representation (Conceptual Model) for the
site of all potential contaminant sources, pathways and receptors shall be
produced. The desktop study (Preliminary Risk Assessment) and Conceptual
Model shall be submitted to the Local Planning Authority. If the desktop study
and Conceptual Model indicate no risk of harm, development shall not
commence until approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
b) If the desktop study and Conceptual Model indicate any risk of harm, a site
investigation shall be designed for the site using information obtained from the
desktop study and Conceptual Model. This shall be submitted to, and
approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority prior to that investigation
being carried out on site. The investigation must be comprehensive enough to
enable:
- a risk assessment to be undertaken,
- refinement of the Conceptual Model, and
- the development of a Method Statement detailing the remediation
requirements.
The risk assessment and refined Conceptual Model shall be submitted, along
with the site investigation report, to the Local Planning Authority.
c) If the risk assessment and refined Conceptual Model indicate any risk of
harm, a Method Statement detailing the remediation requirements, using the
information obtained from the site investigation, and also detailing any post

130

remedial monitoring shall be submitted to, and approved in writing by, the
Local Planning Authority prior to that remediation being carried out on site.
Part 2
d) Where remediation of contamination on the site is required completion of
the remediation detailed in the method statement shall be carried out and a
report that provides verification that the required works have been carried out,
shall be submitted to, and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority
before the development is occupied.
Reason: To ensure the development can be implemented and occupied with
adequate regard for environmental and public safety in accordance with Policy
CS NPPF of the Local Plan Core Strategy DPD (adopted September 2012),
DM04 of the Development Management Policies DPD (adopted September
2012), the Sustainable Design and Construction SPD (adopted October 2016)
and 5.21 of the London Plan 2016.
Condition 27 – Amend Condition to read as follows:
The development hereby permitted shall not be occupied by pupils outside the
hours of 08:00 hours and 17:00 hours Monday to Friday, with the exception of
special events, details of the number and extent of which shall be submitted
and agreed by the Local Planning Authority prior to any such events taking
place.
Reason: To protect the amenities of occupiers of neighbouring residential
properties in accordance with policies DM01 and DM04 of the Barnet's Local
Plan 2012.
Add New Condition 29
29.
Development shall not begin until half drain time for the underground
attenuation storage for the development based on the following criteria has
been submitted to and approved in writing by London Borough of Barnet
planning authority


The calculated half drain time of 25.3 hrs and associated half drain
volume can cope with a subsequent rainfall event of 1 in 30 year
without increasing the above limited rate of discharge.

Reason: This would be in accordance with the new guidance: ‘Design and
Construction Guidance for foul and surface water sewers offered for adoption
under the Code for adoption agreements for water and sewerage companies
operating wholly or mainly in England ("the Code")’. Approved version, 2.0, 10
March 2020’. Part ‘C’, section ‘C6’, Hydraulic Design, General, paragraph ‘6’:
(Where a component is designed to convey or store flows in excess of the 1 in
30 year return period event, the designer should demonstrate that the
upstream system (including any inlets such as gullies or pervious paving) has
the capacity to allow the flows to reach the component)

131

Alterations and Corrections
Under public consultation on page 121 under public representations replace
first paragraph with the following text:
As a result of the consultation, a total of 47 responses have been received.
Forty six in objection and one representation neither supporting or objecting to
the proposal.
Page 141 under Conclusion first paragraph delete ‘much needed additional
school places’ replace text with ‘much needed improved school facilities’
Officer Comment
Due to a lag in comments made by email and due to the late submission of
representations, the final recorded count has increased to 47, although these
letters were received and taken into account in the original officer report.

132

AGENDA ITEM 8
COMMITTEE REPORT
LOCATION:

FRITH GRANGE CAMP SITE AND ADJACENT, FRITH LANE,
MILL HILL, LONDON NW7 1PT

REFERENCE:

20/TPO/002

WARD:

Mill Hill

PROPOSAL:

To seek authority for confirmation of Tree Preservation
Order without modification.

RECOMMENDATION:

1. That the Council, under Regulation 7 of the Town and
Country Planning (Tree Preservation) (England)
Regulations 2012 confirms the London Borough of Barnet
Frith Grange Camp Site And Adjacent, Frith Lane, Mill
Hill, London NW7 1PT Tree Preservation Order 2020
without modification.
2. That the person(s) making representations be advised
of the reasons.

1.

MATERIAL CONSIDERATIONS

Relevant Planning Policies and Guidance Adopted
 Local Plan – Core Strategy (Adopted September 2012) – Policy CS7
 Local Plan – Development Management Policies (Adopted September 2012)
– Policy DM01
Relevant Planning History
 Report of Service Director – Planning and Building Control dated 9th January
2020
 19/5827/FUL - Full Planning Permission for Phase 6B, associated with the
Millbrook Park development, for the erection of 2 linked buildings 6 storeys in
height comprising 82 residential units (Use Class C3), 615sqm (GIA) of
employment space (Use Class B1), together with associated plant, car
parking, cycle parking, refuse stores, servicing areas and associated hard and
soft landscaping
- Millbrook Park (Former Inglis Barracks), Mill Hill East, London NW7
- Validated 30th October 2019
- Recommended for conditional approval by this Committee on 2nd March
2020 but awaiting completion of s106 agreement.
 18/6640/FUL - Full Planning Permission for the erection of 2 linked buildings
ranging from 5-6 storeys in height comprising 87 residential units (Use Class

133

C3), 700 sqm (GIA) of employment space (Use Class B1), together with
associated plant, car parking, cycle parking, refuse stores, servicing areas
and associated hard and soft landscaping
- Millbrook Park (Former Inglis Barracks), Mill Hill East, London NW7
- Validated 7th November 2018
- Refused by this Committee on 23rd July 2019
- Allowed on appeal on 20th May 2020
Background Information/Officers Comments
The Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended) at section 197 states:
“It shall be the duty of the local planning authority—
(a) to ensure, whenever it is appropriate, that in granting
planning permission for any development adequate provision
is made, by the imposition of conditions, for the preservation
or planting of trees; and
(b) to make such orders under section 198 as appear to the
authority to be necessary in connection with the grant of
such permission, whether for giving effect to such conditions
or otherwise.”
Section 198 of the Act empowers a local planning authority to make a Tree
Preservation Order if it appears to be ‘expedient in the interests of amenity to make
provision for the preservation of trees or woodlands in their area’.
National Planning Practice Guidance clarifies that:
“Authorities can either initiate this process themselves or in response to a
request made by any other party. When deciding whether an Order is
appropriate, authorities are advised to take into consideration what ‘amenity’
means in practice, what to take into account when assessing amenity value,
what ‘expedient’ means in practice, what trees can be protected and how they
can be identified.”
- The Guidance states that “‘Amenity’ is not defined in law, so
authorities need to exercise judgment when deciding whether it is
within their powers to make an Order. Orders should be used to
protect selected trees and woodlands if their removal would have a
significant negative impact on the local environment and its
enjoyment by the public. Before authorities make or confirm an
Order they should be able to show that protection would bring a
reasonable degree of public benefit in the present or future.”
- The Guidance suggests the following criteria should be taken into
account: “Visibility - The extent to which the trees or woodlands can
be seen by the public will inform the authority’s assessment of
whether the impact on the local environment is significant. The
trees, or at least part of them, should normally be visible from a
public place, such as a road or footpath, or accessible by the public.
Individual, collective and wider impact - Public visibility alone will
not be sufficient to warrant an Order. The authority is advised to
also assess the particular importance of an individual tree, of

134

groups of trees or of woodlands by reference to its or their
characteristics including:
 size and form;
 future potential as an amenity;
 rarity, cultural or historic value;
 contribution to, and relationship with, the landscape; and
 contribution to the character or appearance of a conservation
area.
- In terms of expediency, the Guidance notes “It may be expedient to
make an Order if the authority believes there is a risk of trees being
felled, pruned or damaged in ways which would have a significant
impact on the amenity of the area. But it is not necessary for there
to be immediate risk for there to be a need to protect trees. In some
cases the authority may believe that certain trees are at risk as a
result of development pressures and may consider, where this is in
the interests of amenity, that it is expedient to make an Order.
Authorities can also consider other sources of risks to trees with
significant amenity value. For example, changes in property
ownership and intentions to fell trees are not always known in
advance, so it may sometimes be appropriate to proactively make
Orders as a precaution.”
“When granting planning permission authorities have a duty to ensure,
whenever appropriate, that planning conditions are used to provide for tree
preservation and planting. Orders should be made in respect of trees where it
appears necessary in connection with the grant of permission.”
A Tree Preservation Order was made on 9th January 2020 in the interest of public
amenity in the light of a planning application for redevelopment at the site
(19/5827/FUL) and an e-mail received from the Barnet Borough Scout District
Deputy Commissioner expressing significant concern about implications of the
planning proposal for trees on the adjacent Scout land and asking about them being
considered for inclusion in an urgent Tree Preservation Order. The making of the
Order was considered justifiable both on grounds of amenity and expediency. As set
out below, the trees are considered to be of significant public amenity value –
visually and environmentally.
At the time the Order was made, a planning application was under consideration for
“Full Planning Permission for Phase 6B, associated with the Millbrook Park
development, for the erection of 2 linked buildings 6 storeys in height comprising 82
residential units (Use Class C3), 615sqm (GIA) of employment space (Use Class
B1), together with associated plant, car parking, cycle parking, refuse stores,
servicing areas and associated hard and soft landscaping” at Millbrook Park (former
Inglis Barracks) (19/5827/FUL).
The planning application formed a further part of the significant new residential
settlement on the former Inglis Barracks site known as Millbrook Park. The
application site, which measures 0.42ha, is located in the south east corner of the
Millbrook Park site and is immediately adjacent to the Frith Lane Scout Camp (Frith
Grange Camp Site / Barnet Scout District HQ and Camp Site) and an area of
retained woodland. The campsite and adjacent public woodland is designated green

135

belt land. The proposed development is not in accordance with the outline consent in
terms of land uses and development parameters and therefore could not be taken
forward pursuant to the original outline consent or an earlier drop in outline
application for the phase – hence an application for a new standalone ‘drop-in’
planning permission was submitted (which itself follows refusal of an earlier scheme
18/6640/FUL, recently allowed on appeal on 20th May 2020).
On 22nd November 2019 an e-mail was received from the Barnet Borough Scout
District Deputy Commissioner expressing significant concern about implications of
the planning proposal for trees on the adjacent Scout land (particularly a row of trees
extending on / along the boundary of the Barnet Borough Scouts District HQ and
Camp Site and the development site), asking about them being considered for
inclusion in an urgent Tree Preservation Order. He also said that he had
commissioned an arboricultural report from Hallwood Associates which he
subsequently forwarded (also sending copies to the Case Officer for the planning
application and the Re Arboricultural Consultant providing him with advice).
Frith Grange Camp Site is owned by the Council and held on a long lease by the
Scouts.
The Council as Local Planning Authority has power to make a Tree Preservation
Order in the interests of amenity to provide for the preservation of trees or
woodlands in their area (either initiating this process themselves or in response to a
request made by any other party) and a statutory duty to make such Orders as
appear necessary in connection with the grant of planning permission for any
development to ensure that adequate provision is made, by the imposition of
conditions, for the preservation or planting of trees.
It should be borne in mind that the making of the Tree Preservation Order and
assessment of planning application for redevelopment are separate procedures. The
inclusion of the trees in an Order would render the trees an ongoing material
consideration in any planning application - the merit of trees and appropriateness of
retention would be taken into account when assessing the planning application(s).
The inclusion of the trees in an Order would give the Council as Local Planning
Authority some measure of control over treatment considered excessive; as well as
allowing imposition of planning condition(s) if deemed appropriate when determining
the redevelopment application.
It is understood that the Case Officer for the planning application and the Re
Arboricultural Consultant had discussions with the Scouts’ representatives about the
trees in the context of the planning application. These discussions were independent
of the consideration of the Tree Preservation Order.
The Hallwood Associates’ report described the boundary trees to which he referred
as “I would categorise the linear boundary group as B2 according to BS5837 and it is
comprised of predominantly semi-mature common oak and ash to 12m in height and
400mm in stem diameter.” The report’s conclusion included “It would appear that the
applicant has not commissioned arboricultural expertise when considering the design
of Millbrook Park Phase 6B. This has led to an inappropriate design which, if

136

approved, will result in the likely loss of a valuable linear tree feature and the
associated ecological and public amenity benefits it confers.”
On 19th December 2019, the agent for the planning application sent a document
entitled “Millbrook Park Phase 6B Arboricultural Survey, Arboricultural Impact
Assessment and Arboricultural Method Statement” dated November 2018 prepared
by Thomson Ecology together with a letter providing clarifications on the updated
consultation response (21st November 2019) from the Re Arboricultural Consultant.
The Re Arboricultural Consultant forwarded these to the Case Officer dealing with
the TPO request on 8th January 2020. The Thomson Ecology report included the
following “To the north of the site is Frith Grange Scout Camp where the majority of
trees are located. These trees are all located within the Scout Camp boundary and
form a continuous green belt along the northern boundary.” The Tree Schedule
assessed 15 individual and 1 group of trees along the boundary – 14 of the
individuals (2 Pedunculate Oak, 10 Ash, 1 Hawthorn and 1 Lawson Cypress) were
middle-aged and considered to be in good physiological and fair structural condition;
their estimated heights ranging between 5 – 13 metres with stem diameters up to
320mm. The BS5837 categorisation of C1 seems to undervalue the trees, especially
bearing in mind previous assessments.
Although the Hallwood Associates’ and Thomson Ecology reports refer only to the
trees on the boundary, it should be noted that there is an extensive area of woodland
at the Frith Grange Camp Site - indeed almost two thirds of the site is wooded and it
is entirely enclosed by trees with the belt of trees extending up Frith Lane to the
boundary with Inglis Way. The verdant character of this part of Frith Lane is
increased given the wide belt of trees / woodland on the opposite side of the road
standing at Finchley Golf Club (many of which are included in a separate Tree
Preservation Order).
It should be observed that the former Inglis Barracks site was subject of an Area
Action Plan, Environmental Impact Assessment, and various other surveys prior to
the redevelopment of the new residential settlement “Mill Hill East” / “Millbrook Park”.
Although these covered the whole wider Barrack site, the following relate in
particular to the woodland in question:
Mill Hill East Environmental Impact Assessment (EIA) Scoping Report
5.159 The broadleaved woodland at the southern end of the site is a significant
habitat of local importance. It is potentially of value for bats, birds, invertebrates and
reptiles. Measures should be taken to retain this block of woodland as part of the
proposed scheme.
5.171 There is a small area of woodland to the south east of the site and this lies
alongside a Scout camp, both of which are proposed to be retained.
Extended Phase 1 Habitat Survey – November 2008
Executive Summary ….. The woodland is considered to be of Borough importance
and dense scrub of Local value. ….. Consequently, it is recommended that the
woodland, dense scrub habitats and standard trees be protected and retained during
the proposed re-development of the site….
4.4.5 Broad-Leaved Woodland [– more detailed analysis concluding:] Aside from its
value for protected species the woodland has intrinsic value. Consequently the
woodland is considered to be of Borough value to nature conservation.
5. Preliminary Assessment of Impacts and Mitigation

137

5.2.3 Broad-Leaved Woodland – The broad-leaved woodland constitutes the most
valuable ecological receptor on the site and has the potential to support a number of
protected species including bats, invertebrates, breeding birds and protected flora.
The loss or damage to this woodland would be considered a significant impact and
as such it is strongly recommended that it be protected and retained as part of any
subsequent re-development.
The EIA notes that the broadleaved woodland has a canopy dominated by
Pedunculate Oak (Quercus robur), with occasional coniferous species whilst the
understorey is characterised by abundant Holly (Ilex aquifolium), Hawthorn
(Crataegus monogyna) and Bramble (Rubus fruticosus agg.), with an abundance of
deadwood. Ground cover is dominated, in parts, by ivy which also forms a dense
covering on a number of the more well established trees. The block of broadleaved
woodland provides suitable foraging habitat for bats and potential badger sett
building habitat. The broadleaved woodland at the southern end of the site is a
potentially significant habitat of local importance. It is potentially of value for bats,
birds, invertebrates and reptiles. Measures should be taken to retain this block of
woodland.
The trees and woodland are very clearly visible from Frith Lane and from much of
the Millbrook Park development – contributing significantly to softening the otherwise
harsh built form; provide a sense of scale to the large multi-storey blocks; and
provide seasonal interest. As noted above, they also of acknowledged ecological
importance. It is believed that the collective public amenity value of the trees at the
site is considerable and removal would have a significant negative impact on the
local environment and its enjoyment by the public.
With appropriate cultural attention, the trees are capable of contributing to public
amenity for a considerable period of time. For the above reasons it was considered
appropriate to include the trees in a Tree Preservation Order.
National Planning Practice Guidance provides the following advice in respect of Tree
Preservation Order categories:
“When should the woodland category be used?
The woodland category’s purpose is to safeguard a woodland as a whole. So
it follows that, while some trees may lack individual merit, all trees within a
woodland that merits protection are protected and made subject to the same
provisions and exemptions. In addition, trees and saplings which grow
naturally or are planted within the woodland area after the Order is made are
also protected by the Order.
It is unlikely to be appropriate to use the woodland classification in gardens.”
In the circumstances, it has been considered reasonable to designate the trees as a
‘woodland’ - with the boundary of the designated woodland including all of the Frith
Grange Camp Site land and also the belt of trees on the Frith Lane frontage to the
Inglis Way junction - as the trees have collective value in the context of Frith Lane
and the wider Millbrook Park development.

138

As Frith Grange Camp Site is Council owned, in accordance with Council
procedures, internal discussions have taken place with CSG Estates (responsible for
the administration of Council owned property) who support the making of the Order.
Given the redevelopment proposals, the making of the Tree Preservation Order was
referred to the Service Director – Planning and Building Control who discussed the
matter with the Case Officer for the planning application and agreed to the Order.
The Re Arboricultural Consultant advising the Case Officer also supports the making
of a ‘woodland’ Order. Although there was some delay in receiving relevant tree
survey information, the Planning Committee was aware of the Tree Preservation
Order being in force prior to determining application 19/5827/FUL.
Notices were served on the persons affected by the Order in accordance with
paragraph 1(a) of Regulation 5 of the Town and Country Planning (Tree
Preservation) (England) Regulations. Representations were received from the
Barnet Borough Scout District Deputy Commissioner (who had initially requested a
Tree Preservation Order).
The Tree Preservation Order secures the protection of the trees on a provisional
basis for up to six months from the date of making, but an Order needs to be formally
confirmed for it to have long-term effect. The Council is required to take into account
all duly made objections and representations before deciding whether to confirm the
TPO.
Some of the Scout Deputy Commissioner’s correspondence related to procedural
queries and to development works; but the substantive matters in terms of the Order
raised in his representations can be summarised as follows:









Shocked that Tree Preservation Order covered entire site as the initial request
was intended to be an enquiry as to whether a TPO would be appropriate for
a specific stand of approximately 17 trees
Belief that on-site discussions should have taken place with the Scouts
representatives prior to the making of the Order.
“Monitoring of the woodland and the other trees is undertaken on a weekly
basis by the Camp Warden and his crew and if an issue is spotted that is
deemed a hazard or potential danger, it has in the past been dealt with
immediately!..... we have to respond immediately and cannot be delayed,
whilst somebody finds out if we can or cannot deal with the issue, with or
without a piece of paper. This differs greatly from other sites, locations,
gardens & woods, where the risk to children will be far less and more time is
available to deal with bureaucracy.”
“Regular clearing, trimming and coppicing that is required for safety & security
purposes would be made virtually impossible to implement.”
“The requirements imposed by the existence of such an extensive TPO would
make [scout] training and long-term [woodland] management an impossible
task and an administrative nightmare for a volunteer run organisation”
“How can we be expected to work with a small team of volunteers for a hour
or two over a weekend, when at each and every turn there is a question “is
this allowed – is this legal?””
The volunteers’ work “would be impeded greatly by having to operate within
the strict confines of a TPO”
139








“We are in the process of updating our Woodland Management Plan – a
project that will be implemented….over a sustained period (mainly weekends)
when training can be combined with practical woodland management.”
“It had been our intention to plant out 300 saplings that are currently awaiting
our volunteers but the existence of the TPO now casts doubt on the viability of
this plan, if we are then going to be hampered by what we can do with nursery
trees in the context of TPO rules!”
“Frith Grange is a private site used by the 2000 or so members of Barnet
Borough Scouts who use the facilities including the woodland throughout the
year. It is not a ‘public access’ area.”
“The woodland, in its current condition provides little or no amenity value, nor
contributes much to the character and scenic interest of the area (our scout
camp site)”
“We would like you to kindly consider varying the Provisional Order
20/TPO/002 in as much as it refers only to Frith Grange Camp Site by lifting
the Order in its entirety and instead place an Order/Orders on the trees
identified on our Topographical Survey as being Numbers: 016 to 037 inc. (a
total of 22 trees) and Numbers 051, 052, 055, 056, 057, 060, 061, 069, 087,
089 & 097 (a total of 11 trees) all being trees defining our boundaries.”

In response the Council's Tree and Environment Officer comments as follows:
(i)

As Government guidance makes clear, a Local Planning Authority can
either initiate the making of a Tree Preservation Order itself or in
response to a request made by any other party. In this particular case,
the Barnet Borough Scout District Deputy Commissioner’s e-mail(s)
making reference to a possible Tree Preservation Order coincided with
concerns raised by Officers about implications of the development
proposals on the trees and woodland - especially in the context of the
earlier Area Action Plan, Environmental Impact Assessment and
various other surveys prior to the redevelopment of Mill Hill East /
Millbrook Park. It was therefore considered expedient in the interests of
public amenity to make the Order and for it to be in force prior to the
Planning Committee determining application 19/5827/FUL.

(ii)

As the statutory protection afforded to trees by a Tree Preservation
Order does not come into effect until the Order is served, it is not
appropriate to have on-site discussions in advance, as suggested in
the representations. The legislative procedure is to make an Order
which takes immediate effect for up to six months (“a Provisional
Order”); to then serve notice on interested parties of the making of the
Order, allowing them an opportunity to formally comment on the Order
(“Regulation 5 Notice”); and for any duly received objections and
representations to be considered in determining whether or not the
Order should have lasting effect (“a Confirmed Order”). The purpose of
this Committee Report is to summarise the representations received so
that Members can determine whether the Order should be confirmed.

140

(iii)

The suggestion that the Order should not be confirmed because the
usage of the site “differs greatly from other sites, locations, gardens &
woods, where the risk to children will be far less and more time is
available to deal with bureaucracy” does not reflect the diversity of LB
Barnet’s Tree Preservation Orders. There are some 700 TPOs in the
borough, ranging in size from individual to thousands of trees –
including Orders on large school and college sites (e.g. Mill Hill School,
Oakhill College, The Sternberg Centre / Akiva School and associated
buildings at 80 East End Road); churchyards (e.g. St Mary at Finchley,
St Mary the Virgin Barnet, and Holy Trinity East Finchley); cemeteries
and crematoria (e.g. Mill Hill, East Finchley and Golders Green);
historic ornamental grounds (e.g. Stephens / Avenue House and
Grounds); and parkland (e.g. Windsor Open Space). TPO treework
submissions are currently received from such diverse applicants as
individual householders, volunteers, estates bursars, churchwardens,
and arboricultural agents.

(iv)

The concerns that urgent treework would be affected “whilst somebody
finds out if we can or cannot deal with the issue, with or without a piece
of paper.” seem somewhat exaggerated. The legislative provisions in
respect of treeworks are not unduly complicated - explanatory
information was provided at the same time as the copy Order and
Regulation 5 letter; Officers have had various discussions with Scouts’
representatives; and it is understood that the Scout Camp is receiving
arboricultural input from Capel Manor College’s Head of School
Agriculture, Arboriculture, Environment and Wildlife Conservation.

(v)

The suggestion that urgent treework to remove an immediate danger
would be delayed also seem excessive - although formal consent is
required for most TPO treeworks, there are various exemptions which
include the removal of deadwood, dead trees, and treework urgently
necessary to remove an immediate risk of serious harm – and the
explanatory information that accompanied the copy Order included a
list of exemptions.

(vi)

The contention that the Tree Preservation Order should not be
confirmed because of the variously expressed concerns that the
existence of the Order would make “training and long-term
management an impossible task and an administrative nightmare for a
volunteer run organisation” is considered unreasonable. Especially in
the light of the arboricultural input being received from Capel Manor,
there seems no reason why a thorough survey of the trees at the site
could not be undertaken with a list of treework recommendations and
their priorities being drawn up – perhaps as part of the Woodland
Management Plan. As a TPO treework consent is valid for up to two
years, application(s) for a schedule of proposed treatments could then
be submitted and the consented treework be implemented in stages as
and when circumstances were appropriate. The Scouts’
representatives could decide whether a single submission or a series

141

of phased applications based on recommended priorities / timescales
best suited their operation.
(vii)

If trees are unprotected, there would be no control over treatment –
which would have two implications. Particularly in the light of the
concerns raised by Scouts’ representatives about works being
undertaken at the adjacent redevelopment site, there may be impacts
on enforceability of tree-related conditions imposed on the planning
permissions. Conversely, there is no reason to believe that consent
would be refused for treatment in accordance with good arboricultural
practice (and, in any event, there is an appeal procedure as well as
exemption provisions for e.g. removal of deadwood).

(viii)

Whilst the Scout Camp itself may not be a ‘public access area’, it is
clear that it is well-used (“2000 or so”). Although there may not be
direct access to the woodland by the public, it is very clearly visible
from a large number of publicly accessible locations, such as Frith
Lane and much of the Millbrook Park development. As set out above,
the woodland’s public amenity value (softening built form; sense of
scale to the large multi-storey blocks; seasonal interest; acknowledged
ecological importance) extends far wider than “our scout camp site”
with the belt of trees extending up Frith Lane to the boundary with
Inglis Way and visually linking with the wide belt of trees / woodland on
the opposite side of the road standing at Finchley Golf Club,
contributing to the verdant character of this part of Frith Lane.

(ix)

The request that the Order be varied to just include 33 trees on 2
boundaries adjacent to redevelopment site (far side from Frith Lane) is
considered inappropriate for two separate reasons. Such an Order
would negate the public amenity value of the Woodland Order, acting
to provide only a buffer between the Scout Camp and the
redevelopment which, as the Scouts’ representative contends the
Scout Camp is a private site, would be a private rather than public
benefit. In addition, it would not be possible to confirm this Order if
such a substantial change were to be made to it - even if such a drastic
alteration to the Order were to be considered reasonable, which is
disputed, it would be necessary to make a completely different Order.

It is considered that the making of the Woodland Order fully accords with the duty
imposed on the Council as Local Planning Authority as being ‘expedient in the
interests of amenity to make provision for the preservation of trees or woodlands in
their area’.

2. EQUALITIES AND DIVERSITY ISSUES
The Equality Act 2010 (the Act) came into force in April 2011. The general duty on
public bodies requires the Council to have due regard to the need to eliminate
discrimination and promote equality in relation to those with protected characteristics
such as race, disability, and gender including gender reassignment, religion or belief,

142

sex, pregnancy or maternity and foster good relations between different groups when
discharging its functions.
The Council have considered the Act but do not believe that the confirmation of the
Order would have a significant impact on any of the groups as noted in the Act.

3.

CONCLUSION

The confirmation of the Tree Preservation Order is considered appropriate in the
interests of public amenity. As set out above, it is considered the trees within the
boundary of Woodland W1 identified in the Order contribute significantly to public
amenity and given normal arboricultural attention are capable of providing amenity
value for a considerable time.

This product includes mapping data licensed from Ordnance Survey with the permission of the Controller of Her Majesty’s Stationary
Office. ©Crown copyright and database right 2020. All rights reserved. London Borough of Barnet Licence No. 100017674

143

This page is intentionally left blank

LOCATION:

Beaufort Park
Aerodrome Road
London
NW9 5JH

AGENDA ITEM 9

REFERENCE:

20/0276/FUL

Validated:

17.01.2020

WARD:

Colindale

Expiry:

17.04.2020

APPLICANT:

St George (West London) Ltd

PROPOSAL:

Construction of a building of part 8, part 9, part 13 and part 21 storeys
to comprise 393 residential homes and 578.5sqm GIA of commercial
floorspace (Use Classes A1 to A4, B1, B2, D1 and D2), including
associated car and cycle parking and landscaping

RECOMMENDATION
Recommendation 1
The application being one of strategic importance to London it must be referred to the
Mayor of London. As such any resolution by the committee will be subject to no direction to
call in or refuse the application being received from the Mayor of London.
Recommendation 2
Subject to Recommendation 1 above, the applicant and any other person having a requisite
interest be invited to enter by way of an agreement into a planning obligation under Section
106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 and any other legislation which is
considered necessary for the purposes of seeking to secure the following, subject to any
changes as considered necessary by the Service Director Planning & Building Control.
-

Legal Professional Costs Recovery
The Council’s legal and professional costs of preparing the Agreement and any other
enabling arrangements will be covered by the applicant (if necessary, can clarify that
this will be an external party – Sharpe Pritchard).

145

-

Enforceability
All obligations listed to become enforceable in accordance with a timetable to be
agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority.

-

Indexation
All financial contributions listed to be subject to indexation.

-

Residential Travel Plan (RTP)
o Full RTP that is ATTrBuTE and TRICS compliant to be submitted for approval
at least 3 months prior to occupation of the development
o TRICS compliant monitoring within 4 months of 1st occupation and then in
years 1, 3 and 5 and then every other year until 5 years after 1st occupation
of the final unit.
o RTP to be updated and resubmitted for approval within 2 months of each
period of monitoring
o RTP Champion in place at least 3 months prior to occupation and for the
lifespan of the RTP until the RTP Review 5 years after 1st occupation of the
final unit approved.
o

£300 per unit RTP Incentive Fund for residents to select 2 out of 3 travel
incentives – bike voucher, Oyster card, car club membership/use (up to
maximum of £ £117,900)

o RTP monitoring fee of £15,000;
o Car club – 2 spaces to be provided on site with a mechanism to add further
vehicles if usage is recorded at 75% or above
-

Employment and Enterprise
The applicant would be expected to enter into a Local Employment Agreement with
the Council in order to provide an appropriate number of employment outcomes for
local residents. The number of outcomes (apprenticeships, work experiences, end
use jobs etc) would be associated with the value of the development and would be
based upon the formula set out within Appendix B (Calculating Resident Outputs for
Development Schemes) of the Barnet Delivering Skills, Employment, Enterprise and
Training SPD. Based, on the scheme value – the following outcomes would be
secured:

146

Non-Financial Obligation

Outputs
9

Progression into Employment
(unemployed under 6 months)
Progression into Employment
(unemployed over 6 months)

6

Apprenticeships (minimum NVQ Level 2)

16

Work Experience

20

School/College/University Site Visits

189

School/College Workshops

104

Local Labour

20%

Any outcomes not delivered would be subject to a financial contribution of £20,000
per apprenticeship and £5,340 for every other employment outcome.
-

Affordable Housing
Affordable housing to be provided in line with the approved affordable housing
schedule set out below:
Tenure

Studio
0

1 Bed
22

2 Bed
27

3 Bed
0

By Unit
49
(13%

By Hab
125
(12%)

London
Affordable
Rent

0

15

35

26

76
(19%)

239
(23%)

Total

0

37

62

26

125
(32%)

364
(35%)

Intermediate

Early stage review mechanism to be secured to be triggered if scheme not
implemented within agreed timescale. The formula for this is set out within the
Mayor’s Affordable Housing SPG.
Nomination rights to be granted to LBB for all affordable rented accommodation.
-

Carbon Offset Contribution
147

A carbon offset contribution of £350,384 to be secured in accordance with the
Mayor of London’s Zero Carbon target for new developments if the development
fails to achieve the necessary carbon reductions. The formula for calculation of the
contribution is as follows: (CO2 emitted from the development (tonnes) per year)
minus (CO2 target emissions (tonnes) per year) x £1800. This payment would be
phased in installments with payment triggers linked to the development.
-

Transport/Highways and Public Realm
S278 works on the public highway to improve the existing footway between the ‘red
line boundary’ of the applicant site, and the extents of the frontage of the Block D
site on Aerodrome Road.
A wayfinding strategy to include signage of Legible London standards or any borough
adopted standard to improve legibility between the site and Colindale Station / Local
Centre to be agreed by the LPA and implemented.

-

Active Travel Zone
In line with the iTP London Plan Healthy Streets Approach, the applicant shall commit to
delivering Active Travel Zone measures to include some or all of the following:
-

shade and shelter points;
green infrastructure, soft landscape planting, trees and places to rest;
public artwork.

The final scope of works shall be agreed with the Council and TfL and a commensurate
financial contribution based upon a costed scheme of improvements shall be made to the
Council.
-

Colindale Station Contribution
A financial contribution of a minimum of £63,737 shall be made towards the costs of the
Colindale Station upgrade works. The final amount shall be commensurate with the impact
assessed following revised trip generation figures to be agreed with the Council and TfL.

-

Bus Stop Contribution
The applicant shall commit to providing funding for the provision of 2 bus shelters on
Aerodrome Road. The final amount shall be commensurate with the cost of a costed scheme
for the provision of the shelters.

-

Traffic Management Order
148

A contribution of £2000 towards the amendment of Traffic Management Order
(TMO) to ensure that the new occupants are prevented from purchasing parking
permits in local CPZs.
-

Controlled Parking Zone Review
A contribution of £2500 for review of the CPZ, as well as associated consultations
(pre and post development) and potential implementation to be secured.

Recommendation 3
That subject to Recommendation 1 and upon completion of the agreement specified in
Recommendation 2, the Service Director Planning & Building Control approve the planning
application reference 20/0276/FUL under delegated powers, subject to the conditions set
out within Appendix 2 of this report.
That the Committee also grants delegated authority to the Service Director Planning and
Building Control, Head of Development Management or Head of Strategic Planning to make
any minor alterations, additions or deletions to the recommended conditions/obligations or
reasons for refusal as set out in this report and addendum provided this authority shall be
exercised after consultation with the Chairman (or in their absence the Vice-Chairman) of
the Committee (who may request that such alterations, additions or deletions be first
approved by the Committee).

MATERIAL CONSIDERATIONS
Relevant Planning Policy
Introduction
Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act (2004) requires that
development proposals be determined in accordance with the development plan
unless material considerations indicate otherwise. In this case, the development plan
is The London Plan and the development plan documents in the Barnet Local Plan.
These statutory development plans are the main policy basis for the consideration of
this planning application.
Barnet’s Local Plan is made up of a suite of documents, including the Core Strategy
and Development Management Policies development plan documents. The Core
149

Strategy and Development Management Policies documents were both adopted by
the Council in September 2012.
A number of other planning documents, including national planning guidance and
supplementary planning guidance and documents are also material to the
determination of this application.
More detail on the policy framework relevant to the determination of this
development and an appraisal of the proposal against the development plan policies
of most relevance to the application is set out in subsequent sections of this report
dealing with specific policy and topic areas. This is not repeated here.
The London Plan
The London Plan (2016) is the development plan in terms of strategic planning policy
for the purposes of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act (2004). The London
Plan policies (arranged by chapter) most relevant to the determination of this
application are:
Context and Strategy
1.1 (Delivering the Strategic Vision and Objectives for London)
London’s Places:
2.6 (Outer London: Vision and Strategy); 2.7 (Outer London: Economy); 2.8 (Outer
London: Transport); 2.15 (Town Centres); and 2.18 (Green Infrastructure: the
Network of Open and Green Spaces)
London’s People:
3.1 (Ensuring Equal Life Chances for All); 3.2 (Improving Health and Addressing
Health Inequalities); 3.3 (Increasing Housing Supply); 3.4 (Optimising Housing
Potential); 3.5 (Quality and Design of Housing Developments); 3.6 (Children and
Young People’s Play and Informal Recreation Facilities); 3.8 (Housing Choice);
3.9 (Mixed and Balanced Communities); 3.10 (Definition of Affordable Housing);
3.11 (Affordable Housing Targets); 3.12 (Negotiating Affordable Housing on
Individual Private Residential and Mixed Use Schemes) and 3.13 (Affordable Housing
Thresholds).
London’s Economy:
4.1 (Developing London’s Economy); 4.2 (Offices); 4.3 (Mixed Use Development and
Offices); 4.4 (Managing Industrial Land and Premises); 4.6 (Support for and
Enhancement of Arts, Culture Sport and Entertainment Provision); 4.7 (Retail and

150

Town Centre Development); 4.10 (Support New and Emerging Economic Sectors);
and 4.12 (Improving Opportunities for All)
London’s Response to Climate Change
5.1 (Climate Change Mitigation); 5.2 (Minimising Carbon Dioxide Emissions); 5.3
(Sustainable Design and Construction); 5.5 (Decentralised Energy Networks); 5.6
(Decentralised Energy in Development Proposals); 5.7 (Renewable Energy); 5.8
(Innovative Energy Technologies); 5.9 (Overheating and Cooling); 5.10 (Urban
Greening); 5.12 (Flood Risk Management); 5.13 (Sustainable Drainage); 5.14 (Water
Quality and Wastewater Infrastructure); 5.15 (Water Use and Supplies); 5.17
(Waste Capacity); and 5.21 (Contaminated Land).
London’s Transport
6.1 (Strategic Approach); 6.2 (Providing Public Transport Capacity and Safeguarding
Land for Transport); 6.3 (Assessing Effects of Development on Transport Capacity);
6.4 (Enhancing London’s Transport Connectivity); 6.5 (Funding Crossrail and Other
Strategically Important Transport Infrastructure); 6.7 (Better Streets and Surface
Transport); 6.9 (Cycling); 6.10 (Walking); 6.11 (Smoothing Traffic Flow and Tackling
Congestion); 6.12 (Road Network Capacity); and 6.13 (Parking)
London’s Living Places and Spaces
7.1 (Building London’s Neighbourhoods and Communities); 7.2 (Inclusive
Environment); 7.3 (Designing Out Crime); 7.4 (Local Character); 7.5 (Public Realm);
7.6 (Architecture); 7.7 (Location of Tall and Large Buildings); 7.13 (Safety, Security
and Resilience to Emergency); 7.14 (Improving Air Quality); 7.15 (Reducing Noise)
and 7.18 (Protecting Local Open Space and Addressing Local Deficiency).
Implementation, Monitoring and Review:
8.2 (Planning Obligations); and 8.3 (Community Infrastructure Levy)
ITP Replacement London Plan 2017
The Draft London Plan (DLP) published November 2017 sets out the Mayor’s
overarching strategic planning framework from 2019 up to 2041. When adopted this
will replace the London Plan 2016.
The Inspector Panel Report following the Examination in Public was published in
October 2019. The Inspector Panel was broadly supportive of the majority of the
DLP, subject to several changes being made. The Mayor has subsequently declared in
December 2019 it’s ‘intention to publish’, accepting some but not all of the
Inspector’s recommendations. As not all of the Inspector’s recommendations have

151

been accepted. It is for the Secretary of State to decide whether the DLP can
proceed to adoption.
Due to the advanced nature of the DLP increasing weight should be attached to
those policies which the Inspector’s report considered sound. Nevertheless, the
London Plan 2016 remains the statutory development plan until such stage as the
replacement plan is adopted and as such applications should continue to be
determined in accordance with the 2016 London Plan, while noting that account
needs to be taken of emerging policies.
Barnet Local Plan
Barnet’s Local Plan (Reg 18) 2020
Barnet’s Local Plan -Reg 18 Preferred Approach was approved for consultation on
6th January 2020. The Reg 18 document sets out the Council’s preferred policy
approach together with draft development proposals for 67 sites. It is Barnet’s
emerging Local Plan.
The Local Plan 2012 remains the statutory development plan for Barnet until such
stage as the replacement plan is adopted and as such applications should continue
to be determined in accordance with the 2012 Local Plan, while noting that account
needs to be taken of emerging policies and draft site proposals.
The development plan documents in the Barnet Local Plan constitute the
development plan in terms of local planning policy for the purposes of the Planning
and Compulsory Purchase Act (2004). The relevant documents comprise the Core
Strategy and Development Management Policies documents, which were both
adopted in September 2012. The Local Plan development plan policies of most
relevance to the determination of this application are:
Core Strategy (Adopted 2012):
CS NPPF (National Planning Policy Framework – Presumption in favour of sustainable
development)
CS1 (Barnet’s Place Shaping Strategy – Protection, enhancement and consolidated
growth – The three strands approach)
CS3 (Distribution of growth in meeting housing aspirations)
CS4 (Providing quality homes and housing choice in Barnet)
CS5 (Protecting and enhancing Barnet’s character to create high quality places)
CS6 Promoting Barnet’s Town Centres

152

CS7 (Enhancing and protecting Barnet’s open spaces)
CS8 (Promoting a strong and prosperous Barnet)
CS9 (Providing safe, effective and efficient travel)
CS10 (Enabling inclusive and integrated community facilities and uses)
CS11 (Improving health and well-being in Barnet)
CS12 (Making Barnet a safer place)
CS13 (Ensuring the efficient use of natural resources)
CS14 (Dealing with our waste)
CS15 (Delivering the Core Strategy)
Development Management Policies (Adopted 2012):
DM01 (Protecting Barnet’s character and amenity)
DM02 (Development standards)
DM03 (Accessibility and inclusive design)
DM04 (Environmental considerations for development)
DM05 (Tall Buildings)
DM06 (Barnet’s Heritage and Conservation)
DM08 (Ensuring a variety of sizes of new homes to meet housing need)
DM10 (Affordable housing contributions)
DM11 (Development principles for Barnet’s town centres)
DM13 (Community and education uses)
DM14 (New and existing employment space)
DM15 (Green belt and open spaces)
DM16 (Biodiversity)
DM17 (Travel impact and parking standards)
A number of local and strategic supplementary planning guidance (SPG) and
documents (SPD) are material to the determination of the application.
Local Supplementary Planning Documents:
Sustainable Design and Construction (April 2013)
Residential Design Guidance (April 2013)
Planning Obligations (April 2013)
Affordable Housing (February 2007 with updates in August 2010)
Strategic Supplementary Planning Documents and Guidance:
Barnet Housing Strategy 2015-2025
Accessible London: Achieving an Inclusive Environment (April 2004)

153

Sustainable Design and Construction (May 2006)
Health Issues in Planning (June 2007)
Wheelchair Accessible Housing (September 2007)
Planning for Equality and Diversity in London (October 2007)
All London Green Grid (March 2012)
Shaping Neighbourhoods: Play and Informal Recreation (September 2012)
Affordable Housing and Viability (2017)
National Planning Guidance:
National planning policies are set out in the National Planning Policy Framework
(NPPF) (2019).
The NPPF is a key part of reforms to make the planning system less complex and
more accessible. The NPPF states that the purpose of the planning system is to
contribute to the achievement of sustainable development. The document includes
a ‘presumption in favour of sustainable development’. This is taken to mean
approving applications which are considered to accord with the development plan.
The Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010:
Planning obligations need to meet the requirements of the Community
Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 (as amended) to be lawful. Were permission to
be granted, obligations would be attached to mitigate the impact of development
which are set out in Section 10 of this report.
Environmental Impact Assessment Regulations (2017)
The Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) Regulations
2017 (hereafter referred to as ‘the EIA Regulations’) requires that for certain
planning applications, an Environmental Impact Assessment (EIA) must be
undertaken.
The term EIA is used to describe the procedure that must be followed for certain
projects before they can be granted planning consent. The procedure is designed to
draw together an assessment of the likely environmental effects (alongside
economic and social factors) resulting from a proposed development. These are
reported in a document called an Environmental Statement (ES).
The process ensures that the importance of the predicted effects, and the scope for
reducing them, are properly understood by the public and the local planning

154

authority before it makes its decision. This allows environmental factors to be given
due weight when assessing and determining planning applications.
The Regulations apply to two separate lists of development project. Schedule 1
development for which the carrying out of an Environmental Impact Assessment
(EIA) is mandatory and Schedule 2 development which require the carrying out of an
EIA if the particular project is considered likely to give rise to significant effects on
the environment. The proposed development does not fall within Schedule 1 of the
regulations.
The development which is the subject of the application comprises development
within column 1 of Schedule 2 of the Regulations. The development is deemed to fall
within the description of Infrastructure projects and more specifically urban
development projects (paragraph 10(b)).
As a development falling within the description of an urban development project,
the relevant threshold and criteria in column 2 of Schedule 2 of the Regulations is
that the area of development exceeds 5 hectares or 150 residential units.
Given the nature and scale of the development, it was common ground with the
applicant that the application would need to be accompanied by an ES in line with
the Regulations. On this basis no Screening Opinion was sought from the LPA.
An informal EIA scoping request, was submitted to the London Borough of Barnet
(LBB) as the relevant planning authority by Avison Young on behalf of St. George
West Ltd. The Report requested an EIA Scoping Opinion (under Section 13 of the
Regulations) for a proposed development at Beaufort Park. The LPA subsequently
issued an informal scoping response confirming that the proposed scope of the ES
was acceptable.
The current application is thus accompanied by an ES, the scope of which has been
agreed by the LPA, fully in accordance with the Regulations.
PLANNING ASSESSMENT
1.0

Site Description

1.1

The application site comprises of a 0.95-hectare site located within the Beaufort Park
development. The site is currently designated as Block D to be delivered as part of
the wider masterplan for Beaufort Park. The site is located to the south-east of the
wider site and adjoins Aerodrome Road to the south. Building C adjoins the site to

155

the west, Building E and Building F to the east and the Beaufort Square are of open
space is located to the north of the site. To the south of the site on the opposite side
of Aerodrome Road is the Colindale Gardens development (formerly the Peel Centre)
and specifically a large area of public open space within the development, Peel
Square.
1.2

In terms of the current status of Beaufort Park, Buildings A, B, C, E and G of the
development are now complete and Building F is currently under construction. The
image below shows the location of Building D in red within the context f the
Beaufort Park site.

1.3

The application specifically relates to Buildings D3 to D7 within Building D as
identified in red in the image above. The remainder of Building D (D1 and D2) lies to
the north and benefits from a separate Reserved Matters Consent (14/07066/RMA)
to which a separate Non Material Amendment under Section 96A has been
submitted which would be approved under delegated powers alongside the current
application if minded for approval. Please see Paragraph 2.12 of this report for
further details. The parking and podium deck within the entire Building D form part

156

of the current application for Buildings D3-D7, however both are shared across the
building (including Buildings D1-D2).
1.4

In terms of location, Beaufort Park has a Public Transport Accessibility Level (PTAL)
ranging between 2 and 3. The site is located within 0.7 miles of Colindale
Underground Station whilst there are also a number of bus stops located in
proximity to the site on Aerodrome Road and Grahame Park West.

1.5

There are no listed buildings within the application site and the site is not located
within a conservation area. There are, however, several listed buildings within 1km
of the application site, including a relocated police phone box on Aerodrome Road
and the Grahame White Hangar, Royal Air Force Museum aircraft hangars and Watch
Tower located within the RAF Museum based to the north of the Site. The Site is
situated within Flood Zone 1.

2.0

Proposed Development

2.1

Permission is sought for the construction of a building of part 8, part 9, part 13 and
part 21 storeys to comprise 393 residential homes and 578.5sqm GIA of commercial
floorspace (Use Classes A1 to A4, B1, B2, D1 and D2), including associated car and
cycle parking and landscaping.

2.2

The application relates to Block D of the Beaufort Park development and specifically
Buildings D3-D7 within the block. The application is a “drop-in” application which
would supersede the extant consent for the subject buildings. The Proposed
Development would provide 393 homes which would represent an uplift of 156
homes over and above that which was approved under the extant 2015 consent for
Buildings D3-D8.

2.3

As a drop-in application, the application would supersede the details approved
under the extant consent and the main changes that would arise are set out below:
-

-

An increase of 156 homes;
An increase in the proportion of affordable homes from 33% to 35% (by
habitable room) and number of affordable homes from 70 to 125.
Heights of the buildings have increased, as follows:
 Buildings D3, and D7 from 7 storeys to 8 storeys;
 Building D4 from 10 storeys to 21 storeys in part;
 Building D5 from 7 storeys to 9 storeys; and
 Building D6 from 9 storeys to 13 storeys.
An increase of 221.5 sqm of commercial floorspace;

157

-

-

An increase in the provision of cycle parking spaces, to accommodate the
increased number of homes and changes to planning policy requirements;
and
An increase in the provision of private amenity space to accommodate the
increased number of homes.

Land Uses
2.4

In terms of the proposed land uses, the development would predominantly comprise
of residential accommodation with the following proposed mix (shown
comparatively with the extant consent).
Extant
Consent
Quantity
28
63
112
34
237

Homes
Studio/Manhattan
1B
2B
3B
Total

2.5

Proposed
%
11.8%
26.6%
47.3%
14.3%
100

Quantity
26
159
143
65
393

%
6.6%
40.5%
36.4%
16.5%
100

In terms of affordable housing, the application proposes to provide 35% of the
residential units as affordable with the following proposed mix.
Tenure

Studio

1 Bed

2 Bed

3 Bed

By Unit

By Hab

Intermediate

0

22

27

0

49

125 (12%)

(13%

2.6

London
Affordable
Rent

0

Total

0

15

37

35

62

26

26

76

239

(19%)

(23%)

125

364

(32%)

(35%)

As well as the predominant residential use, the proposed development would
accommodate some commercial uses at ground floor level. A total of 578.5 sqm of
commercial floorspace would be provided with the application seeking permission
for a flexible use of A1 to A5, B1, B2, D1 and D2 uses. The commercial space would
be spread across the development as follows:

158

Building
D3
D4
D5
D5
D6
Total

Extant Consent (sqm)
0
0
91
74
192
357

Proposed (sqm)
0
204
123.10
150.64
99.76
578.50

Scale and Layout
2.7

The current application proposes building heights which would increase those of the
extant consent across all of the subject buildings. The proposed heights comparative
to the extant consent is set out below.

Building
D3
D4
D5
D6
D7
D8

Extant Consent
No of Storeys
7
10
7
9
7
7

Proposed
No of Storeys
8
21
9
13
8
N/A

Landscaping
2.8

The proposed landscaping of the development would continue the established
character of the street scene and semi-private amenity spaces provided across the
Beaufort Park development. The development would provide a central landscaped
podium area which would accommodate a semi-private central amenity space along
with private residential terraces.
Car and Cycle Parking Provision

2.9

The proposed car parking provision for the development would be accommodated
with a lower ground, upper ground and first floor level within the three storey under
croft car park. The car parking is shared across the entire D Block. The car parking
provision would be as follows:
Type
Accessible (Blue Badge)
Standard
Total

Extant Consent
17
308
325 (D1-D8)

Proposed
30
267
294 (D1-D7)

159

2.10

As set out, 10% of the residential spaces will be for blue badge holders and these are
positioned throughout the car park, but mainly focused towards the core entrances.
Electric car parking will also be provided at 20% active provision and 80% passive
provision.

2.11

In terms of cycle parking, the development would provide 928 cycle spaces including
18 short stay spaces provided externally and 4 long stay spaces provided internally
for the commercial units.
Non-Material Amendment Application (20/2005/NMA)

2.12

This full application is submitted concurrently with a Non Material Amendment
(NMA) which seeks to amend the approved Reserved Matters consent for Buildings
D1 and D2.

2.13

The NMA proposes minor internal and external changes to Buildings D1 and D2 to
align with the Application for Buildings D3-D7. Internal layout changes include a
revised mix of homes whilst retaining the same number overall. The NMA also
proposes some minor amendments to balcony and window positions on the east,
west and south elevations and internal courtyard elevations of Buildings D1 and D2
to ensure consistency with the facades proposed by the Application for Buildings D3D7.

3.0

Relevant Planning History

3.1

On the 8th April 2005 outline planning permission (ref: W00198AA/04) was granted
for a major mixed use development of 2,800 homes and 7,850 sqm of commercial
floorspace (use class A1 to A3, B1, D1 and D2) of the former RAF East Camp Site,
Hendon, now known as Beaufort Park. The following description of development
was approved:
“Redevelopment of Site comprising 2800 residential units (Class C3), approximately
7850 sqm of retail (Class A1), financial and professional services (Class A2), food and
drink (Class C3), business (Class B1), leisure and community (Class D1 and D2) uses
and driving test centre (sui generis) with associated landscaped open space, car
parking and access arrangements (OUTLINE)”

3.2

On 20th August 2009 full planning permission was approved for erection of 190
homes and 799 sqm of commercial floorspace (use class A1 to A5 and B1 use) with
associated access and car parking for Building C3, C4 and C15, following the
relocation of the watchtower building to the adjoining RAF museum.

160

3.3

Following the grant of outline planning permission in 2005 and full planning consent
for Building C in 2009, a number of Reserved Matters Applications and details
pursuant to condition 6 have been approved in relation to all buildings across the
site. In addition, a number of amendment applications have been submitted and
approved. A number of these buildings are completed and now occupied.

3.4

Beaufort Park as consented currently compromises 3,231 homes, including 2,595
private homes and 636 affordable homes, once the construction of each of the
approved buildings has completed. Since starting on Site in 2006, St George has
constructed 2,468 homes (78% of the total number of homes), including 566
affordable (89% of total number of affordable homes). Approximately 763 homes
remain to be constructed, including 70 affordable homes.

3.5

In specific relation to Block D, Reserved matters were approved on 12th November
2009 (ref: H/02713/09) for 350 homes.

3.6

Further to the approval of the Reserved Matters application, Buildings D3-D8 were
the subject of a separate full drop-in application (ref. 14/07064/FUL) which was
approved on 21st April 2015 for the following:
“Construction of a building of 6 cores of up to 10 storeys to comprise 237 residential
homes and 357 sqm GIA of commercial floorspace (A1 to A4, B1, B2, D1 and D2),
including associated car and cycle parking and landscaping (This application is
accompanied by an Environmental Statement).”

3.7

This permission has been implemented and remains extant and is referred to in this
Statement as the “Extant Permission”.

3.8

An application (ref.19/3370/FUL) was submitted on 7th for Full Planning Permission
in relation to Building D for the following works:
‘Construction of a building of part 8, part 9, part 13 and part 21 storeys to comprise
413 residential homes and 578.5 sqm GIA of commercial floorspace (Use Classes A1
to A4, B1, B2, D1 and D2), including associated car and cycle parking and
landscaping.’

3.9

The application was withdrawn on 14th October 2019.

4.0

Consultations

161

4.1

As part of the consultation exercise, 2293 letters were sent to neighbouring
occupiers with 220 objections and 2 letters of support subsequently being received.
Summary of Neighbour Objections

4.2

The material planning considerations contained within the objections received from
neighbouring residents can be summarised as follows. For the sake of brevity,
objections have been summarised and categorised for officer response.

Objection
The proposals are a major change to the
outline planning permission and
residents chose to purchase flats based
upon this. Major changes to the outline
planning permission are unacceptable.

Officer Response
There is no planning policy or legislation
which restricts the Applicant’s ability to
apply for new planning permissions, or
indeed to amend existing planning
permissions relating to Beaufort Park.
The LPA have a statutory obligation to
consider planning applications on their
own merit.

The application represents
overdevelopment and proposes and
excessive density of development

Whilst the proposed density exceeds
the optimum densities set out within
the current London Plan density matrix,
the development has been subject to a
design-led approach in line with the
Draft London Plan.
Beaufort Park as originally consented
was a high density site; the original
Beaufort Park masterplan approved
2,800 homes, at a density of 275 dph.
Beaufort Park as currently consented
comprises 3,231 homes. Accordingly,
the existing density of the wider
Beaufort Park masterplan area is 317
dph. The proposed density of the site,
accounting for the uplift by 156 homes,
increases the site wide density of the
masterplan to 332 dph (an increase of
only c.5%).
It is also important to note that the
London Plan also outlines that the
density matrix should not be applied
mechanistically. Officers consider that
the proposed density is acceptable and
162

the density of the scheme is assessed
fully within Section 6.0 of this report.
In terms of overdevelopment, the
environmental, townscape, transport
and social infrastructure capacity of the
area has been assessed and considered
and these assessments have not
identified any negative impacts arising
from the proposed development.
These are all discussed within the
relevant sections of this report.

The height and scale of development is
excessive.

The site is located within the Colindale
and Burnt Oak Opportunity Area which
is considered to be an area suitable for
the delivery of tall buildings, as
reflected in the London Plan and in
Policy CS5 of the Local Plan.
Since the grant of outline planning
permission for Beaufort Park in 2005
and the extant drop-in 2015 consent,
the character of Colindale has
developed and the area now includes a
number of tall buildings including those
within Colindale Gardens (up to 25
storeys) and the proposals at Colindale
Station where consent has recently
been granted for a residential building
of 29 storeys
The immediate context of the
development has also changed since
the extant permissions were consented
and the Peel Square public open space
has been implemented immediately to
the south of Block D. The open space
creates a visual gap to the south of the
application site which is enhanced by
the pedestrian way creating a clear
legible linear route leading directly to
the site of the proposed 21 storey
element of the development.

163

Officers consider that the context to the
south and the manner in which it has
created a linear focus on the southern
end of the application site creates clear
opportunity for a taller marker building
to be situated aligned with the linear
route. The 21-storey element of the
development would thus significantly
enhance the legibility of the immediate
context.
The proposed heights are therefore
considered to be appropriate within the
context. A tall building assessment is
undertaken in Section 9.0 of this report.
The scheme incorporates poor design
and architecture.

The proposed new building designs
have sought to respect the existing
context of Beaufort Park whilst
responding to the emerging built
context of surrounding developments,
including Colindale Gardens with its’
predominantly brick aesthetic.
The design changes are considered to
improve the appearance of the
buildings by proposing a simpler and
more contemporary architecture, whilst
still having regard to the original
principles established in the Beaufort
Park masterplan and include:
-

-

Façade materials which
create a contemporary
appearance with buff brick
that blends with existing and
consented adjacent schemes
including the wider Beaufort
Park masterplan and Umber
Court within Colindale
Gardens;
Architectural features
including stacked balconies
and parapets have been
introduced to Building D4 to
add emphasis and
punctuation to its height;

164

-

-

-

A stepped approach to the
façade elevations has been
adopted, using grey brick in
recesses to reduce the
overall perceived scale of
the building;
Hard and soft landscaping is
also proposed which will
continue the established
character of the high quality
landscaping within Beaufort
Park;
Provision of high quality
public realm within the
ownership boundaries and
provision of a linear park to
the south of Beaufort Park
Square, which ties in with
aspirations for the wider
Colindale area;

The proposals have been designed
within the same footprint as the Extant
Permission with the exception of a
minor realignment of the Building along
Aerodrome Road. As such, the layout of
the masterplan remains unaltered and
there will therefore be no severance of
Buildings E and F.
Officers consider that the scheme is
well designed and would fit in well
within its context. The design of the
scheme is discussed fully in Section 9.0
of this report.
The development would have an
unacceptable daylight and sunlight
impact on surrounding properties.

In terms of daylight, the only
neighbouring receptors where there
would be a less than 50% compliance is
in Building E1, E7 and E8 (25%) and in
Building D1 and D2 (48%). In assessing
the acceptability of the likely daylight
impacts it is important to note the
extent to which the assessed windows
fall below the BRE target values. In
respect of Building E1, E7 and E8, 90 of
the 197 (45%) of the windows would

165

experience VSC losses of greater than
0.6 their former value whilst 37 out of
54 (69%) windows Building D1 and D2
would also experience losses above the
0.6 threshold demonstrating that they
only marginally fail the VSC test.
As well as individually, the daylight
results must also be considered in the
whole and in this regard officers
consider that a compliance level of 58%
represents a good level of compliance
in the context of the wider benefits of
the scheme, the urban context and the
need to deliver on the strategic
objectives of the Colindale
Regeneration Area. Cognisant of the
above, officers consider that the
daylight impact of the proposed
development would be acceptable.
In terms of sunlight, officers consider
that, in the whole, the development
would achieve a good level of
compliance in terms of sunlight. Where
there are lower levels of compliance
such as in Buildings C8 and C8A, the
levels are still above 50%. Again, where
there are lower levels of compliance
this must be balanced against the wider
benefits of the scheme, the urban
context and the need to deliver on the
strategic objectives of the Colindale
Regeneration Area. On this basis,
officers consider that the sunlight
impact of the proposed development
would be acceptable.
The daylight/sunlight impact of the
development is discussed fully in
Section 10 of this report.
The development proposes inadequate
levels of parking and would increase
parking stress within Beaufort Park.

In terms of parking, the consented
parking site wide ratio for Beaufort Park
is currently 0.7 spaces per home. The
proposed scheme reduces this to 0.66
spaces per home (site wide ratio) and

166

0.55 spaces per unit within Building D
which is considered to be a minor
reduction and is in accordance with the
maximum standards set out in LB
Barnet’s policies, including Policy 3.5 of
the CAAP which encourages a lower
provision of 0.7 spaces per home. In
addition, adopted and emerging
London Plan policy supports reducing
parking delivery further; London Plan
Policy 6.13 aims to achieve an
appropriate balance between
promoting new development and
preventing excessive car parking
provision and states that all
developments in areas of good public
transport accessibility (in all parts of
London) should aim for significantly less
than 1 space per unit. Draft London
Plan Policy T6 further reinforces this
approach, stating that car free
development should be the starting
point for all development proposals in
places that are well connected by public
transport. In addition, the Draft Local
Plan seeks, within Draft Policy TRC03 to
reduce the standards set out in the
adopted Local Plan indicating that the
direction of travel within LBB is to
reduce car parking provision. It should
also be noted that LBB Highways and
the GLA have requested a lower parking
provision (see Paragraph 4.6).
Furthermore, comprehensive survey
work was undertaken to support the
planning application which
demonstrated that there is spare
capacity within the wider site to
accommodate parking as a result of the
additional homes. The assessment also
analysed car ownership levels and the
data illustrated that car ownership
levels have been decreasing in Barnet
and in comparable areas between 2001
and 2011 and further reductions can be
expected between 2011 and 2019.

167

Likewise the proportion of car free
households has increased. This
demonstrates that the need for parking
is likely to decrease in the future,
supporting a lower ratio, although the
spare capacity can accommodate
additional cars in any case.
Additional car parking survey work has
been undertaken since the application
was submitted which further assesses
parking demand within the site. This
demonstrates that there is 27-28%
spare capacity across the site. This does
not include the additional 294 car
parking spaces that are proposed within
the basement of Building D and future
residents of Building D will not be
permitted to park elsewhere in
Beaufort Park. There will therefore be
no impact on the number of spaces
available to existing residents.

It is likely that visitors to the
development will be travelling by public
transport. For those driving Pay and
Display bays on street around the
Estate can be used. Should they be
travelling by bike 1 visitor cycle spaces
will be provided externally within the
public realm at ground level. 4 spaces
are also provided externally for the
commercial uses in addition to 4
internal spaces.
Car Parking is fully discussed in Section
15 of this report.
The general public use the roads within
Beaufort Park as a cut through and the
proposals will make this situation
worse.

Access through the site is an existing
situation which is dictated by the extant
2005 consent. The current drop-in
application does not propose to alter
the road network within or outside of
the site. On this basis, officers consider
that the proposed development would
not exacerbate the current situation.

168

The development would result in an
unacceptable impact on local
infrastructure.

The Socio-Economics assessment
submitted as part of the Environmental
Statement has considered the impact of
the proposed additional homes on
education provision, healthcare, and
open space and the conclusions of this
demonstrate that there will be no
significant adverse impacts as a result
of the proposed development.
The scheme will be liable to the
Community Infrastructure Levy, and will
generate additional payment of c.
£6.3million comprising £4.6m extra LBB
CIL and £1.7m extra Mayoral CIL which
will fund strategic highways/junction
improvements, town centre
improvement projects, education
facilities, health facilities, community
and leisure facilities, and parks and
open spaces.

The consultation exercise for the
application was inadequate.

The LPA has fulfilled statutory
obligations in respect of the
consultation undertaken which meets
with the requirements of the DMPO.
In addition, St George is committed to
consulting with the community in
respect of the proposals for Beaufort
Park. A number of consultation
methods have been used to allow the
development team to gauge the local
community’s perception of the
proposals and relay any comments or
discussion points to St George to review
against the proposals.
These include contact with the local
elected representatives and two public
consultation sessions in May 2019.
After the consultation events, which
were not well attended, a follow up
letter was delivered to all residents at
Beaufort Park in June 2019. This letter
summarised the proposals and provided
a link to a dedicated website where all

169

the relevant material was provided
along with a contact address for
feedback.
A meeting with the Beaufort Park
Residents Association was also held in
June 2019 between the executive
committee and members of the St
George project team, providing an
opportunity to further discuss the
proposals and any concerns raised. A
follow up meeting was held In October
2019 to inform the Residents
Association of the withdrawn
application and the proposed
submission of the amended proposals.
Letters were sent confirming details
that the application was withdrawn in
October 2019 and a letter confirming
the application had been re-submitted
was issued in February 2020.

Responses from External Consultees
4.3

The responses received from external consultees can be summarised as follows:
Consultee
Metropolitan Police – Designing Out
Crime Officer

Response
No objection subject to an application
requiring that the application attains
Secured by Design certification.

Matthew Offord MP

Objection received based on the
following:
1. Like the previous application for
the site, it is a considerable
divergence from the master plan
which was agreed with LBB. The
height and density constitutes a
significant overdevelopment
within the Aerodrome Road
Corridor and will have an
adverse impact on the skyline
and wider area;

170

2. A building of 21 storeys will
completely alter the
appearance, symmetry and
attractiveness of Beaufort Park,
it will dominate a development
which is mid-rise not high rise;
3. The view of Beaufort Park from
Aerodrome Road would be
wholly altered by a tower block
of 21 storeys;
4. The 21 storey building will
overshadow and block the sun
from a number of existing
properties as well as the main
park of the development;
5. The proposals will introduce
high-rise, high density living
which was never intended for
Beaufort Park. The number of
homes per hectare will increase
significantly. This will put
significant additional pressure
on local infrastructure
particularly in light of other
developments taking place in
the area. The development
would also increase pressure on
existing communal areas/open
spaces.
6. Parking provision on the estate
is already at a premium and
these proposals will reduce the
parking ratio further and put
further pressure on local roads
which are already at capacity.
I am most concerned at the extent to
which the application would depart
from the original plan for Beaufort Park.
The proposals will have a detrimental
effect om the visual aspect of Beaufort
Park and will have an adverse impact on
the quality of life for residents.
Thames Water

No objection subject to condition on
piling.

171

Greater London Authority

Stage 1 Response (strategic issues
summary).
Principle of development:
The proposal for new homes and
commercial space in the Colindale and
Burnt Oak Opportunity Area is
supported (paragraphs 20-22). Housing:
35% of the scheme by habitable room
(32% by unit) is proposed as affordable
housing, split 66%/34% London
Affordable Rent/shared ownership. This
offer accords with the 35% threshold
for the Fast Track Route as set out in
Policy H5 of the Mayor’s intend to
publish London Plan and so is
supported. Grant funding must be
investigated and further detail on the
affordable rent levels and the shared
ownership income thresholds should be
provided before the proposal can be
considered under the Fast Track Route.
If eligible for the Fast Track Route, an
early stage review must be secured .
Urban design and heritage:
The general layout, height and massing
are supported in principle; however,
the Council should clarify if the adverse
daylight and sunlight impacts on
Building E are acceptable before the tall
building is acceptable. The applicant
should incorporate individual direct
entrances at ground floor, address the
daylight impacts on the single aspect
north facing units, provide inset
balconies above the tenth storey and
consider an extra core within Building
D3. A fire statement should be
prepared and submitted before the
application is referred back to the
Mayor at Stage 2. Less than substantial
harm is caused to the significance of the
Grade II listed Grahame-White Watch

172

Tower and Office and the RAF Museum
which is outweighed by the public
benefits of affordable housing and new
homes and jobs in the Opportunity
Area.
Transport:
A contribution towards the Colindale
station upgrade scheme should be
secured once the amount is confirmed.
The level of car parking should be
reduced. Measures to support active
travel and delivery of the Ten Healthy
Streets indicators within the
development and on local streets
should be secured. Further information
on air quality, energy, water and urban
greening is required.
Following the Stage 1 response, further
information was provided by the
applicant to address the outstanding
matters relating to design and
energy/sustainability were provided to
the satisfaction of the GLA.
London Fire Brigade

4.5

Satisfied with the proposals in terms of
fire access and no objections.

Officers are content that the matters raised in the consultation responses above
have been adequately addressed within the main body of the report and have been
conditioned where necessary.
Responses from Internal Consultees

4.6

The responses received from internal consultees can be summarised as follows:
Consultee
Environmental Health

Response
No objections subject to conditions on
contaminated land, noise and air
quality.

Transport and Highways

Proposed Development – Summary

173

393 residential units with 578.5sqm of
commercial units (use class A, B and D).
906 residential cycle parking spaces, 1
visitor cycle parking spaces and 8 cycle
parking spaces for the commercial use.
294 car parking spaces at a ratio of 0.55
spaces per unit.
2 loading bays, one on the west and
one on the east side of the
development, situated appropriately to
best serve the commercial, and
residential, uses on site.
Car Parking & Travel Demand
The site is located within the Colindale
area CPZ, however there are no streets
within a 200m walk distance that could
accommodate residents parking (as per
the Lambeth Methodology) and as such
we do not have any concerns relating to
this.
The applicant has proposed a parking
ratio for the residential properties in
the region of 0.55 spaces per unit.
Whilst this is on the high side when
compared to recent approved
developments such as the Former
Telephone Exchange, Sainsburys The
Hyde and Rushgrove’s development
within The Hyde area which is
approximately 2.0km from the site, it is
comparable to other recently permitted
developments within the Colindale
area.
The higher level parking provision does
not necessarily create additional car
based trips from this site, as the
sustainable transport mode is
suggested to be, and likely to be, by far
the largest share of trips. Nonetheless,
we maintain our position that the
parking ratio be no higher than 0.5 as
per GLA policy for residential
developments within Opportunity

174

Areas, noting that this site does fall
inside the Colindale and Burnt Oak
Opportunity Area.
We request that the applicant make this
revision to their car parking provision
accordingly.
The proposed development is located
on Aerodrome Road, to the eastern side
of the Beaufort Park development,
opposite Colindale Gardens. The site
has a moderate PTAL of 2, but benefits
from being within a 12min walking
distance of Colindale LUL Station. The
site also benefits from frequent bus
services which pass to the south and
the north of the Beaufort Park site as a
whole. Please see further information
in the ‘Stations’ section below.
Two car club spaces with an
appropriate on-street position are to be
agreed and funded by the developer.
Monitoring of the use of these car club
vehicles will occur as part of the Travel
Plan process, and if it is found that
additional car club bays / vehicles are
required to support the development
we would expect that additional bays
and vehicles will come forward.
A car parking management plan, which
sets out how the various car parks and
disabled parking will be managed,
including ensuring that disabled spaces
are allocated on the basis of need and
not attached to a particular flat or
leased long term, should be secured by
condition. Disabled / Accessible parking
spaces are to be provided to Draft
London Plan standards throughout the
proposed development.
Stations

175

We have not identified any significant
impacts at Colindale LUL Station and it
should be noted that this proposal is for
156 additional units over and above
those already approved as part of the
original outline application for the
Beaufort Park site. The Transport
Assessment shows that these additional
units would result in 47 additional AM
peak trips, and 44 additional PM peak
trips, which is less than 1 person per
minute, and less than 4 people per
southbound service.
We have no concerns with these
additional flows.
Pedestrian and Cyclist Access
The applicant has presented an Active
Travel Zone assessment for the
development. The ATZ includes a
review of the key links around the
Colindale area itself and highlights
issues with accessibility along Colindale
Avenue, particularly past Colindale LUL
Station toward the A5 which is more
likely to be used as a route for
pedestrian and cyclists to reach the
numerous major food stores which are
located in this area.
Pedestrian and Cyclist passage through
Colindale Avenue during peak times is
notably challenging due to congestion
on both the footways and carriageway,
however this again eases after Colindale
LUL Station is passed. The LBB scheme
to improve Colindale Roundabout and
Colindale Avenue itself should assist
with improving both of these situations,
however the timescales for these
projects are presenting unclear.
Cycle parking

176

To be provided to London Plan and
LCDS Standards. The applicant has
worked toward improving the cycle
parking offer for Block D and will now
provide a much wider range of cycle
stand types and improvements to aisle
widths and layout, so that the
accessibility of the stores is improved
and to ensure that all residents can find
a suitable space to securely leave their
bicycle.
The applicant have also committed to
providing bicycle maintenance stands
and pumps in fixed locations within
stores, on the basis that at least 1 of
each of these are available to all
residents regardless of their tenure.
This is supported and we are happy to
accept the revised cycle parking
proposals.
The majority of the cycle stores are
accessed from inside the Block D
residential car park, with a segregated
pedestrian / cyclist access route
provided to enter this car park. This is
acceptable.
Cycle parking for the Commercial units
can be Conditioned and accommodated
within the curtilage of each unit, or
alternately, immediately outside the
unit in the publicly accessible private
realm.
Buses
The development proposals will result
on an additional 13 bus trips during the
AM peak, and 13 additional trips in the
PM peak. We do not envisage that this
would create any issues for the existing
bus services around the Beaufort Park
site.
Freight

177

It is proposed that deliveries and
servicing take place from within the
Beaufort Park site, and loading facilities
are being provided on both sides of the
development to facilitate these
activities. A full A Delivery and
Servicing Management Plan will need to
be secured by conditioned. A
Demolition and Construction
Management Logistics Plan
(DMLP/CMLP) should also be secured
by condition.

4.7

SUDS/Drainage

Recommended that a revised SUDS
document is secured by condition prior
to the application commencing.

Arboricultural Officer

No objection subject to condition on
landscaping.

Affordable Housing

The development should provide 40%
affordable housing with a ratio
of 60:40 tenure in relation to
affordable rent and
intermediate homes
respectively.

Officers are content that the matters raised in the consultation responses above
have been adequately addressed within the main body of the report and have been
conditioned where necessary.
PLANNING ASSESSMENT

5.0

Principle of Development

5.1

The application site represents Block D of the consented Beaufort Park development
which has consent to deliver 3,231 homes across the wider masterplan. The site is
located within the Colindale Regeneration Area and within the Aerodrome Road
Corridor of Change where residential redevelopment is promoted through Policy CS1
with 8,100 new homes expected in the Colindale Regeneration Area by 2026. Block D
of Beaufort Park also benefits from an extant drop-in consent which comprised an
uplift in residential units along with commercial units at ground floor level. Officers
consider that there is therefore clear precedent for the proposed principle land uses

178

and mix as well as the principle of the intensification of the residential component of
the development.
5.2

The Proposed Development includes 578.5 sqm of commercial floorspace at the
ground floor fronting Aerodrome Road. Whilst this would represent an increase of
221.5 sqm over the consented permission, as set out above the principle of the
inclusion of ground floor commercial uses to Aerodrome Road was established in the
outline planning permission and extant planning permission. The proposed quantum,
although increased slightly from the extant consent, is limited and would serve the
need generated by occupiers of the development and local community and the
residents of neighbouring developments including Colindale Gardens.

6.0

Residential Density

6.1

London Plan policy 3.4 seeks to optimise the housing output of sites taking into
account local context and character, the design principles in chapter 7 of the London
Plan and public transport capacity. Taking into account these factors, Table 3.2 of the
London Plan sets out a density matrix which serves as guidance for appropriate
densities in different locations dependent on the aforementioned factors.

6.2

It should be noted that the Draft London Plan, takes a less prescriptive approach and
Policy D3 states inter alia that the density of a development should result from a
design-led approach to determine the capacity of the site with particular
consideration should be given to the site context, its connectivity and accessibility by
walking and cycling, and existing and planned public transport (including PTAL) and
the capacity of surrounding infrastructure. Policy D6 goes on to state that proposed
residential development that does not demonstrably optimise the housing density of
the site in accordance with this policy should be refused.

6.3

Beaufort Park is also identified in the Colindale Area Action Plan as targeting
densities ranging from 120 dwellings per hectare (dph) to 150 dph. The application
site is best described as ‘urban’ defined within the London Plan as “areas with
predominantly dense development such as, for example, terraced houses, mansion
blocks, a mix of different uses, medium building footprints and typically buildings of
two to four storeys, located within 800 metres walking distance of a District centre
or, along main arterial routes”. The Site has a Public Transport Accessibility Level
(PTAL) ranging between two and three.

6.5

The density of the proposed development across all phases would equate to 332
dph. The optimum density range for a site such as this as set out within the London

179

Plan density matrix (London Plan – Table 3.2) would be between 45 and 170 units
per hectare. The proposed density is therefore in excess of this optimum range.
6.8

It is important to note at this stage that the wider consented Beaufort Park scheme
is a high-density scheme within the Colindale Regeneration Area with a consented
density of 317 dph. The proposed density would therefore only represent an
increase of approximately 5% over and above the consented density of the wider
site.

6.9

Furthermore, the London Plan Housing SPG sets out that development which
exceeds the density ranges will not necessarily be considered unacceptable but will
require particularly clear demonstration of exceptional circumstances and a sensitive
balance must be struck. The document goes on to state inter alia that where
proposals are made for developments above the relevant density range they must
be tested rigorously, taking particular account of not just factors such as dwelling
mix, design and quality, physical access to services and the contribution of the
scheme towards ‘place shaping’. In this case, officers consider that

6.10

Whilst still an emerging document, Policy D3 of the draft London Plan also places a
greater emphasis on a design-led approach being taken to optimising the
development capacity of a particular site and to make the best use of land, whilst
also considering the range of factors set out in the preceding paragraph. Policy D4 of
the emerging draft London Plan requires additional design scrutiny of schemes which
exceed the optimum density ranges. The application is therefore consistent with the
draft London Plan policies on density and design.

6.11

In this case, the application site has been subject to a design-led approach to
optimise the potential of the site with cognisance of the factors outlined above.
Whilst full assessment is set out within the relevant sections of this report, in all
respects officers consider that the scheme delivers a high-quality development
which fully justifies an increased density. The London Plan also outlines that the
density matrix should not be applied mechanistically and in this case it is considered
that, notwithstanding the proposed density being in excess of the optimum range, it
is appropriate for the site and in accordance with Policy 3.4 of the London Plan and
in accordance with the strategic objectives for housing delivery within the Colindale
Regeneration Area.

7.0

Residential Standards and Living Quality

7.1

A high quality built environment, including high quality housing in support of the
needs of occupiers and the community is part of the ‘sustainable development’

180

imperative of the NPPF. It is also implicit in London Plan Ch1 ‘Context and Strategy’,
Ch2 ‘London’s Places’, Ch3 ‘London’s People’, and Ch7 ‘London’s Living Places and
Spaces’, and is explicit in policies 2.6, 3.5, 7.1, and 7.2. It is also a relevant
consideration in Barnet Core Strategy Policies CSNPPF, CS1, CS4, and CS5
Development Management DPD policies DM01, DM02 and DM03 as well as the
Barnet Sustainable Design and Construction SPD, Residential Design Guidance SPD
and CAAP policy 5.2.
Dwelling Mix
7.2

Policy DM08 of the DMP – DPD states that new residential development should
provide an appropriate mix of dwellings and with regards to market housing states
that 4 bedroom units are the highest priority and 3 bedroom units are a medium
priority.

7.3

The development proposes 393 residential units with the following mix of units
(shown comparatively with the extant scheme):
Unit Size
Studio
1 bedroom
2 bedroom
3 bedroom
Total

7.4

Extant
28
63
112
34
237

%
11.8
26.5
47.3
14.3
100

Proposed
26
159
143
65
393

%
6.6
40.5
36.4
16.5
100

It is considered that the scheme comprises a good mix of housing types and sizes,
including a good level of larger family sized units, which have been increased as a
proportion above the extant scheme. Whilst there is a larger proportion of 1bedroom units, this is considered to be appropriate given the site’s characteristics
and location. This is also counterbalanced by an increase in the number of 3bedroom units. Officers therefore consider the proposed dwelling mix to be
acceptable and in accordance with Policy DM08 of the Local Plan.
Residential Space Standards

7.5

Table 3.3 in the London Plan provides a minimum gross internal floor area for
different sizes of dwelling. This is set out in the table below, which shows the areas
relevant to the units proposed within the development:
Dwelling Type
(bedrooms/persons)

Minimum Internal
Floorspace (square metres)
181

Flats

7.6

1 bed (2 persons)
2 bed (3 persons)
2 bed (4 persons)
3 bed (5 persons)

50
61
70
86

All of the proposed units would at least meet and in most cases would exceed the
minimum standards, providing a good standard of accommodation for future
occupiers.
Wheelchair Housing

7.7

Barnet Local Plan policy DM03 requires development proposals to meet the highest
standards of accessible and inclusive design, whilst Policy DM02 sets out further
specific considerations. All units should have 10% wheelchair home compliance, as
per London Plan policy 3.8.

7.8

The applicant’s Planning Statement sets out that 10% of the residential units would
be provided as wheelchair adaptable in line with aforementioned policy context and
in accordance with Part M4(3) of the Building Regulations. This is considered to be
acceptable and a condition is attached which would secure these wheelchair units.
Amenity Space

7.9

Policy 3.5 of the London Plan states that housing developments should be of the
highest quality internally, externally and in relation to their context and to the wider
environment. In addition, Policy 3.5 states that Local Development Framework’s
should incorporate minimum space standards that conform to those set out in the
London Plan and the Mayors Housing SPG. This approach is continued in Draft
London Plan Policy D6.

7.10

Barnet’s Sustainable Design and Construction SPD Table 2.3 sets the minimum
standards for outdoor amenity space provision in new residential developments. For
both houses and flats, kitchens over 13sqm are counted as a habitable room and
habitable rooms over 20sqm are counted as two habitable rooms for the purposes of
calculating amenity space requirements. The minimum requirements are set out in
the table below:
Outdoor Amenity Space Requirements
For Flats:
5m2 of space per habitable room
For Houses:
40m2 of space for up to four habitable rooms

Development Scale
Minor, major and large scale
Minor, major and large scale

182

55m2 of space for up to five habitable rooms
70m2 of space for up to six habitable rooms
85m2 of space for up to seven or more
habitable rooms
Development proposals will not normally be
permitted if it compromises the minimum
outdoor amenity space standards.

Householder

7.10

The development proposes a mix of private and communal amenity areas.
Communal amenity space would be provided for the residents of the development
semi-private space at podium level. Private amenity spaces would be provided
through external balconies to each of the units, all of which meet or exceed the
standards as set out in the Mayor’s Housing SPG. Block D also sits adjacent to
Beaufort Square, a central area of public open space within the wider development.

7.11

In light of the provision above, officers consider that the development would be fully
policy compliant in terms of amenity space provision.
Children’s Play Space

7.12

London Plan Policy 3. 6 and draft London Plan Policy S4 require development
proposals to make provisions for play and informal recreation based on the expected
child population generated by the scheme. The Mayor’s Play and Recreation SPG and
draft London Plan Policy S4 expect a minimum of 10 sqm. per child to be provided in
new developments.

7.13

The child yield/playspace calculator was updated in June 2019, and in October 2019,
and based on the updated calculator the development would be required to provide
1,453 sqm for the 0-11 age groups and a policy compliant provision is proposed on
the podium deck. A condition would be attached to secure details of the play
equipment for approval by the LPA.

7.14

The child yield for the Proposed Development has been calculated in accordance
with the GLA’s Shaping Neighbourhood’s Play and Informal Recreation SPG. A total
of 930 sqm of play space for 0-11 year olds is provided on-site split across the park to
the north of Buildings D1 and D2 and on the podium which is compliant with the
calculated yield. The space will include features which provide opportunities for
playful interaction. This would be landscaped to a high quality and include areas of
informal play for children as well as forming a pleasant pedestrian route through the
development and a place to sit, meet and relax.

183

6.75 Child play space should also be considered in the context of the play facilities in the
wider Beaufort Park development which provides opportunities for play for all ages,
including 12+ years. This includes the residential square (5,112 sqm), a Local
Equipped Area for Play (LEAP) (497 sqm) a Local Area for Play (LAP) (143 sqm) and a
MUGA (Multi Use Games Area) (398 sqm) located across the wider Site which offer
opportunities for play for children of all ages. This totals 6,150 sqm of communal
amenity space in addition to the extensive high quality public realm provided across
the Beaufort Park Site. Further detail can be found in Section 10 of the Design and
Access Statement. In addition, a planning obligation will be secured which will
contribute towards the provision of play facilities.
6.76 The Site also has a number of parks within reasonable walking distance including Sunny
Hill Park, Silkstream Park, Colindale Park, Rushgrove Park and Copthall Playing Fields
which residents would be able to access. On this basis, the proposed playspace
provision is considered acceptable.

Privacy
7.15

Policy DM01 of the Local Plan requires that development have regard to the amenity
of residential occupiers. In this regard it is necessary to consider the design of the
scheme and the privacy that would be afforded to future occupiers of the
development.

7.16

Within the internal courtyard area, there would be separation distances of 34 metres
and 56 metres between the north/south and east/west facing elevations
respectively. Both of these separation distances would be well in excess of the SPD
minumum distance of 21 metres for facing windows. Whilst there would be shorter
perpendicular separation distances, any harm would be mitigated by the oblique
nature of the views and by the proposed privacy screens, details of which would be
secured by condition.
Outlook

7.17

In terms of outlook, as set out above the windows within the internal courtyard area,
would have separation distances of 34 metres and 56 metres between the
north/south and east/west facing elevations respectively. Again, this is well in excess
of the recommended minimum separation distance and would provide a good
quality of outlook for residents.
Daylight/Sunlight and Overshadowing

184

7.18

A ‘Daylight and Sunlight Within’ report from Anstey Horne was submitted in support
of the application assessing the light within the proposed new dwellings. This report
assesses the daylight, sunlight and overshadowing relating to the proposed scheme
against the BRE Guidelines. It should be noted that the BRE Guidance is not intended
to be applied rigidly. Furthermore, when considering the impacts, it is important to
note the design constraints of the Block D development site. The site has been
earmarked for development since the outset of the Beaufort Park regeneration and
the perimeter block layout in which Block D sits provides a limited space for the final
infill block. The footprint of the proposed building is fixed by the existing layout of
the masterplan and the distance between the buildings has been retained as per the
extant permission, ensuring that there are no overlooking and privacy impacts.

7.19

In terms of daylight, the primary method of assessment as set out in BRE guidance
for daylight levels of a proposed development is to ascertain the Average Daylight
Factor (ADF) which represents the mean daylight factor on the horizontal working
plane inside the room and is a measure of the overall amount of daylight in a space.
The target ADF for the different habitable room uses are as follows:
-

Bedrooms 1%
Living Rooms 1.5%
Kitchens 2%

7.20

The ADF results as set out in the Anstey Horne document sets out that 27 (28%) of
the 95 LKD’s, the primary living space, tested will achieve the recommended
minimum 2% ADF target. Whilst this appears to be low, this figure should be viewed
in the context of the ADF results of the extant consent where 4 (12%) of the 33 LKD’s
tested would achieve 2% ADF target. Whilst there are more windows assessed given
the scaled-up nature of the current proposals, it is clear that as a proportion, the
ADF compliance as a percentage would be increased over and above the baseline set
by the extant consent.

7.21

It is also important to note that all of the rooms tested are located beneath
balconies which provide the requisite private amenity space but which inexorably
would reduce access to daylight in the windows below. The results must also be
considered in the context of the depth and multifunctional nature of the LKD’s with
the primary living space receiving a higher level of daylight. This aligns with BRE
guidance which sets out that non-daylit internal kitchens should be avoided
wherever possible, but that if the layout means that a small internal galley-type
kitchen is inevitable, it should be directly linked to a well daylit living area.

185

7.22

Based on the abovementioned factors and the fact that the daylight results would
represent an improvement (as a percentage) over the baseline position, officers
consider that the daylighting of the proposed scheme would be acceptable.

7.23

In terms of sunlighting, the primary method of assessment as set out in BRE
guidance is to assess Annual Probable Sunlight Hours (APSH). BRE guidance
recommends that interiors where the occupants expect sunlight should receive at
least one quarter (25%) of APSH, including in the winter months between 21
September and 21 March at least 5% of APSH.

7.24

The Anstey Horne document sets out that 55 of the habitable rooms were tested for
sunlight and the APSH results confirm that 18 rooms (33%) would achieve the
recommended 25% APSH with 5% available in the winter months. 12 (21%) of the 55
rooms tested achieve or exceed the 5% winter sunlight target but have total APSH
below the target of 25%. All 12 of these rooms would have total APSH of between
19% to 23%.

7.25

As with the daylight assessment, it is important to consider these results in the
context of the baseline position provided by the extant consent. In the 2015 consent,
11 (44%) of 25 rooms would have achieved the recommended APSH compliance.
Whilst the current proposals demonstrate a slightly lower compliance level, the
results are not significantly dissimilar to the extant consent.

7.26

Again, all those rooms that do not achieve both APSH targets have their window
sited below a balcony, which inexorably limits the level of sunlight available to the
room below. The lower levels of compliance must also be balanced against the high
density urban environment of the location, the wider benefits of the scheme and the
strategic context of the site. With these factors in mind, officers consider that the
sunlight levels of the proposed scheme would be acceptable.

7.27

In terms of overshadowing of amenity areas, BRE guidelines suggest that “at least
half of the amenity areas … should receive at least two hours of sunlight on 21
March.

7.28

The report from Anstey Horne sets out that the two sections of the amenity space
would receive 0% and 9% direct sunlight on 21st March respectively. Whilst these
figures would increase to 98% and 55% when overshadowing is assessed on 21st
June, it is clear that there would be a significant shortfall on the primary assessment
date of 21st March. This shortfall is also significantly below the levels of direct
sunlight consented through the extant scheme. Officers note that residents would
have access to both private amenity spaces with largely better lighting conditions

186

however this level of shortfall must be considered as harmful to the living conditions
of future residents. Weight is therefore attached to this level of shortfall which will
be fully assessed in the planning balance exercise at the end of this report.
Noise
7.29

An assessment of the noise and vibration impacts of the Proposed Development is in
the Environmental Statement which includes an assessment of the construction and
operational phases of the development.

7.30

During the construction phase, the ES sets out that noise impacts are likely to be
negligible adverse. Such impacts are largely unavoidable given the nature of the
construction process and the surrounding environment. Nevertheless, a robust
construction management plan would be secured as part of any permission which
would control and mitigate construction activities to ensure that noise arising is
minimised.

7.31

During the operational phase of development, the ES identifies that any noise
impacts would be negligible and arising mainly from road traffic noise, train induced
noise, noise from commercial properties and servicing noise. In terms of the
commercial premises, the application seeks a flexible permission with the potential
for some of the commercial spaces to be occupied as more noise generating uses
such as a gym or a pub/restaurant. On this basis, conditions would also be attached
relating to opening hours and noise mitigation to ensure that such uses would not
have an unacceptable noise impact.

7.32

It should also be noted that the noise assessment has been reviewed by the
Council’s Environmental Health officer who had no objections to the application
subject to relevant conditions being attached.

8.0

Affordable Housing

8.1

London Plan 2016 Policy 3.12 seeks the maximum reasonable amount of affordable
housing to be negotiated. The Barnet Core Strategy (Policy CS4) seeks a borough
wide target of 40% affordable homes on sites capable of accommodating ten or
more dwellings.

8.2

The current application is referable to the GLA and as such the Mayors Affordable
Housing and Viability SPG is relevant. The SPG sets out a ‘fast track’ viability route
whereby no viability appraisal is required if a development provides a level of 35%
affordable housing (calculated by habitable room).

187

8.3

The proposed development proposes the following affordable mix:
Tenure

Studio

1 Bed

2 Bed

3 Bed

By Unit

By Hab

Intermediate

0

22

27

0

49
(13%

125
(12%)

London
Affordable
Rent

0

15

35

26

76
(19%)

239
(23%)

Total

0

37

62

26

125
(32%)

364
(35%)

8.4

It should be noted that Mayor’s Affordable Housing SPG outlines that affordable
housing should be provided on the basis of 30% at low cost rent, 30% an
intermediate product and 40% at the discretion of the LPA. Barnet policy seeks to
achieve a 60:40 split between rented and intermediate. In this case, the applicant is
proposing to provide 65% of the habitable rooms as London Affordable Rent and
Affordable Rent , for which there is the greatest need in the borough. Of this
provision, 26 units (34%) would be provided as 3-bedroom family sized units, again
addressing a identified need in the borough.

8.5

Whilst in line with the Mayor’s SPG and qualified for the ‘fast track’ approach, the
scheme is still below the local target of 40% as set out within Policy CS4 of Barnet’s
Local Plan. However, the proposals deliver affordable housing in excess of the extant
consent which is considered to be a benefit. The proposed scheme also improves the
tenure split in favour of Affordable Rent when compared to the extant consent. In
this respect, the viable position would be substantially below the 35% being offered.
The applicant is therefore providing level of affordable, albeit below the 40% local
target, that is over and above what the viable position would be which should be
seen as a significant benefit to the scheme. It should also be noted that the GLA
indicated support for the affordable housing proposals within the Stage 1 response.

8.6

Having regard to all of the above, officers consider that the 35% of the habitable
rooms being provided as affordable is acceptable and is a significant benefit to the
scheme. Officers also consider that the provision of a significant proportion of the
affordable housing provision as LAR is also a significant benefit to the scheme. The
level and type of affordable housing provision must therefore weigh heavily in favour
of the application in the context of the holistic planning balance assessment.

188

9.0

Design, Appearance and Visual Impact

9.1

The application relates to Block D, which would comprise of 6 separate but adjoined
buildings. The proposed heights of these buildings are shown below comparatively
with the extant consent.

Building
D3
D4
D5
D6
D7
D8
9.2

Extant Consent
Height (Storeys)
7
10
7
9
7
7

Proposed
Height (Storeys)
8
21
9
13
8
N/A

As is clear from the table above, all of the buildings would constitute a tall building
for the purposes of assessment, with the Barnet Local Plan defining a tall building as
one which is 8 storeys or above. The height of the proposed buildings therefore
necessarily dictates that a tall buildings assessment of the application must be
undertaken.
Tall Building Assessment

9.3

London Plan Policy 7.7 sets out the approach to tall buildings in London requiring
that appropriate locations are identified in Local Plan’s. The policy sets out design
criteria that tall buildings should comply with. Further to this, London Plan
paragraph 7.25 defines a tall building as one that is substantially taller than its
surroundings, or significantly changes the skyline.

9.4

Draft London Plan Policy D9 (Tall Buildings) states that tall buildings should only be
developed in locations that are identified in Development Plans. The impact of
buildings in long, mid range and immediate views should be addressed and the
environmental impact of tall buildings should also be tested with regard to wind,
daylight and sunlight, noise and cumulative impacts.

9.5

Paragraph 3.8.1 to this policy further states that whilst high density does not need to
imply high rise, tall buildings can form part of a plan-led approach to facilitating
regeneration opportunities and managing future growth, contributing to new homes
and economic growth particularly in order to make optimal use of the capacity of
sites which are well-connected by public transport and have good access to services
and amenities. Tall buildings can help people navigate through the city by providing

189

reference points and emphasising the hierarchy of a place such as its main centres of
activity, and important street junctions and transport interchanges.
9.6

Core Strategy Policy CS5 of the Barnet Core Strategy identifies those areas of the
borough where tall buildings will be suitable. The site is located within the Colindale
Regeneration Area which is identified as one of the areas suitable for tall buildings by
the Policy. Development within the Colindale Regeneration Area is also guided by
the Colindale Area Action Plan (CAAP) and policy 5.3 of the document states that the
height of new buildings in Colindale will take account of accessibility to public
transport, shops and services and the height of existing buildings in the vicinity of the
proposal site. The policy goes to state that tall buildings should be of excellent design
quality in their own right and enhance qualities of its immediate location and wider
setting and should have regard to Guidance on Tall Buildings by CABE and English
Heritage. This site is identified in Figure 5.2 of the CAAP as being appropriate for
buildings in the range of 6 to 9 storeys.

9.5

Whilst, the principle of tall buildings in this location is acceptable pursuant to the
Policy CS5 and its location, it’s is apparent that the proposed heights would exceed
the range of heights considered appropriate for the site within the CAAP. On this
point, it is important to note that extant 2015 consent incorporates a maximum
height of 10 storeys (Building D4) and thus has set a precedent for going over and
above the range of heights set out in the CAAP. Whilst clearly the scale of the
exceedance above the CAAP range is greater within the proposed development, the
key assessment is whether the proposed additional height would be acceptable
within its context. In order to fully assess this, it is necessary to carry out further
assessment under Policy DM05 of the Local Plan which identifies 5 criteria which tall
buildings would adhere to. These criteria are set out below with an assessment of
the application against each criterion.
i)

9.6

An active street frontage

The development proposes to provide 578.5 square metres of flexible use
commercial floorspace at ground floor level. The commercial units would be located
at the southern end of D Block fronting onto Aerodrome Road (shown in image
below). All of the flexible uses for which the application would provide an active
frontage which would fully satisfy the requirements of this criterion. Elsewhere, the
development would provide residential core entrances fronting onto the estate
roads within the site and providing activation of the frontages.

190

ii)

Successful integration into the urban fabric

9.7

The area surrounding the application site is characterised by a high-density
residential development of both an established and an emerging nature. The
Beaufort Park development incorporates many tall buildings and rises to a maximum
of 18 storeys (Building C10) whilst to the south of the site is the Colindale Gardens
development which is currently being built out and which will incorporate a buildings
up to a maximum of 25 storeys (an application is also currently being considered
which would increase the heights of the buildings across the Colindale Gardens site).

9.8

In order to allow for such an assessment to be undertaken by the LPA, the applicant
has provided a Townscape and Visual Impact Assessment (TVIA) within the ES (WSP).
In order to ascertain the scope such an assessment, a number of viewpoints were
agreed between the applicant and the LPA. These viewpoints are represented in the
image below.

191

9.9

View 1 is taken from Peel Square, the large area of public open space located within
the adjacent Colindale Gardens scheme. Peel Square, as well one of the main
pedestrian routes through the Colindale Gardens site towards the station. This
development to the south has emerged since the extant consent was approved and
has significantly changed the context surrounding the application site. As can be
seen from the existing view looking north, the open space creates a visual gap to the
south of the application site which is enhanced by the pedestrian way creating a
clear legible linear route leading directly to the site of the proposed 21 storey
element of the development.

9.10

Officers consider that the context to the south and the manner in which it has
created a linear focus on the southern end of the application site creates clear
opportunity for a taller marker building to be situated aligned with the linear route.
The 21-storey element of the development would thus significantly enhance the
legibility of the immediate context.

192

View 1 – Proposed
9.18

Based on the view above, from a townscape perspective officers consider that the
magnitude of the change in View 1 would be significant and that the change would
be beneficial.

9.19

View 2 is taken from Aerodrome Road to the east of the site with Block E of the
Beaufort Park development and the northern edge of Colindale Gardens presenting
clearly in the view. The 21 storey element would sit centrally within the view
situated directly behind the 11 storey corner element of Block E which would offset
some of the massing of the 21 storeys.

9.20

Aerodrome Road represents a main arterial road passing the south of the site and
the 21 storey element would be located at the nexus of this road and the pedestrian
route through the Colindale Gardens to Block D. On this basis, officers consider that
the positioning of the tall building in this location would again assist in the visual
legibility of the area from this view. Furthermore, Aerodrome Road is identified as a
corridor of change and incorporates development of a varied scale. This is evident in
the proposed view.

193

View 2 Proposed
9.21

Based on the view above, from a townscape perspective officers consider that the
magnitude of the change in View 2 would be significant and that the change would
be minor beneficial.

9.22

View 3 is also taken from Aerodrome Road to the west of the site. Block C of the
Beaufort Park development as well as the northern edge of Colindale Gardens are
visible in this view. The proposed development would be visible to the right of the
Block C massing and would be of a similar height and scale in this perspective. The
proposed development would be largely subsumed by Block C in this view which
would reduce the magnitude of the change.

9.23

In this view, the scale and the massing of the proposed development would be
consistent with the existing scale of development and would be congruent within its
context.

194

View 3 – Proposed
9.24

Based on the view above, from a townscape perspective officers consider that the
magnitude of the change in View 3 would be minor and that the change would be
beneficial.

9.25

View 4 is a long range view taken from Sunny Hill Park. The view shows that the
proposed development would be clearly visible and would present prominently
within the view. The height of the development would be perceptible as being above
that of the surrounding development however there are other taller elements visible
at Block C and on the Colindale Gardens site. The presence of these existing tall
buildings reduces the extent to which the proposed development would be seen as
an outlier within its context.

195

View 4 – Proposed (wireline)
9.26

Based on the view above, from a townscape perspective officers consider that the
magnitude of the change in View 4 would be moderate and that the change would
be minor adverse.

9.27

View 5 is another long-range view taken from Greyhound Hill looking west at the
site. Again, the 21-storey element of the development would be prominent centrally
within the view. Whilst visible above the horizon, officers consider that the height of
the building tall above the horizon as to be unacceptably dominant or incongruous
within its context.

196

View 5 – Proposed (wireline)
9.26

Based on the view above, from a townscape perspective officers consider that the
magnitude of the change in View 5 would be moderate and that the change would
be minor adverse.

9.27

The visual impact of the development must be assessed in the whole as well as in
individual views and based on the above, on balance, officers consider that the
scheme successfully integrates with the surrounding urban fabric in line with the
requirements of criterion (ii). Where adverse impacts are identified, these are not
considered to be major adverse and are outweighed by the beneficial impacts. This is
most clearly evident in views 1, 2 and 3.

9.28

It is also important to note that the GLA are supportive of the proposed building
heights and massing and note within their Stage 1 response that the height strategy
represents a sound approach in terms of optimising the development potential of
the site and responding to the nature of the surrounding emerging context.
iii)

9.29

A regard to topography and no adverse impact on Local Viewing Corridors,
local views and the skyline

There are no local viewing corridors or strategic local views which would be
impacted by the development.

197

iv)
9.30

Not cause harm to heritage assets and their setting

In terms of heritage assets, there are no listed buildings within the site however the
application site is located within the proximity of the following:
-

-

-

-

9.31

Statue of Sir Robert Peel (Grade II), which is located approximately 150m to
the south-west within the Peel Metropolitan Police Training Centre;
Police Box (Grade II), which is located approximately 420m to the west within
the Peel Metropolitan Police Training Centre;
Grahame White Hangar (Grade II), which lies approximately 210m to the
north;
Former Control Tower, Watch Office, Aircraft Factory and Factory Office
Block at Hendon Aerodrome (Grade II), which lies approximately 220m to the
north;
Royal Air Force Officers Mess (Grade II), which lies approximately 430m to
the west.
Aeroville (Grade II) and Colindale Hospital Administrative Block (Grade II)
located 830m and 980m to the west, respectively;
Former Entrance Gates to The Grahame White Aviation Company Limited
(Grade II); and Royal Air Force Museum (Grade II), located 465m and 500m to
the north respectively;
Church Farmhouse Museum (Grade II*) and Model Farm, The Milking Parlour
(Grade II) located 850m to the south-east;
Parish Church of St Mary (Grade II*) and the Grade II listed tombs of John
Haley, Conquest Jones, John Jones, Henry Joynes, Sir Joseph Ayloffe, and
Susannah Frye; the Mausoleum of Philip Rundell (Grade II); the Headstone of
Thomas Thatcher (Grade II) and the Unidentified Chest Tomb 15 Metres
South East of Church (Grade II), all In St Marys Churchyard located
approximately 875m to the south-east; and
Hendon Town Hall (Grade II); Hendon Fire Station (Grade II); Hendon Library
(Grade II); and Icehouse at St Joseph's Convent School (Grade II) 995m; 975m,
975m and 895m to the south-east, respectively.

In addition to the listed buildings outlined above, the following conservation areas
are located within the vicinity of the site:
-

Hendon Church End Conservation Area is located approximately 800m to the
east of the Application Site. This area has several listed and locally listed
buildings with peaceful green spaces. It also has a number of important

198

-

historic buildings including St Mary’s Church and Church Farm House and two
public houses which create a strong rural character; and
The Burroughs Conservation Area is located approximately 900m to the
south-east of the Application Site. The area has several statutorily listed and
locally listed buildings and buildings which make a positive contribution to
the character and appearance of the Conservation Area.

9.32

The TVIA submitted as part of the ES identifies all of the aforementioned heritage
assets within the study area. Given the location of the heritage assets identified, the
separation distances from the application site and the existing character of the
Beaufort Park site it is considered that the development would have a negligible
impact on the setting of the heritage assets identified.

9.33

In addition, a Built Heritage Settings Assessment (BHSA) was submitted as part of the
ES which considered impacts on relevant heritage assets within proximity of the site.

9.34

On the basis of the findings of the BHSA, no harm is identified to the setting of the
following heritage assets:
-

Statue of Sir Robert Peel;
RAF Officers Mess and;
Police Box, Cottenham Drive.

9.35

In terms of the Statute of Sir Robert Peel and Police Box this is on the basis that the
Proposed Development would not impact on the relationship with the Metropolitan
Police Training Centre which is the primary source of their significance. No harm is
identified to the RAF Officers Mess on the basis that it is isolated from other
structures.

9.36

The impact of the Proposed Development on these assets’ settings is therefore
considered to be acceptable and in accordance with policy.

9.37

‘Less than substantial harm’ is identified to the setting of the following heritage
assets:
-

9.38

Graheme White Watch Office and Hangar;
RAF Museum.

This is on the basis that the Proposed Development, especially the tall buildings,
would be visible in views towards the assets when looking south towards the Site.
This would impact on how the Graham-White Watch Tower and Hangar are

199

experienced when walking around the RAF Museum. The Proposed Development
would also appear over the top of the Graham-White Watch Office and Hangar from
this angle which would detract from views looking south towards the assets.
However, despite having a small impact on the setting of the assets it would not
affect their overall historic or architectural interest.
9.39

As the Proposed Development would result in less than substantial harm to these
heritage assets, it is necessary to weigh this harm against the public benefits of the
development in accordance with the policies outlined above.

9.40

The Proposed Development provides a series of public benefits including the
provision of additional homes to meet housing needs, the provision of additional
affordable homes by number (70 to 125) and proportion (33% to 35%), the
continued delivery of a successful masterplan development, the provision of a high
quality design which responds more appropriately to the evolved Colindale context
and the delivery of commercial space to provide additional amenity to local
residents. In addition, the Proposed Development will deliver Mayoral and Borough
CIL payments towards local infrastructure and Section 106 Obligations.

9.41

These are considered to constitute fundamental public benefits that are sufficient to
outweigh any harm caused to the heritage assets, in accordance with the relevant
statutory provisions and with national, regional and local policy requirements.

9.42

In addition, it is relevant to note that the ES concludes that there will be no
significant impacts on these heritage assets. Whilst the Proposed Development
would be visible in views looking south towards the heritage assets, this visibility
would be minor and would be in the context of the existing development as part of
the wider Beaufort Park masterplan.
v)

That the potential microclimate effect does not adversely affect existing
levels of comfort in the public realm

9.43

As part of the ES, the applicant has provided a chapter incorporating a wind
microclimate assessment (Chapter 9). The assessment takes account of baseline
wind conditions then goes on to model wind conditions with the proposed
development in situ.

9.44

The wind assessment sets out that the wind conditions modelled would be suitable
for the intended use with a negligible impact shown to all of the assessed receptors
during both winter and summer conditions. On this basis, no specific mitigation is
required or proposed as part of the application. Officers consider the assessment is

200

robust and sound and thus the application would be acceptable from a microclimate
perspective.
CABE/English Heritage Advice on Tall Buildings
9.45

As well as the Barnet DMP – DPD outlined above, the London Plan and CABE set out
criteria which tall buildings should adhere to. Most of these criteria are consistent
those of Policy DMO5 and in this case officers also consider that the scheme is
compliant with all criteria.
Layout

9.46

In terms of layout, the development is predicated on the footprint of the extant
consent which in turn is informed by the wider Beaufort Park masterplan. The layout
of the development would maintain the seamless integration of Block D into the
wider site.

9.47

In terms of Block D itself, officers note that the development would provide up to 11
units per core in Building D4. The GLA have raised some concern with this in light of
advice set out within the Housing SPG which seeks to limit developments to 8 units
per core. GLA officers have also raised some concern with the related issue of long
internal corridors which have the result of increasing the proportion of single aspect
units.

9.48

Notwithstanding the view of the GLA, officers consider that the aforementioned
factors must be considered in the wider context of the development and particularly
the increased housing delivery and substantial affordable housing provision. Officers
recognise that a balance must be struck between maximising the development
potential of a site and addressing the standards set out within the Housing SPG. In
this regard, officers note that under the extant permission, 32% of homes were
situated on cores with more than 8 units. The current application has reduced this by
4% to 28% whilst additionally in the extant permission there was a maximum of 10
homes per core compared to a maximum of 11 units per core within the proposed
scheme. Given the baseline position and the wider benefits of the scheme, officers
consider that the layout of the proposed development is acceptable.
Design and Appearance

9.49

The design of the development has sought to respect the existing context of
Beaufort Park whilst responding to the emerging built context of surrounding
developments, including Colindale Gardens with its’ predominantly brick aesthetic.

201

Officers consider that the design of the scheme improve the appearance of the
buildings over and above the extant consent by proposing a simpler and more
contemporary architecture, whilst still having regard to the original principles
established in the Beaufort Park masterplan. These measures include the following:
-

-

9.40

Façade materials which create a contemporary appearance with a ‘Mystique’
brick that blends with existing and consented adjacent schemes including the
wider Beaufort Park masterplan and Umber Court within Colindale Gardens;
Architectural features including stacked balconies and parapets have been
introduced to Building D4 to add emphasis and punctuation to its height;
A stepped approach to the façade elevations has been adopted, using grey brick
in recesses to reduce the overall perceived scale of the building;
Hard and soft landscaping is also proposed which will continue the established
character of the high-quality landscaping within Beaufort Park;
Provision of high quality public realm within the ownership boundaries and
provision of a linear park to the south of Beaufort Park Square, which ties in with
aspirations for the wider Colindale area.

Officers consider that the scheme is well designed and would fit in well within its
context, successfully making a visual transition between the existing Beaufort Park
site and Colindale Gardens to the south.
Conclusion

9.41

Having regard to all of the above, officers consider that the principle of a tall building
in this location is acceptable and in line with strategic policies. The proposed scale
and massing of the development is acceptable and would ensure integrate into the
surrounding urban fabric. Officers also consider that the scheme is of a high design
quality and is in general accordance with London Plan Policy 7.7 and Barnet Policy
DM01.

10.0

Amenity Impact on Neighbouring Properties
Daylight

10.1

The applicant has submitted a Daylight/Sunlight report from Anstey Horne within the
ES (Chapter 8) which is inclusive of a full daylight assessment. The standardised
assessment methodology for daylighting is set out within the BRE document Site
Layout Planning for Daylight and Sunlight (BRE, 2011). Within this document it is set
out that the primary tool is the Vertical Sky Component (VSC) and that the target

202

value for windows to retain the potential for good daylighting is 27% or more than
0.8 times its former value.
10.2

In line with BRE guidelines, it is only necessary to carry out the VSC assessment on a
neighbouring window if a 25-degree line drawn from the centre of the window
would subtend the facing elevation of the subject development. In this case, the
report identifies the following neighbouring properties as necessitating the
additional assessment:
-

10.3

Colindale Gardens, South-east of Proposed Development
Building E1, E7 & E8, East of Proposed Development
Building F9, North-east of Proposed Development
Building D1 and D2, North of Proposed Development
Building C8 & C8a, West of Proposed Development

Given that there is an extant consent, the baseline conditions for assessment was set
by the future baseline scenario (consented scheme). In light of the above, officers
consider that both the scope and the methodology of the daylight assessment was
appropriate. Having undertaken the assessment, the report demonstrates the
following results.
Property
Colindale Gardens

102/113 windows in compliance
(90%)

Building E1, E7 and E8

60/257 windows in compliance
(25%

Building F9

146/160 windows in compliance
(91%)
50/104 windows in compliance
48%
131/234 windows in compliance
(56%)

Building D1 and D2
Building C8 and C8A
TOTAL

10.4

Daylight (VSC)

489/848 windows in compliance
(58%)

It is clear from the results set out above that the only receptors where there would
be a less than 50% compliance is in Building E1, E7 and E8 (25%) and in Building D1
and D2 (48%). In assessing the acceptability of the likely daylight impacts it is
important to note the extent to which the assessed windows fall below the BRE

203

target values. In respect of Building E1, E7 and E8, 90 of the 197 (45%) of the
windows would experience VSC losses of greater than 0.6 their former value whilst
37 out of 54 (69%) windows Building D1 and D2 would also experience losses above
0.6 demonstrating only a marginal failure.
10.5

As well as individually, the daylight results must also be considered in the whole and
in this regard officers consider that a compliance level of 58% represents a good
level of compliance in the context of the wider benefits of the scheme, the urban
context and the need to deliver on the strategic objectives of the Colindale
Regeneration Area. Cognisant of the above, officers consider that the daylight
impact of the proposed development would be acceptable.
Sunlight

10.6

In relation to sunlight, the BRE recommends that the Annual Probable Sunlight Hours
(APSH) received at a given window in the proposed case should be at least 25% of
the total available including at least 5% in winter. Where the proposed values fall
short of these, and the absolute loss is greater than 4%, then the proposed values
should not be less than 0.8 times their previous value in each period.

10.7

The BRE guidelines state that “..all main living rooms of dwellings should be checked
if they have a window facing within 90 degrees of due south. Kitchens and bedrooms
are less important, although care should be taken not to block out too much sun”. In
accordance with the BRE Guidelines the following properties were therefore
assessed:

10.8

The sunlight assessment considered the same properties identified within the scope
of the daylight assessment, with the exception of Colindale Gardens.
Property
Building E1, E7 and E8

APSH Summer
13/13 windows in
compliance (100%)

APSH Winter
13/13 windows in
compliance (100%)

Building F9

49/51 windows in
compliance (96%)

43/51 windows in
compliance (84%)

Building D1 and D2

65/84 windows in
compliance (77%)

77/84 windows in
compliance (92%)

Building C8 and C8A

86/165 windows in
compliance (52%)

114/165 windows in
compliance (69%)

204

Total

10.9

227/327 windows in
compliance (69%)

261/327 windows in
compliance (80%)

Officers consider that, in the whole, the development would achieve a good level of
compliance in terms of sunlight, noting the constraints outlined above. Where there
are lower levels of compliance such as in Buildings C8 and C8A, the levels are still
above 50%. Again, where there are lower levels of compliance this must be balanced
against the wider benefits of the scheme, the urban context and the need to deliver
on the strategic objectives of the Colindale Regeneration Area. On this basis, officers
consider that the sunlight impact of the proposed development would be
acceptable.
Privacy

10.10 In terms of privacy and the separation distances from neighbouring properties, it is
important to note that the current application is predicated on the extant consent in
terms of footprint. The separation distances from the surrounding properties are
therefore consistent with the approved situation. Whilst the development would
incorporate additional windows over and above the extant scheme, none of these
would be located any nearer the neighbouring properties and would not create any
new opportunities for overlooking of neighbouring properties.
Outlook
10.11 As set out above, the application is predicated on the extant consent in terms of
footprint and thus would not project nearer to any neighbouring windows. The
development would introduce additional height which would impinge the outlook
from the neighbouring properties to a greater extent than the approved situation.
Nevertheless, officers consider that the extent of the additional harm over and
above the baseline position would not be so significant as to be unacceptable.
Conclusion
10.12 Officer consider that, in the whole, the application would be compliant with Policy
DM01, Policy 7.6 of the London Plan and Policy D9 of the Draft London Plan in terms
of impact on residential amenity and would not result in any significant harm to the
living conditions of any surrounding occupiers.
11.0

Sustainability

205

11.1

London Plan Policy 5.2 requires development proposals to make the fullest
contribution to minimising carbon dioxide emissions in accordance with the
following energy hierarchy:
-

Be lean: use less energy
Be clean: supply energy efficiently
Be green: use renewable energy

11.2

Policy 5.3 of the London Plan goes on to set out the sustainable design and
construction measures required in new developments. Proposals should achieve the
highest standards of sustainable design and construction and demonstrate that
sustainable design standards are integral to the proposal, including its construction
and operation.

11.3

Local Plan policy DM01 states that all development should demonstrate high levels
of environmental awareness and contribute to climate change mitigation and
adaptation. Policy DM04 requires all major developments to provide a statement
which demonstrate compliance with the Mayors targets for reductions in carbon
dioxide emissions, within the framework of the Mayor’s energy hierarchy.

11.4

With regards to the energy hierarchy set out within London Plan Policy 5.2, it is
considered that the application is broadly in accordance. The application is
accompanied by an Sustainability Statement which sets out that the energy
efficiency measures and sustainable energy measures that would be incorporated
within the scheme which are set out below in accordance with the hierarchy.
Be Lean

11.5

In terms of the ‘Be Lean’ criterion of the hierarchy, the development would
incorporate passive design such as energy-efficient building fabric; insulation to all
heat loss floors, walls and roofs; double-glazed windows; low-energy lighting; and
efficient ventilation systems. All of these measures would combine to contribute to
an enhancement in energy performance equal to a 10% reduction in regulated CO2
emissions .
Be Clean

11.6

In terms of the ‘Be Clean’ criterion of the hierarchy, the feasibility of supplying
decentralised energy to the development was explored by the applicant. A site-wide
(Block D) heat network, led by Air Source Heat Pumps (ASHP) would be implemented

11.7

The applicant also explored the potential for connection to a local heat network, and
there are networks in nearby developments Pulse Energy Centre (operated by E.ON)
or Peel Energy Centre (Redrow). Following assessment and review by the LPA, it has
been established that connection to these networks is not feasible.
Be Green

206

11.8

In terms of the ‘Be Green’ criterion, the applicant has explored opportunities to
maximise LZC technologies and options reviewed in terms of their practical, financial
and technical viability in relation to the development scheme. Following this, the
applicant opted to utilise ASHPs as part of the energy strategy.
Conclusion

11.9

Based on the energy assessment submitted, subsequently submitted details and
inclusive of the all the measure outlined above, the scheme would deliver the
following overall carbon dioxide emissions:
Regulated carbon dioxide savings from each stage of the energy hierarchy
Regulated domestic carbon savings

Savings from energy demand
reduction
Savings from heat network /
CHP
Savings from renewable
energy
Cumulative on site savings
Carbon shortfall

Tonnes C02 oer
annum
39

% reduction

0

0%

173

43%

212

52%

195

-

10%

11.10 The carbon dioxide savings of 52% exceed the on-site target set within Policy 5.2 of
the London Plan. It should be noted that within the Stage 1 response, the GLA raised
numerous minor additional points, none of which affect the fundamental planning
policy position with which the scheme is in compliance.
11.11 The development required to meet the zero-carbon target as the application was
received by the Major on or after the 1st October 2016. The applicant is therefore
required to mitigate the regulated CO2 emissions, through a contribution of
£350,384 to the borough’s offset fund. This contribution would be predicated on the
formula set out within GLA guidance and would which would be secured through the
Section 106.
Other Sustainability Issues

207

11.12 In relation to the non-residential floorspace, the Council supports the use of Building
Research Establishment Environmental Assessment Method (BREEAM) which is used
to measure the environmental performance of non-residential buildings and a
standard of ‘Very Good’ is required in all new non-residential developments. A
BREEAM pre-assessment is appended to the Sustainability Statement which confirms
that the office floorspace could achieve a standard of ‘Very Good’. If permission
were to be granted, a condition would be attached to ensure that the development
achieved this standard on implementation.
12.0

Planning Obligations

12.1

Policy CS15 of the Barnet Local Plan states that where appropriate the Council will
use planning obligations to support the delivery of infrastructure, facilities and
services to meet the needs generated by development and mitigate the impact of
development.

12.2

In accordance with development plan policies the following obligations are required
to be secured through a legal agreement with the developer. If permission were
granted it is considered that the package of planning obligations and conditions
recommended would, when considered alongside the financial contributions that
the development would be required to make under the Barnet CIL, mitigate the
potential adverse impacts of the development and ensure the provision of the
funding needed for the delivery of the infrastructure that is necessary to support the
scheme.
Affordable Housing

12.3

12.4

In accordance with policy 3.12 of the London Plan and Policies CS4, CS15 and DM10
of the Barnet Local Plan, officers recommend that the following number and mix of
affordable housing unit types and sizes are secured by S106 Agreement at the
application site:
Tenure

Studio

1 Bed

2 Bed

3 Bed

By Unit

By Hab

Intermediate

0

22

27

0

49
(13%

125
(12%)

London
Affordable
Rent

0

15

35

26

76
(19%)

239
(23%)

Total

0

37

62

26

125
(32%)

364
(35%)

Officers also recommend that an early stage review mechanism should be included
in the S106 agreement should permission be granted. This mechanism would ensure
that if circumstances changed and the scheme became more economically viable, a

208

correspondingly appropriate additional financial contribution and/or additional
affordable housing would be made to the Council. In addition, triggers would be
included to ensure timely delivery of the affordable housing and to ensure that the
affordable housing is retained as such in perpetuity.
Employment and Training
12.5

In accordance with development plan policies which seek contributions to
employment and training from schemes the proposal would be required to deliver
employment and training opportunities through a Local Employment Agreement.

12.6

If permission were granted, the Section 106 Agreement would need secure the
following minimum levels of employment output and would also set out specifically
how the applicant would achieve this.

12.7

Non-Financial Obligation

Outputs

Progression into Employment
(unemployed under 6 months)

9

Progression into Employment
(unemployed over 6 months)

6

Apprenticeships (minimum NVQ Level 2)

16

Work Experience

20

School/College/University Site Visits

189

School/College Workshops

104

Local Labour

20%

The LEA would be subject to discussion with the Council and would be agreed prior
to the commencement of development. Alternatively, the applicant may wish to
make a financial contribution in lieu of the employment outcomes outlined above.
Such a contribution would be commensurate with the number of outcomes secured
and in line with SPD guidance.
Travel Plan and Travel Plan Monitoring

12.8

In accordance with policy DM17 of the Local Plan the applicant would be required to
enter into Strategic Level Travel Plans for the residential development which would
seek to reduce reliance on the use of the private car and promote sustainable means
of transport.

12.9

The Residential Travel Plan provided would be required to include the appointing of
a Travel Plan Champion and the use of (financial) Travel Plan incentives (up to a
209

maximum of £117,900) for the first occupier of each residential unit. These
incentives are discussed in further detail in the relevant section of this report but
would comprise of a voucher to a minimum value of £300 per dwelling to be spent
on Car Club Membership, an Oyster Card with a pre-loaded amount and/or Cycle
Scheme vouchers all designed to encourage the use of more sustainable modes of
transport. A contribution of £20000 would be required towards the monitoring of
the Residential Travel Plan.
12.10 A Commercial Travel Plan would be required to be ATTrBuTE and itrace compliant to
be submitted at least 3 months prior to occupation of all 3 phases that meets the TFL
TP guidance. A monitoring fee of £10,000 would also be required for the commercial
travel plan.
12.11 The monitoring contributions would enable the Local Planning Authority to continue
to monitor the scheme to ensure the development is making reasonable endeavours
to meet travel related sustainability objectives in accordance with policy DM17 of
the Local Plan.
12.12 In line with the incentives above, the provision of a car club and the allocation of 2
car parking spaces within the site to be provided and retained for use by the car club
would also be required.
Traffic Management Order
12.13 The application would be required to provide £2000 funding towards Contributions
towards the amendment of Traffic Management Order (TMO) to ensure that the
new occupants are prevented from purchasing parking permits in the CPZ to be
implemented pursuant to planning permission H/05828/14 or any other CPZ within
the local area. Alternative means of securing this obligation without the financial
contribution may be secured through the agreement, subject to legal considerations.
Transport, Highways and Public Realm
12.14 Based on the transport assessment and the likely impact of the development on the
nearby public transport infrastructure, mitigation would be sought through the S106
in respect of improvements to the bus stops and a contribution towards the
Colindale Station upgrade. These contributions would be agreed with the Council
and TFL subject to the approval of costed schemes.
Carbon Offset Contribution
12.15 As set out within paragraph 11.11 of this report, the development is required to
meet the zero-carbon target and the applicant is therefore required to mitigate the
regulated CO2 emissions through a contribution to the borough’s offset fund.

210

12.16 Based on the formula set out within GLA guidance and based on the currently
reported figures this contribution would be £350,384 which would be secured
through the Section 106.
Community Infrastructure Levy
12.17 The proposed development is liable for charge under the Barnet Community
Infrastructure Levy (CIL) at a rate of £135 per square metre. The Barnet CIL liability of
the scheme is determined by the amount of new floorspace being provided,
deducting both the social housing element which is exempt from CIL liability. The
scheme would also be liable to pay the Mayoral CIL.
12.18 Taking into account both the Mayoral and Barnet CIL, the scheme would be liable for
a payment of approximately £ £3,982,392 m. This would be used to fund local
infrastructure projects and should be considered alongside the wider S106 package.
13.0

Flood Risk / SUDS

13.1

Policy CS13 of the Barnet Core Strategy states that “we will make Barnet a water
efficient borough and minimise the potential for fluvial and surface water flooding by
ensuring development does no cause harm to the water environment, water quality
and drainage systems. Development should utilise Sustainable Urban Drainage
Systems (SUDS) in order to reduce surface water run-off and ensure such run-off is
managed as close to its source as possible subject to local geology and groundwater
levels”.

13.2

The application is supported by a SUDS and Drainage strategy which has been
assessed by the Council’s appointed drainage consultants acting as the LLFA. In
reviewing the submitted documents, it is established that the application is located
within a Critical Drainage Area and as such a robust condition setting out prescriptive
requirements in respect of SUDS was requested and is attached accordingly.

14.0

Contaminated Land

14.1

The London Plan states that appropriate measures should be taken to ensure that
development on previously contaminated land should be accompanied by an
investigation to establish the level of contamination in the soil and/or
groundwater/surface water and identify appropriate mitigation. Consequently, a
Phase 1 and Preliminary Site Investigation Report was submitted as part of the
application and reviewed by the Council’s Environmental Health officers.

14.2

The submitted report identifies a number of potential risks and in order to mitigate
these risk, the Council’s EHO has requested that a condition be attached requiring
site investigation works to be carried out prior to the commencement of
development and subsequent mitigation to be implemented should it be required.
Such a condition would be attached if permission were granted.

211

15.0

Air Quality

15.1

Air quality was scoped into the Environmental Statement and a chapter of the
statement has been submitted in respect of this matter.

15.2

The scope and methodology of the Air Quality Assessment submitted as part of the
ES was considered at Scoping stage and considered acceptable. Having assessed the
baseline conditions and the likely impact of the development, the AQA goes on
conclude that the completed development would result in only negligible increases
in NO2 and PM10. This is the same as the impact generated by the Extant Permission
(2015).

15.3

The AQA has been assessed by the Council’s Environmental Health officers who find
it sound and agree with the conclusion that residents will not be exposed to poor air
quality at operational phase.

16.0

Effect Interactions

16.1

The EIA Regulations 2017 require an Environmental Statement to describe the likely
effects of development on the environment when taken cumulatively with other
environmental effects and any current or prospective (‘reasonably foreseeable’)
development in the vicinity.

16.2

A chapter within the ES (Chapter 10) focuses on ‘Effect Interactions’ as being distinct
from ‘Cumulative Impacts’ which are assessed within each chapter with specific
regard to each topic area. The cumulative impacts of the development with other
committed schemes within the surrounding area have therefore been assessed as
part of the previous and subsequent sections of this report.

16.3

In terms of effect interactions, the ES concludes that during both the works and
operational phases of development that residual effect interaction would be
extremely limited. Officers concur with this conclusion.

17.0

Socio-Economic impact

17.1

The ES also includes a chapter which considers the likely significant socio-economic
effects of the Development through analysis of economic and social conditions.

17.2

In terms of benefits, the construction works would generate temporary construction
jobs as well as full time employment opportunities within the flexible use
commercial space. The assessment concludes that It is expected that development
would not significantly affect the supply of and demand for school places, GP places
and open space and play space. Whilst some local shortfalls are identified in terms of
primary school places and GP places, the development is making a significant CIL
contribution which could be used to mitigate improve local services and
infrastructure.

212

18.0

Crime Prevention / Community Safety

18.1

Development plan policies require new developments to provide a safe and secure
environment for people to live and work in and reduce opportunities for crime and
fear of crime.

18.2

From a design and community safety perspective, the application has been subject
to review from the Metropolitan Police Designing Out Crime Officers who outlined
no concerns with the proposed development. It was noted however that the area
suffers from relatively high crime levels in terms of anti-social behaviour and vehicle
crime and as such it would be prudent to attach a condition requiring that the
development achieves Secured by Design accreditation. Such a condition is attached
accordingly.

19.0

Transport / Highways

19.1

Policy CS9 of the Barnet Core Strategy (Providing safe, effective and efficient travel)
identifies that the Council will seek to ensure more efficient use of the local road
network and more environmentally friendly transport networks, require that
development is matched to capacity and promote the delivery of appropriate
transport infrastructure. Policy DM17 (Travel impact and parking standards) of the
Barnet Development Management Plan document sets out the parking standards
that the Council will apply when assessing new developments. Other sections of
Policies DM17 and CS9 seek that proposals ensure the safety of all road users and
make travel safer, reduce congestion, minimise increases in road traffic, provide
suitable and safe access for all users of developments, ensure roads within the
borough are used appropriately, require acceptable facilities for pedestrians and
cyclists and reduce the need to travel.
Residential Car Parking

19.2

The London Plan sets out maximum parking standards and explanatory text provided
in the parking addendum sets out that all developments in areas of good public
transport accessibility should aim for significantly less than 1 space per unit.

19.4

Car parking standards for residential development are also set out in the Barnet
Local Plan and recommend a range of parking provision for new dwellings based on
the on a sites Public Transport Accessibility Level (PTAL) and the type of unit
proposed. Policy DM17 of the Local Plan sets out the parking requirements for
different types of units with the range of provision is as follows:
-

Four or more-bedroom units - 2.0 to 1.5 parking spaces per unit
Two and three-bedroom units - 1.5 to 1.0 parking spaces per unit
One-bedroom units - 1.0 to less than 1.0 parking space per unit

213

19.5

The development proposes 294 residential parking spaces at a ratio of 0.55 spaces
per unit. The residential parking spaces would be provided at lower ground, upper
ground and first floor level within the three storey under croft car park

19.6

Whilst the wider Beaufort Park site has a ratio of 0.7 spaces per unit, officers
consider that the proposed 0.55 ratio is appropriate (consequently the wider site
ratio would reduce to 0.66 spaces per unit). The proposed development is located
within the Colindale Regeneration Area and has a moderate PTAL of 2/3. The site
benefits from frequent bus services on Aerodrome Road and is approximately a 10minute walk to Colindale Underground station.

19.7

In addition to the existing sustainable travel modes outlined above, as part of the
S106, significant additional sustainable transport improvements would also be
secured in the form of a bus stop contribution, a contribution towards the Colindale
Station upgrade as well as travel plan incentives All of these measures are designed
to provide attractive alternative transport measures and reduce reliance on the car
for future residents. This is consistent with overarching sustainable transport
strategy at local, regional and national level.

19.8

In the GLA Stage 1 response, TFL acknowledged the residential car parking ratio of
0.55 spaces per unit (0.66 across the wider site) advised that parking levels be
reduced further. Notwithstanding the views of TFL, it is considered that the
proposed parking ratio of 0.55 is appropriate for this location. Whilst LBB transport
officers have also outlined the potential for car parking to be reduced further,
officers consider that the currently proposed level of 0.55 is not significantly above
the optimum level and strikes an appropriate balance. The level is also comparable
to other recently permitted developments within the Colindale area.

19.9

Disabled parking, electrical vehicle charging points, a car parking management plan
and car club spaces would be secured through condition and S106 as appropriate in
accordance with relevant policy.
Cycle Parking and Cycling Accessibility

19.10 Cycle parking would be provided to a quantum that is compliant with London Plan
policy. All of the stores have easily accessible cores within close proximity which is
considered to be appropriate and would promote use.
19.11 Cycle stores would meet with at least the minimum standards of the London Plan
and LCDS. Full details of the cycle stores would be required by condition to ensure
that the design and type is appropriate.
Public Transport Impact:
19.12 As previously stated, the application site has a PTAL of 2/3 with several bus services
running nearby as well as being a 10-minute walk from Colindale station. As a result,

214

the TA and subsequent addendums have also undertaken assessment of the impact
of the development on this existing public transport infrastructure.
19.13 In terms of buses, following assessment from TFL Bus Services and based on the
modal share – the impact of the development on bus services would require a
contribution to pay for 2 bus shelters on Aerodrome Road. Subject to this
contribution, it is considered that the impact of the development on nearby bus
services would be fully mitigated.
19.14 With regard to Colindale LUL station, LBB and TfL in partnership with other
stakeholders have developed a major station upgrade scheme for Colindale London
Underground station. Work on the station is due to commence in summer / autumn
2020 and will deliver step-free access alongside increased capacity and circulation
designed to cater for 2041 demand plus 30%. A funding package comprising
contributions from TfL, Barnet Council and developers has enabled this. However,
the scheme is not fully funded and as such TfL have requested that development not
already consented, over and above that accounted for in the plans, makes
proportionate contributions toward the station scheme, based on the additional
number of trips.
19.15 The station upgrade scheme is essential to cater for planned growth in Colindale and
any uplift in units, as proposed with the current application should make a
commensurate contribution. On this basis, a contribution would be secured through
the S106 based upon accurate trip generation figures to be provided at Stage 2 of
the GLA referral process.
Servicing / Deliveries / Freight
19.16 It is proposed that deliveries and servicing take place from within the Beaufort Park
site, and loading facilities are being provided on both sides of the development to
facilitate these activities. A full A Delivery and Servicing Management Plan would be
secured by conditioned.
Conclusion
19.17 Having regard to the above and subject to the relevant conditions and S106
obligations, it is considered that the application is in accordance with relevant Barnet
and Mayoral policies and is acceptable from a transport and highways perspective.
20.0

Conclusion

20.1

In conclusion officers consider that the development is acceptable having regard to
the relevant local, regional and national policies.

20.2

The principle of development is established through the extant consent. The
intensification of the consent through an uplift in residential units would not in the
view of officers result in any unacceptable impacts in terms of amenity, transport

215

and environmental matters. Where a degree of harm would arise such as in matters
of daylight/sunlight and overshadowing, this must be balanced against the wider
benefits of the application and holistic view taken of the development as a whole.
20.3

In this regard, the development would deliver 393 homes towards the boroughs
housing targets (an uplift of 156 homes over the extant scheme). The scheme would
deliver 35% of the homes as affordable with 60% of the affordable provision being
London Affordable Rent for which there is the greatest need in the borough. The
housing delivery and particularly the affordable housing provision are significant
benefits to the scheme and officers consider that these benefits outweigh the
limited harm identified in amenity matters.

20.4

It is thus concluded that the proposed development generally and taken overall
accords with the development plan. Accordingly, subject to a Stage 2 referral to the
Mayor of London and subject to the satisfactory completion of the Section 106
Agreement, APPROVAL is recommended subject to conditions set out within this
report.

216

Appendix 1: Site Location Plan

N

217

Appendix 2: Conditions
Condition 1 - Time limit
The development hereby permitted shall be commenced within three years from the date
of this permission.
Reason: To comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 as amended
by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act, 2004.

Condition 2 - Approved Plans
The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the following
approved plans and documents:
FINAL SET OF APPROVED PLANS TO BE LISTED
Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning and so as to
ensure that the development is carried out fully in accordance with the application as
assessed in line with Policies DM01, DM02, DM05 of the Barnet Local Plan (2012) and
Policies 3.5, 7.2, 7.5 and 7.8 of the London Plan (2016).

Condition 3 – Demolition and Construction Management and Logistics Plan
No site works or works on this development including demolition or construction work shall
commence until a Demolition and Construction Management and Logistics Plan has been
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development
shall thereafter be implemented in full accordance with the details approved under this
plan. The Demolition and Construction Management and Logistics Plan submitted shall
include, but not be limited to, the following information:
i.
ii.
iii.
iv.

v.

details of the routing of construction vehicles to the site, hours of access, access
and egress arrangements within the site and security procedures;
site preparation and construction stages of the development;
details of provisions for recycling of materials, the provision on site of a
storage/delivery area for all plant, site huts, site facilities and materials;
details showing how all vehicles associated with the construction works are
properly washed and cleaned to prevent the passage to mud and dirt onto the
adjoining highway;
the methods to be used and the measures to be undertaken to control the
emission of dust, noise and vibration arising from construction works;

218

vi.

vii.
viii.
ix.
x.

a suitable and efficient means of suppressing dust, including the adequate
containment of stored or accumulated material so as to prevent it becoming
airborne at any time and giving rise to nuisance;
noise mitigation measures for all plant and processors;
details of contractors compound and car parking arrangements;
Details of interim car parking management arrangements for the duration of
construction;
Details of a community liaison contact for the duration of all works associated
with the development.

Reason: To ensure that the proposed development does not prejudice the amenities of
occupiers of adjoining residential properties and in the interests of highway and pedestrian
safety in accordance with policies CS9, CS13 , CS14, DM01, DM04 and DM17 of the Barnet
Local Plan and polices 5.3, 5.18, 7.14 and 7.15 of the London Plan.

Condition 4 - Delivery and Servicing Management Plan (DSMP)
Prior to the occupation of the development a Delivery and Servicing Management Plan
should be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. All servicing
and delivery arrangements shall be carried out in accordance with the approved Plan. If
changes are made a revised Delivery and Service Plan (DSP) shall be submitted to and
agreed by the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: In the interest of highway safety in accordance with London Borough of Barnet’s
Local Plan Policy CS9 of Core Strategy (Adopted) September 2012 and Policy DM17 of
Development Management Policies (Adopted) September 2012.

Condition 5 - Stopping Up
Prior to the commencement of the development hereby approved, details of any highways
to be stopped under Section 247 of the Town and Country Planning Act shall be submitted
to and agreed with the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: To ensure that adequate public access is provided throughout the development.
Condition 6 – Residential Car Parking Management Scheme (CPMC)

219

Prior to occupation, a Residential Car Parking Management Scheme to cover C use classes
shall be submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The RCPMS shall
include a plan identifying the disabled parking spaces to be delivered clearly marked with a
British Standard disabled symbol and disabled parking shall be retained for the use of
disabled persons and their vehicles and for no other purpose unless agreed in writing with
the Local Planning Authority. The RCMPS shall include details of electric vehicle charging
points to be installed in the development shall have been submitted to the Local Planning
Authority and approved in writing. These details shall include provision for each and every
disabled space.
Reason: To ensure that parking is provided and managed in line with Barnet Council
standards in the interests of highway and pedestrian safety and in accordance with London
Borough of Barnet’s Local Plan Policy CS9 of Core Strategy (Adopted) September 2012 and
Policy DM17 of Development Management Policies (Adopted) September 2012. To ensure
and promote easier access for disabled persons to the approved building in accordance with
London Borough of Barnet’s Local Plan Policy CS9 of Core Strategy (Adopted) September
2012 and Policy DM17 of Development Management Policies (Adopted) September 2012.
Condition 7 – Cycle Parking
Prior to occupation, cycle parking and cycle storage facilities shall be provided in accordance
with the approved drawings and shall be permanently retained thereafter unless agreed in
writing by the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: In the interests of promoting cycling as a mode of transport in accordance with
London Plan and London Cycle Design Standards, London Borough of Barnet’s Local Plan
Policy CS9 of Core Strategy (Adopted) September 2012 and Policy DM17 of Development
Management Policies (Adopted) September 2012.
Condition 8 – Air Quality Mitigation
A scheme setting out air pollution mitigation measures shall be submitted to and approved
by the Local Planning Authority prior to the commencement of development. This shall
include mitigation for when air quality neutral transport and building assessments do not
meet the benchmarks.
The approved mitigation scheme as set out in the WSP BEAUFORT PARK (D3 TO D7)
Environmental Statement Vol 1 - Chapter 6 Air Quality, dated January 2020 shall be
implemented in its entirety in accordance with details approved under this condition before
any of the development is first occupied or the use commences and retained as such
thereafter.

220

Reason: To ensure that the development does not have an adverse impact on air quality in
the vicinity, in line with the Sustainable Design and Construction SPD (adopted October
2016) and Policies 3.2, 5.3 and 7.14 of the London Plan 2011
Condition 9 – Contaminated Land
If any risk of harm is identified in the desktop study and Conceptual Model, a site
investigation shall be designed for the site using information obtained from the desktop
study and Conceptual Model. This shall be submitted to, and approved in writing by, the
Local Planning Authority prior to that investigation being carried out on site. The
investigation must be comprehensive enough to enable:
-

a risk assessment to be undertaken,
refinement of the Conceptual Model, an
the development of a Method Statement detailing the remediation requirements.

The risk assessment and refined Conceptual Model shall be submitted, along with the site
investigation report, to the Local Planning Authority.
If the risk assessment and refined Conceptual Model indicate any risk of harm, a Method
Statement detailing the remediation requirements, using the information obtained from the
site investigation, and also detailing any post remedial monitoring shall be submitted to, and
approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority prior to that remediation being carried
out on site.
Part 2

Where remediation of contamination of the site is required completion of the
remediation detailed in the method statement shall be carried out on a phased
basis prior to the first occupation of that phase and a report that provides
verification that the required works have been carried out in respect of a phase,
shall be submitted to, and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority
within three months of occupation of that phase.
Reason: To ensure the development can be implemented and occupied with adequate
regard for environmental and public safety in accordance with Policy CS NPPF of the Local
Plan Core Strategy DPD (adopted September 2012), DM04 of the Development
Management Policies DPD (adopted September 2012), the Sustainable Design and
Construction SPD (adopted October 2016) and 5.21 of the London Plan 2016.

221

Condition 10 – Noise Restriction
The level of noise emitted from the (specify machinery) plant hereby approved shall be at
least 5dB(A) below the background level, as measured from any point 1 metre outside the
window of any room of a neighbouring residential property.
If the noise emitted has a distinguishable, discrete continuous note (whine, hiss, screech,
hum) and/or distinct impulse (bangs, clicks, clatters, thumps), then it shall be at least
10dB(A) below the background level, as measured from any point 1 metre outside the
window of any room of a neighbouring residential property.
Reason: To ensure that the proposed development does not prejudice the amenities of
occupiers of neighbouring properties in accordance with Policies DM04 of the Development
Management Policies DPD (adopted September 2012) and 7.15 of the London Plan 2011.

Condition 11 – Kitchen Extraction Equipment
Prior to the occupation of any commercial unit as an A3 premises, a detailed assessment for
the kitchen extraction units, which assesses the likely impacts of odour and smoke on the
neighbouring properties shall be carried out by an approved consultant. This fully detailed
assessment shall indicate the measures to be used to control and minimise odour and
smoke to address its findings and should include some or all of the following: grease filters,
carbon filters, odour neutralization and electrostatic precipitators (ESP). The equipment
shall be installed using anti-vibration mounts. It should clearly show the scheme in a scale
diagram and shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
The development shall be implemented in accordance with details approved under this
condition before first occupation or the use is commenced and retained as such thereafter.
Reason: To ensure that the amenities of the neighbouring occupiers are not prejudiced
odour and smoke in the immediate surroundings in accordance with policies DM01 of the
Development Management Policies DPD (adopted September 2012) and Policy CS14 of the
Local Plan Core Strategy (adopted 2012).

Condition 12 – Surface Water Drainage Strategy
Prior to the commencement of works, a detailed surface water drainage strategy report for
the development has been submitted and approved in writing by London Borough of Barnet
planning authority. The scheme shall subsequently be implemented in accordance with the

222

approved details before the development is completed. Surface water drainage strategy
should include but not limited to:
-

-

-

-

-

-

-

There are discrepancies between MicroDrainage input data and the proposed
drainage layout plan. The drainage design layout plan shows a large underground
attenuation storage connected to a hydrobrake manhole (S6), but the MicroDrainge
design input data indicates that S6 manhole is the attenuation storage with a
hydrobrake control device. The same idea has been used for the smaller
underground attenuation storage.
Assessment of the attenuation storage volumes to cope with the 100-year rainfall
event plus climate change based on correct representation of design layout as
explained above;
Appropriate design rainfall i.e. Flood Estimation Handbook (FEH) design rainfall 2013,
should be used. Currently, Micro Drainage outputs show Flood Studies Report (FSR)
design rainfall 1975, has been used for drainage assessment.
Confirmation of Thames Water agreement for discharge to their system and the
proposed discharge rate (the existing consent dated February 3rd ,2010). Sewer
Correspondence with Thames Water in Appendix C is unreadable.
Calculation evidence of the existing rate of brownfield discharge, showing catchment
area, runoff time of concentration, intensity rainfalls;
50% drain down time of the proposed attenuation storage volumes;
Details of overland flood flow routes in the event of system exceedance, or blockage
with demonstration that such flows can be appropriately managed on site without
increasing the flood risk to occupants or neighbouring properties and its impact on
the basement carpark for safe access and egress
Assessment of the proposed drainage system during the 30-year design rainfall
according to Sewer for Adoption 7th Edition using correct drainage layout (without
attenuation storage or flow control structure);
SUDS management programme and on-going maintenance responsibilities during
the life of the development;
Relevant Operation & Maintenance Plan; 12. SUDS detailed design drawings 13.
SUDS construction phasing

Reason: To ensure that surface water runoff is managed effectively to mitigate flood risk
and to ensure that SuDS are designed appropriately using industry best practice to be costeffective to operate and maintain over the design life of the development in accordance
with Policy CS13 of the Barnet Local Plan, Policies 5.13 and 5.14 of the London Plan, and
changes to SuDS planning policy in force as of 6 April (including the Written Ministerial
Statement of 18 December 2014, Planning Practice Guidance and the Non-Statutory
Technical Standards for Sustainable Drainage Systems) and best practice design guidance
(such as the SuDS Manual, C753).

223

Condition 13 – Lighting
Prior to occupation of the development, a detailed lighting strategy shall be submitted to
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The lighting strategy shall:
a) include details of the location, height and specification of external lights and fixtures,
including the proposed installation angle of lightings fittings (which shall be selected
to achieve a zero upward light ratio, in line with the applicant’s Visibility and Light
Pollution Study, 2019).
b) outline the mitigation measures to minimise light spillage and glare in line the
Visibility and Light Pollution Study (2019) and industry best practice (‘Institution of
Lighting Professionals - Guidance Notes for the Reduction of Obtrusive Light
GN01:2011’) and ensure light is distributed so as to minimise light spillage, glare, or
sky glow from affecting the surrounding residential properties and nearby UCL
observatory.
The approved details shall be completed prior to occupation of the development and shall
thereafter be permanently retained.
Reason: In the interests of visual amenity, community safety and to prevent light pollution
and adverse impacts affecting the amenity of adjacent residential properties in accordance
with Policy DM01 of the Development Management Policies DPD (adopted September
2012) and Policy CS14 of the Local Plan Core Strategy (adopted 2012).

Condition 14 – Operational Waste Management and Recycling Strategy
Prior to the first occupation of the development, a waste and recycling strategy shall be
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. This shall set out the
location, design and accessibility of refuse and recycling stores, details of the separation and
collection of waste, storage of bulky waste and any chute systems or waste compactors. The
waste and recycling strategy shall be implemented as approved, unless otherwise agreed in
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall be constructed in
accordance with the approved details, made available for use prior to the first occupation of
the development, and managed and operated in accordance with the approved strategy in
perpetuity.
Reason: To ensure adequate refuse storage is provided on site and can be readily collected,
in accordance with Policy CS14 of the Barnet Local Plan (2012) and Policy 5.15 of the London
Plan (2016).

224

Condition 15 – Architectural Detailing
Prior to the completion of the ground floor slab, annotated drawings/bay studies for each
building elevation at a scale of 1:50 shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the
Local Planning Authority. These details shall include the following:
a) materials to be used on all external surfaces of the proposed buildings - including
details of the proposed brickwork, stone, metal cladding panels, specifying varied
colours or tones (including samples of materials, where appropriate which shall be
provided for inspection on site by the LPA as required).
b) materials details for any other external features of the building, including render,
finishes, louvres, external window or door frames, balcony balustrades, bases,
underlays and supporting structures, commercial frontages and facias (including
samples of materials, where appropriate which shall be provided for inspection on
site by the LPA as required).
c) windows, including:
I. glazing specifications
II.
depth of window reveals
d) privacy screens serving private amenity spaces.
e) acoustic panels and means of enclosure serving rooftop level communal amenity
spaces.
f) colonnades and soffits – including depths and material details.
The approved details of the block to be occupied shall be completed prior to occupation.
Reason: To ensure the development is completed in line with the architectural and
materials approach set out in the applicant’s submitted Design and Access Statement (2019)
and to ensure the scheme achieves good design in the interests of future occupants of the
scheme and the character and appearance of the area, in accordance with Policies CS5,
DM01, DM05 of the Barnet Local Plan (2012) and Policies 7.4, 7.6, and 7.7 of the London
Plan (2016).

Condition 16 – Roof Level Structures
Prior to completion of the ground floor slab, details of any roof level structures shall be
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. This shall include
details of roof level plant, water tanks, ventilation/extraction equipment, flues, television
reception equipment, solar photovoltaic panels, any other built structure.
The details shall include a justification for the height and size of the roof level structures,
their location, height above parapet level, specifications and associated enclosures,
screening devices and cladding.
The development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details and no roof
level structures shall be installed other than those approved.
225

Reason: In the interests of good design and also to ensure that the Local Planning Authority
is satisfied that any roof-level structures do not have a harmful impact on the character and
appearance of the area, in accordance with Policies CS05 and DM05 of the Barnet Local Plan
(2012) and Policies 3.5, 7.4, 7.6 and 7.8 of the London Plan (2016).

Condition 17 - Landscaping, public realm, play space and boundary treatments
Prior to superstructure work commencing, a detailed landscaping and public realm scheme
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. This shall
include the following:
a) an annotated plan showing the layout and extent and type of hard and soft
landscaping.
b) details of hard landscaping, including specifications and materials for ground level
surfaces, steps, edges, ridges (including samples, where appropriate).
c) proposed tree species, plant sizing, proposed rooting/soil volume for trees, means of
planting (staking and tying of trees, including tree guards), and maintenance
schedule for regular pruning, watering and fertilizer use.
d) details of other soft landscaping and planting, including any grassed/turfed areas,
shrubs, herbaceous planting areas and green walls.
e) enclosures and boundary treatments - including the type, dimension and treatments
of any walls, fences, gates, railings and hedges (and details of any temporary
boundaries or means of enclosure).
f) children’s play and informal recreation features and equipment.
g) street furniture - including the location, type, dimensions and materials of seating,
lighting, wayfinding signage and public art.
h) a statement setting out how the proposed landscaping fits in with the overarching
site wide landscape strategy
i) Brown and green roofs
The approved details shall be completed prior to occupation of the development and shall
thereafter be permanently retained.
Reason: In the interests of good design and to promote urban greening, biodiversity,
sustinable urban drainage and to ensure acceptable residential amenity, privacy and play
space provision, in accordance with Barnet Local Plan PPolicies 3.5, 3.6, 5.10, 5.13 and 7.5 of
the London Plan (2016).

Condition 18 – Replacement Trees
Any trees, hedges or shrubs to be planted as part of the approved landscaping scheme
which are removed, die, become severely damaged or diseased within five years of the

226

completion of the development shall be replaced with trees or shrubs of appropriate size
and species in the next planting season.
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory appearance to the development and protect the amenities
of the area and neighbouring occupiers in accordance with policy DM01 of the Barnet Local
Plan and policy 7.21 of the London Plan.

Condition 19 – Accessible Dwellings
A minimum of 10% of all dwellings shall be built to be M4(3) adaptable wheelchair user
dwellings contained within Part M volume 1 of the Building Regulations, as identified on the
plans approved under condition 2. All other dwellings shall be built to requirement M4(2)
accessible and adaptable dwellings contained within Part M volume 1 of the Building
Regulations.
Reason: To promote housing choice for disabled and elderly households and ensure a
socially inclusive and sustainable development, in accordance with Policies CS4, DM02 of
the Barnet Local Plan (2012) and Policies 3.8, 7.2 of the London Plan (2016).
Condition 20 – Secured by Design
Prior to the first occupation of the relevant part of the development, certification
demonstrating compliance with Secured by Design standards (or any superseding
accreditation) shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: in the interests of community safety in accordance with paragraphs 8 and 11 of the
NPPF.

Condition 21 – Opening Hours
The ground floor level flexible use commercial premises, as shown on the approved
drawings, shall not be open to customers other than between the hours of 0700 and 2300
Mondays to Saturdays, and 0800 to 2200 Sundays and at no other times, unless otherwise
approved, in writing, by the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: To safeguard the amenities of neighboring residents and future residents of the
development, in accordance with DM01 of the Development Management Policies DPD
(adopted September 2012) and Policy CS14 of the Local Plan Core Strategy (adopted 2012).

Condition 22 – Sustainability Standards

227

The development shall achieve an ‘Very Good’ rating under BREEAM UK New Construction
2014 (or such equivalent standard that replaces this) for the Shell/Shell and Core stage and
an ‘Excellent’ rating under BREEAM Refurbishment and Fit-out 2014.
a) Within 12 months of work starting on the development, unless otherwise agreed
in writing, a BREEAM UK New Construction 2014 (or such equivalent standard
that replaces this) Shell and Core Interim (Design Stage) Certificate, issued by the
Building Research Establishment (BRE), must be submitted, by the developer,
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority to show that a minimum
‘‘very good’ rating will be achieved.
b) Within 3 months of first occupation of the non-residential unit within the
development, unless otherwise agreed in writing, a BREEAM UK New
Construction 2014 (or such equivalent standard that replaces this) Shell and
Core Final (Post-Construction) Certificate, issued by the BRE, must be submitted,
by the developer, and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority to
demonstrate that an ‘‘very good’ rating has been achieved. All the measures
integrated shall be retained for as long as the development is in existence.
c) Prior to commencement of the fit-out of the non-residential unit within the
development, unless otherwise agreed in writing, a BREEAM Refurbishment and
Fit-out 2014 Parts 3 and 4 Interim (Design Stage) Certificate, issued by the
Building Research Establishment (BRE), must be submitted, by the fit-out
contractor, and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority to show that
a minimum ‘very good rating will be achieved.
d) Within 3 months of first occupation of a non-residential unit within the
development, unless otherwise agreed in writing, a BREEAM Refurbishment and
Fit-out 2014 Parts 3 and 4 Final (Post-Construction) Certificate, issued by the
BRE, must be submitted, by the fit-out contractor, and approved in writing by
the Local Planning Authority to demonstrate that an ‘very good’ rating has been
achieved. All the measures integrated shall be retained for as long as the
development is in existence.
Reason: In the interests of sustainable development and in accordance with London Plan
Policies 5.2-5.7.
Condition 23 – Construction Times
No construction works shall occur outside of the following times unless otherwise agreed in
writing by the Local Planning Authority:
-

08:00 - 18:00 hours weekdays;
08:00 - 13:00 hours Saturdays.

Reason: To ensure that the proposed development does not prejudice the amenities of
occupiers of adjoining residential properties in accordance with policies DM01 and DM04 of
the Barnet Local Plan.

228

Condition 24 – Impact Piling
No impact piling shall take place until a piling method statement (detailing the depth and
type of piling to be undertaken and the methodology by which such piling will be carried
out, including measures to prevent and minimise the potential for damage to subsurface
sewerage infrastructure, and the programme for the works) for the development has been
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority in consultation with
Thames Water. Any piling must be undertaken in accordance with the terms of the
approved piling method statement.
Reason: To prevent any damage to nearby underground utility infrastructure.

Condition 25 – PD Restriction
Notwithstanding the provisions of any development order made under Section 59 of the
Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (or any Order revoking and re-enacting that Order),
the following operations shall not be undertaken without the receipt of prior specific
express planning permission in writing from the Local Planning Authority on the buildings
hereby approved:
The installation of any structures or apparatus for purposes relating to telecommunications
or any part of the development hereby approved, including any structures or development
otherwise permitted under Part 24 and Part 25 of Schedule 2 of the Town and Country
Planning (General Permitted Development) Order 1995 (as amended) or any equivalent
Order revoking and re-enacting that order.
Reason: To ensure that the development does not impact adversely on the character of the
area and to ensure the Local Planning Authority can control the development in the area so
that it accords with Policies CS5 and DM01 of the Local Plan.

229

This page is intentionally left blank

Location

Land At Victoria Park Ballards Lane London N3 2PN

Reference:

20/0510/FUL

Ward:

West Finchley

Applicant:

Mr Michael Norledge

Received: 31st JanuaryAGENDA
2020
Accepted: 31st January 2020

ITEM 10

Expiry 27th March 2020

Use of land for weekly food market on Sundays
Proposal:

Recommendation: Approve subject to conditions
AND the Committee grants delegated authority to the Service Director – Planning and
Building Control or Head of Strategic Planning to make any minor alterations, additions or
deletions to the recommended conditions/obligations or reasons for refusal as set out in this
report and addendum provided this authority shall be exercised after consultation with the
Chairman (or in his absence the Vice- Chairman) of the Committee (who may request that
such alterations, additions or deletions be first approved by the Committee)

1

The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the
following approved plans:
E101 - Market Proposed Layout
Planning Statement
Market Management Plan
Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning and so as
to ensure that the development is carried out fully in accordance with the plans as
assessed in accordance with Policies CS NPPF and CS1 of the Local Plan Core
Strategy DPD (adopted September 2012) and Policy DM01 of the Local Plan
Development Management Policies DPD (adopted September 2012).

2

This development must be begun within three years from the date of this permission.

Reason: To comply with Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act
2004.
3

Before the permitted development is occupied a full Delivery and Servicing Plan
(DSP) shall be submitted to and agreed by the Local Planning Authority. The
development thereafter shall only be operated in accordance with the approved
Delivery Service Plan.

231

Reason: In the interest of highway safety in accordance with London Borough of
Barnet's Local Plan Policy CS9 of Core Strategy (Adopted) September 2012 and
Policy DM17 of Development Management Policies (Adopted) September 2012.

4

The trading hours of the use hereby permitted shall be 10:00 to 15:00 on Sundays
and on no other day.
Reason: To safeguard the amenities of occupiers of adjoining residential properties.

5

Prior to the implementation of the market hereby approved starts a Market
Management Plan shall be submitted to and agreed by the Local Planning Authority.
The Plan shall include, but not be limited to, details of:
- Set up and take down operations;
- Noise management;
- Refuse collection;
- Servicing and deliveries (including frequency and swept paths for vehicles entering
the site);
- A community liaison point of contact.
The market use shall be operated in accordance with the approved Market
Management Plan.
Reason: In the interest of highway safety in accordance with London Borough of
Barnet's Local Plan Policy CS9 of Core Strategy (Adopted) September 2012 and
Policy DM17 of Development Management Policies (Adopted) September 2012.

6

No motor vehicle engines should be left idling for the purposes of storing, cooling or
heating foods relating to the market. Any plant / generators must be sited at the front
- Ballards Lane side for the site and at least 50m away from residential properties.

Reason: To ensure that the amenities of occupiers are protected from noise and poor
air quality in the vicinity.
7

At least two traffic marshalls must be present during loading and unloading of the
market stalls hereby approved, and to manage arrival/departures of vendors and
control vehicle movements.
Reason: In the interest of highway safety in accordance with London Borough of
Barnet's Local Plan Policy CS9 of Core Strategy (Adopted) September 2012 and
Policy DM17 of Development Management Policies (Adopted) September 2012.

8

The market set up s shown on Drawing No. E101; shall be provided and shall not be
used for any purpose other than the parking of vehicles in connection with the
approved development.
Reason: To ensure that parking is provided in accordance with the council's
standards in the interests of pedestrian and highway safety, the free flow of traffic
and in order to protect the amenities of the area in accordance with Policy DM17 of
the Development Management Policies DPD (adopted September 2012) and Policies
6.1, 6.2 and 6.3 of the London Plan 2015.
232

Informative(s):

1

In accordance with paragraphs 38-57 of the NPPF, the Local Planning Authority
(LPA) takes a positive and proactive approach to development proposals, focused on
solutions. The LPA has produced planning policies and written guidance to assist
applicants when submitting applications. These are all available on the Council's
website. A pre-application advice service is also offered. The LPA has negotiated
with the applicant/agent where necessary during the application process to ensure
that the proposed development is in accordance with the Development Plan.

2

The applicant is advised that no furniture such as temporary signs for example 'A
boards' or any stock items shall be placed on public footway to avoid obstruction to
pedestrian movement. A minimum clearance of 2 metres for pedestrians access
should be maintained at all times. Location of any existing street furniture in the
vicinity of the site must be taken into consideration to ensure that the minimum
clearance required for pedestrians is not compromised.

3

No vehicles connected to the market use shall park on yellow or zig zag lines
surrounding the application site. Measures to prevent this shall be included in the
Delivery and Servicing Plan required by condition 3.

233

Officer’s Assessment
1. Site Description
The application site is located on the south eastern side of Ballards Lane adjacent to the
Finchley Church End Town Centre and within West Finchley ward. The application site is
not located within a Conservation Area and there are no designated buildings in the
immediate vicinity.
The application site comprises of the entrance to Victoria Park adjacent to Ballards Lane,
before the entrance to the bowling green, and continues along one side of the main path
accessed from Ballards Lane.
To the south west of the application site the rear gardens of properties along The Ridgeway
are sited, in particular Nos. 1a, 1 and 3 abut the position of the proposed market.
To the north east of the site the rear gardens of properties along Seymour Road are sited,
in particular Nos. 2 and 4, however, these properties are separated from the market position
by an existing Electricity Sub-Station and Public Convenience.
Opposite the park flatted developments are sited.

2. Site History
Reference: 17/1030/FUL
Address: Victoria Park, Ballards Lane, London,
Decision: Approved subject to conditions
Decision Date: 12 July 2017
Description: Use of land for weekly food market on Sundays
Reference: F/02468/09
Address: Victoria Park Cafe, Ballards Lane, London,
Decision: Approved subject to conditions
Decision Date: 18 September 2009
Description: Erection of single storey cafe building following demolition of existing cafe.

3. Proposal
This application seeks consent for the use of park land on the Ballards Lane side for a weekly
food market on Sundays. The market would run between 10am and 3pm.
A similar application for a Sunday market gained temporary consent under reference
17/1030/FUL dated 12th July 2017, for the period of one year. This application seeks
consent for similar development, although permanent, with additional market stalls to that
approved previously, continuing along the main path accessed from Ballards Lane.
The proposed market would take up 180 metres of space outside the bowling green adjacent
to the road, 45 metres of space at the entrance to the park and 67.5 metres of land inside
of the park. Approximately sixty vendors will operate at the site trading from 3x3 metre
temporary demountable structures. Approximately forty will operate from the area of land in
234

front of the bowling club, five will operate from in front of the Ballards Lane entrance to
Victoria Park and fifteen will operate from inside of the park.
4. Public Consultation
322 consultation letters were sent to neighbouring properties.
33 responses have been received, comprising of 3 representations, 18 letters of support
and 12 letters of objection.
The supporters can be summarised as follows
Wonderful addition
Market in 2018 was great, shame it did not continue
In favour- East Finchley market regular and a success
Endorse as long as everything cleaned up after
Comments about inappropriate use of park seems unwarranted as it is public space
outside of main park
Park is not just for dog walkers
Markets bring people together
Victoria park is the flattest and least interesting park for adults; great to have
something of interest that is not dog walking
Previous market too small
Wonderful way to spend a Sunday
Welcome market but outside Tesco
So good for families

The objectors can be summarised as follows
Entrance to park and area along Ballards Lane should be clear for public safety
Park should be place of relaxation
Market should be provided in more urban area
Inappropriate use of public space for personal commercial gain
Increased pollution
Increases noise
Little parking in area
Increased litter
Cooking smell unpleasant during previous market
Unclear how the market provides "local" produce
No benefit to existing shops
Loss of quiet area to walk dogs away from main park
Previous market overpriced
Damage to natural environment
Security issue - concerns about travellers
Not true that market has approached Bowling Club to discuss parking arrangements
Park meant to be a place of peace and calm especially on a Sunday
Proposals would dominate front and entrance to park
Previous markets were not successful this should not go ahead
False that area is currently "unused"
Concerns about noise disturbance
Congestion

Internal / other consultations:
235

Environmental Health: No objection subject to suggested conditions
Highways: No objection subject to suggested conditions
Town Team: No objection subject to suggested conditions
The Finchley Society: The Society does not oppose the principle of a market of the type
proposed, but presses the Council to ensure that the arrangements for parking stallholders'
vehicles are satisfactory, that the grass in front of Victoria Park will not be damaged
seriously, and that the market operators will clean up adequately after the market closes in
the evening.
Finchley Victoria Bowling and Croquet Club:
The Club Committee discussed the proposal today. It is not right that the applicant had been
in touch with the Club about parking though since the application was made he has spoken
with the Club President. In recent years the Club has pioneered the playing of croquet in
Barnet and used the greens on Sunday afternoons for croquet as wells bowls. Membership
has doubled and in 2020 we propose to use the greens on Sunday mornings as well to meet
demand for playing time. The market may interfere with the access to the club from Ballards
Lane and cause conflict between club and market users. We ask that the application be
amended to remove from the plan those stalls closest to the access to the club and that, in
the interests of public safety, the market management plan shall provide for a clear physical
separation between market users and the access to the club during the times of market
operation and where that access crosses the open space of the park outside the park
railings.
5. Planning Considerations
5.1 Policy Context
National Planning Policy Framework and National Planning Practice Guidance
The determination of planning applications is made mindful of Central Government advice
and the Local Plan for the area. It is recognised that Local Planning Authorities must
determine applications in accordance with the statutory Development Plan, unless material
considerations indicate otherwise, and that the planning system does not exist to protect the
private interests of one person against another.
The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) was updated in 2019. This is a key part of
the Governments reforms to make the planning system less complex and more accessible,
and to promote sustainable growth.
The NPPF states that 'good design is a key aspect of sustainable development, is indivisible
from good planning, and should contribute positively to making places better for people'.
The NPPF retains a presumption in favour of sustainable development. This applies unless
any adverse impacts of a development would 'significantly and demonstrably' outweigh the
benefits.
The Mayor's London Plan 2018
The London Development Plan is the overall strategic plan for London, and it sets out a fully
integrated economic, environmental, transport and social framework for the development of
236

the capital to 2031. It forms part of the development plan for Greater London and is
recognised in the NPPF as part of the development plan.
The London Plan provides a unified framework for strategies that are designed to ensure
that all Londoners benefit from sustainable improvements to their quality of life.
Barnet's Local Plan (Reg 18) 2020
Barnet's Local Plan -Reg 18 Preferred Approach was approved for consultation on 6th
January 2020. The Reg 18 document sets out the Council's preferred policy approach
together with draft development proposals for 67 sites. It is Barnet's emerging Local Plan.
The Local Plan 2012 remains the statutory development plan for Barnet until such stage as
the replacement plan is adopted and as such applications should continue to be determined
in accordance with the 2012 Local Plan, while noting that account needs to be taken of
emerging policies and draft site proposals.
Barnet's Local Plan is made up of a suite of documents including the Core Strategy and
Development Management Policies Development Plan Documents. Both were adopted in
September 2012.
- Relevant Core Strategy Policies: CS NPPF, CS1, CS4, CS5, CS9, CS15.
- Relevant Development Management Policies: DM01, DM02, DM04, DM17.
Supplementary Planning Documents
Sustainable Design and Construction SPD (2016)
5.2 Main issues for consideration
The main issues for consideration in this case are:
The Impact on the appearance and character of the area
The functioning of the town centre
The impact on the amenities of neighbouring occupiers
5.3 Assessment of proposals
This application seeks consent to use Victoria Park on Ballards Lane, Finchley Central as
weekly food market to be held every Sunday between the hours of 10am and 3pm. The
application follows temporary consent for a similar, albeit smaller scheme given in 2017,
details above. Therefore the principle of having a food market in this location has previously
been considered under the same policy context.
The applicant's statement says that The Spread Food LTD are experienced food market
operators and have operated over six hundred individual market days since they
commenced business in 2015. The company has operated from various different locations
including Primrose Hill, Southbank, Hampstead and London Fields.
The agent has arranged to lease the park land from the Council's Greenspaces department
who have commented that they support the proposals.
The main considerations in this case are therefore the acceptability of the proposals to the
site in the context of the vitality and viability of the Finchley Church End Town Centre and
the amenities of the occupiers of adjoining residential properties.
237

Impact on Finchley Church End Town Centre
As with the previous application, the proposed development is not considered to result in
any loss of amenity to existing businesses in the locality, given that the market is only
proposed to be held once a week. There is the potential that the proposed market would
bring an increased footfall to the high street with visitors to the market taking the opportunity
to visit local shops. The Business, Employment and Skills department have reviewed the
submitted information and do not consider that the potential increased footfall would be
detrimental or result in any direct competition with the High Street. The nature, timing and
frequency of the market and its location on the edge of a town centre are such that it is not
considered that a sequential test is required.
In addition, it could be considered that the provision of new Sunday market results in a
positive addition to the local community.
Impact on Character of the Area
As with the previous scheme, given its temporary nature (5 hours per week maximum), the
proposed development is not considered to have any demonstrable detrimental impact on
the character and appearance of the application site, this part of Ballards Lane or the park.
Stalls will be removed at the end of the trading period and this is secured by way of planning
conditions.
A Management Plan Condition is suggested to ensure that the proposed development does
not result in any detrimental impact to the area. The Plan will include the requirement for
further details relating to;
- Set up and take down operations;
- Noise management;
- Refuse collection;
- Servicing and deliveries (including frequency and swept paths for vehicles entering the
site);
- A community liaison point of contact.
It should be noted that the applicant successfully discharged this condition as it related to
the previous application and therefore officers are confident that an acceptable Management
Plan can be agreed.
Impact on Residential amenity
It is noted that concerns have been raised by residents that the proposals would result in
additional noise and disturbance due to increased footfall and vehicle movements. However,
the site lies in very close proximity to an established town centre, which already experiences
high levels of background noise and general movement during the day and it is not
considered that the introduction of a Sunday market will result in unacceptable disturbance
to neighbouring occupiers. Environmental Health officers have not objected to the proposals.
Whilst it is recognised that additional market stalls are proposed under this application,
beyond that which was approved previously; however, the location of the additional stalls,
continuing along one side of the main path accessed from Ballards Lane is considered to
be sited away from neighbouring properties and subject to the suggested conditions it is
considered this will not be harmful to neighbouring residential amenity.
238

Overall, it is considered that the proposed use would not result in a detrimental impact on
the amenities of neighbouring residents by way of noise and disturbance, and subject to a
condition restricting hours of use it is considered that it would be appropriate for the use of
the entrance of the park to be used as a market between the hours of 10am and 3pm on
Sundays. This restriction is considered to strike an appropriate balance between the
amenities of neighbouring residents and the function of the proposed market use and its
contribution to the wider area and community.
Furthermore a condition restricting the use of generators has been applied to the permission
on the advice of the Environmental Health department to further restrict potential noise
disturbance to the locality, as was the case with the previous scheme.
In regards to potential additional litter caused by the proposed market use, the agent has
confirmed that additional refuse bins will be utilised on the market day to prevent
unnecessary littering and a team of cleaners will be on hand after the event to ensure that
the site is cleaner than when it started. This should help to reduce the existing vermin
problem that the park is suffering from. A Management Plan Condition is suggested to
provide additional details of how the organisers of the market will ensure that it does not
result in detrimental harm to amenities of neighbouring occupiers.
Impact on function of the Open Space
It is noted that the size of the proposed market has increased since the previous consent
with additional stalls proposed continuing along one side of the main path accessed from
Ballards Lane. However, a large proportion of the park will remain unaffected by the
proposals and the additional stalls are not considered to detract from the existing park use,
as such it is not considered that the weekly market will have any demonstrable detrimental
impact on the function of the park which will be easily available for users who are not
interested in the market use.
As the proposed market is separated from the main park by the bowling green, any users of
the park who enter from the rear, for example along Park View Road would not experience
any disturbance to their enjoyment of the park from the market.
Traffic and Highways matters
There are no parking restrictions in the area on Sunday's and it is envisioned that the market
will be mainly utilised by local people walking to the market. It should be noted that the
Council's Highways department have raised no objection to the proposals subject to the
imposition of a full Delivery and Servicing Plan condition and informative which restricts any
obstruction to the public footpaths.

5.4 Response to Public Consultation
The concerns raised by objectors are noted.
Issues relating to noise disturbance, litter and vermin have been addressed in the above
report and a Management Plan Condition is suggested to address these issues.
A condition restricting the hours of use has been applied to the permission in order to ensure
proposals have limited impact on neighbouring amenity.
239

It is not considered that the market will take away custom from local food shops and the park
café since it proposes limited hours of operation.
The proposed market is not considered to have a detrimental impact on existing wildlife,
especially as it is of limited size and restricted to a limited location.
It is not considered that the use of the front of the park site will take away from residents
using the park for quiet refuge for relaxation and exercise. It will be for a limited number of
hours a week and will not prejudice wider enjoyment of the park to a degree that would
warrant refusing the planning application.
It is not considered that the proposals will ruin park for commercial gain as the majority of
the park site will be retained for usual park use.
The concerns raised that the proposed land is not un-used is noted. However, this part of
the park does not have a specific use compared to the Bowling Green or children's play
areas for example.

6. Equality and Diversity Issues
The proposal does not conflict with either Barnet Council's Equalities Policy or the
commitments set in the Equality Scheme and support the Council in meeting its statutory
equality responsibilities.

7. Conclusion
Having taken all material considerations into account, the proposed development is not
considered to detrimentally impact on the qualities of the application site, protects the
character and appearance of the area and would not result in any demonstrable loss of
amenity neighbouring occupiers. Approval is recommended.

240

241

This page is intentionally left blank

LOCATION: Colindale Gardens (formerly Peel Centre), Aerodrome Road, NW9 5JE

AGENDA ITEM 11
Received: 2 December 2019
Accepted: 12 December 2019
Expiry: 12 March 2020

REFERENCE:

19/6445/S73

WARD(S):

Colindale

APPLICANT:

Redrow Homes Limited

PROPOSAL:

Minor material amendment to vary the wording of the following
conditions 16 (Level of Parking), 18 (Car Parking Management
Plan), 57 (Cycle / Motorcycle Parking Details) and 59 (School
Parking Spaces) to hybrid planning permission ref. 16/7836/S73
dated 05/05/2017, which amended H/04753/14 dated
23/12/2015

Background
Hybrid planning permission for the phased comprehensive redevelopment of the site
was granted on the 23rd December 2015 (Ref: H/04753/14). It allows the
comprehensive redevelopment of part of the former Peel Centre site (now known as
‘Colindale Gardens’) for 2,900 homes and associated development, including the
creation of new public open space and the provision of a new primary school. It was
granted subject to 60 conditions and a Section 106 agreement.
The development was designed as part of a masterplan and will be constructed in
three development stages, each comprising a number of ‘phases’.
The application was granted in hybrid form. Full planning permission was granted for
part of the development comprising Development Stage 1, with outline planning
permission (with all matters reserved except access) granted for Development Stages
2 and 3. Reserved Matters Approvals have been submitted for all of Stage 2. A new
drop in Outline application has been submitted covering the Stage 3 area, which is
currently under consideration under planning application reference 19/6512/OUT.

The S73 Application
The current application is made under Section 73 of the Town and Country Planning
Act 1990 (as amended). The principal purpose of this application is to seek approval
for amendments to the wording of the following conditions to hybrid planning
permission ref. 16/7836/S73 dated 05/05/2017, which amended H/04753/14 dated
23/12/2015:





Condition 16 (Level of Parking)
Condition 18 (Car Parking Management Plan)
Condition 57 (Cycle / Motorcycle Parking Details)
Condition 59 (School Parking Spaces)

The proposed changes to the above conditions basically amend the approved site
wide car parking to lower the quantity of car parking (including motorcycle parking)
1
243

from 0.71 spaces per dwelling to between 0.5- 0.55 spaces per dwelling. The
application effectively reflects that the level of parking which has been delivered do
date through the various Reserved Matters Approvals which have been granted for
this site and would not in itself affect the number of spaces provided on site. The car
parking for the proposed school has also been changed from dedicated drop off
spaces, to the shared use of residential spaces.
The proposed amendment effectively regularises the original outline approval to
match what has been approved by the Council at reserved matters stage. As the
level of car parking on individual blocks have already been assessed and considered
acceptable, the proposed changes proposed to the wording of the above conditions
is considered acceptable and the proposal is recommended for APPROVAL

2
244

RECOMMENDATIONS
Approve subject to:
Recommendation 1
The applicant and any other person having a requisite interest in the site be invited to
enter into a Deed of Variation varying the extant section 106 Agreement dated 23
December 2015 in accordance with the terms set out in the Application Summary
section of this report.
Recommendation 2:
That upon completion of the agreement specified in Recommendation 1, , The
Committee also grants delegated authority to the Service Director Planning & Building
Control or Head of Strategic Planning to make any minor alterations, additions or
deletions to the recommended conditions/obligations or reasons for refusal as set out
in this report and addendum provided this authority shall be exercised after
consultation with the Chairman (or in his absence the Vice-Chairman) of the
Committee (who may request that such alterations, additions or deletions be first
approved by the Committee).
Conditions
1. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the
Primary Control Documents and detailed drawings, subject to the conditions in
this permission and unless otherwise agreed in writing with the Local Planning
Authority.
The outline components are set out in the following three Primary Control
Documents:
i.
ii.
iii.

PC5 Revised Development Schedule, Revision 9 (June 2020)
PC6 Revised Parameter Plans Nos. Prefix: 1735-FCB-SITE: 0102-P2;
0103-P2; 0104-P2; 0105-P2; 0106-P3; 0107-P2; 0108-P5; 0109-P2
PC7 Revised Design Principles Document (June 2015)"

The detailed components are set out in the PC5 Revised Development
Schedule, Revision 9 (June 2020) and the PC8 Detailed Drawings listed as
follows:
PC8 Detailed Drawings
BLOCK H
BLOCK H LEVEL 00 (28/09/16) REF: 1606-P100-D
BLOCK H LEVEL 1 (28/09/16) REF: 1606-P101-E
BLOCK H LEVEL 2 (28/09/16) REF: 1606-P102-D
BLOCK H LEVEL 3 (03/11/16) REF: 1606-P103-D
BLOCK H LEVEL 4 (03/11/16) REF: 1606-P104-C
BLOCK H LEVEL 5 (03/11/16) REF: 1606-P105-D
BLOCK H LEVEL 6 (03/11/16) REF: 1606-P106-C
BLOCK H LEVEL 7 (03/11/16) REF: 1606-P107-E
3
245

BLOCK H LEVEL 8-13 (03/11/16) REF: 1606-P108-D
BLOCK H PROPOSED NORTH ELEVATION (12/10/16) REF: 1606-P200-E
BLOCK H PROPOSED EAST ELEVATION (11/10/16) REF: 1606-P201-F
BLOCK H PROPOSED SOUTH ELEVATION (07/10/16) REF: 1606-P202-E
BLOCK H PROPOSED WEST ELEVATION (07/10/16) REF: 1606-P203-F
BLOCK H PROPOSED EAST COURTYARD ELEVATION (12/10/16) REF:
1606-P204-D
BLOCK H PROPOSED WEST COURTYARD ELEVATION (12/10/16) REF:
1606-P205-D
BLOCK J
BLOCKS J AND K BASEMENT PLAN (DEC 16) REF: 537/PLJK/100 REV P1
BLOCK J GROUND FLOOR PLAN (DEC 16) REF: 537/PLJ/100 REV P1
BLOCK J FIRST FLOOR PLAN (DEC 16) REF: 537/PLJ/101 REV P1
BLOCK J SECOND FLOOR PLAN (DEC 16) REF: 537/PLJ/102 REV P1
BLOCK J THIRD FLOOR PLAN (DEC 16) REF: 537/PLJ/103 REV P1
BLOCK J FOURTH FLOOR PLAN (DEC 16) REF: 537/PLJ/104 REV P1
BLOCK J FIFTH FLOOR PLAN (DEC 16) REF: 537/PLJ/105 REV P1
BLOCK J SIXTH FLOOR PLAN (DEC 16) REF: 537/PLJ/106 REV P1
BLOCK J ROOF PLAN (DEC 16) REF: 537/PLJ/107 REV P1
BLOCK J NORTH ELEVATION (DEC 16) REF: 537/PLJ/200 REV P1
BLOCK J SECTIONAL ELEVATION A-A (DEC 16) REF: 537/PLJ/201 REV P1
BLOCK J SECTIONAL ELEVATION B-B (DEC 16) REF: 537/PLJ/202 REV P1
BLOCK J SECTIONAL ELEVATION C-C (DEC 16) REF: 537/PLJ/203 REV P1
BLOCK J SOUTH ELEVATION (DEC 16) REF: 537/PLJ/204 REV P1
BLOCK J EAST ELEVATION (DEC 16) REF: 537/PLJ/205 REV P1
BLOCK J SECTIONAL ELEVATION D-D (DEC 16) REF: 537/PLJ/206 REV P1
BLOCK J SECTIONAL ELEVATION E-E (DEC 16) REF: 537/PLJ/207 REV P1
BLOCK J WEST ELEVATION (DEC 16) REF: 537/PLJ/208 REV P1
BLOCK J SECTIONAL ELEVATION F-F (DEC 16) REF: 537/PLJ/209 REV P1
BLOCK J SECTIONAL ELEVATION G-G (DEC 16) REF: 537/PLJ/210 REV P1
BLOCK K
BLOCK K GROUND FLOOR PLAN (DEC 16) REF: 537/PLK/100 REV P1
BLOCK K FIRST FLOOR PLAN (DEC 16) REF: 537/PLK/101 REV P1
BLOCK K SECOND FLOOR PLAN (DEC 16) REF: 537/PLK/102 REV P1
BLOCK K THIRD FLOOR PLAN (DEC 16) REF: 537/PLK/103 REV P1
BLOCK K FOURTH FLOOR PLAN (DEC 16) REF: 537/PLK/104 REV P1
BLOCK K FIFTH FLOOR PLAN (DEC 16) REF: 537/PLK/105 REV P1
BLOCK K ROOF PLAN (DEC 16) REF: 537/PLK/106 REV P1
BLOCK K NORTH ELEVATION (DEC 16) REF: 537/PLK/200 REV P1
BLOCK K SECTIONAL ELEVATION A-A (DEC 16) REF: 537/PLK/201 REV P1
BLOCK K SOUTH ELEVATION (DEC 16) REF: 537/PLK/202 REV P1
BLOCK K SECTIONAL ELEVATION B-B (DEC 16) REF: 537/PLK/203 REV P1
BLOCK K SECTIONAL ELEVATION C-C (DEC 16) REF: 537/PLK/204 REV P1
BLOCK K EAST ELEVATION (DEC 16) REF: 537/PLK/205 REV P1
BLOCK K SECTIONAL ELEVATION D-D (DEC 16) REF: 537/PLK/206 REV P1
BLOCK K SECTIONAL ELEVATION E-E (DEC 16) REF: 537/PLK/207 REV P1
BLOCK K WEST ELEVATION (DEC 16) REF: 537/PLK/208 REV P1
BLOCK K SECTIONAL ELEVATION F-F (DEC 16) REF: 537/PLK/209 REV P1
4
246

BLOCK K SECTIONAL ELEVATION G-G (DEC 16) REF: 537/PLK/210 REV
P1
BLOCK L & N (APPROVED UNDER NON-MATERIAL AMENDMENT
APPLICATION 16/2646/NMA)
BLOCK LN GA PLAN – SITE PLAN BLOCKS L & N COMBINED GROUND
FLOOR REV B (MARCH 2016) REF: 537/F001
BLOCK L GA PLAN – GROUND FLOOR REV B (MARCH 2016) REF:
537/F100
BLOCK L GA PLAN – FIRST FLOOR REV B (MARCH 2016) REF: 537/F101
BLOCK L GA PLAN – SECOND FLOOR REV B (MARCH 2016) REF: 537/F102
BLOCK L GA PLAN – THIRD FLOOR REV B (MARCH 2016) REF: 537/F103
BLOCK L GA PLAN – FOURTH FLOOR REV B (MARCH 2016) REF: 537/F104
BLOCK L GA PLAN – ROOF REV A (MARCH 2016) REF: 537/F105
BLOCK L GA ELEVATION – SOUTH REV B (APRIL 2016) REF: 537/F201
BLOCK L GA ELEVATION – NORTH REV B (APRIL 2016) REF: 537/F202
BLOCK L GA ELEVATION – EAST REV B (APRIL 2016) REF: 537/F203
BLOCK L GA ELEVATION – WEST REV B (APRIL 2016) REF: 537/F204
BLOCK LN GA SECTION – AA REV B (APRIL 2016) REF: 537/F301
BLOCK LN GA SECTION – BB REV B (APRIL 2016) REF: 537/F302
BLOCK N GA PLAN – GROUND FLOOR REV B (MARCH 2016) REF:
537/F106
BLOCK N GA PLAN – FIRST FLOOR REV B (MARCH 2016) REF: 537/F107
BLOCK N GA PLAN – SECOND FLOOR REV B (MARCH 2016) REF:
537/F108
BLOCK N GA PLAN – THIRD FLOOR REV B (MARCH 2016) REF: 537/F109
BLOCK N GA PLAN – FOURTH FLOOR REV B (MARCH 2016) REF:
537/F110
BLOCK N GA PLAN – ROOF REV A (MARCH 2016) REF: 537/F111
BLOCK N GA ELEVATION – SOUTH REV B (APRIL 2016) REF: 537/F205
BLOCK N GA ELEVATION – NORTH REV B (APRIL 2016) REF: 537/F206
BLOCK N GA ELEVATION – EAST REV B (APRIL 2016) REF: 537/F207
BLOCK N GA ELEVATION – WEST REV B (APRIL 2016) REF: 537/F208
BLOCK M
BLOCK M GROUND FLOOR PLAN (DEC 16) REF: 537/PLM/100 REV P1
BLOCK M FIRST FLOOR PLAN (DEC 16) REF: 537/PLM/101 REV P1
BLOCK M SECOND FLOOR PLAN (DEC 16) REF: 537/PLM/102 REV P1
BLOCK M THIRD FLOOR PLAN (DEC 16) REF: 537/PLM/103 REV P1
BLOCK M FOURTH FLOOR PLAN (DEC 16) REF: 537/PLM/104 REV P1
BLOCK M FIFTH FLOOR PLAN (DEC 16) REF: 537/PLM/105 REV P1
BLOCK M SIXTH FLOOR PLAN (DEC 16) REF: 537/PLM/106 REV P1
BLOCK M ROOF PLAN (DEC 16) REF: 537/PLM/107 REV P1
BLOCK M NORTH ELEVATION (DEC 16) REF: 537/PLM/201 REV P1
BLOCK M SOUTH ELEVATION (DEC 16) REF: 537/PLM/202 REV P1
BLOCK M EAST ELEVATION (DEC 16) REF: 537/PLM/203 REV P1
BLOCK M WEST ELEVATION (DEC 16) REF: 537/PLM/204 REV P1
BLOCK M SECTIONAL ELEVATION AA (DEC 16) REF: 537/PLM/205 REV P1
BLOCK M SECTIONAL ELEVATION BB (DEC 16) REF: 537/PLM/206 REV P1
5
247

BLOCK M SECTIONAL ELEVATION CC (DEC 16) REF: 537/PLM/207 REV P1
BLOCK M SECTIONAL ELEVATION DD (DEC 16) REF: 537/PLM/208 REV P1
BLOCK P
BLOCK P GA PLAN – GROUND FLOOR (JULY 2016) REF: 537/FP101 REV
G
BLOCK P GA PLAN – FIRST FLOOR (JULY 2016) REF: 537/FP102 REV F
BLOCK P GA PLAN – SECOND FLOOR (JULY 2016) REF: 537/FP103 REV F
BLOCK P GA PLAN – THIRD FLOOR (JULY 2016) REF: 537/FP104 REV F
BLOCK P GA PLAN – FOURTH FLOOR (JULY 2016) REF: 537/FP105 REV F
BLOCK P GA PLAN – FIFTH FLOOR (JULY 2016) REF: 537/FP106 REV F
BLOCK P GA PLAN – SIXTH FLOOR (JULY 2016) REF: 537/FP107 REV F
BLOCK P GA PLAN – SEVENTH FLOOR (JULY 2016) REF: 537/FP108 REV
F
BLOCK P GA PLAN – EIGHTH FLOOR (JULY 2016) REF: 537/FP109 REV F
BLOCK P GA PLAN – ROOF (JULY 2016) REF: 537/FP110 REV F
BLOCK P GA ELEVATION – EAST (JULY 2016) REF: 537/FP200 REV E
BLOCK P GA ELEVATION – SOUTH (JULY 2016) REF: 537/FP201 REV E
BLOCK P GA ELEVATION – WEST (JULY 2016) REF: 537/FP202 REV C
BLOCK P GA ELEVATION – NORTH (JULY 2016) REF: 537/FP203 REV E
BLOCK P GA ELEVATION – EAST COURTYARD (JULY 2016) REF:
537/FP204 REV C
BLOCK P GA ELEVATION – SOUTH COURTYARD (JULY 2016) REF:
537/FP205 REV B
BLOCK P GA ELEVATION – WEST COURTYARD (JULY 2016) REF:
537/FP206 REV C
BLOCK P GA ELEVATION – NORTH COURTYARD (JULY 2016) REF:
537/FP207 REV C
BLOCK Q
BLOCK Q GA PLAN – GROUND FLOOR (JULY 2016) REF: 537/FQ101 REV
D
BLOCK Q GA PLAN – FIRST FLOOR (JULY 2016) REF: 537/FQ102 REV D
BLOCK Q GA PLAN – SECOND FLOOR (JULY 2016) REF: 537/FQ103 REV
C
BLOCK Q GA PLAN – THIRD FLOOR (JULY 2016) REF: 537/FQ104 REV C
BLOCK Q GA PLAN – FOURTH FLOOR (JULY 2016) REF: 537/FQ105 REV
C
BLOCK Q GA PLAN – FIFTH FLOOR (JULY 2016) REF: 537/FQ106 REV C
BLOCK Q GA PLAN – SIXTH FLOOR (JULY 2016) REF: 537/FQ107 REV C
BLOCK Q GA PLAN – SEVENTH FLOOR (JULY 2016) REF: 537/FQ108 REV
C
BLOCK Q GA PLAN – EIGHTH FLOOR (JULY 2016) REF: 537/FQ109 REV C
BLOCK Q GA PLAN – ROOF (JULY 2016) REF: 537/FQ110 REV C
BLOCK Q GA ELEVATION – EAST (JULY 2016) REF: 537/FQ200 REV D
BLOCK Q GA ELEVATION – SOUTH (JULY 2016) REF: 537/FQ201 REV C
BLOCK Q GA ELEVATION – WEST (JULY 2016) REF: 537/FQ202 REV C
BLOCK Q GA ELEVATION – NORTH (JULY 2016) REF: 537/FQ203 REV D
BLOCK Q GA ELEVATION – EAST COURTYARD (JULY 2016) REF:
537/FQ204 REV C
6
248

BLOCK Q GA ELEVATION – SOUTH COURTYARD (JULY 2016) REF:
537/FQ205 REV C
BLOCK Q GA ELEVATION – WEST COURTYARD (JULY 2016) REF:
537/FQ206 REV B
BLOCK Q GA ELEVATION – NORTH COURTYARD (JULY 2016) REF:
537/FQ207 REV B
BLOCK R & S (APPROVED UNDER NON-MATERIAL AMENDMENT
APPLICATION 16/1668/NMA)
PLOT RS: COMBINED LEVEL 0 PLAN 15017-RS-00-100
PLOT R: PROPOSED LEVEL 0 PLAN 15017-R-03-100
PLOT R: PROPOSED LEVEL 1 PLAN 15017-R-03-101
PLOT R: PROPOSED LEVEL 2 PLAN 15017-R-03-102
PLOT R: PROPOSED LEVEL 3 PLAN 15017-R-03-103
PLOT R: PROPOSED LEVEL 4 PLAN 15017-R-03-104
PLOT R: PROPOSED LEVEL 5 PLAN 15017-R-03-105
PLOT R: PROPOSED LEVEL 6 PLAN 15017-R-03-106
PLOT R: PROPOSED ROOF PLAN 15017-R-03-107
PLOT S: PROPOSED LEVEL 0 PLAN 15017-S-03-100
PLOT S: PROPOSED LEVEL 1 PLAN 15017-S-03-101
PLOT S: PROPOSED LEVEL 2 PLAN 15017-S-03-102
PLOT S: PROPOSED LEVEL 3 PLAN 15017-S-03-103
PLOT S: PROPOSED LEVEL 4 PLAN 15017-S-03-104
PLOT S: PROPOSED LEVEL 5 PLAN 15017-S-03-105
PLOT S: PROPOSED LEVEL 6 PLAN 15017-S-03-106
PLOT S: PROPOSED ROOF PLAN 15017-S-03-107
PLOT R: PROPOSED SECTION AA 15017-R-04-100
PLOT R: PROPOSED SECTION BB 15017-R-04-101
PLOT R: PROPOSED SECTION CC 15017-R-04-102
PLOT R: PROPOSED SECTION DD 15017-R-04-103
PLOT S: PROPOSED SECTION AA 15017-S-04-100
PLOT S: PROPOSED SECTION BB 15017-S-04-101
PLOT R: PROPOSED ELEVATIONS SOUTH 15017-R-05-100
PLOT R: PROPOSED ELEVATIONS NORTH 15017-R-05-101
PLOT R: PROPOSED ELEVATIONS EAST 15017-R-05-102
PLOT R: PROPOSED ELEVATIONS WEST 15017-R-05-103
PLOT S: PROPOSED ELEVATIONS SOUTH 15017-S-05-100
PLOT S: PROPOSED ELEVATIONS NORTH 15017-S-05-101
PLOT S: PROPOSED ELEVATIONS EAST 15017-S-05-102
PLOT S: PROPOSED ELEVATIONS WEST 15017-S-05-103
PLOT R&S REFUSE AND RECYCLING STRATEGY 15017-PL (23)-005
PLOT R&S BICYCLE PARKING 5017-PL (57)-004
BLOCK T & U (APPROVED UNDER NON-MATERIAL AMENDMENT
APPLICATION 16/1683/NMA)
Block T
3520-PL (03)200 1:100 A0 GA – GROUND FLOOR PLAN
3520-PL (03)201 1:100 A0 GA – 1ST FLOOR PLAN
7
249

3520-PL (03)202 1:100 A0 GA – 2ND FLOOR PLAN
3520-PL (03)203 1:100 A0 GA – 3RD FLOOR PLAN
3520-PL (03)204 1:100 A0 GA – 4TH FLOOR PLAN
3520-PL (03)205 1:100 A0 GA – 5TH FLOOR PLAN
3520-PL (03)206 1:100 A0 GA – 6TH FLOOR PLAN
3520-PL (03)207 1:100 A0 GA – 7TH FLOOR PLAN
3520-PL (03)208 1:100 A0 GA – 8TH FLOOR PLAN
3520-PL (03)209 1:100 A0 GA – 9TH FLOOR PLAN
3520-PL (03)210 1:100 A0 GA – 10TH FLOOR PLAN
3520-(PL) 200 1:100 A1 BLOCK T SOUTH ELEVATION
3520-(PL) 201 1:100 A1 BLOCK T EAST ELEVATION
3520-(PL) 202 1:100 A1 BLOCK T NORTH ELEVATION
3520-(PL) 203 1:100 A1 BLOCK T WEST ELEVATION
3520-(PL) 204 1:100 A1 BLOCK T NORTH COURTYARD ELEVATION
3520-(PL) 205 1:100 A1 BLOCK T SOUTH COURTYARD ELEVATION
Block U
3520-PL (03)100 1:100 A0 GA – GROUND FLOOR PLAN
3520-PL (03)101 1:100 A0 GA – 1ST FLOOR PLAN
3520-PL (03)102 1:100 A0 GA – 2ND FLOOR PLAN
3520-PL (03)103 1:100 A0 GA – 3RD FLOOR PLAN
3520-PL (03)104 1:100 A0 GA – 4TH FLOOR PLAN
3520-PL (03)105 1:100 A0 GA – 5TH FLOOR PLAN
3520-PL (03)106 1:100 A0 GA – 6TH FLOOR PLAN
3520-PL (03)107 1:100 A0 GA – 7TH FLOOR PLAN
3520-PL (03)108 1:100 A0 GA – 8TH FLOOR PLAN
3520-PL (03)109 1:100 A0 GA – 9TH FLOOR PLAN
3520-PL (03)110 1:100 A0 GA – 10TH FLOOR PLAN
3520-PL (03)111 1:100 A0 GA – 11TH FLOOR PLAN
3520-PL (03)112 1:100 A0 GA – 12TH FLOOR PLAN
3520-PL (03)113 1:100 A0 GA – 13TH FLOOR PLAN
3520-PL (03)114 1:100 A0 GA – 14TH FLOOR PLAN
3520-(PL) 100 1:100 A0 BLOCK U WEST ELEVATION
3520-(PL) 101 1:100 A0 BLOCK U SOUTH ELEVATION
3520-(PL) 102 1:100 A0 BLOCK U EAST ELEVATION
3520-(PL) 103 1:100 A0 BLOCK U TOWER NORTH ELEVATION
3520-(PL) 104 1:100 A0 BLOCK U NORTH ELEVATION
3520-(PL) 105 1:100 A0 BLOCK U SOUTH COURTYARD ELEVATION
3520-(PL) 106 1:100 A0 BLOCK U WEST COURTYARD ELEVATION
3520-(PL) 107 1:100 A0 BLOCK U NORTH COURTYARD ELEVATION
3520-(PL) 108 1:100 A0 BLOCK U EAST COURTYARD ELEVATION
S73 16/7836/S73: Supporting Documents (for information only):
 DESIGN & ACCESS STATEMENT ADDENDUM (PAGES 166-191) –
BLOCKS J & K (DECEMBER 2016)
 DESIGN & ACCESS STATEMENT ADDENDUM (PAGES 206-229) –
BLOCK M (DECEMBER 2016)
 COMPARISON DOCUMENT – BLOCK H (DECEMBER 2016)
 SCHEDULE OF ACCOMMODATION BLOCK H (DATED 06.02.2017)

8
250









SCHEDULE OF ACCOMMODATION BLOCK J REV E (DATED
07.12.2016)
SCHEDULE OF ACCOMMODATION BLOCK K REV D (DATED
07.12.2016)
SCHEDULE OF ACCOMMODATION BLOCK M REV F
ADDENDUM REPORT FOR THE REVISED LIGHT WITHIN
ASSESSMENT – DESIGN AND ACCESS STATEMENT VOLUME III:
MINOR MATERIAL AMENDMENTS TO BLOCKS H, J, K AND M
(JANUARY 2017)
TRANSPORT STATEMENT: MINOR MATERIAL AMENDMENTS TO
BLOCKS H, J, K AND M (DATED DECEMBER 2016)
PLANNING STATEMENT: AMENDMENTS TO BLOCKS H, J, K AND M
(DECEMBER 2016)

Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning and
so as to ensure that the development is carried out fully in accordance with the
plans as assessed in accordance with policies DM01 of the Adopted Barnet
Development Management Policies DPD (2012) and NPPF and CS1 of the
Adopted Barnet Core Strategy DPD (2012).
2. The development hereby permitted shall begin no later than 3 years from the
date of this permission and, in the case of Development Phases, no later than 2
years from:
i.
ii.

the final approval of the last Reserved Matters Application pursuant to
Condition 3, or
The final approval of any pre-commencement condition associated with
that Development Phase.

Reason: To comply with the provisions of Section 92 of the Town & Country
Planning Act 1990 (as amended).
3. Applications for the approval of the reserved matters (being scale, layout,
appearance, landscaping and siting) for Stages 2, 3 and the school plot shall be
made to the Local Planning Authority before the expiration of seven years from
the date of this permission.
Reason: To comply with Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase
Act, 2004.
4. With the exception of Ground Works and Site Preparation Works, no
development shall commence until a Phasing Plan identifying the Development
Phases and associated infrastructure works (including highways works) has
been submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority. This shall be
in general accordance with the Construction Management Plan and Delivery
Strategy (ref. PC30) unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning
Authority.
The development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved Phasing
Plan unless otherwise agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority.
9
251

Reason: To ensure that the development is carried out in appropriate phases
and to allow the phasing plan to be amended to reflect changes to the phasing
of the development that were not foreseen at the date when the phasing plan
was approved.
5. Prior to Ground Works and Site Preparation Works, no development shall
commence within a Development Phase until a Construction Environmental
Management Plan, setting out the construction and environmental management
measures associated with that Development Phase, has been submitted to and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The details shall be in
accordance with the ES (ref. PC14) and shall include:
Construction site and works
i.
Site information (including a site plan and management structure)
ii.
Description of works, equipment and storage
iii.
Programme of works
iv.
Temporary hoarding and fencing
v.
Temporary works
vi.
Interim drainage strategy
vii.
Intrusive site investigation works and monitoring (the scope to be
agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority)
Construction management and procedures
viii.
Code of Considerate Practice
ix.
Consultation and neighbourhood liaison
x.
Staff training and briefing procedures
xi.
Schedule of environmental legislation and good practice
xii.
Register of permissions and consents required
xiii.
Environmental Audit Programme
xiv.
Environmental Risk Register
xv.
Piling Works Risk Assessment
xvi.
Health and safety measures
xvii. Complaints procedures
xviii. Monitoring and reporting procedures
Demolition and waste management
xix.
Demolition Audit
xx.
Site clearance and waste management plan
xxi.
Asbestos survey and disposal strategy
Construction traffic
xxii. Construction traffic routes
xxiii. Construction traffic management (including access to the site; the
parking of vehicles for site operatives and visitors; hours of
construction, including deliveries, loading and unloading of plant and
materials; the storage of plant and materials used in the construction
of the development; the erection of any means of temporary enclosure
or security hoarding and measures to prevent mud and debris being
carried on to the public highway and ways to minimise pollution)
10
252

Environmental Management
xxiv. Ecology surveys and management plan (as required by the ES) in
relation to any existing ecological features that may be affected by
works in that Development Phase
xxv. Measures to minimise visual impact during construction
xxvi. Measures to minimise noise and vibration levels during construction
xxvii. Measures to minimise dust levels during construction
xxviii. Measures to control pollution during construction (including a Pollution
Response Plan)
xxix. Construction lighting strategy, including measures to minimise light spill
xxx. Measures to reduce water usage during construction
xxxi. Measures to reduce energy usage during construction
xxxii. Any other precautionary and mitigatory measures in relation to
demolition and construction as identified in the ES and the EIA
Mitigation Register
The development shall thereafter be implemented in accordance with the
measures detailed within the statement.
Reason: To ensure that the proposed development does not prejudice the
amenities of occupiers of adjoining residential properties, in the interests of
highway and pedestrian safety and in the interests of protecting the environment
and trees in accordance with policies CS9, CS13, CS14, DM01, DM04 and
DM17 of the Barnet Local Plan and policies 5.3, 5.18, 7.14, 7.15, 7.21 and 5.21
of the London Plan 2015.
6. Where remediation of contamination on the site is required completion of the
remediation detailed in the Environmental Statement shall be carried out and a
report that provides verification that the required works have been carried out,
shall be submitted to, and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority
before the development is occupied.
Reason: To ensure the development can be implemented and occupied with
adequate regard for environmental and public safety in accordance with Policy
CS NPPF of the Local Plan Core Strategy DPD (adopted September 2012),
DM04 of the Development Management Policies DPD (adopted September
2012), the Sustainable Design and Construction SPD (adopted April 2013) and
5.21 of the London Plan 2015.
7. In accordance with the ES, and unless otherwise agreed with the Local Planning
Authority, no construction works shall occur outside the following times:
08:00 – 18:00 hours weekdays
08:00 – 13:00 hours Saturdays
Reason: To ensure that the proposed development does not prejudice the
amenities of occupiers of adjoining residential properties in accordance with
policies DM01 and DM04 of the Barnet Local Plan.

11
253

8. Vegetation clearance should take place outside the bird breeding season
(October to February). In accordance with the ES, any clearance of vegetation
with the potential to support nesting birds during this period may only occur
following a check by a qualified ecologist. If any active nests are found, works
must cease, the area left in situ and an appropriate buffer zone established until
such time as a qualified ecologist confirms that the nest is no longer in active
use.
The clearance of vegetation within the gardens of properties that adjoin Rowan
Drive must be undertaken according to a precautionary working method, with
progressive clearance undertaken under the supervision of a qualified ecologist
during the period that reptiles are active (April to September).
Reason: To avoid the potential for an offence under the Wildlife and Countryside
Act 1981, as amended.
9. No works within 7m of a watercourse shall commence without first obtaining
Watercourse Consent from the council in pursuance to the Flood and Water
Management Act 2010.
Reason: To protect the waterway in accordance with LB Barnet Policies CS13
and DM04.
10. No development shall commence within a Development Phase (with the
exception of Ground Works and Site Preparation Works) until a scheme of
Advanced Infrastructure Works associated with that Development Phase is
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The
scheme shall include:
i.
ii.
iii.
iv.
v.

Underground drainage details
Below ground energy infrastructure
Below ground services and utilities
Groundworks, earthworks, contouring and levels
A statement of compliance with the site wide strategies (including the
DAS Volume I and Addendum sections 6.19, 7.1 – 7.16, 8.1 – 8.3 and
approved Primary Control Documents)

Development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details unless
otherwise agreed in writing.
Reason: To ensure appropriate arrangements are made for servicing, utilities
and infrastructure and to avoid potential conflicts between am impacts upon the
development as proposed and its servicing, utilities and infrastructure, in the
interests of a sustainable development in accordance with the NPPF.
11. No Surface Infrastructure Works shall commence within the relevant
Development Phase until a scheme of Landscaping Works for that Development
Phase is submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
Unless otherwise agreed, the scheme shall include:

12
254

i.

Design and location of electricity sub stations, including surface treatment
and means of enclosure
ii. Vehicle parking and surfacing treatment (including petrol/oil interceptors)
iii. Surface drainage details
iv. Surface materials and finishes
v. Cycle parking locations and details
vi. Highways details (e.g. crossings and kerb heights)
vii. Access and wayfinding strategy
viii. Materials, types and siting of all fencing, boundary treatments, gates or
other enclosures (including temporary arrangements to be in place until
the site is completed in full)
ix. Street furniture, lighting and signage
x. Children's play spaces and play provision
xi. Details of all proposed trees, hedge, shrub and other planting and all
planting proposed for green walls and other soft landscaped structures,
including proposed species, plant sizing, density and arrangement
xii. Ecological enhancements (in accordance with ES)
xiii. The position of any existing trees and hedges to be retained or removed
and the crown spread of each retained tree
xiv. details of any proposed topping or lopping of any retained tree, or of any
tree on land adjacent to the site
xv. the position of any proposed excavation within the recommended
protective distance referred to in BS5837: 2012
xvi. means of planting, staking and tying of trees, including tree guards, and
a detailed landscape maintenance schedule for regular pruning, watering
and fertiliser use, referencing details approved under conditions 9 and 14
as relevant
xvii. Details and specifications of all play, sport and recreational features to be
included within the landscaped areas
xviii. Details of all proposed hard landscape works, including proposed
materials, samples and details of special techniques to minimise damage
to retained trees and details of techniques to be used to provide
conditions appropriate for new plantings
xix. timing of planting
Development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details unless
otherwise agreed in writing.
Prior to completion of the development within the relevant Development Phase
the bat and bird boxes hereby approved will be installed and all reasonable
measures taken to minimise disturbance to these boxes for the lifetime of the
development.
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory appearance to the development and protect
the amenities of the area and future and neighbouring occupiers in accordance
with policies DM01 and DM02 of the Barnet Local Plan and policies 3.6 and 7.21
of the London Plan 2015.

13
255

12. Discharge from the site shall be limited to a rate of 9.31/s/ha in accordance with
the Flood Risk Assessment (PC25) unless otherwise agreed in writing by the
Local Planning Authority.
Reason: To prevent the increased risk of flooding, to improve and protect water
quality, and improve habitat and amenity.
13. With the exception of Ground Works, Site Preparation Works and Advanced
Infrastructure Works, no development shall be occupied until a Landscape
Management Plan for the site has been submitted to and approved in writing by
the Local Planning Authority. The development shall be implemented in
accordance with the agreed details and maintained in accordance thereafter.
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory appearance to the development and protect
the amenities of the area and future and neighbouring occupiers in accordance
with policies DM01 and DM02 of the Barnet Local Plan and policies 3.6 and 7.21
of the London Plan 2015.
14. If within a period of five years from the date of planting any tree, that tree or any
tree planted in replacement for it, is removed, uprooted, destroyed or dies,
another tree of the same species and size as that originally planted shall be
planted at the same place in the next available planting season (unless
otherwise agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority).
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory appearance to the development and protect
the amenities of the area and future and neighbouring occupiers in accordance
with policies DM01 and DM02 of the Barnet Local Plan and policies 3.6 and 7.21
of the London Plan.
15. A Site Wide Car Parking Management Strategy shall be submitted to and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to first occupation of
the development. Unless otherwise agreed, this shall be in accordance with the
strategy set out in the Transport Assessment (ref. PC16), Transport Statement
Addendum and section 8.1 of the DAS Addendum Volume I (ref. PC16).
The development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved Site Wide
Car Parking Management Strategy unless otherwise agreed in writing with the
Local Planning Authority.
Reason: To ensure the development meets the needs of its future occupiers and
to comply with the requirements of policies 3.8 and 7.2 of the London Plan
(2015) and also, to ensure that the development does not over-provide car
parking spaces and to encourage sustainable travel in accordance with Barnet
Local Plan Policy CS9 of Core Strategy (Adopted) September 2012 and Policy
DM17 of Development Management Policies (Adopted) September 2012.
16. The level of parking shall be no less than 0.50 car parking spaces per dwelling
and no more than 0.55 car parking spaces per dwelling across the site
excluding school staff parking which shall be limited to no more than 20 car
parking spaces unless otherwise agreed in writing with the Local Planning
Authority.

14
256

Reason: To ensure the development meets the needs of its future occupiers
and to comply with the requirements of policies 3.8 and 7.2 of the London Plan
(2015) and also, to ensure that the development does not over-provide car
parking spaces and to encourage sustainable travel in accordance with Barnet
Local Plan Policy CS9 of Core Strategy (Adopted) September 2012 and Policy
DM17 of Development Management Policies (Adopted) September 2012.

17. Private parking provision for residential units shall be used for the purpose of
residential parking and servicing only unless otherwise agreed in writing with the
Local Planning Authority.
Reason: To ensure the development meets the needs of its future occupiers and
to comply with the requirements of policies 3.8 and 7.2 of the London Plan
(2015).
18. Prior to first occupation of the relevant Development Phase a detailed Car
Parking Management Plan for that Development Phase, demonstrating
compliance with the Site Wide Car Parking Management Strategy (Conditions
16 and 17), shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority. Unless otherwise agreed, the details shall include:
i. Location and layout of car parking spaces
ii. Allocation of car parking spaces
iii. On-site parking controls and charges
iv. The enforcement of unauthorised parking
v. For Stages 2 only, monitoring of parking in the development including use of
electric vehicle charging points and disabled spaces vi. 'Blue badge' space
quantities in accordance with London Plan (2015) guidance
vii. Community transport points and taxi drop-offs
viii. Location of a minimum of 2 car club spaces per Stage with a minimum of 8
spaces across Stages 1 and 2
ix. Electric Charging Points: Location, specification and timing. For residential
parking spaces, timing and delivery of the 20% of parking spaces which shall
be active and 20% which shall be passive electric charging points. For nonresidential spaces, provision at 20% of spaces shall be undertaken with
potential provision at a further 10% of spaces. The car parking spaces shall
not thereafter be used for any purpose other than for the parking and turning of
vehicles associated with the development. The Car Parking Management Plan
and the abovementioned provisions shall be implemented in accordance with
the approved details before the buildings hereby permitted are occupied and
maintained thereafter.
Reason: To ensure the development meets the needs of its future occupiers
and to comply with the requirements of policies 3.8 and 7.2 of the London Plan
(2015) and also, To ensure that the development does not over-provide car
parking spaces and to encourage sustainable travel in accordance with Barnet
Local Plan Policy CS9 of Core Strategy (Adopted) September 2012 and Policy
DM17 of Development Management Policies (Adopted) September 2012.

15
257

19. The Primary Route will be designed in accordance with Transport for London
guidance BP2/05 in respect of speed table ramp gradients to accommodate the
movement and turning of a London Buses double-decker bus.
Reason: To ensure that the free flow of traffic and highway and pedestrian safety
is not prejudiced in accordance with London Borough of Barnet's Local Plan
Policy CS9 of Core Strategy (Adopted) September 2012 and Policy DM17 of
Development Management Policies (Adopted) September 2012; and to ensure
the development meets the needs of its future occupiers and to comply with the
requirements of policies 3.8 and 7.2 of the London Plan (2015); and to
encourage sustainable travel in accordance with Barnet Local Plan Policy CS9
of Core Strategy (Adopted) September 2012 and Policy DM17 of Development
Management Policies (Adopted) September 2012.
20. Residents of the proposed development will be excluded from obtaining resident
and visitor parking permits from existing Colindale Controlled Parking Zones.
Reason: To ensure that the free flow of traffic and highway and pedestrian safety
on the adjoining highway is not prejudiced in accordance with London Borough
of Barnet's Local Plan Policy CS9 of Core Strategy (Adopted) September 2012
and Policy DM17 of Development Management Policies (Adopted) September
2012.
21. The development shall provide a total of 10% of units across the site designed
to be fully wheelchair accessible or easily adaptable for residents who are
wheelchair users unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning
Authority.
Accessible parking bays shall be allocated to wheelchair accessible homes at
1:1 provision and where spaces are in undercroft areas ceiling heights shall
meet the recommended height of 2.6 metres above wheelchair accessible
spaces, unless otherwise agreed.
Reason: To ensure the development meets the needs of its future occupiers and
to comply with the requirements of policies 3.8 and 7.2 of the London Plan
(2015); and to ensure that parking is provided and managed in line with the
council's standards in the interests of highway and pedestrian safety in
accordance with London Borough of Barnet's Local Plan Policy CS9 of Core
Strategy (Adopted) September 2012 and Policy DM17 of Development
Management Policies (Adopted) September 2012.
22. Prior to the construction of any building, the following details for that building
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority
(unless otherwise approved and agreed):
i. Full details (including samples, where appropriate) of the materials and
finishes to be used on all external surfaces
ii. Door, entrances, windows (including glazing specifications) and balconies
(including drawings and section showing thresholds to adjacent internal
spaces and drawings and sections of privacy screens)
16
258

iii. Details of the design and access controls for the car park gate(s)
iv. Building lighting
v. Podium details (including hard and soft landscaping, planting species,
furniture and play provision)
vi. Details of biodiverse roofs
vii. Details of any building security measures including cctv
Thereafter the feature hereby approved shall be installed prior to occupation of
the relevant phase and thereafter maintained in secure and good working order
for the lifetime of the development.
Reason: To safeguard the character and visual amenities of the site and wider
area and to ensure that the building is constructed in accordance with policies
CS5 and DM01 of the Barnet Local Plan and policies 1.1, 7.4, 7.5 and 7.6 of the
London Plan 2015.
23. Notwithstanding the details submitted with the application, prior to the
construction of any building within the relevant Development Phase, the
following details for that Development Phase shall be submitted to and approved
in writing by the Local Planning Authority:
i.

ii.
iii.

Enclosures, screened facilities and/or internal areas of the proposed
buildings to be used for the storage of recycling containers, wheeled
refuse bins and any other refuse storage containers where applicable;
satisfactory points of collection; and
details of the refuse and recycling collection arrangements

The development shall be implemented and the refuse and recycling facilities
provided fully in accordance with the approved details before the development
is occupied and the development shall be managed in accordance with the
approved details.
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory refuse and recycling facilities are provided at
the development in accordance with polices CS5, CS9, CS14, DM01, DM04 and
DM17 of the Barnet Local Plan.
24. Prior to the construction of any building details of all extraction and ventilation
equipment to be installed for that building shall be submitted to and approved in
writing by the Local Planning Authority. This shall be accompanied by a report
carried out by a competent acoustic consultant that assesses the likely noise
impacts from the development of the ventilation/extraction plant, and proposes
mitigation measures for the development if necessary to reduce these noise
impacts to acceptable level (as defined in the relevant British Standard). The
report shall include all calculations and baseline data, and be set out so that the
Local Planning Authority can fully audit the report and critically analyse the
content and recommendations.
The development shall be implemented in accordance with details approved
under this condition before first occupation or the use is commenced and
retained as such thereafter

17
259

Reason: To ensure that the proposed development does not prejudice the
amenities of occupiers of neighbouring properties in accordance with Policy
DM04 of the Development Management Policies DPD (adopted September
2012), the Sustainable Design and Construction SPD (adopted April 2013) and
Policy 7.15 of the London Plan 2015.
25. The level of noise emitted from any plant including ventilation equipment hereby
approved shall be at least 5dB(A) below the background level, as measured
from any point 1 metre outside the window of any room of a neighbouring
residential property.
If the noise emitted has a distinguishable, discrete continuous note (whine, hiss,
screech, hum) and/or distinct impulse (bangs, clicks, clatters, thumps), then it
shall be at least 10dB(A) below the background level, as measured from any
point 1 metre outside the window of any room of a neighbouring residential
property.
Reason: To ensure that the proposed development does not prejudice the
amenities of occupiers of neighbouring properties in accordance with Policies
DM04 of the Development Management Policies DPD (adopted September
2012) and 7.15 of the London Plan 2015.
26. Prior to commencement on site a scoping assessment report identifying the
need for overheating analysis in respect to that building (and the assumptions
to be used in the analysis) shall be submitted to and agreed in writing by the
local planning authority. Where the scoping report (based on SAP design stage
outputs) identifies a risk of overheating above 'slight', an overheating analysis
shall be conducted and any resultant necessary additional passive measures
identified. The analysis shall be undertaken using dynamic simulation software
to show compliance with CIBSE overheating criteria (using CIBSE TM52 with
weather files from TM49). A report providing the results of the analysis and any
required mitigation proposals shall be submitted to the local planning authority
for approval prior to construction of the building.
Reason: To ensure that the development is sustainable and complies with the
requirements of London Plan 2015 policies 5.2 and 5.6.
27. Part A:
Energy provision for the development shall be in accordance with the Energy
Statement and Addendum (ref. PC24) unless otherwise agreed in writing.
Part B:
Prior to first occupation of Development Stage 1, details of the energy supply
network shall be submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority.
Details shall be in accordance with the Energy Statement and Addendum (ref.
PC24) unless otherwise agreed and shall include:
i.
ii.

Details of connections available for each building
Proposals for the staged installation of plant within the energy centre and
any temporary energy provision required

18
260

iii.

iv.
v.

Details of safeguarded connections to an area wide heat network if found
to be feasible following further engagement with the local planning
authority and GLA.
Details of any potential future connections available to nearby buildings
A statement of compliance with the site wide Energy Statement and
Addendum (PC24)

Part C:
As part of Reserved Matters applications, details of the energy supply for each
building in Development Stages 2 and 3 shall be submitted and approved by the
Local Planning Authority. Details shall be in accordance with the Energy
Statement and Addendum (ref. PC24) unless otherwise agreed and shall
include:
i.

ii.
iii.
iv.

Details of the energy supply for each building connections, including a
statement of compliance with the Energy Statement and Addendum
(PC24)
Details of any temporary energy provision required
Details of the safeguarded provision for connections to an area wide heat
network if feasible (as per Part A)
A statement of compliance with the site wide Energy Statement and
Addendum (PC24)

Reason: To ensure that the development is sustainable and complies with the
requirements of London Plan 2015 policies 5.2 and 5.6
28. CHP and or biomass boilers must not exceed the Band B Emission Standards
for Solid Biomass Boilers and CHP Plant as listed in Appendix 7 of the London
Plan's Sustainable Design and Construction SPG document. Prior to the
construction of Block H, evidence to demonstrate compliance with these
emission limits will be required.
Reason: To comply with the London Plan's SPG on Sustainable Design and
Construction and Policy 7.14 of the London Plan 2015 in relation to air quality.
29. Prior to construction of any building, a rainwater and greywater feasibility study,
investigating the potential for incorporating rainwater or greywater recycling into
building across the site, shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the
Local Planning Authority.
Reason: To ensure that the development is sustainable and complies with the
requirements of London Plan 2015 policies 5.13, 5.14 and 5.15.
30. Subject to limited exceptions (to be agreed in writing with the Local Planning
Authority), roofs shall be used as amenity space or be biodiverse roofs.
Reason: To ensure the development meets the needs of its future occupiers and
to comply with the requirements of policies 3.8 and 7.2 of the London Plan
(2015); and in the interests of protecting and enhancing biodiversity in
accordance with policies CS7 and DM16.
19
261

31. The development shall achieve a water efficiency target of 105l/d in accordance
with the Sustainability Statement (PC23) unless otherwise agreed in writing by
the Local Planning Authority
Reason: To encourage the efficient use of water in accordance with policy CS13
of the Barnet Local Plan and policy 5.15 of the London Plan 2015.
32. All commercial units shall achieve a minimum of Very Good under the BREEAM
UK New Construction 2014 scheme, unless otherwise agreed in writing by the
Local Planning Authority. Within three months of first occupation of the building,
a copy of the summary score sheet and BREEAM Post Construction Certificate
shall be submitted to the LPA to demonstrate that this has been achieved.
Reason: To ensure that the development is sustainable and in accordance with
policies DM01 and DM02 of the Barnet Local Plan, the Colindale Area Action
Plan (2010) and policies 5.2 and 5.3 of the London Plan 2015.
33. Prior to occupation of the relevant phase of the development hereby approved,
an External Lighting Assessment of lighting proposed within that Development
Phase shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority. The External Lighting Assessment submitted shall detail the existing
average night time luminance and light spread levels across the application site
at night, identify the levels of light pollution received at the windows to residential
properties within proposed development and, where appropriate, identify the
measures to be used to mitigate the impacts of light pollution on the future
occupiers proposed dwellings as well as mitigate any impacts to species
including bats. Any light pollution mitigation identified in the External Lighting
Assessment shall be implemented in full prior to occupation of the relevant
phase.
Reason: To ensure the development provides adequate amenities of the future
occupiers of the proposed dwellings and to accord with policy DM01 of the
Barnet Local Plan and to mitigate the impact to species including bats in
accordance with policies CS7 and DM16.
34. No building shall be occupied until a Delivery and Servicing Management Plan
in respect of that building has been submitted to and approved in writing by the
Local Planning Authority. Unless otherwise agreed, this shall be in accordance
with the strategy set out in the Transport Assessment and Addendum (ref.
PC16). The development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved
Delivery and Service Management Strategy unless otherwise agreed in writing
with the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: In the interest of highway safety in accordance with London Borough
of Barnet's Local Plan Policy CS9 of Core Strategy (Adopted) September 2012
and Policy DM17 of Development Management Policies (Adopted) September
2012.

20
262

35. No building shall be occupied until an Estate Management Plan has been
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. This shall
be in accordance with the Outline Estate Management Strategy (ref. PC31)
unless otherwise agreed.
The development shall be managed in accordance with the approved Estate
Management Plan unless otherwise agreed in writing with the Local Planning
Authority.
Reason: To ensure the coordinated management and maintenance in good
working order of the site not limited to an including its buildings, roads including
the Peel Link, infrastructure including SUDs, parks, gardens, landscaping, street
trees, public squares, energy centre and site network in the interests of
sustainable development in accordance with the NPPF, London Plan 2015 and
Barnet Core Strategy.
36. No residential unit shall be occupied until the access roads and highways works
(on and off-site) associated with the block in which that unit is located (as defined
by the approved phasing details) are made available for use.
Reason: To ensure there is adequate access available to all residential units.
37. No building shall be occupied until an Operational Waste Management Plan,
setting out the measures for the management of operational waste across the
site, has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority. This shall be in accordance with the Waste Management Plan (ref.
PC22) unless otherwise agreed.
The development shall be managed in accordance with the approved
Operational Site Waste Management Plan unless otherwise agreed in writing
with the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: To ensure that the development is sustainable and complies with the
requirements of London Plan 2015 policy 5.3, and to ensure a satisfactory refuse
and recycling facilities are provided at the development in accordance with
polices CS5, CS9, CS14, DM01, DM04 and DM17 of the Barnet Local Plan.
38. No residential unit shall be occupied until the private and/or communal amenity
space provision, (excluding public open space) for that unit is available in
accordance with the Approved Plans.
Reason: To ensure there is adequate amenity space available for all residential
units.
39. Prior to first occupation within the relevant Development Phase, unless
otherwise agreed in writing as part of the phasing details approved in condition
4, the play space and sport and recreation features shall be provided in
accordance with the approved details for the Development Phase to which the
play space relates and thereafter maintained for the lifetime of the development.

21
263

Reason: To ensure there is adequate plays space available for all users in
accordance with London Plan 2015 policy 3.6 and Barnet Development
Management policy DM02.
40. The proposed flexible non-residential floorspace at ground floor hereby
approved shall not be used for a nightclub, music venue, concert venue, bingo
hall, or a place of worship or any equivalent uses within Classes D2 and D1 of
the Schedule to the Town and Country Planning (Use Classes) Order 1987 (as
amended), and the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted
Development) Order 1995 (as amended) or in any provision equivalent to that
Class in any statutory instrument revoking and re-enacting that Order, with or
without modification.
Reason: To ensure that occupation of the premises does not prejudice the
amenities of future residential occupiers in accordance with policies DM01 and
DM13 of the Barnet Local Plan.
41. In respect of any future Class A3/4 occupation, no persons other than staff shall
be permitted to be on the premises between the hours of 23.30 and 08.00 unless
otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: To ensure that occupation of the premises does not prejudice the
amenities of future residential occupiers in accordance with policies DM01 and
DM13 of the Barnet Local Plan.
42. Prior to occupation, a scheme for the provision of communal/centralised satellite
and television reception equipment shall be installed on all blocks unless
otherwise agreed in writing by, the Local Planning Authority. The equipment
shall thereafter be retained and made available for use by all occupiers of the
development.
Reason: To ensure that the development makes appropriate provision for such
equipment, so as to not impact adversely on the character of the area, in
accordance with policies CS5 and DM01 Barnet Local Plan.
43. Notwithstanding the provisions of any development order made under Section
59 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (or any Order revoking and reenacting that Order) the following operations shall not be undertaken without the
receipt of prior specific express planning permission in writing from the Local
Planning Authority on the buildings hereby approved:
The installation of any structures or apparatus for purposes relating to
telecommunications on any part the development hereby approved, including
any structures or development otherwise permitted under Part 24 and Part 25
of Schedule 2 of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted
Development) Order 1995 (as amended) or any equivalent Order revoking and
re-enacting that Order.
Reason: To ensure that the development does not impact adversely on the
character of the area and to ensure the Local Planning Authority can control the
22
264

development in the area so that it accords with policies CS5 and DM01 Barnet
Local Plan.
44. With the exception of Ground Works, Site Preparation Works and Advanced
Infrastructure Works, no development shall commence until
a) A scheme for air pollution mitigation measures in accordance with the
Environmental Statement shall be submitted to and approved by the Local
Planning Authority prior to the construction of the building to which the
mitigation relates.
b) The approved mitigation scheme shall be implemented in its entirety in
accordance with details approved under this condition before any of the
development is first occupied or the use commences and retained as such
thereafter.
Reason: To ensure that the amenities of occupiers are protected from the poor
air quality in the vicinity in accordance with Policy DM04 of the Development
Management Policies DPD (adopted September 2012), the Sustainable Design
and Construction SPD (adopted April 2013) and Policy 5.3 of the London Plan
2015.
45. Prior to the construction of any building, details of mitigation measures in
accordance with the Environmental Statement to show how the development
will be constructed/adapted so as to provide sufficient air borne and structure
borne sound insulation against internally/externally generated noise and
vibration shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority.
This sound insulation shall ensure that the levels of noise generated from the
(specify plant / equipment) as measured within habitable rooms of the
development shall be no higher than 35dB (A) from 7am to 11pm and 30dB (A)
in bedrooms from 11pm to 7am.
The report shall include all calculations and baseline data, and be set out so that
the Local Planning Authority can fully audit the report and critically analyse the
content and recommendations.
The mitigation measures as approved under this condition shall be implemented
in their entirety prior to the commencement of the use or first occupation of the
development and retained as such thereafter.
Reason: To ensure that the proposed development does not prejudice the
amenities of occupiers of the residential properties in accordance with Policies
DM04 of the Development Management Policies DPD (adopted September
2012), the Sustainable Design and Construction SPD (adopted April 2013) and
7.15 of the London Plan 2015.
46. Notwithstanding the details shown on the plans submitted and otherwise hereby
approved, the development hereby approved shall not be first occupied or
brought into use until details of any acoustic walls, fencing and other acoustic
23
265

barriers to be erected on the site (if identified as necessary mitigation pursuant
to conditions 45 has been submitted to the Local Planning Authority and
approved in writing.
The details approved by this condition shall be implemented in their entirety prior
to the commencement of the use or first occupation of the development and
retained as such thereafter.
Reason: To ensure that the proposed development does not prejudice the
enjoyment of the occupiers of their homes in accordance with Policy DM04 of
the Development Management Policies DPD (adopted September 2012) and
Policy 7.15 of the London Plan 2015.
47. Development shall be undertaken in accordance with the approved Drainage
Strategy (PC27) unless otherwise agreed in writing by the local planning
authority in consultation with the sewerage undertaker.
No discharge of foul or surface water from the site shall be accepted into the
public system until the drainage works referred to in the strategy have been
completed.
Reason: The development may lead to sewage flooding; to ensure that sufficient
capacity is made available to cope with the new development; and in order to
avoid adverse environmental impact upon the community.
48. No impact piling shall take place until a piling method statement (detailing the
depth and type of piling to be undertaken and the methodology by which such
piling will be carried out, including measures to prevent and minimise the
potential for damage to subsurface sewerage infrastructure, and the programme
for the works) has been submitted to and approved in writing by the local
planning authority in consultation with Thames Water. Any piling must be
undertaken in accordance with the terms of the approved piling method
statement.
Reason: To prevent any damage to nearby underground sewerage utility
infrastructure.
49. Prior to occupation, details and location on elevations of bat and bird boxes
bricks for that Development Phase shall be submitted for approval in writing by
the council.
Bat bricks and boxes in the fabric of new buildings and trees will be specified to
meet the roosting preferences of species of bat recorded during the baseline
surveys and those known to be present in the local area. These will be installed
as an inherent component of new buildings to provide new and replacement
roosting opportunities as soon as the first phase of development becomes
operational.

24
266

Prior to completion the bat and bird boxes hereby approved will be installed and
all reasonable measures taken to minimise disturbance to these boxes for the
lifetime of the development.
Reason: In the interests of protecting and enhancing biodiversity in accordance
with Barnet Core Strategy policy CS7 and Development Management policy
DM16.
50. Deleted
51. No site works or other works within a Development Phase shall be commenced
before temporary tree protection measures to safeguard trees adjacent to the
Development Phase have been erected in accordance with details that have
been previously submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority. The tree protection measures approved shall remain in place until
after the development works hereby consented are completed and no material
or soil shall be stored within any of the protected areas during the works
associated with this development.
Reason: To safeguard the health of existing trees which represent an amenity
feature in accordance with policy DM01 of the Barnet Local Plan and policy 7.21
of the London Plan 2015.
52. No site works or other works within a Development Phase shall be commenced
before a method statement detailing the precautions to be taken to minimise
damage to trees adjacent the Development Phase, in accordance with British
Standard BS5837: 2012 Trees in relation to design, demolition and construction
– Recommendations, has been submitted to and approved in writing by the
Local Planning Authority. The development shall be carried out in full
accordance with the approved details.
Reason: To safeguard the health of existing trees which represent an amenity
feature in accordance with policy DM01 of the Barnet Local Plan and policy 7.21
of the London Plan 2015.
53. Prior to the commencement of the development hereby approved within a
Development Phase details of the location, extent and depth of all excavations
for drainage and other services in relation to trees to be retained, or trees on
adjacent sites, shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority for that Development Phase. The development shall be
carried out in accordance with such approval.
Reason: To safeguard the health of existing tree(s) which represent an important
amenity feature in accordance with policies DM01 of the Adopted Barnet
Development Management Policies DPD (2012) and CS5 and CS7 of the
Adopted Barnet Core Strategy DPD (2012) and 7.21 of the London Plan 2015.
54. Prior to construction of Blocks H and R/S, the proposed mitigation measures to
achieved suitable wind conditions at testing points 43 and 110 respectively shall
be submitted to and approved in writing by the council.
25
267

Development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details unless
otherwise agreed in writing.
Reason: In the interest of a the amenity of future occupiers and users in
accordance with London Plan 2015 policies 7.7, and Barnet Development
Management policy DM01, DM05.
55. No development shall take place within a Development Phase in Stages 2 and
3 (with the exception of Ground Works, Site Preparation Works and Advanced
Infrastructure Works) until Reserved Matters Applications, with full details of the
amount, layout, scale, appearance and landscaping of development within that
Development Phase, are submitted and approved by the Local Planning
Authority.
Development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details unless
otherwise agreed in writing.
Reason: To comply with Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase
Act 2004.
56. Notwithstanding any additional requirements identified by the LPA, any other
authority and the National List and Local List, Reserved Matters Applications
shall be accompanied by the documents listed below unless the LPA considers
and confirms in writing that the submission of any of such documents is not
necessary.
Land uses
i.
A statement setting out the proposed land uses and mix of uses
including Class C3 dwelling sizes and tenures
ii.
An explanatory statement demonstrating how the quantum of land uses
proposed for the Development Phase are consistent with the
parameters set out in the Primary Control Documents
Layout
iii.
Siting, design and external appearance of new building[s] and
structures including elevations, sections
iv.
Detailed internal layouts including floorplans, sections and supporting
details demonstrating compliance with relevant standards and
guidance including standards for wheelchair accessible and adaptable
units
v.
Private and communal amenity space
vi.
Means of access to new buildings
vii.
Details of the incorporation of accessible showers and toilets for the
ground floor non-residential units
viii.
A phasing and reconciliation statement demonstrating how
development of the phase is in accordance with the ES, Phasing and
Delivery Strategy and how it relates to existing and future Development
Phases
ix.
A reconciliation plan showing how the proposed detailed layout of
roads, pedestrian and cycle routes and detailed layout of open spaces
26
268

x.
xi.

xii.

and public realm within that Development Phase are consistent with
the Primary Control Documents
Details of any temporary layout associated with boundary treatments
and land and building conditions between Development Phases
A BRE assessment of daylight and sunlight for residential properties
and an overshadowing assessment of private and communal amenity
spaces, with the exception of private balconies
Details of compliance with Lifetime Homes Standards and details of the
provision of 10% wheelchair housing

Scale
xiii.
Finished heights above original and finished ground levels of new
buildings and structures
xiv.
Internal finished floor levels of new buildings and structures
xv.
A written statement and plans which explain how the details respond
to and conform with the Primary Control Documents in terms of scale
Materials
xvi.
A materials strategy for that Development Phase
xvii. Full details (including samples, where appropriate) of the materials to
be used on all external surfaces
xviii. Door, entrances and windows (including glazing specifications)
xix.
Basement ramps (details of the layout, gradient and design of any
access ramp to the basement car parking areas and vertical clearances
along the ramps and within the parking areas)
xx.
Building lighting
xxi.
Podium details (including hard and soft landscaping, planting species,
furniture and play provision)
xxii. A statement shall be submitted to and approved by the LPA, which
demonstrates compliance with the Primary Control Documents in
relation to the selection of new construction materials
Landscaping
xxiii. Roads, vehicle and cycle parking, cycle and pedestrian routes
xxiv. Open spaces, sports facilities and play space details, including hard
and soft landscaping, surface treatments, street furniture, signage,
lighting and play provision
xxv. Boundary treatments and means of enclosure
xxvi. Existing and finished ground levels of outdoor areas
A written statement and plans which explain how the details respond to and
conform with the Primary Control Documents in terms of layout and access.
Other
xxvii. A scheme of environmental mitigation measures to be incorporated into
the scheme at construction stage and operational stage in accordance
with the ES Mitigation Register hereby approved
Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure the development accords
with the outline permission.
27
269

57. Cycle parking shall be provided in accordance with the minimum standards in
the London Plan (2015) unless otherwise agreed in writing with the Local
Planning Authority. Prior to the construction of any building in Stages 2, plans
identifying cycle parking locations shall be submitted and approved in writing
by the Local Planning Authority for that building to demonstrate the provision of
secure, convenient and accessible locations.
Reason: In the interests of promoting cycling as a mode of transport in
accordance with London Borough of Barnet's Local Plan Policy CS9 of Core
Strategy (Adopted) September 2012 and Policy DM17 of Development
Management Policies (Adopted) September 2012.
58. With the exception of the foodstore, the retail units hereby approved shall not
exceed a floorspace of more than 300sqm (unless otherwise agreed in writing).
Limited instances of units of up to 500sqm will be permitted subject to agreement
in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: In support of smaller business and an enhanced neighbourhood centre
in accordance with London Plan 2015 policies 2.7, 4.8 and 4.9.
59. Storage for 30 scooters at the primary school shall be provided unless
otherwise agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: To encourage the use of sustainable forms of transport to the site in
accordance with London Borough of Barnet's Local Plan Policy CS9 of Core
Strategy (Adopted) September 2012 and Policy DM17 of Development
Management Policies (Adopted) September 2012.
60. No works shall commence in Development Stage 2 unless and until all the title
to the land within the application site has been transferred to the Applicant, or
until all parties with any legal interest in the land have been joined as parties to
the Section 106 Agreement on the basis of which this planning permission is
granted.
Reason: At the time of this permission being issued the Applicant is not able to
bind all relevant interests in the site to the terms of the planning obligations in
the Section 106 Agreement.
INFORMATIVE(S):
1 A Planning Obligation under Section 106 of the Town & Country Planning Act 1990
(as amended) relates to this permission.
2 In accordance with paragraphs 186 and 187 of the NPPF, the Local Planning
Authority (LPA) takes a positive and proactive approach to development proposals,
focused on solutions. The LPA has produced planning policies and written guidance
to assist applicants when submitting applications. These are all available on the
Council's website. A pre-application advice service is also offered and the Applicant
engaged with this prior to the submissions of this application. The LPA has
28
270

negotiated with the applicant/agent where necessary during the application process
to ensure that the proposed development is in accordance with the Development
Plan.
3 Definitions adopted for the purposes of the planning conditions as follows:'Approved Plans'
The plans in the schedule Appended to the Decision Notice and any plans
subsequently approved under Reserved Matters Approvals.
'Primary Control Documents'
The detailed components of the Proposed Development are set out in the
Development Schedule (PC5) and detailed drawings (PC8). The outline
components are set out in three Primary Control Documents (PC5 Development
Schedule, PC6 Parameter Plans, and PC7 Design Principles Document), which are
submitted for approval.
'Development Phase'
A development component or components (which may include Ground Works and
Site Preparation Works, Advanced Infrastructure Works, Surface Infrastructure
Works, and construction of buildings) as identified in the Phasing Plan (to be
approved). The Phasing Plan shall be in accordance with the Indicative Phasing set
out in the Construction Management Plan and Delivery Strategy (PC30) unless
otherwise agreed with the LPA.
'Ground Works and Site Preparation Works'
Include the following works:
Demolition of existing structures including removal of asbestos, the stripping out of
buildings, disconnecting services and grubbing up foundations.
Removal of existing and surplus rubble from the site.
Removal of services on the site including service trenches.
Carrying out CAT scans on the site to confirm all existing services are clear.
The erection or re-establishment of a hoarding line for the construction site.
Providing piling matting.
Providing clear health and safety information on the site.
Piling works.
Substructure and underground drainage works.
'Advanced Infrastructure Works'
Infrastructure required to serve the site as a whole, including:
Installation of services and utilities.
Installation of energy infrastructure.
Construction of basement car parking and ground floor slab.
Ground levelling works.
'Surface Infrastructure Works'
Aboveground infrastructure required to serve the site as a whole, including:
Highways works.
Surface landscaping works to implement public routes/realm.
Surface landscaping works to implement public spaces.
'Construction'
Superstructure works above the ground floor slab.
'Development Zone'
Zones identified in the Parameter Plans in Development Stages 2 and 3 (outline
components) within which new buildings may arrive.
'Development Stage'
29
271

Refers to the broad sequence of development and defines the components that are
submitted for approval in full detail or in outline as part of the Hybrid Planning
Application. Development Stage 1 refers to the components of the Proposed
Development that are submitted for approval in full detail (Development Stage 1) as
part of the Hybrid Planning Application. Development Stages 2 and 3 refers to the
components of the Proposed Development that are submitted for approval in outline
as part of the Hybrid Planning Application.
4 Please be aware that additional conditions may be imposed as part of reserved
matters approval in the event that issues are encountered which are covered by
conditions in this decision notice.
5 Should the landowner, Transport for London or Barnet Council identify a demand
and funding for a bus service or bus services to enter the site to serve its occupants
there shall be adequate notice of no less than four (months) to enable the parties to
notify residents of the new service and bus stop locations.
6 In complying with the contaminated land condition, reference should be made at all
stages to appropriate current guidance and codes of practice. This would include:
1) The Environment Agency CLR & SR Guidance documents (including CLR11
'Model Procedures for the Management of Land Contamination');
2) National Planning Policy Framework (2012) / National Planning Practice
Guidance (2014);
3) BS10175:2011 - Investigation of potentially contaminated sites - Code of
Practice;
4) Guidance for the safe development of housing on land affected by contamination,
(2008) by NHBC, the EA and CIEH;
5) CIRIA report C665 - Assessing risks posed by hazardous ground gases to
buildings;
6) CIRIA report C733 - Asbestos in soil and made ground: a guide to understanding
and managing risks.
Please note that in addition to the above, consultants should refer to the most
relevant and up to date guidance and codes of practice if not already listed in the
above list.
7 The Air Quality Stage 4 Review and Assessment for the London Borough of Barnet
has highlighted that this area currently experiences or is likely to experience
exceedances of Government set health-based air quality standards. A list of
possible options for mitigating poor air quality is as follows: 1) Use of passive or
active air conditioning; 2) Use of acoustic ventilators; 3) Altering lay out so habitable
rooms are sited away from source of poor air quality; 4) Non residential usage of
lower floors; 5) Altering footprint by siting further away from source of poor air
quality.
For developments that require an Air Quality report; the report should have regard
to the air quality predictions and monitoring results from the Stage Four of the
Authority's Review and Assessment available from the LPA web site and the
London Air Quality Network. The report should be written in accordance with the
following guidance: 1) Environmental Protection UK Guidance: Development
Control: Planning for Air Quality (2010); 2) Environment Act 1995 Air Quality
30
272

Regulations; 3) Local Air Quality Management Technical Guidance LAQM.TG(09);
4) London Councils Air Quality and Planning Guidance (2007).
8 Please supply the following information: 1. The proposed hours of use of the
equipment. 2. The sound pressure levels of the ventilation/ extraction system to be
installed in decibels dB(A) at a specified distance from the equipment. 3. Details of
where the equipment will be placed i.e. within or outside of the building, marked on
to a scale map. 4. Details of silencers to be fitted, and other sound insulation
measures to reduce any noise impacts on neighbours including their noise
reduction in dB(A). 5. Distance away from noise sensitive premises and the nature
of these premises e.g.: offices, housing flats or storage.
The following should be noted: Given the visual and amenity impacts associated
with flues and ductwork, it is strongly recommended that ducting is contained in
voids through the building and terminating outside above roof height. Flues should
be sited to minimise effects of vibration transmission and noise to internal spaces
and any adjacent façade. Flues must incorporate anti-vibration mounts, flexible
couplings and silencers. The height of the flue (must be minimum 1.5m above the
highest eves of the building and adjacent buildings) and a reasonable distance
approximately 20 metres from any open able residential windows unless there is
suitable level of filtration and odour abatement equipment. The final discharge must
be vertically upwards. There should be no Chinese hat or cowl on the top of the
flue.
9 The applicant is advised to engage a qualified acoustic consultant to advise on the
scheme, including the specifications of any materials, construction, fittings and
equipment necessary to achieve satisfactory internal noise levels in this location.
In addition to the noise control measures and details, the scheme needs to clearly
set out the target noise levels for the habitable rooms, including for bedrooms at
night, and the levels that the sound insulation scheme would achieve.
The Council's Sustainable Design and Construction Supplementary Planning
Document requires that dwellings are designed and built to insulate against external
noise so that the internal noise level in rooms does not exceed 30dB(A) expressed
as an Leq between the hours of 11.00pm and 7.00am, nor 30dB(A) expressed as
an Leq between the hours of 7.00am and 11.00pm (Guidelines for Community
Noise, WHO). This needs to be considered in the context of room ventilation
requirements.
The details of acoustic consultants can be obtained from the following contacts: a)
Institute of Acoustics and b) Association of Noise Consultants.
The assessment and report on the noise impacts of a development should use
methods of measurement, calculation, prediction and assessment of noise levels
and impacts that comply with the following standards, where appropriate:
1) BS 7445(2003) Pt 1, BS7445 (1991) Pts 2 & 3 - Description and measurement of
environmental noise;
2) BS 4142:1997 - Method for rating industrial noise affecting mixed residential and
industrial areas;
3) BS 8223: 2014 Guidance on sound insulation and noise reduction for buildings:
31
273

code of practice;
4) Department of Transport: Calculation of road traffic noise (1988);
5) Department of Transport: Calculation of railway noise (1995);
6) National Planning Policy Framework (2012)/ National Planning Policy Guidance
(2014).
Please note that in addition to the above, consultants should refer to the most
relevant and up to date guidance and codes of practice if not already listed in the
above list.
10 Prior to commencement of Stage 3 with particular reference to the construction of
blocks Y and Z, Network Rail recommends that the applicant contact its Asset
Protection Team at AssetProtectionLNE@networkrail.co.uk to discuss the proposed
development and its interaction with the operational railway.
11 The following advice is provided by network rail regarding works which may affect
their land and operation track:
Construction
Any scaffold, cranes or other mechanical plant must be constructed and operated in
a "fail safe" manner that in the event of mishandling, collapse or failure, no
materials or plant are capable of falling within 3.0m of the nearest rail of the
adjacent railway line, or where the railway is electrified, within 3.0m of overhead
electrical equipment or supports.
Any cranes or other mechanical plant equipment involved during construction
should be positioned so that their loads or jibs do not over-sail Network Rail's land.
Scaffolding
(Suggested condition) - Any scaffold which is to be constructed within 10 metres of
the railway boundary fence must be erected in such a manner that at no time will
any poles over-sail the railway and protective netting around such scaffold must be
installed. The applicant/applicant's contractor must consider if they can undertake
the works and associated scaffold/access for working at height within the footprint
of their property boundary.
Piling
(Suggested condition) - Where vibro-compaction/displacement piling plant is to be
used in development, details of the use of such machinery and a method statement
should be submitted for the approval of the Network Rail's Asset Protection
Engineer prior to the commencement of works and the works shall only be carried
out in accordance with the approved method statement.
Earthworks and Excavations
(Suggested condition) - Prior to commencement of works, full details of excavations
and earthworks to be carried out within 10 metres of the railway undertaker's
boundary fence should be submitted for the approval of the Local Planning
Authority acting in consultation with the railway undertaker and the works shall only
be carried out in accordance with approved details.
Demolition
Any demolition or refurbishment works must not be carried out on the development
32
274

site that may endanger the safe operation of the railway, or the stability of the
adjoining Network Rail structures
Drainage
Storm/surface water and effluent must not be discharged onto Network Rail's
property or into Network Rail's culverts or drains except by agreement with Network
Rail. Suitable drainage or other works must be provided and maintained by the
Developer to prevent surface water flows or run-off onto Network Rail's property.
Suitable foul drainage must be provided separate from Network Rail's existing
drainage.
Lighting
Any lighting associated with the development (including vehicle lights) must not
interfere with the sighting of signalling apparatus and/or train drivers vision on
approaching trains. The location and colour of lights must not give rise to the
potential for confusion with the signalling arrangements on the railway. The
developers should obtain Network Rail's Asset Protection Engineer's approval of
their detailed proposals regarding lighting.
Noise and Vibration
The potential for any noise/ vibration impacts caused by the proximity between the
proposed development and any existing railway must be assessed in the context of
the National Planning Policy Framework which holds relevant national guidance
information. The current level of usage may be subject to change at any time
without notification including increased frequency of trains, night time train running
and heavy freight trains.
Roads and Parking
The Department of Transport recommends the provision of a safety barrier adjacent
to the railway, alongside all roads, turning circles and parking areas where the
railway is situated at or below the level of the development. The safety barrier
should be designated to cater for specific loadings dependent on the road traffic
anticipated and in a position to stop vehicles driving into or rolling onto the railway
or damage the lineside fencing. Network Rail's existing fencing/wall must not be
removed or damaged.
Landscaping
Any hedge planted adjacent to Network Road boundary fencing for screening
purposes should be so placed that when fully grown it does not damage the fencing
or provide means of scaling it. No hedge should prevent Network Rail form
maintaining its boundary fencing. A comprehensive list of permitted and no
permitted species is available upon request.
12 With regard to surface water drainage it is the responsibility of a developer to
make proper provision for drainage to ground, water courses or a suitable sewer. In
respect of surface water it is recommended that the applicant should ensure that
storm flows are attenuated or regulated into the receiving public network through on
or off site storage. When it is proposed to connect to a combined public sewer, the
site drainage should be separate and combined at the final manhole nearest the
boundary. Connections are not permitted for the removal of groundwater. Where
33
275

the developer proposes to discharge to a public sewer, prior approval from Thames
Water Developer Services will be required. They can be contacted on 0800 009
3921. Reason - to ensure that the surface water discharge from the site shall not be
detrimental to the existing sewerage system.
13 The proposed works will be in close proximity to underground sewerage utility
infrastructure. Piling has the potential to impact on local underground sewerage
utility infrastructure. The applicant is advised to contact Thames Water Developer
Services on 0800 009 3921 to discuss the details of the piling method statement.
14 There are public sewers crossing or close to your development. In order to
protect public sewers and to ensure that Thames Water can gain access to those
sewers for future repair and maintenance, approval should be sought from Thames
Water where the erection of a building or an extension to a building or underpinning
work would be over the line of, or would come within 3 metres of, a public sewer.
Thames Water will usually refuse such approval in respect of the construction of
new buildings, but approval may be granted in some cases for extensions to
existing buildings. The applicant is advised to contact Thames Water Developer
Services on 0845 850 2777 to discuss the options available at this site.
15 With regard to water supply, this comes within the area covered by the Affinity
Water Company. For your information the address to write to is - Affinity Water
Company The Hub, Tamblin Way, Hatfield, Herts, AL10 9EZ - Tel - 0845 782 3333.
16 Your attention is drawn to the need to provide facilities for the disabled, as set out
in Building Regulation Part M Access & Facilities for Disabled Persons. A copy of
Part M is available via the Planning Portal at
http://www.planningportal.gov.uk/buildingregulations/.
17 The Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) applies to all 'chargeable development'.
This is defined as development of one or more additional units, and / or an increase
to existing floor space of more than 100 sq m. Details of how the calculations work
are provided in guidance documents on the Planning Portal at
www.planningportal.gov.uk/cil.
The Mayor of London adopted a CIL charge on 1st April 2012 setting a rate of £35
per sq m on all forms of development in Barnet except for education and health
developments which are exempt from this charge. Your planning application has
been assessed at this time as liable for a £9.45M payment under Mayoral CIL.
The London Borough of Barnet adopted a CIL charge on 1st May 2013 setting a
rate of £135 per sq m on residential and retail development in its area of authority.
All other uses and ancillary car parking are exempt from this charge. Your planning
application has therefore been assessed at this time as liable for a £28.5M payment
under Barnet CIL.
Please note that Indexation will be added in line with Regulation 40 of Community
Infrastructure Levy.
Liability for CIL will be recorded to the register of Local Land Charges as a legal
charge upon your site payable should you commence development. Receipts of the
34
276

Mayoral CIL charge are collected by the London Borough of Barnet on behalf of the
Mayor of London; receipts are passed across to Transport for London to support
Crossrail, London's highest infrastructure priority.
You will be sent a 'Liability Notice' that provides full details of the charge and to
whom it has been apportioned for payment. If you wish to identify named parties
other than the applicant for this permission as the liable party for paying this levy,
please submit to the Council an 'Assumption of Liability' notice, which is also
available from the Planning Portal website.
The CIL becomes payable upon commencement of development. You are required
to submit a 'Notice of Commencement' to the Council's CIL Team prior to
commencing on site, and failure to provide such information at the due date will
incur both surcharges and penalty interest. There are various other charges and
surcharges that may apply if you fail to meet other statutory requirements relating to
CIL, such requirements will all be set out in the Liability Notice you will receive. You
may wish to seek professional planning advice to ensure that you comply fully with
the requirements of CIL Regulations.
If you have a specific question or matter you need to discuss with the CIL team, or
you fail to receive a 'Liability Notice' from the Council within 1 month of this grant of
planning permission, please email us at: cil@barnet.gov.uk
Relief or Exemption from CIL:
If social housing or charitable relief applies to your development or your
development falls within one of the following categories then this may reduce the
final amount you are required to pay; such relief must be applied for prior to
commencement of development using the 'Claiming Exemption or Relief' form
available from the Planning Portal website: www.planningportal.gov.uk/cil.
You can apply for relief or exemption under the following categories:
1. Charity: If you are a charity, intend to use the development for social housing or
feel that there are exception circumstances affecting your development, you may be
eligible for a reduction (partial or entire) in this CIL Liability. Please see the
documentation published by the Department for Communities and Local
Government at https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment
_data/file/6314/19021101.pdf
2. Residential Annexes or Extensions: You can apply for exemption or relief to the
collecting authority in accordance with Regulation 42(B) of Community
Infrastructure Levy Regulations (2010), as amended before commencement of the
chargeable development.
3. Self Build: Application can be made to the collecting authority provided you
comply with the regulation as detailed in the legislation.gov.uk
Please visit
http://www.planningportal.gov.uk/planning/applications/howtoapply/whattosubmit/cil
for further details on exemption and relief.
18 The applicant is advised that any development or conversion which necessitates
the removal, changing, or creation of an address or addresses must be officially
35
277

registered by the Council through the formal 'Street Naming and Numbering'
process.
The London Borough of Barnet is the Street Naming and Numbering Authority and
is the only organisation that can create or change addresses within its boundaries.
Applications are the responsibility of the developer or householder who wish to
have an address created or amended.
Occupiers of properties which have not been formally registered can face a
multitude of issues such as problems with deliveries, rejection of banking /
insurance applications, problems accessing key council services and most
importantly delays in an emergency situation.
Further details and the application form can be downloaded from:
http://www.barnet.gov.uk/naming-and-numbering-applic-form.pdf or requested from
the Street Naming and Numbering Team via street.naming@barnet.gov.uk or by
telephoning 0208 359 7294.
19 Applicants and agents are encouraged to sign up to the Considerate Contractors
Scheme (www.ccscheme.org.uk) whereby general standards of work are raised and
the condition and safety of the Borough's streets and pavements are improved.
20 The applicant is advised that if any modification is required or proposed to access
from the public highway, such works would be subject to a detailed investigation by
the Traffic and Development section. Heavy duty access may need to be provided
to cater for a heavy duty use and may involve relocation of existing street furniture.
The works would be undertaken by the Highway Authority at the applicant's
expense. You may obtain an estimate for this and any associated work on the
public highway, and further information, from the Traffic and Development Section Development and Regulatory Services, Building 4 North London Business Park,
Oakleigh Road South, London N11 1NP, by telephone on 020 8359 3018, or via
crossovers@barnet.gov.uk.
21 The Air Quality Stage 4 Review and Assessment for the London Borough of
Barnet has highlighted that this area currently experiences or is likely to experience
exceedances of Government set health-based air quality standards. A list of
possible options for mitigating poor air quality is as follows: 1) Use of passive or
active air conditioning; 2) Use of acoustic ventilators; 3) Altering lay out so habitable
rooms are sited away from source of poor air quality; 4) Non residential usage of
lower floors; 5) Altering footprint by siting further away from source of poor air
quality.
For developments that require an Air Quality report; the report should have regard
to the air quality predictions and monitoring results from the Stage Four of the
Authority's Review and Assessment available from the LPA web site and the
London Air Quality Network. The report should be written in accordance with the
following guidance: 1) Environmental Protection UK Guidance: Development
Control: Planning for Air Quality (2010); 2) Environment Act 1995 Air Quality
Regulations; 3) Local Air Quality Management Technical Guidance LAQM.TG(09);
4) London Councils Air Quality and Planning Guidance (2007).
36
278

Please note that in addition to the above, consultants should refer to the most
relevant and up to date guidance and codes of practice if not already listed in the
above list.
22 The applicant is advised that legal changes under The Water Industry (Scheme
for the Adoption of Private Sewers) Regulations 2011 mean that the sections of
pipes
you share with your neighbours, or are situated outside of your property boundary
which connect to a public sewer are likely to have transferred to Thames Water's
ownership. Should your proposed building work fall within 3 metres of these pipes,
we recommend you contact Thames Water to discuss their status in more detail
and to determine if a building over/near-to agreement is required. You can contact
Thames Water on 0845 850 2777 or for more information please visit
www.thameswater.co.uk.
23 Prior to the commencement of each phase within the Outline element of the
permission as shown on plan entitled 'Existing Site Plan - Application Boundary'
drawing no. 2346_A_101 dated 25.01.2013, details of any highways within the
relevant phase which require to be stopped up to facilitate the development shall be
submitted to and agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: To ensure that adequate public access is provided throughout the
development.
24.

RECONCILIATION OF CONDITIONS/NON-MATERIAL AMENDMENTS

Conditions
16/0122/CON
Submission of details of Conditions 51 (Tree protection measures); 52 (Arboricultural
method statement) and 53 (Trees and service plan – Drainage Infrastructure Only)
pursuant to planning permission H/04753/14 dated 23/12/15 in relation to Phase 1a
only.
Approved on 19th February 2016
16/0121/CON
Submission of Condition 5 (Construction Environmental Management Plan) pursuant
to planning permission H/04753/14 dated 23/12/15 (Site-Wide).
Approved on 1st March 2016
16/1949/CON
Submission of details of Conditions 22 (Details of Materials), 26 (Overheating
Analysis) and 29 (Greywater/Rainwater Recycling) pursuant to planning permission
H/04753/14 (23/12/2015) (Phase 1A). Condition 22, parts (i-iii) and Condition 26
approved on 12th May 2016
16/1758/CON
Submission of details of Condition 4 (Phasing), pursuant to planning permission
H/04753/14 dated 23/12/15 (Site-Wide).
Approved on 12th May 2016
16/1826/CON
37
279

Submission of details for Condition 10 (Advanced Infrastructure Works) pursuant to
planning permission H/04753/14 dated 23/12/15 (Phase 1A).
Approved on 21st July 2016
16/1948/CON
Submission of details for Condition 11 (Landscaping) pursuant to planning permission
H/04753/14 dated 23.12.15 (Phase 1A).
Approved on 21st July 2016
16/4177/CON
Submission of details of Condition 23 (Refuse and Recycling), in relation to Blocks L,
N, R, S, T and U only, pursuant to planning permission H/04753/14 dated 23/12/15.
Approved on 10th August 2016
16/5749/CON
Submission of Condition 15 (Site Wide Car Parking Management Strategy) pursuant
to planning permission H/04753/14 dated 23/12/15 (Site-Wide).
Approved on 13th October 2016
16/5507/CON
Submission of details of Condition 11 (landscape) for partial discharge of Phases 1b,
1c, and 1d, and Condition 13 (landscape management plan) for Stage 1 pursuant to
hybrid planning permission H/04753/14, dated 23/12/2015.
Approved on 4th November 2016
16/7257/CON
Submission of condition 22 (Materials) pursuant to planning permission H/04753/14
dated 23/12/15 for Blocks L and N only.
Approved on 23rd January 2017
17/0392/CON
Submission of details of condition 26 (Overheating Analysis) pursuant to planning
permission 16/5050/S73 dated 05/12/16
Approved on 6th March 2017
16/7792/CON
Submission of details of conditions 24 (Extraction and Ventilation) 45 (Mitigation
Measures) 46 (Acoustics) in relation to blocks: R, S, T, U, L, N, P, & Q pursuant to
planning permission 16/5050/S73 dated 05/12/16
Approved on 7th March 2017
16/8045/CON
Submission of details of conditions 11 (Landscaping) 51 (Tree Protection) 52 (Method
Statement) 53 (Drainage), pursuant to planning permission 16/5050/S73 dated
05/12/16
Approved on 7th March 2017
16/8046/CON
Submission of details of condition 10 (Infrastructure Works) in relation to phases 1b,
1c and 1d pursuant to planning permission 16/5050/S73 dated 05/12/16
38
280

Approved on 7th March 2017
16/7938/CON
Submission of details of condition 29 (Rainwater Feasibility Study) pursuant to
planning permission 16/5050/S73 dated 05/12/16
Approved on 9th March 2017
17/0609/CON
Submission of details of condition 22 (Materials) pursuant to planning permission
16/5050/S73 dated 05/12/16
Approved on 04 April 2017
17/0837/CON
Submission of details of condition 18 Phase 1A (Car Parking Management Plan)
pursuant to planning permission 16/5050/S73 dated 05/12/16
Approved on 25 May 2017
17/3452/CON
Submission of details of condition 10 (Advanced Infrastructure Works) pursuant to
planning permission 16/7836/S73 dated 05/05/17
Approved on 2 October 2017
17/3753/CON
Submission of details of condition 22 (materials) and 26 (overheating) for Blocks P
and Q only pursuant to planning permission 16/7836/S73 dated 05/12/2016
Approved on 25 July 2017
17/4715/CON
Submission of details of condition 35 (Estate Management Plan) pursuant to planning
permission 16/7836/S73 dated 05/05/17
Ref. No: | Status: Approved
Approved on 03 August 2017
17/5048/CON
Submission of details of condition 22 (Materials) and 26 (Overheating) for Block H
pursuant to planning permission 16/7836/S73 dated 05/05/17
Approved on 08 August 2017
18/3079/CON
Submission of details of condition 24 (Extraction and Ventilation) 45 (Noise Mitigation)
56 (Acoustic Walls, fencing and barriers) blocks H,J.K and M pursuant to planning
permission 16/7836/S73 dated 05/05/17
Approved on 28 June 2018
18/3080/CON
Submission of details of condition 33 (External Lighting) pursuant to planning
permission 16/7836/S73 dated 05/05/17 in relation to phases 1B, 1C, 1D, 2B and 2C
only.
Approved on 10 July 2018

39
281

18/3493/CON
Submission of details of condition 23 (Refuse and Recycling Strategy) pursuant to
planning permission 16/7836/S73 dated 05/05/17 in relation to Phase 1B (Blocks P &
Q), Phase 1C (Blocks H & M) and Phase 1D (Blocks J & K) only.
Approved on 17 July 2018
18/3532/CON
Submission of details of condition 4 (Phasing Plan) 13 (Landscaping Management
Plan) pursuant to planning permission 16/7836/S73 dated 05/05/17
Approved on 19 July 2018
18/3569/CON
Submission of details of condition 26 (Overheating) pursuant to planning permission
16/7836/S73 dated 05/05/17 in relation to blocks F,J,K,M and H only.
Approved on 19 July 2018
18/3590/CON
Submission of details of conditions 24 (Extraction and Ventilation) 45 (Environmental
Statement) 46 (Acoustics) pursuant to planning permission 16/7836/S73 dated
05/05/17 in relation to blocks F, H, J, K & M only.
Approved on 19 July 2018
18/3993/CON
Submission of details of conditions 18 (Car Park Management Plan) and 34 (Delivery
and Servicing Management Plan) pursuant to planning permission 16/7836/S73 dated
05/05/17 in relation to Block F only.
Approved on 7 August 2018
18/3998/CON
Submission of details of condition 15 (Site wide car parking management plan)
pursuant to planning 16/7836/S73 dated 05/05/17
Approved on 7 August 2018
18/4526/CON
Submission of details of condition 28 (CHP and or Biomass Emissions) pursuant to
planning permission 16/7836/S73 dated 05/05/17
Approved on 7 September 2018
18/4695/CON
Submission of details of condition 18 (Car Park Management Plan) pursuant to
planning permission 16/7836/S73 dated 05/05/17 in relation to blocks P and Q only.
Approved on 7 September 2018
18/6082/CON
Submission of details of conditions 10 (Advanced Infrastructure Works) in relation to
blocks F, G and M only, 11 (Landscaping) in relation to sports provision site wide and
27c (Energy Supply) pursuant to planning application 16/7836/S73 dated 05/05/2017
in relation to blocks E, F and G only.
Approved on 27 November 2018

40
282

18/6083/CON
Submission of details of condition 18 (Car Parking Management Plan), pursuant to
planning permission 16/7836/S73 dated 05/05/2017 in relation to Stage 1 only.
Approved on 27 November 2018
18/6084/CON
Submission of details of condition 6 (Remediation), pursuant to planning permission
16/7836/S73 dated 05/05/2017
Approved on 16 December 2018
19/1066/CON
Submission of details of condition 22 (materials), pursuant to planning permission
16/7836/S73 dated 05/05/2017 in relation to Block F
Approved on 4 April 2019
19/2405/CON
Submission of details of conditions 22 (Materials) pursuant to planning permission
16/7836/S73 dated 05/05/17
Approved on 6 June 2019
19/2912/CON
Submission of details of Condition 10 (Scheme of Advanced Infrastructure Works) for
Block B (Phase 2GA and 2GB) only; Condition 11 (Landscaping) for Block G (Phase
2C) only; Condition 23 (Refuse / Recycling Details) for Block B (Phase 2GA and 2GB)
and Block G (Phase 2C) only; Condition 24 (Extraction and Ventilation Details) for
Block G (Phase 2C) only; Condition 26 (Overheating Analysis) for Block G (Phase 2C)
only; and Condition 45 (Details of Noise Mitigation Measures) for Block G (Phase 2C)
only, pursuant to planning permission 16/7836/S73 dated 05/05/2017.
Approved on 19 September 2019
19/4351/CON
Submission of details of condition 3 (Air pollution mitigation measures) pursuant to
planning permission 19/2284/RMA dated 25/06/19
Approved on 16 December 2019
19/4760/CON
Submission of details of condition 24 (Extraction and Ventilation) 45 (Sound Insulation)
in relation to Block B (Phase 2GA and 2GB) only, pursuant to planning permission of
16/7836/S73 dated 05/05/17
Approved on 14 February 2020
19/4761/CON
Submission of details of condition 22 (Materials) pursuant to planning permission
16/7836/S73 dated 05/05/17
Approved on 16 December 2019
19/5736/CON
The application seeks the discharge of condition 22 (Materials) in relation to Block J
and K (Phase 1D) and Block M (Phase 1C) only and 46 (Acoustics Walls and Barriers)

41
283

for Block B (Phases 2GA and 2GB) only, pursuant to planning permission 16/7836/S73
dated 05/05/2017.
Approved on 14 February 2020
20/0713/CON
Submission of details of condition 22 (Materials) Part i and v in relation to Block A
(Phase 2D) only, pursuant to planning permission 16/7836/S73 dated 05/05/2017
Approved on 29 May 2020
20/1182/CON
Submission of details of condition 24 (Extraction and Ventilation) pursuant to planning
permission 16/7836/S73 dated 05/05/17
Approved on 29 May 2020
Reserved Matters Applications
16/5716/RMA
Submission of Reserved Matters Application within Phase 2A (i) of the Colindale
Gardens development; relating to Layout, Scale, Appearance and Landscaping for
Lismore Boulevard (West). Submission is pursuant to conditions 55 and 56 of planning
permission H/04753/14 dated 23 December 2015 for the residential-led mixed use
development of Colindale Gardens (the former Peel Centre). The hybrid planning
application was accompanied by an Environmental Statement.
Approved on 22nd December 2016
17/2564/RMA
Reserved matters application seeking approval of appearance, landscaping, layout
and scale for Phases 2A, 2B and 2C of the Colindale Gardens (Former Peel Centre)
development pursuant to outline planning permission reference H/04753/14 dated
23/12/2015 as amended by S73 Application 16/7836/S73 dated 05/05/17, involving
the erection of 483 units in the form of 42 studios, 136 x 1 bedroom, 203 x 2 bedroom,
98 x 3 bedroom and 4 x 4 bedroom, together with
details to discharge the requirements of conditions 55 and 56
Approved on 2 August 2017
18/0126/RMA
Submission of Reserved Matters Application within Stage 3 of the Colindale Gardens
development; relating to Layout, Scale, Appearance and Landscaping for Roads.
Submission is pursuant to conditions 55 and 56 of planning permission H/04753/14
dated 23 December 2015 (as amended) for the residentialled mixed use development
of Colindale Gardens (the former Peel Centre). The hybrid planning application was
accompanied by an Environmental Statement.
Approved on 4 April 2018
18/4369/RMA
Application for the approval of Reserved Matters relating to Phases 2D, 2E, 2F and
2G of Development Stage 2 of the Colindale Gardens development (former Peel
Centre); seeking approval for details relating to Layout, Scale, Appearance and
Landscaping. Submission is pursuant to outline planning permission reference
H/04753/14 dated 23/12/2015 as amended by S73 Application 16/7836/S73 dated
05/05/17, involving the erection of 1208 units in the form of 87 x studio, 353 x 1
42
284

bedroom, 659 x 2 bedroom, 109 x 3 bedroom units together with the provision of 7,094
sqm of non-residential floorspace containing a mix of A1, A2, A3, A4, C3, D1 (including
new Health Centre and Nursery) and D2 uses
Approved on 12 November 2018
19/0444/RMA
Resubmission for the approval of Reserved Matters relating to Phases 2D, 2E, 2F and
2G of Development Stage 2 of the Colindale Gardens development (former Peel
Centre); seeking approval for details relating to Layout, Scale, Appearance and
Landscaping. Submission is pursuant to outline planning permission reference
H/04753/14 dated 23/12/2015 as amended by S73 Application 16/7836/S73 dated
05/05/17, involving the erection of 1,220 units in the form of 82 x studio, 343 x 1
bedroom, 658 x 2 bedroom, 137 x 3 bedroom units together with the provision of 6,255
sqm of non-residential floorspace containing a mix of A1, A2, A3, A4, C3, D1 (including
new Health Centre and Nursery) and D2 uses.
Approved on 12 April 2019
19/2284/RMA
Third application for the approval of Reserved Matters relating to Phases 2D, 2E, 2F
and 2GA and 2GB of Development Stage 2 of the Colindale Gardens development
(former Peel Centre); seeking approval for details relating to Layout, Scale,
Appearance and Landscaping. Submission is pursuant to outline planning permission
reference H/04753/14 dated 23/12/2015 as amended by S73 Application 16/7836/S73
dated 05/05/17, involving the erection of 1,245 units in the form of 68 x studio, 359 x
1 bedroom, 698 x 2 bedroom, 120 x 3 bedroom units together with the provision of
7,559.9 sqm of non-residential floorspace containing a mix of A1, A2, A3, A4, C3, D1
(including new Health Centre and Nursery) and D2 uses.
Approved on 25 June 2019
19/0636/RMA
Second reserved matters application seeking approval for Phase 2A of the Colindale
Gardens (Former Peel Centre) development pursuant to outline planning permission
reference H/04753/14 dated 23/12/2015 as amended by S73 Application 16/7836/S73
dated 05/05/17.
Approved on 23 May 2019
Non-Material Amendment Applications
16/1683/NMA
Non-material amendment pursuant to planning permission H/04753/14 dated
23.12.2015 for "Hybrid planning application for the phased comprehensive
redevelopment of part of the existing Peel Centre site including the demolition of all
existing buildings and the provision of a residential-led mixed use development
comprising up to 2,900 new residential units (Use Class C3), with 888 units in full detail
and up to 2,012 units in outline in buildings ranging from 2-21 storeys; up to 10,000
square metres of non-residential floorspace (Use Classes A1-A4, D1, D2); the
provision of a 3 form entry primary school (including nursery provision) and a minimum
of 4 hectares of public open space. Associated site preparation/enabling works,
transport infrastructure namely a new pedestrian connection to Colindeep Lane and
junction works, landscaping and car parking. The application is accompanied by an
Environmental Statement." Amendments include "Proposed changes to the scale,
43
285

footprint, layout, amenity space, external envelope, common areas, parking and the
amount and mix of units"
Approved on 6th April 2016
16/1668/NMA
Non-material amendment pursuant to planning permission H/04753/14 dated
23.12.2015 for "Hybrid planning application for the phased comprehensive
redevelopment of part of the existing Peel Centre site including the demolition of all
existing buildings and the provision of a residential-led mixed use development
comprising up to 2,900 new residential units (Use Class C3), with 888 units in full detail
and up to 2,012 units in outline in buildings ranging from 2-21 storeys; up to 10,000
square metres of non-residential floorspace (Use Classes A1-A4, D1, D2); the
provision of a 3 form entry primary school (including nursery provision) and a minimum
of 4 hectares of public open space. Associated site preparation/enabling works,
transport infrastructure namely a new pedestrian connection to Colindeep Lane and
junction works, landscaping and car parking. The application is accompanied by an
Environmental Statement." Amendments include "Proposed changes to the scale,
footprint, layout, amenity space, external envelope, common areas, parking and the
amount and mix of units"
Approved on 7th April 2016
16/2646/NMA
Non-material amendment pursuant to planning permission H/04753/14 dated
23.12.2015 for "Hybrid planning application for the phased comprehensive
redevelopment of part of the existing Peel Centre site including the demolition of all
existing buildings and the provision of a residential-led mixed use development
comprising up to 2,900 new residential units (Use Class C3), with 888 units in full detail
and up to 2,012 units in outline in buildings ranging from 2-21 storeys; up to 10,000
square metres of non-residential floorspace (Use Classes A1-A4, D1, D2); the
provision of a 3 form entry primary school (including nursery provision) and a minimum
of 4 hectares of public open space. Associated site preparation/enabling works,
transport infrastructure namely a new pedestrian connection to Colindeep Lane and
junction works, landscaping and car parking. The application is accompanied by an
Environmental Statement." Amendments include "Proposed changes to the scale,
footprint, layout, amenity space, external envelope, common areas, parking and the
amount and mix of units"
Approved on 10th June 2016
16/5466/NMA
Non-material minor amendments to planning permission reference dated for 'Hybrid
planning application for the phased comprehensive redevelopment of part of the
existing Peel Centre site including the demolition of all existing buildings and the
provision of a residential-led mixed use development comprising up to 2,900 new
residential units (Use Class C3), with 888 units in full detail and up to 2,012 units in
outline in buildings ranging from 2-21 storeys; up to 10,000 square metres of nonresidential floorspace (Use Classes A1-A4, D1, D2); the provision of a 3 form entry
primary school (including nursery provision) and a minimum of 4 hectares of public
open space. Associated site preparation/enabling works, transport infrastructure
namely a new pedestrian connection to Colindeep Lane and junction works,
landscaping and car parking. The application is accompanied by an Environmental
44
286

Statement.' Amendments include alteration to the wording of part of condition 45
(Mitigation Measures) from 'This sound insulation shall ensure that the levels of noise
generated from the (specify plant / equipment) as measured within habitable rooms of
the development shall be no higher than 30dB(A) from 7am to 11pm and 30dB(A) in
bedrooms from 11pm to 7am.' to 'This sound insulation shall ensure that the levels of
noise generated from the (specify plant / equipment) as measured within habitable
rooms of the development shall be no higher than 35dB(A) from 7am to 11pm and
30dB(A) in bedrooms from 11pm to 7am.'
Approved on 19th October 2016
17/6652/NMA
Non-material amendments pursuant to planning permission reference H/04753/14
dated 23/12/2015 for Hybrid planning application for the phased comprehensive
redevelopment of part of the existing Peel Centre site including the demolition of all
existing buildings and the provision of a residential-led mixed use development
comprising up to 2,900 new residential units (Use Class C3), with 888 units in full
detail and up to 2,012 units in outline in buildings ranging from 2-21 storeys; up to
10,000 square metres of nonresidential floorspace (Use Classes A1-A4, D1, D2); the
provision of a 3 form entry primary school (including nursery provision) and a
minimum of 4 hectares of public open space. Associated site preparation/ enabling
works, transport infrastructure namely a new pedestrian connection to Colindeep
Lane and junction works, landscaping and car parking. The application is
accompanied by an Environmental Statement. Amendments include to removal of
Condition 50 (Waiver of Liability and Indemnity Agreement)
Approved on 28 November 2017
17/7022/NMA
Non-material amendments pursuant to planning permission reference H/04753/14
dated 23/12/2015 for Hybrid planning application for the phased comprehensive
redevelopment of part of the existing Peel Centre site including the demolition of all
existing buildings and the provision of a residential-led mixed use development
comprising up to 2,900 new residential units (Use Class C3), with 888 units in full
detail and up to 2,012 units in outline in buildings ranging from 2-21 storeys; up to
10,000 square metres of nonresidential floorspace (Use Classes A1-A4, D1, D2); the
provision of a 3 form entry primary school (including nursery provision) and a
minimum of 4 hectares of public open space. Associated site preparation/ enabling
works, transport infrastructure namely a new pedestrian connection to Colindeep
Lane and junction works, landscaping and car parking. The application is
accompanied by an Environmental Statement. Amendments include variation of
condition 32
Approved 28 November 2017
17/7843/NMA
Non-material amendments to planning permission reference 16/7836/S73 dated
5/5/17. Amendments include minor internal and external alterations
Approved on 2 January 2018
18/1753/NMA
Non-material amendments to planning permission reference H/04753/14 as
amended by 16/7836/S73. Amendment to include change to wording of condition to
45
287

read, All commercial units shall achieve a minimum of Very Good under the
BREEAM UK New Construction 2014 scheme, unless otherwise agreed in writing by
the Local Planning Authority. Within three months of first occupation of the building,
a copy of the summary score sheet and BREEAM Post Construction Certificate shall
be submitted to the LPA to demonstrate that this has been achieved
Approved on 11 April 2018
18/1908/NMA
Non-material amendments to planning permission reference H/04753/14 for 'Hybrid
planning application for the phased comprehensive redevelopment of part of the
existing Peel Centre site including the demolition of all existing buildings and the
provision of a residential-led mixed use development comprising up to 2,900 new
residential units (Use Class C3), with 888 units in full detail and up to 2,012 units in
outline in buildings ranging from 2-21 storeys; up to 10,000 square metres of nonresidential floorspace (Use Classes A1-A4, D1, D2); the provision of a 3 form entry
primary school (including nursery provision) and a minimum of 4 hectares of public
open space. Associated site preparation/enabling works, transport infrastructure
namely a new pedestrian connection to Colindeep Lane and junction works,
landscaping and car parking. The application is accompanied by an Environmental
Statement.' Amendments include revised Development Schedule
Approved on 13 April 2018
18/3572/NMA
Non material amendment to planning permission 16/7836/S73 dated 05/05/17 for
`Minor Material Amendment to condition 1 (Approved Plans) of Planning Permission
for H/04753/14 dated 23/12/2015 as amended by S73 Application 16/5050/S73
dated 05.12.2016. Variations include (but not limited to). Amendments to Application
Description increasing number of units in Stage 1 (from 951 to 1,061) and
decreasing number of units in future phases Stages 2 and 3 (from 1949 to 1839).
Blocks H, J and M are increased in height. Increase in number of units in Block H
from 126 to 162, Block J from 66 to 87, Block K from 64 to 75, and Block M from 62
units to 104 units. Alterations to the building footprint for Blocks J and K. Alterations
to the unit mix and parking distribution in Blocks H, J, K and M and introduction of a
basement level below Blocks J and K.` Amendments include changes to gross
internal area, reduction in basement, relocation of the ground floor communal room,
increase in duplex areas, relocation of refuse and cycle storage, alterations to car
parking distribution. External change of height of core F1 tower and change to
parapet height, banding to core reduced, over panels to windows changed to from
grills to glazing
Approved on 8 August 2018
18/3981/NMA
Non Material Amendment to condition 1 (Approved Plans) of Planning Permission for
H/04753/14 dated 23/12/2015 as amended by S73 Application 16/5050/S73 dated
05.12.2016 and S73 Application 16/7836/S73 dated 05/05/17. Variations include:
Amendments to Application Description to reconcile the approved building heights
between the application description and the approved Development Zones &
Maximum Heights Parameter Plan.
Approved on 8 August 2018

46
288

17/7830/NMA
Non-material amendments to planning permission reference 16/7836/S73 dated
5/5/17. Amendments include minor internal and external alterations
Approved on 2 January 2018
18/6301/NMA
Non material amendment to planning permission 17/2564/RMA dated 02/08/17 for
`Reserved matters application seeking approval of appearance, landscaping, layout
and scale for Phases 2A, 2B and 2C of the Colindale Gardens (Former Peel Centre)
development pursuant to outline planning permission reference H/04753/14 dated
23/12/2015 as amended by S73 Application 16/7836/S73 dated 05/05/17, involving
the erection of 483 units in the form of 42 studios, 136 x 1 bedroom, 203 x 2
bedroom, 98 x 3 bedroom and 4 x 4 bedroom, together with details to discharge the
requirements of conditions 55 and 56.` Amendments include but not limited internal
changes and change of unit mix, increase in building height by 725mm,
reorganisation of townhouse facades, alterations to window and door size and
alignments, removal of terraces on 5th floor to be changed to green roofs
Approved on 7 November 2018
19/0174/NMA
Non Material Amendment to condition 1 (Approved Plans) of Planning Permission for
H/04753/14 dated 23/12/2015 as amended by S73 Application 16/5050/S73 dated
05.12.2016 and S73 Application 16/7836/S73 dated 05/05/17. Amendments include:
replacement of townhouses with apartment block including increases in building
heights, alterations to doors and windows including relocation of doors, alterations to
cycle store and parking facilities
Approved on 30 January 2019
19/1065/NMA
Non Material Amendment to condition 2 (Approved Plans) of Planning Permission for
17/2564/RMA dated 02/08/2017. Amendments include: replacement of 327sqm of
bio-diverse roof with 340sqm of amenity space, provision of a 1500mm glass
balustrade screening to the inside of the existing 7th floor roof parapets, extension of
lift over-run in Core F2, internally, a new toilet and storage provision is also proposed
in Core F2, revisions to the Core F1 7th floor layout to allow secondary access and
means of escape to the new amenity space through a new external door, internally,
a new gardeners store is also proposed in Core F1, revisions to unit F1-07-04 to
allow the provision of secondary access and means of escape to the new amenity
space. Change of 1 bedroom 2 person flat to 1 person studio.
Approved on 12 April 2019
19/3139/NMA
Non-material amendments to planning permission reference 16/5050/S73 dated for
'Hybrid planning application for the phased comprehensive redevelopment of part of
the existing Peel Centre site including the demolition of all existing buildings and the
provision of a residential-led mixed use development comprising up to 2,900 new
residential units (Use Class C3), with 888 units in full detail and up to 2,012 units in
outline in buildings ranging from 2- 21 storeys; up to 10,000 square metres of nonresidential floorspace (Use Classes A1-A4, D1, D2); the provision of a 3 form entry
primary school (including nursery provision) and a minimum of 4 hectares of public
47
289

open space. Associated site preparation/enabling works, transport infrastructure
namely a new pedestrian connection to Colindeep Lane and junction works,
landscaping and car parking. The application is accompanied by an Environmental
Statement.' Amendment to include removal of condition 50 (Waiver of Liability and
Indemnity Agreement)
Approved on 25 June 2019
19/3138/NMA
Non-material amendments to planning permission reference 16/7836/S73 dated for
'Hybrid planning application for the phased comprehensive redevelopment of part of
the existing Peel Centre site including the demolition of all existing buildings and the
provision of a residential-led mixed use development comprising up to 2,900 new
residential units (Use Class C3), with 888 units in full detail and up to 2,012 units in
outline in buildings ranging from 2- 21 storeys; up to 10,000 square metres of nonresidential floorspace (Use Classes A1-A4, D1, D2); the provision of a 3 form entry
primary school (including nursery provision) and a minimum of 4 hectares of public
open space. Associated site preparation/enabling works, transport infrastructure
namely a new pedestrian connection to Colindeep Lane and junction works,
landscaping and car parking. The application is accompanied by an Environmental
Statement.' Amendment to include removal of condition 50 (Waiver of Liability and
Indemnity Agreement)
Approved on 25 June 2019
19/3818/NMA
Non-material amendments to planning permission reference 16/7836/S73 dated
05/12/16 for 'Hybrid planning application for the phased comprehensive
redevelopment of part of the existing Peel Centre site including the demolition of all
existing buildings and the provision of a residential-led mixed use development
comprising up to 2,900 new residential units (Use Class C3), with 951 units in full
detail and up to 1949 units in outline in buildings ranging from 2-21 storeys, up to
10,000 square metres of non-residential floorspace (Use Classes A1-A4, D1, D2),
the provision of a 3 form entry primary school (including nursery provision) and a
minimum of 4 hectares of public open space. Associated site preparation/enabling
works, transport infrastructure namely a new pedestrian connection to Colindeep
Lane and junction works, landscaping and car parking., Variations include (but not
limited to). Amendments to Application Description increasing number of units in
Stage 1 (from 951 to 1,061) and decreasing number of units in future phases Stages
2 and 3 (from 1949 to 1839). Blocks H, J and M are increased in height. Increase in
number of units in Block H from 126 to 162, Block J from 66 to 87, Block K from 64
to 75, and Block M from 62 units to 104 units. Alterations to the building footprint for
Blocks J and K. Alterations to the unit mix and parking distribution in Blocks H, J, K
and M and introduction of a basement level below Blocks J and K.' Amendment to
change the wording of the description of proposal to add the wording 'including up to
229 units within Use Class C4 in Block A only'
Approved on 30 July 2019
19/3819/NMA
Non-material amendments to planning permission reference 19/2284/RMA dated
25/06/19 for 'Third application for the approval of Reserved Matters relating to
Phases 2D, 2E, 2F and 2GA and 2GB of Development Stage 2 of the Colindale
48
290

Gardens development (former Peel Centre); seeking approval for details relating to
Layout, Scale, Appearance and Landscaping. Submission is pursuant to outline
planning permission reference H/04753/14 dated 23/12/2015 as amended by S73
Application 16/7836/S73 dated 05/05/17, involving the erection of 1,245 units in the
form of 68 x studio, 359 x 1 bedroom, 698 x 2 bedroom, 120 x 3 bedroom units
together with the provision of 7,559.9 sqm of non-residential floorspace containing a
mix of A1, A2, A3, A4, C3, D1 (including new Health Centre and Nursery) and D2
uses'. Amendments to include; internal layout reconfiguration including exits,
corridors and lift/stair cores; conversion of plant room to a 2B4P residential unit;
slight increase in building envelope; amendments to cores at A2 and A5; and an
increase in the approved balcony sizes.,
Approved on 30 July 2019
19/6712/NMA
Non-material amendments to planning permission reference 19/2284/RMA dated
25/06/19 for 'Third application for the approval of Reserved Matters relating to
Phases 2D, 2E, 2F and 2GA and 2GB of Development Stage 2 of the Colindale
Gardens development (former Peel Centre); seeking approval for details relating to
Layout, Scale, Appearance and Landscaping. Submission is pursuant to outline
planning permission reference H/04753/14 dated 23/12/2015 as amended by S73
Application 16/7836/S73 dated 05/05/17, involving the erection of 1,245 units in the
form of 68 x studio, 359 x 1 bedroom, 698 x 2 bedroom, 120 x 3 bedroom units
together with the provision of 7,559.9 sqm of non-residential floorspace containing a
mix of A1, A2, A3, A4, C3, D1 (including new Health Centre and Nursery) and D2
uses'. Amendments to include; internal layout reconfiguration including exits,
corridors and lift/stair cores; alteration to unit mix; reduction in size of basement and
ramp; amendments to location of car and cycle parking; and amendment to
balconies to Core C3.
Approved 15 May 2020
1.

MATERIAL CONSIDERATIONS

1.1
Key Relevant Planning Policy
Introduction
Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act (2004) requires that
development proposals shall be determined in accordance with the development plan
unless material considerations indicate otherwise. In this case, the development plan
comprises The London Plan (published March 2016) and the development plan
documents in the Barnet Local Plan.
These statutory development plans are the main policy basis for the consideration of
this planning application. A number of other planning documents, including national
planning guidance and supplementary planning guidance and documents are also
material to the determination of this application.
The officers have considered the development proposals very carefully against the
relevant policy criteria and, for the reasons set out in this report, have concluded that
the development will fulfil them to a satisfactory level, subject to the conditions
(including reserved matters) and planning obligations recommended. The proposed
development is considered to comply with the requirements of the development plan.
49
291

National Planning Policy Framework (February 2019)
The 2019 NPPF was adopted in February 2019 replacing the 2012 NPPF and includes
minor clarifications to the revised version published in July 2018. The NPPF sets out
the Government’s planning policies for England and how these should be applied1. It
provides a framework within which locally-prepared plans for housing and other
development can be produced.
The NPPF states that "good design is a key aspect of sustainable development, is
indivisible from good planning, and should contribute positively to making places better
for people". The NPPF also states that the purpose of the planning system is to
contribute to the achievement of sustainable development. The document includes a
‘presumption in favour of sustainable development’, unless any adverse impacts of a
development would "significantly and demonstrably" outweigh the benefits.
The Mayor's London Plan 2016 (Jan 2017 fix)
The London Plan is the development plan in terms of strategic planning policy for the
purposes of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act (2004). In March 2016, the
Mayor published (i.e. adopted) the London Plan 2011 consolidated with: the further
alterations to the London Plan published in March 2015, the Housing Standards Minor
Alterations to the London Plan published in March 2016 and the Parking Standards
Minor Alterations to the London Plan published in March 2016.
The London Plan policies (arranged by chapter) most relevant to the determination of
this application are as follows:
Context and Strategy
1.1 (Delivering the Strategic Vision and Objectives for London)
London’s Places:
2.6 (Outer London: Vision and Strategy); 2.7 (Outer London: Economy); 2.8 (Outer
London: Transport); 2.15 (Town Centres); and 2.18 (Green Infrastructure: the
Network of Open and Green Spaces)
London’s People:
3.1 (Ensuring Equal Life Chances for All); 3.2 (Improving Health and Addressing
Health Inequalities); 3.3 (Increasing Housing Supply); 3.4 (Optimising Housing
Potential); 3.5 (Quality and Design of Housing Developments); 3.6 (Children and
Young People’s Play and Informal Recreation Facilities); 3.8 (Housing Choice); 3.9
(Mixed and Balanced Communities); 3.10 (Definition of Affordable Housing); 3.11
(Affordable Housing Targets); 3.12 (Negotiating Affordable Housing on Individual
Private Residential and Mixed Use Schemes) and 3.13 (Affordable Housing
Thresholds).
London’s Economy:
4.1 (Developing London’s Economy); 4.2 (Offices); 4.3 (Mixed Use Development and
Offices); 4.4 (Managing Industrial Land and Premises); 4.6 (Support for and
Enhancement of Arts, Culture Sport and Entertainment Provision); 4.7 (Retail and

50
292

Town Centre Development); 4.10 (Support New and Emerging Economic Sectors);
and 4.12 (Improving Opportunities for All)
London’s Response to Climate Change
5.1 (Climate Change Mitigation); 5.2 (Minimising Carbon Dioxide Emissions); 5.3
(Sustainable Design and Construction); 5.5 (Decentralised Energy Networks); 5.6
(Decentralised Energy in Development Proposals); 5.7 (Renewable Energy); 5.8
(Innovative Energy Technologies); 5.9 (Overheating and Cooling); 5.10 (Urban
Greening); 5.12 (Flood Risk Management); 5.13 (Sustainable Drainage); 5.14 (Water
Quality and Wastewater Infrastructure); 5.15 (Water Use and Supplies); 5.17 (Waste
Capacity); and 5.21 (Contaminated Land).
London’s Transport
6.1 (Strategic Approach); 6.2 (Providing Public Transport Capacity and Safeguarding
Land for Transport); 6.3 (Assessing Effects of Development on Transport Capacity);
6.4 (Enhancing London’s Transport Connectivity); 6.5 (Funding Crossrail and Other
Strategically Important Transport Infrastructure); 6.7 (Better Streets and Surface
Transport); 6.9 (Cycling); 6.10 (Walking); 6.11 (Smoothing Traffic Flow and Tackling
Congestion); 6.12 (Road Network Capacity); and 6.13 (Parking)
London’s Living Places and Spaces
7.1 (Building London’s Neighbourhoods and Communities); 7.2 (Inclusive
Environment); 7.3 (Designing Out Crime); 7.4 (Local Character); 7.5 (Public Realm);
7.6 (Architecture); 7.7 (Location of Tall and Large Buildings); 7.13 (Safety, Security
and Resilience to Emergency); 7.14 (Improving Air Quality); 7.15 (Reducing Noise)
and 7.18 (Protecting Local Open Space and Addressing Local Deficiency).
Implementation, Monitoring and Review:
8.2 (Planning Obligations); and 8.3 (Community Infrastructure Levy)
Draft Replacement London Plan 2017
The Draft London Plan (DLP) published November 2017 sets out the Mayor’s
overarching strategic planning framework from 2019 up to 2041. When adopted this
will replace the London Plan 2016.
The Inspector Panel Report following the Examination in Public was published in
October 2019. The Inspector Panel was broadly supportive of the majority of the DLP,
subject to several changes being made. The Mayor subsequently declared in
December 2019 it’s ‘intention to publish’, accepting some but not all of the Inspector’s
recommendations. As not all of the Inspector’s recommendations have been accepted.
It is for the Secretary of State to decide whether the DLP can proceed to adoption.
The Secretary of State wrote to the Mayor on the 13th March advising that the London
Plan can not be adopted in its current form without further changes being made as
outlined in the Secretary of State’s letter.
Due to the advanced nature of the DLP increasing weight should be attached to those
policies which the Inspector’s report considered sound and those policies which the
Secretary of State did not raise objections to. Nevertheless the London Plan 2016
51
293

remains the statutory development plan until such stage as the replacement plan is
adopted and as such applications should continue to be determined in accordance
with the 2016 London Plan, while noting that account needs to be taken of emerging
policies.
Mayoral Supplementary Guidance
Sustainable Design and Construction (April 2014)
The Sustainable Design and Construction (SPG) seeks to design and construct new
development in ways that contribute to sustainable development.
Accessible London: Achieving an Inclusive Environment (October 2014)
The strategy sets out to provide detailed advice and guidance on the policies in the
London Plan in relation to achieving an inclusive environment.
Planning for Equality and Diversity in London (October 2007)
This guidance sets out sets out some of the overarching principles that should guide
planning for equality in the London context.
All London Green Grid (March 2012)
This strategy provides guidance for designing and managing green and open spaces
to bring about previously unrealised benefits. In doing so, we aim to encourage
boroughs, developers, and communities to collectively increase the delivery of green
infrastructure for London.
The control of dust and emissions during construction and demolition (July
2014)
The aim of this supplementary planning guidance (SPG) is to reduce emissions of
dust, PM10 and PM2.5 from construction and demolition activities in London.
Play and Informal Recreation (September 2012)
Provides guidance to Local Authorities and development to estimate the potential child
yield from a development, and the resulting requirements for play space provision.
Housing (March 2016)
The housing SPG provides revised guidance on how to implement the housing policies
in the London Plan.
Affordable Housing and Viability (August 2017)
Set’s out the Mayor’s policies for assessing and delivering affordable housing and
estate renewal.
Better homes for local people, the Mayor’s good practice guide to estate
regeneration (February 2018)
Set’s out the Mayor’s vision and objectives for estate renewal.
Mayor’s Transport Strategy (2018)
This Strategy outlines some of the key transport challenges in London such as poor
quality public transport and high volumes of cars on some roads. 3.5.2 The Strategy
places an emphasis on reducing car dependency and encouraging an increased use
52
294

of walking, cycling and public transport use. To help encourage this modal shift, the
Strategy has adopted the Healthy Streets Approach, which aims to improve and
enhance the overall street environment. 3.5.3 In outer London, it is highlighted that
streets are often dominated with cars and that significant transport improvements will
be required to reduce this dependency. It encourages a more integrated approach to
planning transport and housing. Within Outer London, new or enhanced bus services
will be introduced to reduce car dependency and support growth, particularly around
Elizabeth line stations and in areas where housing growth is expected, including
Colindale. 3.5.4 In addition, the strategy also focuses on delivering new homes and
jobs on transport land and by 2020/21 aims to start on working on property
development sites that will deliver 10,000 new homes.
Relevant Local Plan (2012) Policies
The development plan documents in the Barnet Local Plan constitute the
development plan in terms of local planning policy for the purposes of the Planning
and Compulsory Purchase Act (2004). The relevant documents comprise the Core
Strategy and Development Management Policies documents, which were both
adopted in September 2012. The Local Plan development plan policies of most
relevance to the determination of this application are:
Core Strategy (Adopted 2012):
CS NPPF (National Planning Policy Framework – Presumption in favour of
sustainable
development)
CS1 (Barnet’s Place Shaping Strategy – Protection, enhancement and consolidated
growth
– The three strands approach)
CS3 (Distribution of growth in meeting housing aspirations)
CS4 (Providing quality homes and housing choice in Barnet)
CS5 (Protecting and enhancing Barnet’s character to create high quality places)
CS6 (Promoting Barnet’s Town Centres)
CS7 (Enhancing and protecting Barnet’s open spaces)
CS8 (Promoting a strong and prosperous Barnet)
CS9 (Providing safe, effective and efficient travel)
CS10 (Enabling inclusive and integrated community facilities and uses)
CS11 (Improving health and well-being in Barnet)
CS12 (Making Barnet a safer place)
CS13 (Ensuring the efficient use of natural resources)
CS14 (Dealing with our waste)
CS15 (Delivering the Core Strategy)
Development Management Policies (Adopted 2012):
DM01 (Protecting Barnet’s character and amenity)
DM02 (Development standards)
DM03 (Accessibility and inclusive design)
DM04 (Environmental considerations for development)
DM05 (Tall Buildings)
DM06 (Barnet’s Heritage and Conservation)
DM08 (Ensuring a variety of sizes of new homes to meet housing need)
DM10 (Affordable housing contributions)
53
295

DM11 (Development principles for Barnet’s town centres)
DM13 (Community and education uses)
DM14 (New and existing employment space)
DM15 (Green belt and open spaces)
DM16 (Biodiversity)
DM17 (Travel impact and parking standards)
Supplementary Planning Guidance and Documents:
A number of local and strategic supplementary planning guidance (SPG) and
documents(SPD) are material to the determination of the application.
Local Supplementary Planning Documents:
Sustainable Design and Construction (October 2016)
Residential Design Guidance (April 2013)
Planning Obligations (April 2013)
Affordable Housing (February 2007 with updates in August 2010)
Strategic Supplementary Planning Documents and Guidance: Accessible London:
Achieving an Inclusive Environment (April 2004)
Sustainable Design and Construction (May 2006)
Health Issues in Planning (June 2007)
Wheelchair Accessible Housing (September 2007)
Planning for Equality and Diversity in London (October 2007)
All London Green Grid (March 2012)
Shaping Neighbourhoods: Play and Informal Recreation (September 2012)
Housing (November 2012)
Barnet’s Local Plan (Reg 18) 2020
Barnet’s Local Plan -Reg 18 Preferred Approach was approved for consultation on 6th
January 2020. The Reg 18 document sets out the Council’s preferred policy approach
together with draft development proposals for 67 sites. It is Barnet’s emerging Local
Plan.
The Local Plan 2012 remains the statutory development plan for Barnet until such
stage as the replacement plan is adopted and as such applications should continue to
be determined in accordance with the 2012 Local Plan, while noting that account
needs to be taken of emerging policies and draft site proposals.
Supplementary Planning Documents and Guidance
The Council has a number of adopted Supplementary Planning Documents (SPDs)
which provide detailed guidance that supplements policies in the adopted Local Plan,
and sets out how sustainable development will be delivered in Barnet including generic
environmental requirements to ensure that new development within Barnet meets
sufficiently high environmental and design standards. They are material
considerations for the determination of planning applications:
Local Supplementary Planning Documents:
Affordable Housing (February 2008)
Sustainable Design and Construction (October 2016)
54
296

Planning Obligations (April 2013)
Delivering Skills, Employment, Enterprise and Training from Development through
S106 (October 2014)
Sustainable Design and Construction (October 2016)
Residential Design Guidance (October 2016)
Green Infrastructure (October 2017)
Colindale Area Action Plan (CAAP)
The Colindale Area Action Plan (CAAP) was adopted in March 2010. This provides a
planning policy and design framework to guide and inform the development and
regeneration of Colindale up to 2021 in response to the London Plan’s designation as
an Opportunity Area.
The CAAP contains guidance on sustainable development and identifies a number of
key infrastructure improvements needed to support the delivery of growth in Colindale.
It identifies four character areas, the ‘Corridors of Change’, which identify specific
development sites and set specific policy objectives to be achieved from
redevelopment.
The application site falls within the Aerodrome Road Corridor of Change and the
Colindale Avenue Corridor of Change. It also sets out general policies and standards
for new developments in the area.
Changes to the Policy Framework
Since hybrid planning permission H/04753/14 was granted, while there has been some
changes to the wording of the NPPF, there are no implications from this revised
document which would materially affect the current application. The latest version of
the London Plan was adopted post approval of this application, however again there
are no implications from this revised document which would materially affect the
current application, other than in relation to a greater emphases on restricting car
parking provision which accords with this proposal.
The draft London Plan was adopted post the original decision however as explained
above this document has limited material weight at the current stage. No changes
have been made to the Barnet Local Plan subsequent to the original decision, although
the new draft consultation local plan has been published due to the early stage of this
document limited weight should be attached to this document.
1.2

Key Relevant Planning History

H/04753/14 Hybrid planning application for the phased comprehensive redevelopment
of part of the existing Peel Centre site including the demolition of all existing buildings
and the provision of a residential-led mixed use development comprising up to 2,900
new residential units (Use Class C3), with 888 units in full detail and up to 2,012 units
in outline in buildings ranging from 2-21 storeys; up to 10,000 square metres of nonresidential floorspace (Use Classes A1-A4, D1, D2); the provision of a 3 form entry
primary school (including nursery provision) and a minimum of 4 hectares of public
open space. Associated site preparation/enabling works, transport infrastructure
namely a new pedestrian connection to Colindeep Lane and junction works,
landscaping and car parking. Planning permission was granted on 23.12.2015.
55
297

16/5050/S73 Minor Material Amendment to condition 1 (Approved Plans) of Planning
Permission for H/04753/14 Hybrid planning application for the phased comprehensive
redevelopment of part of the existing Peel Centre site including the demolition of all
existing buildings and the provision of a residential-led mixed use development
comprising up to 2,900 new residential units (Use Class C3), with 888 units in full detail
and up to 2,012 units in outline in buildings ranging from 2-21 storeys, up to 10,000
square metres of non-residential floorspace (Use Classes A1-A4, D1, D2), the
provision of a 3 form entry primary school (including nursery provision) and a minimum
of 4 hectares of public open space. Associated site preparation/enabling works,
transport infrastructure namely a new pedestrian connection to Colindeep Lane and
junction works, landscaping and car parking dated 23.12.2015. Variations include:
Amendments to Application Description increasing number of units in Stage 1 (from
888 to 951) and decreasing number of units in future phases Stages 2 and 3 (from
2012 to 1949); Blocks P and Q are increased in height by 1 storey from part 3, 6 and
8 to part 4, 7 and 9 storeys; Introduction of a new residents hub in Block P including
a reception, residents gym, function/class room and office space; Increase in number
of units in Blocks P and Q from 96 units each to 119 and 122 units; Alterations to unit
mix; Alterations to layout and road network; Increase in Cycle Spaces
Approved 05.12.2016
16/7836/S73 Minor Material Amendment to condition 1 (Approved Plans) of Planning
Permission for H/04753/14 dated 23/12/2015 as amended by S73 Application
16/5050/S73 dated 05.12.2016. Hybrid planning application for the phased
comprehensive redevelopment of part of the existing Peel Centre site including the
demolition of all existing buildings and the provision of a residential-led mixed use
development comprising up to 2,900 new residential units (Use Class C3), with 951
units in full detail and up to 1949 units in outline in buildings ranging from 2-21 storeys,
up to 10,000 square metres of non-residential floorspace (Use Classes A1-A4, D1,
D2), the provision of a 3 form entry primary school (including nursery provision) and a
minimum of 4 hectares of public open space. Associated site preparation/enabling
works, transport infrastructure namely a new pedestrian connection to Colindeep Lane
and junction works, landscaping and car parking. Variations include (but not limited
to). Amendments to Application Description increasing number of units in Stage 1
(from 951 to 1,061) and decreasing number of units in future phases Stages 2 and 3
(from 1949 to 1839). Blocks H, J and M are increased in height. Increase in number
of units in Block H from 126 to 162, Block J from 66 to 87, Block K from 64 to 75, and
Block M from 62 units to 104 units. Alterations to the building footprint for Blocks J
and K. Alterations to the unit mix and parking distribution in Blocks H, J, K and M and
introduction of a basement level below Blocks J and K. Planning Permission granted
on 05.05.2017.
19/6512/OUT Hybrid planning application (part in outline, part detailed) for the phased
comprehensive redevelopment of Phase 3 of the former Peel Centre site including
demolition of existing structures and the construction of a residential-led mixed use
development comprising up to 1,200 new residential units (Use Class C3) in buildings
of up to 26 storeys in height; up to 351 sqm flexible retail floorspace (Use Classes A1A4); site preparation and enabling works; highways/access works; landscaping; car
and cycle parking; and other associated works. Application currently under
consideration.
56
298

1.3 Public Consultations by the Council and Views Expressed
Letters were sent out to 2814 addresses on the 13th December 2019. The application
was also advertised by site notice on the 13th December 2019 and by press notice
on the 19th December 2019.
As a result of this consultation, no letters of representation have been received.
GLA Comments
The S73, has been assessed as having No Strategic Issues.
Highways
No Objections raised.
2.

Description of the Site and Proposed Development

Background
Hybrid planning permission for the phased comprehensive redevelopment of the site
was granted on the 23rd December 2015 (Ref: H/04753/14), as amended by an
application under Section 73 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 by
planning applications 16/5050/S73 and 16/7836/S73.
It allows the comprehensive redevelopment of part of the former Peel Centre site (now
known as ‘Colindale Gardens’) for 2,900 homes and associated development. It was
granted subject to conditions and a Section 106 agreement.
The development was designed as part of a masterplan and will be constructed in
three development stages, each comprising a number of ‘phases’.
The application was granted in hybrid form. Full planning permission was granted for
part of the development comprising Development Stage 1, with outline planning
permission (with all matters reserved except access) granted for Development Stages
2 and 3. All development plots with Phase 2 have reserved matters approval.
Description of the Site
The application site is identical to that which formed that basis of hybrid planning
permission H/04753/14 and under the previous S73 applications 16/5050/S73 and
16/7836/S73. It comprises an area of 20.35 hectares and is located in Colindale within
the Borough. It is located approximately 14.5 kilometres (9 miles) north-west from
Central London and 17 kilometres (10.5 miles) south-east of Watford.
It was formerly occupied by the Metropolitan Police Service (MPS) and used for
operational and training purposes. It was acquired by Redrow Homes in 2013 which
is now in the process of redeveloping the site for residential-led mixed use
redevelopment pursuant to the hybrid planning permission.
Description of Development
Background
57
299

On 23rd December 2015, the London Borough of Barnet granted planning
permission (ref: H/04753/14) at the Peel Centre for:
“Hybrid planning application for the phased comprehensive redevelopment of part of
the existing Peel Centre site including the demolition of all existing buildings and the
provision of a residential-led mixed use development comprising up to 2,900 new
residential units (Use Class C3), with 888 units in full detail and up to 2,012 units in
outline in buildings ranging from 2-21 storeys; up to 10,000 square metres of nonresidential floorspace (Use Classes A1-A4, D1, D2); the provision of a 3 form entry
primary school (including nursery provision) and a minimum of 4 hectares of public
open space. Associated site preparation/enabling works, transport infrastructure
namely a new pedestrian connection to Colindeep Lane and junction works,
landscaping and car parking. The application is accompanied by an Environmental
Statement.”
This permission was subsequently amended under ref: 16/5050/S73 and again
under ref: 16/7836/S73.
The Section 73 Application
The current application is made under Section 73 of the Town and Country Planning
Act 1990 which seeks planning permission to vary the wording of conditions 16 (Level
of Parking), 18 (Car Parking Management Plan), 57 (Cycle / Motorcycle Parking
Details) and 59 (School Parking Spaces) to hybrid planning permission ref.
16/7836/S73 dated 05/05/2017, which amended H/04753/14 dated 23/12/2015
The proposed changes are as follows:
Condition 16
Original wording Condition 16
The level of parking for all land uses shall be as set out in the Transport Assessment
and for residential parking shall be forecast using car ownership demand according to
the mix of dwellings using the methodology set out in the Transport Assessment and
Addendum. Using this methodology the current indicative mix would result in an
estimated average of 0.71 spaces per dwelling across the site and the following
Development Stage averages (or as otherwise agreed with the Local Planning
Authority), and some 2056 spaces:
i. Development Stage 1 - 0.72 (644 spaces)
ii. Development Stage 2 - 0.68 (794 spaces)
iii. Development Stage 3 - 0.72 (618 spaces)
Temporary car parking shall be provided during the build-out of Development Stages
to ensure that the forecast ratio for the Development Stage is provided close to the
development areas. Plans of the temporary car parking layouts will be submitted for
written approval by the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: To ensure the development meets the needs of its future occupiers and to
comply with the requirements of policies 3.8 and 7.2 of the London Plan (2015) and
also, to ensure that the development does not over-provide car parking spaces and to
encourage sustainable travel in accordance with Barnet Local Plan Policy CS9 of Core
58
300

Strategy (Adopted) September 2012 and Policy DM17 of Development Management
Policies (Adopted) September 2012.

The amount of car parking associated with the hybrid consent (as amended) is
controlled through Condition 16 which sets out parking requirement for 0.71 car
parking spaces per homes (total of 2056 spaces) across the site. Parking surveys
were undertaken in 2018 to determine to level of demand for car parking spaces on
the site. These surveys included Blocks L, N, R & S. The parking survey results
show the level of demand of 0.27 spaces per dwelling. This is significantly below the
parking ratio of 0.71 spaces per dwelling set out in Condition 16.
Proposed Wording Condition 16
The level of parking shall be no less than 0.50 car parking spaces per dwelling and
no more than 0.55 car parking spaces per dwelling across the site excluding school
staff parking which shall be limited to no more than 20 car parking spaces unless
otherwise agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: To ensure the development meets the needs of its future occupiers and to
comply with the requirements of policies 3.8 and 7.2 of the London Plan (2015) and
also, to ensure that the development does not over-provide car parking spaces and
to encourage sustainable travel in accordance with Barnet Local Plan Policy CS9 of
Core Strategy (Adopted) September 2012 and Policy DM17 of Development
Management Policies (Adopted) September 2012.
Condition 18
Original wording Condition 18
Prior to first occupation of the relevant Development Phase a detailed Car Parking
Management Plan for that Development Phase, demonstrating compliance with the
Site Wide Car Parking Management Strategy (Conditions 16 and 17), shall be
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Unless
otherwise agreed, the details shall include:
i. Location and layout of car parking spaces
ii. Allocation of car parking spaces
iii. On-site parking controls and charges
iv. The enforcement of unauthorised parking
v. For Stages 2 and 3 only, monitoring of parking in the development including use
of electric vehicle charging points and disabled spaces
vi. 'Blue badge' space quantities in accordance with London Plan (2015) guidance
vii. Community transport points and taxi drop-offs
viii. Location of a minimum of 2 car club spaces per Stage with a minimum of 8
spaces by occupation of the first dwelling in Stage 3
ix. Electric Charging Points: Location, specification and timing. For residential
parking spaces, timing and delivery of the 20% of parking spaces which shall be
active and 20% which shall be passive electric charging points.
For non-residential spaces, provision at 20% of spaces shall be undertaken with
potential provision at a further 10% of spaces.

59
301

v. Car parking reconciliation (evidence that the number of vehicular parking spaces
proposed for each Development Zone is proportionate having regard to the Site
Wide Car Parking Strategy and indicative levels in Conditions 16 and 17)
The car parking spaces shall not thereafter be used for any purpose other than for
the parking and turning of vehicles associated with the development. The Car
Parking Management Plan and the abovementioned provisions shall be implemented
in accordance with the approved details before the buildings hereby permitted are
occupied and maintained thereafter.
Reason: To ensure the development meets the needs of its future occupiers and to
comply with the requirements of policies 3.8 and 7.2 of the London Plan (2015) and
also, To ensure that the development does not over-provide car parking spaces and
to encourage sustainable travel in accordance with Barnet Local Plan Policy CS9 of
Core Strategy (Adopted) September 2012 and Policy DM17 of Development
Management Policies (Adopted) September 2012.
Proposed Wording Condition 18
Prior to first occupation of the relevant Development Phase a detailed Car Parking
Management Plan for that Development Phase, demonstrating compliance with the
Site Wide Car Parking Management Strategy (Conditions 16 and 17), shall be
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Unless
otherwise agreed, the details shall include:
i. Location and layout of car parking spaces
ii. Allocation of car parking spaces
iii. On-site parking controls and charges
iv. The enforcement of unauthorised parking
v. For Stages 2 only, monitoring of parking in the development including use of
electric vehicle charging points and disabled spaces vi. 'Blue badge' space quantities
in accordance with London Plan (2015) guidance
vii. Community transport points and taxi drop-offs
viii. Location of a minimum of 2 car club spaces per Stage with a minimum of 8
spaces across Stages 1 and 2
ix. Electric Charging Points: Location, specification and timing. For residential
parking spaces, timing and delivery of the 20% of parking spaces which shall be
active and 20% which shall be passive electric charging points. For non-residential
spaces, provision at 20% of spaces shall be undertaken with potential
provision at a further 10% of spaces.
The car parking spaces shall not thereafter be used for any purpose other than for
the parking and turning of vehicles associated with the development. The Car
Parking Management Plan and the abovementioned provisions shall be implemented
in accordance with the approved details before the buildings hereby permitted are
occupied and maintained thereafter.
Reason: To ensure the development meets the needs of its future occupiers and to
comply with the requirements of policies 3.8 and 7.2 of the London Plan (2015) and
also, To ensure that the development does not over-provide car parking spaces and
to encourage sustainable travel in accordance with Barnet Local Plan Policy CS9 of
Core Strategy (Adopted) September 2012 and Policy DM17 of Development
Management Policies (Adopted) September 2012.
60
302

Original Wording Condition 57
Cycle parking shall be provided in accordance with the minimum standards in the
London Plan (2015) unless otherwise agreed in writing with the Local Planning
Authority. Motorcycle parking shall be provided in accordance with the Transport
Assessment and Addendum (PC16).
Prior to the construction of any building in Stages 2 and 3, plans identifying cycle and
motorcycle parking locations shall be submitted and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority for that building to demonstrate the provision of secure,
convenient and accessible locations.
Cycle and motorcycle parking so designated by detailed approval shall be used for
the purpose only and retained thereafter in accordance with the approved details.
Reason: In the interests of promoting cycling as a mode of transport in accordance
with London Borough of Barnet's Local Plan Policy CS9 of Core Strategy (Adopted)
September 2012 and Policy DM17 of Development Management Policies (Adopted)
September 2012.
Proposed wording Condition 57
Cycle parking shall be provided in accordance with the minimum standards in the
London Plan (2015) unless otherwise agreed in writing with the Local Planning
Authority.
Prior to the construction of any building in Stages 2, plans identifying cycle parking
locations shall be submitted and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority
for that building to demonstrate the provision of secure, convenient and accessible
locations.
Reason: In the interests of promoting cycling as a mode of transport in accordance
with London Borough of Barnet's Local Plan Policy CS9 of Core Strategy (Adopted)
September 2012 and Policy DM17 of Development Management Policies (Adopted)
September 2012.

Original Wording Condition 59
The provision 70 school parking spaces, designated for pick up and drop off, shall be
reduced if the School Travel Plan targets are not met. In addition, storage for 30
scooters at the primary school shall be provided.
Reason: To encourage the use of sustainable forms of transport to the site in
accordance with London Borough of Barnet's Local Plan Policy CS9 of Core Strategy
(Adopted) September 2012 and Policy DM17 of Development Management Policies
(Adopted) September 2012.
Proposed wording Condition 59
Storage for 30 scooters at the primary school shall be provided unless otherwise
agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority.
61
303

Reason: To encourage the use of sustainable forms of transport to the site in
accordance with London Borough of Barnet's Local Plan Policy CS9 of Core Strategy
(Adopted) September 2012 and Policy DM17 of Development Management Policies
(Adopted) September 2012.
3.

PLANNING APPRAISAL

Principle of Minor Material Amendment (the s.73 application procedure)
The National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG) advises that a minor material
amendment “is likely to include any amendment where its scale and/or nature results
in a development which is not substantially different from the one which has been
approved.”
Pre-application discussions were undertaken with the Applicant and consideration has
been given as to the effect of the amendments to the approved development, including
whether it would:




Result in a change that is minor in terms of its scale;
Result in a change that is minor in terms of its impact on amenity and visual
impact;
Would comply with material planning considerations.

It was judged that the proposed amendments were minor material and the submission
of a Section 73 application was the appropriate route for this application.
Baseline Position
As stated above, Hybrid planning permission H/04753/14), as amended by S73
applications 16/5050/S73 and 16/7836/S73 approved the principle of the Colindale
Gardens development. In this context, and in accordance with the NPPG, the key
considerations in the determination of the application are:
1. Whether planning policies (and other material considerations) have changed since
the hybrid permission was granted; and
2. Whether the proposed amendments are acceptable (having regard to the
Development Plan and other material considerations).
Changes to Planning Policy and Other Material Considerations
Since the hybrid planning permission H/04753/14 was granted, while there has been
some changes to the wording of the NPPF, there are no implications from this revised
document which would materially affect the current application. The latest version of
the London Plan was adopted post approval of this application, however again there
are no implications from this revised document which would materially affect the
current application, other than in relation to a greater emphases on restricting car
parking provision which accords with this proposal.
The draft London Plan was adopted post the original decision however as explained
above this document has limited material weight at the current stage. No changes
have been made to the Barnet Local Plan subsequent to the original decision, although
62
304

the new draft consultation local plan has been published due to the early stage of this
document limited weight should be attached to this document.
Assessment of Proposed Amendments
The main issues arising out of the current application concern the following:


Traffic and Car Parking considerations.

This matter is discussed below.
Traffic and Car Parking Provision
The applicant has submitted a transport statement in support of the application. The
transport assessment assess the trip generation which has been produced by the
development to date, the level of car parking which has been provided in earlier
phases and the take up of these spaces. A comparison of the level of car parking as
referenced in the outline planning approval and as currently proposed under the
current application is set out in the following table.

It is worth noting that the development to date has provided a parking ratio of 0.61 in
stage 1, 0.52 in stage 2 and 0.55 overall which equates exactly with the revised car
parking ratio proposed under the current S73 application. As a reserved matters
have been granted for all phases with Stage 2 and given that the application has
submitted a drop in application for phase 3, the approval of this application would not
alter the level of car parking proposed on site.
It is also worth noting that some of the above changes are as a result of the
development of the proposals, i.e. the proposed retail store is smaller than the
maximum size envisaged under the outline approval, representing a smaller town
centre store facing a public square opposite the station. Such stores tend to attract
predominately foot borne local customers as opposed for example to the larger
Morrisons Store on the A5. In relation to the school, it is unusual for a school to
63
305

provide dedicated drop off parking solely for the use of a parents dropping off
children and indeed school travel plans normally aim to maximise the number of
parents dropping off by foot or cycle. It is acknowledged that some parents for
various reasons are still likely to drop off by car and rather than a dedicated drop off
area the applicant is proposing the shared use of on street residential car parking
spaces of which there are 83 spaces. This is not an unusual arrangement for a
school bordered by residential properties and is considered acceptable in this
instance. It is noted that staff parking is safeguarded under these proposals.
Overall the alterations to the approved car parking ratios are considered acceptable
reflecting the level of car parking which has been provided to date in the site and is
commiserate with recently consented or proposed developments in the area which
have provided similar or lower parking ratios.
Cumulative Effect of Amendments
When considered as a whole, the cumulative effects of the proposed changes to the
approved development are minor in scale and nature, and will not result in a
development that is substantively different to that already approved.
Environmental Screening
An Environmental Statement, the result of an Environmental Impact Assessment, was
submitted with the hybrid application in August 2014 along with a Non-Technical
Summary. Subsequent Statements of Conformity were submitted in May 2015 in
relation to scheme amendments during the determination period of the original hybrid
application and in August 2016 as part of the Section 73 application.
The Environmental Statement concluded that the Proposed Development would have
an overriding beneficial effect on Barnet and Greater London and will, in many ways,
regenerate and enhance the Application Site and contribute to the setting of the wider
area. Whilst it was acknowledged that some temporary, short-term adverse effects
would be experienced during the demolition and construction phase of the
development, the benefits of bringing the development forward were considered to far
outweigh any temporary adverse demolition and construction effects.
A Section 73 application is considered to be a new application for planning permission
under the 2017 Environmental Impact Assessment Regulations.
Where an Environmental Impact Assessment was carried out on the original
application, the local planning authority is required to consider if further environmental
information needs to be added to the original Environmental Statement to satisfy the
requirements of the Regulations.
Having reviewed the environmental information previously provided, it is not
considered that the current Section 73 application would result in any significant
change in circumstances to warrant a revised Environmental Statement.
Planning Obligations
The hybrid planning permission is subject to a Section 106 Agreement. This
agreement will be carried over to this planning permission sought via means of a deed

64
306

of modification. We have reviewed the agreement and consider there to be no need
to amend the content of the agreement on the following grounds:






The application proposals will allow a revised scheme to be delivered, but one
which is not substantively different to that already approved under the hybrid
planning permission. The site-wide quantum of development is unchanged
meaning the amendments will not give rise to any different impacts which would
necessitate any new planning obligations.
There has been no change to policy to warrant changes to the scope of planning
obligations necessary to make the proposed development acceptable.
The proposed amendments maintain compliance with all of the obligations
applicable within the existing Section 106 Agreement.
There has been no material change to the viability position of the scheme and
therefore there are no viability-related grounds to seek revisions to the existing
s.106 obligations. It is noted that the existing Section 106 Agreement includes a
trigger for viability review before the commencement of Stage 2 of the development
enabling any changes in Development Stage 1 to be captured at that juncture. This
review has been carried out and independently assessed as not triggering a
requirement for additional contributions.

Community Infrastructure Levy
This application does not result in an increase to the gross internal area of the
floorspace within buildings liable to incur a Community Infrastructure Levy contribution.
5.
EQUALITIES AND DIVERSITY ISSUES
Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010, which came into force on 5th April 2011, imposes
important duties on public authorities in the exercise of their functions, including a duty
to have regard to the need to:
“(a) eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimization and any other conduct that is
prohibited by or under this Act;
(b) advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant protected
characteristic and persons who do not share it;
(c) foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected
characteristic and persons who do not share it.”
For the purposes of this obligation the term “protected characteristic” includes:









Age;
Disability;
Gender reassignment;
Pregnancy and maternity;
Race;
Religion or belief;
Sex;
Sexual orientation.

Officers have in considering this application and preparing this report had regard to
the requirements of this section, and have concluded that a decision to grant planning
65
307

permission for this proposed development will comply with the Council’s statutory duty
under this important legislation.
The proposed amendments do not affect the following:




A provision of a minimum of 10% of flats as wheelchair adaptable across the
development.
The inclusion of level, step-free pedestrian approaches to the main entrances
to the building to ensure that all occupiers and visitors of the development
can move freely in and around the public and private communal spaces.
The provision of dedicated parking spaces for people with a disability in
locations convenient to the entrances to the parking area.

The proposals are considered to be in accordance with national, regional and local
policy by establishing a high quality inclusive design, providing an environment which
is accessible to all and which can be maintained over the lifetime of the development.
6.
CONCLUSION
The application is made under Section 73 of the Town and Country Planning Act
seeking planning permission to vary the wording of conditions 16 (Level of Parking),
18 (Car Parking Management Plan), 57 (Cycle / Motorcycle Parking Details) and 59
(School Parking Spaces) to hybrid planning permission ref. 16/7836/S73 dated
05/05/2017, which amended H/04753/14 dated 23/12/2015
National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG) advises that a minor material
amendment “is likely to include any amendment where its scale and/or nature results
in a development which is not substantially different from the one which has been
approved.” In this case, it is not considered that the changes proposed would result in
any significant change to the approved scheme.
The amendments proposed do not alter the fundamental nature of the permission and
do not raise any land use, design or neighbouring amenity considerations. The
highway implications of the proposed alteration to the parking standards have been
assessed and considered acceptable. The proposed amendments generally and
taken overall accord with the relevant development plan policies.
Accordingly, subject to the conditions set out in the recommendations section at the
beginning of this report, the application is recommended for Approval.

66
308

APPENDIX 1: PROPOSED SITE LAYOUT PLAN

67
309

This page is intentionally left blank

